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PROFILE OF THE GROUP

Top Spring International Holdings Limited (“Top Spring” or the “Company”,
together with its subsidiaries, collectively the “Group”, “we"” or “us”) is
a real estate investment, property development and property management
group operating in the mainland of the People’s Republic of China (“Mainland
China"”) and the Hong Kong Special Administrative Region (“Hong Kong").

With a strong focus on the property development and industrial operation
businesses in the Greater Bay Area, the centres of which are Hong Kong,
Shenzhen and Guangzhou, as well as the economically dynamic regions
including Shanghai and Sydney, Australia, the Group actively leverages
multinational operations and is familiar with the characteristics of Hong Kong
and Mainland China to integrate global resources and invest in and operate
international technology and innovation industry communities through city-
industry integration, offers industrial support for technological innovation while
helping partners (especially enterprises in Hong Kong) to better explore the
market in Mainland China.

BUSINESS REVIEW

In 2020, the Group recorded an aggregate of pre-sales of properties and car
park units of approximately HK$1,125.2 million (2019: HK$104.3 million), pre-
sold saleable gross floor area (“GFA") of 16,839 square metres (“sg.m.”) (2019:
8,172 sq.m.).

In 2020, the Group’s rental income from investment properties was
approximately HK$231.1 million (2019: HK$272.0 million), representing
a decrease of approximately 15.0%. As at 31 December 2020, the overall
occupancy rate of the Group’s investment properties was approximately
90.9%. As at 31 December 2020, the total leasable GFA of the Group’s
operating investment property portfolio increased to approximately 259,914
sg.m. from approximately 240,834 sg.m. as at 31 December 2019. Taking
into account the projects that have been completed but yet to operate in
the next one to two years, the estimated total leasable GFA of the Group’s
investment property portfolio will reach approximately 302,572 sq.m.. Its fair
value was approximately HK$8.69 billion as at 31 December 2020, representing
approximately 32.0% of the Group’s total asset value. In addition, as at 31
December 2020, the accumulated total area of properties managed by the
Group amounted to approximately 17,340,000 sq.m., of which approximately
12,280,000 sg.m. was properties not developed by the Group and
approximately 460,000 sq.m. was commercial property management projects.
Currently, one of the property companies of the Group ranked 60th in the “Top
100 Property Service Companies in China” for six consecutive years from 2015
to 2020 with its scale of property management expanding year on year.
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As at 31 December 2020, the land bank (that is, the net saleable/leasable GFA)
of 22 projects of the Group was approximately 511,413 sg.m.. In terms of land
bank strategy, the Group will primarily focus on the Greater Bay Area and the
first-tier cities in China, such as Shenzhen, Shanghai and Hong Kong.

BUSINESS ANALYSIS

In 2020, the COVID-19 brought a huge impact on global economic
development and exerted greater pressure on the economy. While introducing
a number of stimulating measures, the government emphasized that real estate
should not be used as a measure to stimulate the economy in the short term.
The financial supervision on real estate industry continued to strengthen, with
the “three red lines” implemented on a pilot basis, and control policies were
successively escalated in various cities with unstable housing prices, so as to
facilitate the rational market rebound. The eight departments of Shenzhen
also jointly issued stringent housing control policies to control the property
market. As affected by the COVID-19 outbreak, Hong Kong was still at a
“lockdown” state at the end of 2020. The local economy reached the historical
low with many industries severely affected and posed great challenges to social
economy. The global outbreak of COVID-19 is still acute and economic recovery
may still take a relatively long period of time before recovery.

Based on our close monitoring of economic conditions as well as following
the national strategy closely, the Group persisted the strategy of prudent
progress and adopted a number of effective operational measures to minimise
the impacts of the outbreak of COVID-19. We maintained the stable and
safety operation of the Group as a whole, but the performance was inevitable
impacted temporarily. With the economy of Mainland China first recovered,
we launched various operational initiatives and developed new projects,
especially the gradual progress of the Group’s project development in Nansha,
Guangzhou, in which we expect our profits will pick up in the future.

In 2020, in responding to the national strategies and policies and combining
with our own characteristics, the Group planned our strategic key project -
“Guangdong-Hong Kong-Macao International Innovative City (£ 7% 8 B g
All#738)"”, which will be implemented in Nansha. For the project, we plan to
integrate the Greater Bay Area, the Yangtze River Delta, overseas scientific and
technological innovation resources and partners, and construct two ecosystems
of global industrial innovation and international leisure living through city-
industry integration, and build four major industrial innovation bases, namely
Hong Kong enterprise innovation headquarters, high-end technology services,
innovation and entrepreneurship incubation, and achievement transfer and
transformation, and an international living community including functions
such as smart retail, education, medical care, entertainment, life and creative
stimulation, forming a comprehensive scientific and technological innovation
and life system. At present, we have successfully entered into a strategic
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cooperation agreement in respect of the project through the “Centralized
Signing Ceremony for Key Industrial Projects (EZiE ¥ TEH £ H4EN)”
held in Nansha District, and is stepping up the implementation of site selection.

We put focus on our urban renewal projects in Mainland China in Nansha
and signed cooperation agreements for 5 land parcels under 3 projects with a
total of 348,332 sq.m. (522.5 acres) of land. We are currently promoting the
preparation and application of the urban renewal implementation plan of the
projects.

For our maturing projects in Mainland China, the southern district of the
Jishengchang project in Longgang District, Shenzhen has fulfilled the criteria
for transforming into residential use (social security housing for talents) set
out in the “Interim Provisions of Shenzhen Municipality on Implementing
Housing System Reform to Accelerate Housing Land Supply” issued this year,
the planning of education facilities and transportation infrastructure for this
project is well underway, the application of admission of the project to the
implementation programme of social security housing for talents in 2021
was submitted to the government, a substantial revenue is expected to be
brought to the Group in the event of successful admission of the project to the
programme.

For the development and construction of projects under construction in
Mainland China, the Shenzhen Upper Residence, a high-end residential project
with a GFA of approximately 73,200 sq.m. with a total value of RMB1.685
billion commenced its sale at the end of September 2020 with RMB880 million
sold by the end of 2020. Topspring International Mansion and Jianshang
Commercial Building in Shenzhen, with a GFA of approximately 129,000 sg.m.
are scheduled for pre-sale in the third quarter of 2021.

Our projects in Hong Kong have also reported sound progress. 128 WATERLOO
in Hong Kong, located in a traditional high-end residential area and a much
coveted school net with a GFA of approximately 86,000 sq.ft. has commenced
for pre-sale in September 2020 and will be delivered in February 2022. The
negotiation of land premium payment arrangement with the government
for Yuen Long Shap Pat Heung Road Project with a GFA of approximately
245,000 sq.ft. is underway, and is expected to reach a land premium payment
agreement in the second quarter of 2021. The negotiation of land premium
payment arrangement with the government for the Yuen Long Tai Tong Road
Project with a GFA of approximately 40,000 sq.ft. is in progress. The Sheung
Shui Ma Sik Road Project (with a site area of approximately 103,000 sq.ft.) has
received approval from the Town Planning Board for development into low-
density residential units, and application is made regarding the conditions of
exchange and land premium payment. The Yuen Long Tong Yan San Tsuen
Project (with a site area of approximately 119,000 sq.ft.) is an agricultural land
site for which the Group is currently engaged in active negotiations with the
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government in relation to its proposed participation in the land sharing scheme,
which is expected to hold out better prospects for development. The Group has
also been working actively through various channels to identify opportunities
for investment in premium projects, with a view to ensuring continuous
investment and development in the Hong Kong market.

We also invest in real estate projects in Australia under different approaches
and the respective businesses are developing healthily and in the right
course. Phase | of our first luxury residential project in Bellevue Hill, Sydney,
are sold out at high prices despite the outbreak of COVID-19 in 2020, and
the construction of which has been commenced at the same time. The next
luxury residential project in Elizabeth Bay which is about to open soon has also
obtained development approval from the district government as scheduled, and
is currently preparing for pre-sale. The St Leonards project at the Lower North
Shore of Sydney with land parcel of GFA of approximately 32,000 sq.m. has
been approved by the Planning Administration for the development of high-
density residential buildings. The Group is currently applying for development
approval from the district government according to the procedures, which is
expected to obtain approval in 2021. The North Beach grade A development
project (with a site area of approximately 600,000 sg.m.) is currently used
for conservation land. The Group is negotiating with various government
departments to revise the nature of the land use of the project plot, and has
received a draft written support from the Planning Administration and the
district government currently for initiating the project. The Australian projects of
the Group will gradually enter the stage of presale and construction, which are
expected to benefit significantly from the rising trend of the Australian property
market in next few years and lay a good foundation for the Group to continue
exploring the real estate market in Australia.

In connection with commercial and properties management, our commercial
company was named among the top 100 commercial real estate enterprises in
China. The Chengdu Landmark Company (% #8 % 5 15 % X 7)) received the
honour of “2020 City Service Advancement Award in Mall China Golden Mall
Award (P BB EE W AP 01T % 2020 FE I ™ AR A5 #E B) 58)" . Our property
company was ranked 60th among the “2020 China Top 100 Property Service
Companies”, received the title the Top 30 of Shenzhen Index of Satisfaction by
Properties Management Owners (sampling unit) (Y3 E 2 % £ im 22 75
(M1 B A7) S8 5% 30) and the “Guangdong Provincial Enterprise of Observing
Contract and Valuing Credit” for four consecutive years. Among the 87
projects managed by the Group, 4 of them were awarded the title of “Provincial
Excellence Demonstration Community under Property Management” and 5
of them were awarded the title of “City Excellent Demonstration Community
under Property Management”. During the most acute period of COVID-19
outbreak in 2020, our property company received wide press coverage by
Jingbao ({& #§)), Southern Metropolis Daily ({7 75 # 1 %)) and Shenzhen
Yidichan (GRYIZEHED ) on our preventive measures against COVID-19 in
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a timely manner and our quality property services against COVID-19, and
Top Spring Water Flower in Shenzhen was also honoured as “one of the five
exemplary communities in terms of COVID-19 prevention”. In the meantime,
we continued to explore opportunities in relation to the development of asset-
light licensing, commercial properties, office properties, residential properties,
industrial park properties, cultural and tourism properties, municipal services
properties, transportation properties, property management services for
primary, secondary and tertiary education institutions in 2020. In addition, we
have made initial scalable achievements in ancillary urban market segmentation
and planning. In the future, we will focus on urban ancillary facilities of
property market segmentation, actively expand our property management
business in terms of the number of projects and the area under management.

For our education products and education services business, we have
established a joint venture with the operator of “Creative Kindergarten” and
"Creative Day Nursery”, a long-established and renowned pre-school education
brand in Hong Kong, in an active move to respond to the adverse macro-
economic environment brought about by the outbreak of COVID-19, constantly
updating the teaching themes for the schools we serve and continue to serve
students with the teaching model of “Suspending Classes without Suspending
Learning”. In addition, we have developed an “Online + Offline” compatible
platform for sales of education products and services and organised “Online
Sales”, “Christmas Outlet”, exhibitions and other activities, providing timely
services to schools and parents, and actively exploring on-the-job training of
teachers. For the business development in the Guangdong-Hong Kong-Macau
Greater Bay Area, we will enhance our comprehensive service quality and
capability by implementing education projects in asset-light model in major
cities, and giving priority to focusing on education informatization and STEAM
education.

FUTURE OUTLOOK

The Guangdong-Hong Kong-Macao Greater Bay Area (”Greater Bay Area”) is
the highest openness and strongest economic vitality in China and the world. In
2020, in the context of the global pandemic, the economy of the core cities in
the Greater Bay Area recovered rapidly. The gross domestic product (“GDP") of
seven out of the nine cities in the Pearl River Delta in the Greater Bay Area took
the lead in returning to positive growth in the third quarter, demonstrating an
economically strong resilience and vitality in the Greater Bay Area. The central
government further promotes the construction of the Guangdong-Hong Kong-
Macao Greater Bay Area by formulating and promulgating suggestions, plans,
schemes including Opinions Concerning Financial Support for the Establishment
of the Guangdong-Hong Kong-Macao Greater Bay Area ((BEN & R 18 B8
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@R EE R)), Development Plan for Inter-city Railway Links in the
Guangdong—Hong Kong-Macao Greater Bay Area ({E 788 X% @ 9 B & 3%
M EN)), The Culture and Tourism Development Plan for the Guangdong-
Hong Kong-Macao Greater Bay Area (£ 78 K& (b FIjR 23 B iR &),
Implementation Plan for Comprehensive Reform of the Pilot Demonstration
Zone for Building Socialism with Chinese Characteristics in Shenzhen (2020-
2025) (KARYERFEFEHSIBZLTIOBRANEARERTR
(2020-2025))). During the “14th Five-Year Plan” period, the Greater Bay Area
will continue to usher in new opportunities. In the Recommendations of the
CPC Central Committee for Formulating the 14th Five-Year Plan for National
Economic and Social Development and the Long-Range Objectives Through the
year 2035 P Hh RENG FRH RSB SEHRESE THE A FREA
Z“O=-hFiR=HEZEMEZ), the government mentioned the Guangdong-
Hong Kong-Macao Greater Bay Area three times, and that the government
would promote the construction of the Guangdong-Hong Kong-Macao
Greater Bay Area and create an innovation platform and new growth pole by
supporting the Guangdong-Hong Kong-Macao Greater Bay Area turning to
be an international technological innovation centre. The Group will continue
to focus on the opportunities in the Greater Bay Area and closely grasp the
historic development opportunities brought about by the construction and
development of the Greater Bay Area.

The Group is of the view that it is imperative to maintain a steadily growing
rental income. The Group looks forward to achieving greater growth in rental
income by expanding the portfolio of premium properties held as investment.

APPRECIATION

I would like to express my sincere gratitude to all our colleagues for their
hard work and dedication. The trust and recognition of our shareholders are
our driving force in such era of uncertainties. We will continue to create the
maximum value for our shareholders and contribute to our society on an
ongoing basis.
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38 5
HONOURS AND AWARDS

ET ] 2020 EHE
Ekih=TOP100
TOP 100 China Commercial
ViR B R K 4 Real Estate 2020
China Resl Estase Fashion Awards
FHlEERE LR A EEARL
2020 PEIERHERERAR . o

W kot

o s e e P Chay e e, e Lo 1 108 e s

CERFAmkRs frs AREREALS SL-ddl ERCRNIRE BErRTiR
e T e i)

£ = &

KERERERBRAT A TREEEREERERRA
RE - kBEEL 2020 4 /& 7 Bl 5 5 2 Z TOP100
2020 B4 E At R AR B R A HE BEEEHRR
BE B2
Shenzhen Top Spring Commercial Investment
Top Spring International Holdings Limited Management Co., Ltd.
Upper Residence 2020 China Top 100 Players of The Commercial
2020 Annual Community Innovation Development Real Estate
Award in China Guandian Index Academy

Guandian Index Academy

N E

l% CERTIFICATE

< 5 TR 95

sprriy Mussgemesi Companies in China

AYTREYERBEER AR FRITREDEREER AR
2020 B ERB AREE 20195 ERINTMERBEE
2015-2020 BE A FHEMERB AR M FRENBREE
B 5 B A e RITMEERTEDHE
Shenzhen Top Spring Property Services Co., Ltd. Shenzhen Top Spring Property Services Co., Ltd.
2020 China Top 100 Property Service Companies 2019 Shenzhen Top 100 Property Management
2015-2020 China Top 100 Property Service Companies in terms of Comprehensive Strength
Companies for six consecutive years Shenzhen Property Management Association

China Index Academy
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RERRE
HONOURS AND AWARDS

RYTRZYERBARAF KT REEEERFRAA
019FENEEEXIREE (EEH) REBHREH S
RIS (HhEREEAL) 9B 530 FREEEEE W R OIT £ 202066 2
RN EEBTERS W ARG HEE 22
REEENTLOEREZES
Shenzhen Top Spring Property Services Co., Ltd.
2019 Satisfaction of Property Management Owner (Residential) Chengdu Topspring Commercial Management Co., Ltd.
Shenzhen Index (sampling unit) Top 30 Chengdu Fashion Mark
Shenzhen Property Management Association 2020 City Service Advancement

Award in Mall China Golden Mall Award
China Shopping Center Development Association of
Mall China

FMNTREMERBERAR
2020 F R TR BN
FHAHEEIEZES

Changzhou Top Spring Property Services Co., Ltd.
Outstanding Companies for Epidemic Prevention in 2020
Working Committee of Shajing Residential District
under the Communist Party of China
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TEHEERE

CORPORATE SOCIAL RESPONSIBILITY

ER—KLMAF  £BH TEEEHANRE
B RSB ARCEEREERARZMEEME -
ZER RRX-—BEEBIPETHEEL &

BEITIHEEE D EXINEEEEE
BETROHEELCEHEETIENER -

RO AEEEEEIFEERBELELEN
HET  EBBERI - KEER  mERE
ERHE  XEEXLNEREIHEERN

RRA—EBNRT E2EEERNEBHER
24 HOMELNINER B -F—FF
B REEREHEKEESAEAI IR
PBEESHE -KRPEES  RERBER
& TAERENERRKSERES R - R
B RN —F-=FHRYTRREEES
T RAZ(XBHEER BEEAFTZA:
BHANEIERN ZRHEGAHEFEINT
5 BEBRXFM2ESETEAREBEBN
RPBEREEXNERAEBMLE O NE -

As a listed company, Top Spring always bears in mind its social responsibility
as a corporate citizen, while continuing to grow and expand in business. Over
the years, Top Spring has been vigorously performing its social responsibility
in active fulfilment of its corporate value of “joint efforts in creating and
celebrating success”, working relentlessly to advance developments in
corporate social responsibility.

Under the leadership of our Chairman, Mr WONG Chun Hong, the Group
made contributions to charitable causes such as aid for the disabled and the
homeless, relief for the poor, improvements to people’s livelihood, support for
education and cultural initiatives during 2020, earning enthusiastic praises from
the community.

Top Springers continued to venture forward, as we support education for
underprivileged students across China. Since 2010, the New Great Wall
Scholarship Project — Top Spring International Scholarships established by Top
Spring in association with China Foundation for Poverty Alleviation has been
providing support to underprivileged college students in Guangdong, Jiangsu,
Jiangxi and Sichuan. Meanwhile, Shenzhen Topspring Charity Foundation,
founded in 2013, has been actively supporting and participating in charitable
initiatives and donations in adherence to its philosophy of “supporting
education development, caring lonely elderly; promoting humanitarian
spirit, developing social welfare undertakings” to contribute its part to the
development of charity undertakings in China.
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CORPORATE SOCIAL RESPONSIBILITY

—EoEF SEREREREEESS I
RPfRAnEey RITEBTAmELE

RINTABHBRMREES S  EREERS
BXEARESEERBIIBE 2228 ET -
TP FNRERE  KEHAEXELER
RMBHERERE o

EREHTHRIRE REEFEINEREE
72 REXBEBREEBNERRDENRE 2
= RELOTEARNEBRELRE

AEERRERNFAR  —WRERIRE
KE HEFARERGLY BOIRAEEML
FEANRIEEAR  #HHEEML SN
SEER -
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In 2020, the Group made donations of over HK$2.22 million in total to
the institutions such as Beijing Green and Shine Foundation (it 5 & 2 24
=X ©9), Beijing Zhonglun Charity Foundation (It RFRATE L E),
Shenzhen Mammoth Foundation I T EIF A F E & €), Shenzhen
Mangrove Wetlands Conservation Foundation (& I 77 4T 15§ #% 2 i {F & &
4 &) and Guangdong Lantai Charity (ER A EREZB XL RAFELE) to
fund initiatives for the promotion of healthy growth of the youth, support of
educational and cultural activities and fight against the COVID-19 epidemic.

At the critical moment of fighting the COVID-19 epidemic and ensuring the
orderly resumption of work, Top Spring Group assisted in meeting the urgent
need for anti-epidemic supplies to protect people’s life, health and safety with
charity.

While pursuing stable development, the Group continued to commit itself
to charity and public welfare activities relating to people’s livelihood, poverty
alleviation and education, as it endeavoured to be a good corporate citizen
that honoured its social responsibility and drive sustainable development of the
community as well as the enterprise.
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RPN EFHE
OVERVIEW OF OUR BUSINESS

TEREIAR_Z_ZTF+_A=1+—HFHIM The table below sets forth the net saleable and leasable GFA information of
NREMEEBEENFAHEERATAEREMBMME  our 22 property projects in terms of planned use of the properties as at 31

BRREREMERBRED) o December 2020.
EHE S
HEEHFE
FEHAR HELAR
RREEER BEER
Contracted
to be acquired
or under
Under  Held for future application
Completed development development for change in
GFA GFA GFA land use GFA
FAK FAK FAK FhHK
sg.m. sq.m. sq.m. sq.m.
BELHENE Properties held for sale

FE Residential 10,588 46,884 30,494 29,534
REARE Serviced apartments 1,029 - - -
zE Retail 70,167 67,812 - -
I Sub-total 81,784 114,696 30,494 29,534

BERENE Properties held for investment
TE/PRE Retail/Office 254,331 - - -
& Campus 574 - - -
I Sub-total 254,905 - - -
FUHERTHEREEE Net saleable and leasable GFA 336,689 114,696 30,494 29,534

RBEREBRRES HTEHINET EUTHERTHEREERE
R_F-_TF+_HA=1—8H

Estimated net saleable and leasable GFA by development status and region/city
as at 31 December 2020

6.0% 5.8% 7.2% 6.0% 03%

16.0%

RBRERES ERTEI D
HREEE CpfeE

GFA by 5.1% GFA by 33.3%

Development Status City
5.2%
7.5%
0.1%
65.8% 19.3%

" B TIHHE Completed projects 336,689 = R®YIKEiE  Shenzhenand 170,533 LI = Tianjin 25,957
= ERIER Projects under development 114,696 & (23  surrounding =) Changzhou 82,043

FEEGER IR Projects held for future 30,494 R%) regions &% Hong Kong 36,904

BEMIAR development ([')”C'”d'”g ) " SR Australia 30,494

ERIA FHEES  Projects contracted to be 29,534 . b sﬁﬁﬁn 98 883 = 28 Kumming 1,415

IFfEERESRE 1 acquired or under application m "9 ’ ke =ik

R MER for change in land use ﬁz;[s E‘E”J'”% 2;7285 Total GFA 511,413

n

BEEER Total GFA 511,413 enodu ’

= Hangzhou 26,182
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R -FERBOE
(1) AEE

REVIEW OF BUSINESS IN 2020

(1) Pre-sales

ZKE@ N\ TEHEBMERESRM
8 & 58 £ 491,125,200,00058 7T (R A 49
1,118,400,000 8 TR B M ETEE ) -

BT NFEFL1,0748% ° NEE
CDHRERBEEBELNA16,839F HFK -

BT NEEFH1061% R T
TFECAEEYPEBREFHER (£
EEB))AEFHAKN66,41728 T (=
Z-NF:HFHAKANM,6495%5T) -
BZF—NFEHL4701% - AEEE
BIYHEE LA DEZARNERIIEEE
WYEEERE FTHEEREINTIE
BT HEERERSAM I &K
EER_Z_THEMNEBEVLBEEENA
6,800,000/ 7T « & H &S5 REEEN ©

AEBRBE-_ZE-_TF+_A=1+—
Etifﬂﬁ%%&%ﬁu T8 & 42 58 BF 48
]y

() MH*HEER

HE-EHAERG

® Changzhou  EMERHE

Project - type of project

In 2020, the Group recorded an aggregate of pre-sales of properties
and car park units of approximately HK$1,125.2 million (of which
approximately HK$1,118.4 million was from pre-sales of properties),
representing an increase of approximately 1,074.8% as compared with
2019. The Group’s total pre-sold gross floor GFA was approximately
16,839 sg.m., representing an increase of approximately 106.1% as
compared with 2019. The average selling price (“ASP") of the Group’s
pre-sales of properties in 2020 was approximately HK$66,417.2 per sq.m.
(2019: approximately HK$11,649.5 per sq.m.), representing an increase
of approximately 470.1% as compared with 2019. The increase in the
Group's overall ASP was mainly due to the pre-sales of properties in
Shenzhen and Hong Kong, which has a relatively higher ASP as compared
to projects in other cities. In addition, the Group’s pre-sales of car park
units in 2020 was approximately HK$6.8 million from the sale of 55 car
park units.

A breakdown of the total pre-sales of the properties and car park units of
the Group during the year ended 31 December 2020 is set out as follows:

(@) Pre-sales of properties

CHREEEER REH
Pre-sold GFA Pre-sales Pre-sales ASP
IR BBAT BT/ FA K
sq.m. HK$ million % HK$/sg.m.

REFHER

Changzhou Fashion Mark

—fE=E — residential 95 0.6 2.6 0.2 27,368.4
K#  Tianjin REREH Tianjin Le Leman City

—F=E - residential 3,767 224 46.1 4.1 12,237.9
#®IJ| - Shenzhen RIKBE EZRE  Shenzhen Upper Residence

—F=E - residential 12,699 75.4 989.6 88.5 77,927.4
&% HongKong &% 128 WATERLOO Hong Kong 128 WATERLOO

= - residential 278 1.6 80.1 7.2 288,129.5

#it Total

16,839 100 1,118.4 100 66,417.2
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(b) FEUEEHE

Project

(b) Pre-sales of car park units

EEEFENHE
Number of pre-sold BE

RETHER
car park units Pre-sales Pre-sales ASP
] ABET %t/
unit HK$ million HK$/unit

R Nanjing KEEXR-BR The Spring Land - Nanjing 12 21.8 15 22.1 125,000.0
R Nanjing KIS K- R The Sunny Land - Nanjing 43 782 5.3 77.9 123,255.8
@it Total 55 100 6.8 100 123,636.4

2 AZEZEXNFRAKRNIER
HE-_Z-_ZF+-_A=+—HLFE "
REBMARZREMNOYEERE LB
BYEEERA (TREFEMHEE) D
72,800,000/ 7T A B B MR K A] 35 &
HEMBNAEE202F K BEE_Z
—NEFE+_A=Z+—BLFEHFRED
4952.5% & 49.2% - BEZZT-ZTF+=
A=+—BLEFE FAEENHEENE
WERRTHEEN AT HK11,738.1
BT - EMRFHEETHELN27% £
THRAEERXENEEEE ZE B
HRMEMEE (TREFEMBE) AL
HlEX  ZEEREEZE - —NF+=
A=+ HLGEELEHMBEBENTF
HEBLE  HFHEERE -

HE-_ZT-_ZTF+_A=+—B81tHF
B AEERNREREEMEENR
6,400,000 % 7T, + & H 55 [EfFEBAL

(2) Projects delivered and booked in 2020

For the year ended 31 December 2020, the Group’s property development
business in Tianjin and Changzhou achieved revenue from sale of
properties (excluding sale of car park units) of approximately HK$72.8
million with saleable GFA of approximately 6,202 sq.m. being recognised,
representing a decrease of approximately 52.5% and 49.2%, respectively,
as compared with the year ended 31 December 2019. The recognised
ASP of the Group’s sale of properties was approximately HK$11,738.1
per sq.m. for the year ended 31 December 2020. The approximate 2.7%
decrease in recognised ASP was primarily attributable to a significant
proportion of the recognised sale of properties (excluding sale of car park
units) being contributed by the Group’s residential project in Tianjin, which
has a relatively lower ASP as compared with the ASP of other projects sold
during the year ended 31 December 2019.

For the year ended 31 December 2020, the Group delivered and
recognised the sale of car park units of approximately HK$6.4 million from
the sale of 55 car park units.
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Details of sale of properties and car park units of the Group recognised in

2020 are listed below:

=N
AHE
BEER

Saleable

GFA
booked
FHR
sq.m.

Project - type of project

=R
MEHER
Sale of
properties

X Tianjin REREH Tianjin Le Leman City

—F=E - residential 5,400 59.5

®M  Changzhou VLB Changzhou Fashion Mark
=% ~ residential 802 133
st Total 6,202 72.8
EPN: (=%
FEUHE BEUNER
Number of Sale of
car park car park units
Project units booked recognised
& BEET
unit HK$ million
AR Nanjing KIS K- R The Sunny Land - Nanjing 44 5.1
B®  Nanjing KEER-BR The Spring Land - Nanjing 11 13
st Total 55 6.4

54
FHER
Recognised
ASP

BTk

HK$/sg.m.

11,018.5

16,583.5

11,738.1

B#R
FHEE

Recognised
ASP
/(&
HK$/unit

115,909.1

118,181.8

116,363.6
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REEEERENYEIN  REETTE
MBI LR EYEAE TE2BE
BYmEs HEREPL  TEHE R
BRABMEEM - 27 E AR K
BEX - FY - BNEEHE R
SEEPL  MMESEEP D RIIDK
BIEH  KERZEHE - EEDBHLER
B EEEAREMEMHELS UK
MRBEBNNEERBEHEE - NZ2Z=
TFEF_A=Z+—08 AEBEEREDED
N R {BEY A7,309,300,0008 7T 0 15
AEBEELEL26.9% - KREEREY
FEAWAHEBEEREL A259,914
FrRK - BEZZZZEF+=-A=1+—H
LtFE AEEGESRENELAAEE
518 (FOBRIEEF78) 4958,900,000 7% T
(BEZZ—NF+ZA=t+—HLFE:
WEME RN AEBERZE L 149,700,00078
TTHBREERIE)) -

AEERBEENERTEMN  ARHE
MMmHBHFR MHEEESKERAFEMHE
REEZZRAZB/LAERKEES - K
EERS AT HEL  EPHRAER
RAEEBEE ASBEHZENZLZEN
HEFIERPEFAEENHOER
HEBREZENE R  EHEE R EEN
MEBEBAREREBHTEREERS -
RZE_ZEF+_A=+—80 £&H
WAMEBEENBEE(BE—REMEREREE
HEEHERRLEEERB10.0%) T
HERZEMBLHAEEEETREME
WA EEmMELN34.9% (R - E— N
+—A=+—8 :4353%) °

HE-Z-_ZF+-_A=+—HLFE "
AEBMEENENLAERHR T —NF
+-—A=+—B#H874% tAE_FT =
TE+-A=+—H%909% - HE-ZT
—EE+ A=+ —BLEFE AEE
EEE S U A #I231,100,0008 7T » B EH
—E-NAFET_A=1+—BILEEH
272,000,000 L 2 #)15.0% - H 2= =
E_TFE+ A=+ HAULFEAER
HEPREVMENABASKANES
FIKE2IBIL (BEZTE—NF+=A
=+ —HLEFE - HNAETFHKI107.9%
JT) e

In addition to the sale of properties developed by the Group, the Group
has also leased out or expects to lease out its investment property
portfolio comprising mainly shopping malls, community commercial
centres, retail shops, serviced apartments and car park units in The Spring
Land — Shenzhen, Changzhou Fashion Mark, Dongguan Landmark,
Hangzhou Landmark, Shenzhen Water Flower Garden, Chengdu Fashion
Mark, Shanghai Shama Century Park, Shanghai Bay Valley and Kunming
Dianchi Lakeside Peninsula in Mainland China and Kowloon Tong Rutland
Quadrant Project in Hong Kong. As at 31 December 2020, the total
fair value of the investment properties of the Group was approximately
HK$7,309.3 million, representing approximately 26.9% of the Group’s
total asset value. The Group’s investment property portfolio had a total
leasable GFA of approximately 259,914 sq.m.. The Group recorded
approximately HK$58.9 million (net of deferred tax) as loss in fair value of
its investment properties for the year ended 31 December 2020 (for the
year ended 31 December 2019: approximately HK$149.7 million (net of
deferred tax) as gain in fair value of its investment properties).

The Group carefully plans and selects tenants based on factors such as a
project’s overall positioning, market demand in surrounding areas, market
levels of rent and development needs of tenants. The presence of large-
scale anchor tenants which the Group has attracted enhances the value of
its projects. The Group enters into longer-term and more favourable lease
contracts with such anchor and reputable tenants which include well-
known brands, chain cinema operators, reputable restaurants and top
operators of catering businesses. As at 31 December 2020, the GFA taken
up by these anchor and reputable tenants, whose leased GFA was over
10.0% of the total leasable GFA of a single investment property, made up
approximately 34.9% (as at 31 December 2019: approximately 35.3%)
of the Group’s total leasable area in its investment properties under
operation.

For the year ended 31 December 2020, the occupancy rate of the Group’s
investment properties increased from approximately 87.4% as at 31
December 2019 to approximately 90.9% as at 31 December 2020. The
Group generated rental income of approximately HK$231.1 million for the
year ended 31 December 2020, representing a decrease of approximately
15.0% from approximately HK$272.0 million for the year ended 31
December 2019. The average monthly rental income of the Group'’s
investment properties under operation for the year ended 31 December
2020 was approximately HK$82.3 per sq.m. (for the year ended 31
December 2019: approximately HK$107.9 per sg.m.).
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AEER-_Z-_FTF+-A=+—0H Details of the Group’s major investment properties as at 31 December
FTEREMERESEERE_ZT_TF 2020 and their respective rental income for the year ended 31 December
TZA=t+—BLEFENHESBAGFE 2020 are set out as follows:
M
2z
- ot 2.3
+=B=t-H
LLEER
FEHK
AHESHA
Average
monthly =t+-A
rental income iohigibs
EEEE WANEE Rental income per sq.m. HiLAE
Leasable GFA Fair value for the year for the year Occupancy
asat as at ended ended rate as at
RENF 31 December 31 December 31 December 31 December 31 December
Investment properties 2020 2020 2020 2020 2020
i)
(Note)
SN BEAT B i K
sq.m. HK$ million HKS$/5q.m.
EENRENFE Investment properties under operation
BNREDEG MR (BWAESR  Changzhou Fashion Mark Phases 1 and 2 (Shopping
FEf) mall and car park units) 78,615 15045 362 472 813
MNEREERL (B0EE) Hangzhou Landmark (Shopping mal) 26,182 4194 174 599 924
KEREDBE (BNESRESRM)  Chengdu Fashion Mark (Shopping mall and
car park units) 38,285 807.9 221 489 984
Ligga Shanghai Bay Valley 55,19 1,7189 335 482 1000
Mk : RZT_ZTF+-_A=+—BWIHER Note: The leasable GFA as at 31 December 2020 excluded car park units.

LEETEEESEA -
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4 N==F=-=ZF+=-HA=+—HMWZE (4) Land bank as at 31 December 2020
ih {5 5

M
Australia
&R
Sydney
°
l:Fl Z&fest. Leonards’E H

Sydney St. Leonards Project

The PRC

TiajinL Leman City

—KBEX - R
he Spring Land - Nanjing

—— BMESRHE
Changzhou Fashion Mark

LiSBAIER

Shanghai Bay Valley Project
EETHHLAER

Shanghai Shama Century Park
DEAE S TSE L2V

Hangzhou Landmark

MRS
Chengdu Fashion Mark

" = P/ Xfamen

ceo, REREEEF L

0,'}',. % Dongguan ’_Dongguan Landmark
|_&# Hong Kong B% Lk EEBER

Hong Kong Sheung Shui

Ma Sik Road Project

EERIHATN\BEKIER

Hong Kong Yuen Long

Shap Pat Heung Road Project

BREMNEYS

Kunming Dianchi Lakeside Peninsula

#3| Shenzhen

MR-ZB-_ZTHE+-A=1+—H 22 property projects

RN KB HEED
y J]
K2R as at 31 December 2020 Shenzhen Water Flower Garden ~ EHE T AEKIER
; . IR Hong Kong Yuen Long
® HTHA Completed projects Shenzhen Hidden Valley Tai Tong Road Project
® TEIER Projects under development ;ﬁ?iﬁn— ;i':iﬂld chenshen BB AN AR
@ BERKERENEFIL  Projects held for future 5573JH%§$§7U§ Hong Kong Yuen Long .
XA E L IEAEFRESE  development or contracted Shenzhen Topspring International 1019 Yan San Tsuen Road Project
T REEIER to be acquired or under Mansion Z5%128 WATERLOO
application for change Y E R AR Hong Kong 128 WATERLOO
S , in land use ;I;:elzlz:gen Jianshang Commercial 35 5 seymm o mrm g
O BARBREEMESZHET  Major city with high speed E . Hong Kong Kowloon Tong
railway RYIKBE b RE Rutland Quadrant Project

Shenzhen Upper Residence
— R High speed railway
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REBRPEAREME ([PE]) KE The Group is specialised in the development and operation of urban
B RI=AM - 2 EROMM R mixed-use communities and the development and sale of residential
WRERMGEENERREEUNRTE properties in the Greater Bay Area, the Yangtze River Delta, the Central
MFEHERREE - China, the Beijing-Tianjin and the Chengdu-Chongging regions in the

People’s Republic of China (the “PRC").

RZEZ_ZEF+_A=+—H0 £~&£H As at 31 December 2020, the Group had a total of 22 projects over
RIMERTHEEES X 2EERTEERE 11 cities in various stages of development, including an estimated net
PEERMIBEE  BEMETEITHEE A A saleable/leasable GFA of completed projects of approximately 336,689
EREMEL 336,689 F FAKME L TIH sg.m., an estimated net saleable/leasable GFA of projects under
B e MHEREEREY development of approximately 114,696 sq.m., an estimated net saleable/
114,696 F FoKEYfE 2 IH B ~ (& 5F 7] 8 leasable GFA of projects held for future development of approximately
& /A HEZEEEL30,494F FKH 30,494 sq.m. and an estimated net saleable/leasable GFA of projects
FEHRRRBERMIBER RMAHFAHE contracted to be acquired or under application for change in land use of
SR EREmEN29534F FANE approximately 29,534 sq.m., totalling an estimated net saleable/leasable
A THERECRBERE L AR GFA of approximately 511,413 sq.m., the details of which are as follows:

WIEE  FTEBEEBENGEFAEE [
HERERBATHASNM3FERK
BREFBWOT -

CEp:
AHE/AHEE r5E
EEEE LR
HARE Estimated net Interest

Project Bl Region/ saleable/  attributable to
no. Hm City Project HEER Type of project leasable GFA the Group
sg.m. %

BRIER
Completed Projects

1 3 Shenzhen RYIAKH L Shenzhen Hidden Valley T=E Residential 4,015 100.0
2 3 Shenzhen KEEX — FY The Spring Land [GES Commercial 33,454 100.0
- Shenzhen
3 F Shenzhen RIKEITEAD Shenzhen Water Flower Garden 7% Commercial 4,992 100.0
4 M Changzhou BMHZEHE Changzhou Fashion Mark EE Commercial 82,043 100.0
5 R Dongguan ~ REFZHEF DL Dongguan Landmark BE Commercial 20,172 100.0
6 M Hangzhou  MMEEEEHL Hangzhou Landmark [ Commercial 26,182 100.0
7 BB Chengdu REARZEHE Chengdu Fashion Mark GES Commerdial 38,285 100.0
8 = Shanghai EESBHEAR Shanghai Shama Century Park ~ fRE= A% Serviced apartments 1,029 70.0
9 K Tianjin REFEH Tianjin Le Lemen City %%  Residential/Commercial 25,957 58.0
10 AR Nanjing KEEXR - ER The Spring Land - Nanjing mE Commercial 717 100.0
11 & Shanghai BAREER Bay Valley Project [EE3 Commercial 97,854 70.0
12 EE HongKong  &ENBEREEMEIEE  Hong Kong Kowloon Tong R& Campus 574 100.0
Rutland Quadrant Project
13 £ Kunming EWENHELS Kunming Dianchi Lakeside [EES Commercial 1,415 100.0
Peninsula

Nt Sub-total 336,689
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R
AHE/ THE rE
EEEE FE{L RS
HARS Estimated net Interest

Project EiF,/ Region/ saleable/  attributable to
no. i) City E Project HEER Type of project leasable GFA the Group
FRHK

sg.m. %

HEER

Projects under Development

14 w3 Shenzhen RYFREEKE Shenzhen Topspring SRS Commercial 58,294 100.0
International Mansion
15 R Shenzhen RYIE LB AR Shenzhen Jianshang [SES Commercial 9,518 100.0
Commercial Building
16 Rl Shenzhen RYRBE FRE Shenzhen Upper Residence T Residential 40,088 100.0
17 BB Hong Kong % 128 WATERLOO Hong Kong 128 WATERLOO =% Residential 6,796 60.0
Nt Sub-total 114,696
BERRRBENER
Projects Held for Future Development
18 BN Sydney, #JB.St. Leonards 78 B Sydney, St. Leonards Project =% Residential 30,494 49.0
Australia
BIARTHREREERFNE L ARNER
Projects Contracted to be Acquired or under Application for Change in Land Use
19 BB HongKong  &BTEA+/\ K Hong Kong Yuen Long Shap £ Residential 20,050 100.0
1HE Pat Heung Road Project
20 EE HongKong &ABTHARKER Hong Kong Yuen Long e Residential 2,987 100.0
Tai Tong Road Project
21 aE HongKong  &BTLEAE AFTH Hong Kong Yuen long Tong A EE Composite N/A 100.0
1gg e Yan San Tsuen Road development
Project(Nute)
22 &5 HongKong &/ L/kSiE Hong Kong Sheung ShuiMa £ Residential 6,497 50.0
1A Sik Road Project
Nt Sub-total 29,534
@it Total 511,413
Mzt : BETHAEAFNNIER Z#RASELEGTE Note: Hong Kong Yuen Long Tong Yan San Tsuen Road Project is currently under scheme

oo (S HEEA R 11,123 F 5K » development. The site area is approximately 11,123 sq.m..
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NEBMT L REEEEEHNOT Details of land bank in major cities are set out below:

a3

AHE FHE

EEME

Estimated

net saleable/

BE, W H Region/City leasable GFA

sg.m.

FIN AR E (B IERE) Shenzhen and surrounding regions (including Dongguan) 170,533

upic) Shanghai 98,883

[ Nanjing 717

PR Chengdu 38,285

LN Hangzhou 26,182

Kz Tianjin 25,957

B Changzhou 82,043

=45 Kunming 1,415

B Hong Kong 36,904

SEINETE Sydney, Australia 30,494

@t Total 511,413
AEEREBERERLS THMEER The Group intends to continue to leverage its experience in identifying
RESRAR SR EENEAERE land parcels in and/or outside the PRC with investment potential at
ETH) T - 0 R g o e B AT advantageous times and acquiring land reserves which are or will be
ERnitE ERE B T o st - well connected with transportation and infrastructure developments.
NEBEREBENPEEAR P HE Moreover, the Group intends to continue to acquire new land parcels or
INFERMEEENW ABERIERE NN projects in locations in and/or outside the PRC with vibrant economies
S YR T IE R - LEERER (8 and strong growth potential, in particular, the Greater Bay Area (including

BEE RIRRE) - EERRNER - Hong Kong, Shenzhen and Dongguan), Shanghai and Sydney of Australia.



24 FEEREEERAT T -TFH

EEENWE DT

MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

G) R=ZE-_ESFHKREEMNER
RIZZBZZF  AEERREEREEE -
At FAEE AHELELETEN S
67,812 F K °

EREBFHBHRHIIMT

Region/
City

(5) Projects with commencement of construction in 2020

In 2020, the Group commenced construction of two projects with a total
estimated net saleable/leasable GFA of approximately 67,812 sg.m..

Details of such projects are set out below:

HETRAHE
AHEEEEE
Estimated

net saleable/
leasable GFA
sg.m.

Project

Y Shenzhen FYIHRBEREKE Shenzhen Topspring
International Mansion 58,294

wY Shenzhen Y g RE Shenzhen Jianshang
Commercial Building 9,518
67,812

(6) HHIR-—Z-_—FHKBMWEE
RZEZ—F AEEGFSFAREEM
BIEE @ BB EE MHERRESE
EIE4) 423,037 F K -

BREBFHBRHIIMT

Region/
City

(6) Projects with expected commencement in 2021
In 2021, the Group intends to commence construction of two projects
with a total estimated net saleable/leasable GFA of approximately 23,037
sg.m..

Details of such projects are set out below:

e BUHE
AHEREEE
Estimated

net saleable/
leasable GFA

sg.m.

Project

B Hong Kong BEBETRA+\HIEIEE Hong Kong Yuen Long Shap

Pat Heung Road Project 20,050
ik Hong Kong EABATHAEKIER Hong Kong Yuen Long Tai

Tong Road Project 2,987

23,037
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575,100,000 T - ML ZF — L FF D
49200% BE_ZE_ETFE+_A=+—
BEFE AR E=zREEBEEBEENA
283,300,000 87T ' MEFHE AR A ERR
B FE (5 518 49 5582,900,000 8 L c L E - F
—EFF+-_AZ+—BLEFE  AEENARA
G ((RB) BREARESHBES -
—NED R %50.0% 5 50.0% E40.1978
LR 019 T o AN R B A ] Rk AR AR Al
BREFES ([RKARBABRRBRESFDIEEAR
EEREEFEH - -NE+-_A=+—
H463BTEMA48%E —E-_FF+—-A
=+—H#6.6ET -
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R R B AR AT A8 545 B N IR EEEL
ECECRFF A= -HIEFERIPKER
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LEEFE: SR2EBI) - EAFARABRRR
ARBEEBRBFRS L4E - HAEER -

WAEWMEHERA  HEWRARLFREE
HYEERE MARREREORAAREREHE
MR RE BRER A A (B IR IEE T A R E A
HEMRBAN AR AR

HE_Z-_ZF T _A=1+—HILFEHN
WABRBEZE=_Z—NAF+_A=+—HL
£ [Z #9719,200,00078 7L 4 £920.0% = 4
575,100,000/ 7T c WAB D EZHR AR EH
MEBERARL BEZT-TF+=A
=+—HLFE AEECHERAVEHEER
#779,200,000 7% 7T * 15 B A 4913.8% ° &
EEBERELIA4231,100,0008 7T 0 1542
WA KIA402% - AEEEBHERMEEIE XA
78 AR 7% U A #9228,200,00078 Tt -+ 16 2 A 49
39.7% ° U A B #2 T #76.3% (%936,500,000
VEIL) BB RBRBSBA -

—E-TFEREAANEERASBKANBRATE=-Z
—NERBD150%  DEEHAAEERR T
—EFEYICOVD- 19X IR B ERYMEREN
S TREATE -

FINANCIAL REVIEW

In 2020, the Group’s consolidated revenue reached approximately HK$575.1
million, decreased by approximately 20.0% as compared with 2019. The
loss attributable to equity shareholders of the Company for the year ended
31 December 2020 was approximately HK$283.3 million, as compared to a
loss attributable to the equity shareholders of the Company of approximately
HK$582.9 million recorded in the previous year. For the year ended 31
December 2020, the Group’s basic and diluted loss per share of the Company
(the “Share(s)”) decreased by approximately 50.0% and 50.0% as compared
with 2019 to approximately HK$0.19 and HK$0.19 respectively. Net assets
per Share attributable to equity shareholders of the Company and the holders
of perpetual subordinated convertible securities (“PCSs"”) increased by
approximately 4.8% from approximately HK$6.3 as at 31 December 2019 to
approximately HK$6.6 as at 31 December 2020.

In order to maintain a stable dividend policy, the Board has recommended the
payment of a final dividend of HK4 cents per Share attributable to the equity
shareholders of the Company and the holders of PCSs for the year ended 31
December 2020 (for the year ended 31 December 2019: HK2 cents per Share),
subject to the approval by the shareholders of the Company at the forthcoming
annual general meeting of the Company.

Revenue represents income from sale of properties, rental income and income
from provision of property management and related services and income from
provision of education related services earned during the year, net of value-
added tax and other sales related taxes and discounts allowed.

Revenue for the year ended 31 December 2020 decreased by approximately
20.0% to approximately HK$575.1 million from approximately HK$719.2
million for the year ended 31 December 2019. This decrease was primarily
due to the decrease in the Group’s income from sale of properties. During
the year ended 31 December 2020, the Group recognised property sales of
approximately HK$79.2 million, representing approximately 13.8% of the total
revenue. The Group recognised rental income of approximately HK$231.1
million, representing approximately 40.2% of the total revenue. The Group
recognised property management and related services income of approximately
HK$228.2 million, representing approximately 39.7% of the total revenue. The
remaining approximately 6.3% of the total revenue of approximately HK$36.5
million was income from education related services.

Revenue from the Group’s rental income decreased by 15.0% in 2020 as
compared with 2019 primarily due to the decrease in occupancy rate and rental
rate for property leases caused by the outbreak of COVID-19 pandemic in early
2020.
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ArEENEEXNAHBEZE-_T—NF+=A
=+—HBIEFE4291,200,000/8 T N E
HE-_Z-_ZTE+_A=+—-HILEEY
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FERTURNMYEEEREERERIEE
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ENAREEBEMEENREYE

The principal component of direct costs is the cost of completed properties
sold, which consists of land premium, construction and other development
costs, capitalised borrowing costs during the construction period, the cost of
rental income, the cost of property management and related services and the
cost of education related services. The Group recognises the cost of completed
properties sold for a given period to the extent that revenue from such
properties has been recognised in such period.

The Group’s direct costs increased to approximately HK$313.9 million for the
year ended 31 December 2020 from approximately HK$291.2 million for the
year ended 31 December 2019. This increase was primarily attributable to the
increase in the saleable GFA and the related construction costs of the Group’s
properties completed and delivered for the year ended 31 December 2020.

The Group's gross profit decreased by approximately 39.0% to approximately
HK$261.1 million for the year ended 31 December 2020 from approximately
HK$428.0 million for the year ended 31 December 2019. The Group reported
a gross profit margin of approximately 45.4% for the year ended 31 December
2020 as compared with approximately 59.5% for the year ended 31 December
2019. The decrease in gross profit margin was primarily driven by the decrease
in rental income with steady fixed costs which contributed lower gross profit
margin.

Other revenue decreased by approximately HK$13.9 million, or approximately
9.0%, to approximately HK$139.9 million in 2020 from approximately
HK$153.8 million in 2019. The decrease was primarily attributable to a decrease
in bank and other interest income.

The Group recorded other net income of approximately HK$48.7 million
in 2020 as compared to other net loss of approximately HK$380.6 million
recorded in 2019. The turnaround was mainly due to the overall impact
incurred by the absence of fair value loss on financial assets measured at FVTPL
in current year.
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BEMERDERFELENREYENHE
EERREE TN F+_A=+—HLF
G E U ZE 47 197,400,00078 TT 8 4 #7139.5%
EHEZZF_TF+=ZA=+— Eiif;%ﬁ

77,900,000 L c BEAB D TR T2 F
HIE3E COVID-19EIBEFE -
BERKABRBE-_ZT—NF+_A=+—

B 1k 4 Z 47323,400,00078 T 2 496.7% =
HEZT-_ZTF+ A=+ —HLEFEY
301,800,000 L ERM L EZHREEEL
DETEFE

Selling and marketing expenses increased by approximately 49.0% to
approximately HK$76.9 million for the year ended 31 December 2020
(accounting for approximately 6.8% of total pre-sales amount in 2020)
from approximately HK$51.6 million for the year ended 31 December 2019
(accounting for approximately 49.5% of total pre-sales amount in 2019).

The increase in selling and marketing expense was primarily attributable to the
increase in advertising and promotion expenses incurred in 2020 as compared
with 2019.

Administrative expenses decreased by approximately 26.4% to approximately
HK$310.1 million for the year ended 31 December 2020 from approximately
HK$421.1 million for the year ended 31 December 2019. The decrease was due
to the decrease in staff costs incurred and other taxes.

Valuation losses on investment properties and investment properties classified
as held for sale decreased by approximately 139.5% to approximately
HK$77.9 million for the year ended 31 December 2020 from valuation gains
of approximately HK$197.4 million for the year ended 31 December 2019. The
decrease was due to the outbreak of COVID-19 pandemic in early 2020.

Finance costs decreased by approximately 6.7% to approximately HK$301.8
million for the year ended 31 December 2020 from approximately HK$323.4
million for the year ended 31 December 2019. The decrease was primarily
attributable to the partial repayment of U.S. bond.
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Income tax expense decreased by approximately 75.6% to approximately
HK$20.9 million for the year ended 31 December 2020 from approximately
HK$85.5 million for the year ended 31 December 2019. The decrease
was primarily attributable to the reversal of CIT provision net off against
corresponding deferred tax assets of HK$116.5 million.

The loss attributable to non-controlling interests was approximately HK$84.3
million for the year ended 31 December 2020 (for the year ended 31 December
2019: profit of approximately HK$53.0 million).

LIQUIDITY, FINANCIAL AND CAPITAL RESOURCES

As at 31 December 2020, the carrying amount of the Group’s cash and bank
deposits was approximately HK$4,699.8 million (as at 31 December 2019:
approximately HK$4,727.8 million), representing a decrease of approximately
0.6% as compared with that as at 31 December 2019.

The Company did not hold a single investment in an investee company with a
value of 5% or more of its total assets as at 31 December 2020.

The Group had an aggregate borrowings (including bank and other borrowings,
bonds payable and lease liabilities) as at 31 December 2020 of approximately
HK$10,773.6 million, of which approximately HK$6,237.2 million is repayable
within one year, approximately HK$2,919.1 million is repayable after one year
but within five years and approximately HK$1,616.6 million is repayable after
five years.

As at 31 December 2020, the Group’s bank loans of approximately HK$9,532.0
million (as at 31 December 2019: approximately HK$8,132.6 million) were
secured by certain investment properties (inclusive of investment properties
classified as held for sale), other land and buildings, leasehold land held for
development for sale, properties under development for sale, completed
properties for sale, pledged deposits and rental receivables of the Group with
total carrying values of approximately HK$13,159.5 million (as at 31 December
2019: approximately HK$11,819.3 million). As at 31 December 2020, the
Group’s bonds payable was secured by issued share capital of a subsidiary of
the Company and receivables owned by the Company.
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The carrying amounts of all the Group’s bank and other borrowings and bonds
payable were denominated in RMB except for certain borrowings with an
aggregate amount of approximately HK$4,028.2 million (as at 31 December
2019: approximately HK$3,840.0 million) and HK$1,178.9 million (as at 31
December 2019: approximately HK$1,435.0 million) as at 31 December 2020
which were denominated in Hong Kong dollars and US dollars, respectively.

The Group's average cost of borrowings (calculated by dividing total interest
expenses expensed and capitalised by average borrowings during the year) was
approximately 6.1% in 2020 (2019: approximately 6.4%).

As at 31 December 2020, the weighted average borrowing cost for the Group’s
existing borrowings was approximately 5.4% (2019: approximately 6.3%).

The net gearing ratio is calculated by dividing the Group’s net borrowings
(total borrowings net of cash and cash equivalents, and restricted and pledged
deposits) by the total equity. The Group’s net gearing ratio increased from
approximately 50.0% as at 31 December 2019 to approximately 59.8% as at
31 December 2020. The increase in net gearing ratio was mainly due to the
settlement of land premium and project cost in respect of the land reserves in
Mainland China and Hong Kong.

As at 31 December 2020, the Group had cash balances denominated in
RMB of approximately RMB3,541.2 million (equivalent to approximately
HK$4,304.2 million), in US dollars of approximately US$6.5 million (equivalent
to approximately HK$50.4 million) and in Australian dollars of approximately
AUD$0.2 million (equivalent to approximately HK$1.4 million).

Almost all of the Group’s operating activities are carried out in the PRC with
most of the transactions denominated in RMB. The Group is exposed to foreign
currency risk arising from the exposure of RMB against Hong Kong dollars
or Australian dollars as a result of its investment in Mainland China and the
settlement of certain general and administrative expenses and other borrowings
in Hong Kong dollars or Australian dollars. In addition, RMB is not freely
convertible into foreign currencies and the conversion of RMB into foreign
currencies is subject to rules and regulations of the foreign exchange control
promulgated by the PRC Government. The Group does not have a foreign
currency hedging policy. However, the Directors monitor the Group’s foreign
exchange exposure closely and may, depending on the circumstances and trend
of foreign currency, consider adopting significant foreign currency hedging
policy in the future.
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NET ASSETS PER SHARE

Net assets per Share of the Company as at 31 December 2020 and 2019 are
calculated as follows:

R==8EF

+=A

T—NEF
+—8
As at

31 December
2019

+=—BA=+—H
As at

31 December
2020

Net assets attributable to equity shareholders

(FA7T) of the Company (HK$'000) 10,074,929 9,684,241
BETEEREHE (TR Number of issued ordinary Shares ('000) 1,412,733 1,412,733
W ARITEE K A AR FE S 8B (FA%) Number of outstanding PCSs ('000) 116,553 116,553
RETEEREEFENRDEE Number of Shares for the calculation of net

(FB) assets per Share ("000) 1,529,286 1,529,286
EN/NEIE i N NG Bl & Net assets per Share attributable to equity

HEANERLEBREEFE shareholders of the Company and the

(A7) () holders of PCSs (HK$) (Note) 6.6 6.3

5T - NN RESEM R Mok AR EHIZBAE  Note: The net assets per Share attributable to the equity shareholders of the Company and the

IEEREEFELKATTRRBELRFE AR
ZETF+-A=+—BRZZT—AIF
+ZA=+—BEBRKATRRES IR
DErE -

RREE

R-ZZE-TF+-A=+—H BRETAE
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holders of PCSs is calculated as if the holders of PCSs have converted the PCSs into Shares
as at 31 December 2020 and 31 December 2019.

CONTINGENT LIABILITIES

As at 31 December 2020, save for the guarantees of approximately HK$557.9
million (as at 31 December 2019: approximately HK$412.2 million) given to the
financial institutions for the mortgage loan facilities granted to the purchasers
of the Group’s properties, the Group had no other material contingent
liabilities.

Pursuant to the mortgage contracts, the Group is required by the relevant
banks to guarantee its purchasers’ mortgage loans until it completes the
relevant properties and the property ownership certificates and certificates
of other interests with respect to the relevant properties are delivered to its
purchasers. If a purchaser defaults on a mortgage loan, the Group may have to
repurchase the underlying property by paying off the mortgage. If the Group
fails to do so, the mortgagee bank may auction the underlying property and
recover any shortfall from the Group as the guarantor of the mortgage loan.



BEEEN WK DT

TOP SPRING INTERNATIONAL HOLDINGS LIMITED ANNUAL REPORT 2020 31

MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

MEAR  BEQE
ZERBBREE

IH]

“clij}al

RS RBESN AR E%:%:?E&
WEMRELWEAMBAT  BEATRA
Eﬁ%ZEKW%&&%%EO
BERFMBUER

R_BE-_EF+-_A=1+—8 AEEEHEH
Wim EBERBRMNEXEANSTIEEE (B
—NE+=-A=+—H:87%1EE) -
EEP R R BRBEERK - 89148 BB YD
¥R WAL BREEELERMELTE
ARV TEEBRHBEH BES_TF+=
A=+—RALEFEEAMBET RBBKEL
A214,100,0008 T (BHZE=ZT— N F+= A
=+—HBLFE : 4257,300,000/87T) - &
FONRIEERT TIEERH - e M3 RR
IS TEKFERE - AEEUERFTS - K

wEA  ReEAREREERD XMNOER
A& B ST H M
ARRERZZ-ZTET - A-HARKMBERR

%ﬁ%%ﬁuﬁﬁﬂx%;ﬂr%w ([BEROMBEABRE
sHE ) M) R 3 ([IRDRBFTE) - &
- ARBRETEEREERDBRERE
Bt o  RREMBHABERREREUAEELE
TR BB - KRB HER T ——
FAZTN\BRKBERAFABSEEIRERT
E(ERAHBERBRETE)) - RO ED
R BRRHBEEABRENS  BRAM
BERBREFEFBIRLIRENESTER
HA e

* ERES

MATERIAL ACQUISITION AND DISPOSAL OF
SUBSIDIARIES, ASSOCIATES AND JOINT VENTURES

Save as disclosed in this report, the Group did not have any material acquisition
or disposal of subsidiaries, associates and joint ventures during 2020 and after
the end of the reporting period.

EMPLOYEES AND REMUNERATION POLICY

As at 31 December 2020, the Group employed a total of approximately 879
employees (as at 31 December 2019: 887 employees) in Mainland China, Hong
Kong and Australia, of which, approximately 61 were under the headquarters
team, approximately 148 were under the property development division,
approximately 664 were under the retail operation and property management
division and approximately 7 were under the education division. For the year
ended 31 December 2020, the total staff and related costs incurred was
approximately HK$214.1 million (for the year ended 31 December 2019:
approximately HK$257.3 million). The remuneration of the employees was
based on their performance, work experience, skills, knowledge and the
prevailing market wage level. The Group remunerated the employees by means
of basic salaries, fringe benefits, cash bonus and equity settled share-based
payment.

The Company adopted a pre-IPO share option scheme (the “Pre-IPO Share
Option Scheme”) and a share award scheme (the “Share Award Scheme”)
on 2 December 2010, under which the Company granted share options and
award shares to certain eligible employees. The Company also adopted a
post-IPO share option scheme (the “Post-IPO Share Option Scheme”) on
28 February 2011 for the purpose of recognising and acknowledging the
contribution that eligible employees have made or may make to the Group.
Details of the Share Award Scheme, the Pre-IPO Share Option Scheme and the
Post-IPO Share Option Scheme are set out in the Director’s Report of this report.

*  for identification only
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MEBEBE
PROPERTY PROJECTS PORTFOLIO

RYIK Bt L
SHENZHEN HIDDEN VALLEY

EfcHRE Key Statistics

e No. of phases 4 4
AR E R (F7K) Site area (sq.m.) 143,047 143,047
F#aiE T A & Construction start date —ETLFELA July 2007
3% T B Completion date —T——%~A June 2011
fhErAEEER (F7K) Total estimated GFA (sq.m.) 131,736 131,736
RZZEZEF+_A=1T—HH Estimated net saleable / leasable

ﬁqu@—Hﬁ%/—ﬁﬁ ZmfE ((FJK)  GFA (sq.m.) as at 31 December 2020 4,015 4,015

HEBE

Project Overview

i 25 Location EREFITELTREERER Yulong Road, Bao'an District, Shenzhen,
Guangdong Province
WEER  Property type =% Residential
=% Highlights FYIRERIEEE 2 —WERE[ZEK  One of the best villa projects in Shenzhen and was
BRIEEMRIZE ] R [H B%  awarded “Global International Garden Community
TEE =K Nominations Award” and “China International

Garden Community Award”

AR OEBE ([POEKE]) (BB Offers close proximity to central business district

BERHEPLOEERETHESER) ("CBD") (10 minutes drive from Futian CBD) and

i BRI AE - BERIEEA  is surrounded by suburb parks with natural living
environment

—HRZZEZN\FHAERIA = Phase 1 was launched in May 2008 and became the
TENFRAERYZEEEMSH  best selling project in the luxury residential market
HGIHEEH - —HR =ZZFZE AF N in Shenzhen in 2009. Phase 2 was launched in
A#d BMEEH 2KEFMEH - September 2008 and was sold out within a short
MRERERZIED period of time despite the global financial crisis

AR KA L
Shenzhen Hidden Valley
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PROPERTY PROJECTS PORTFOLIO

KgFE R R
THE SPRING LAND - SHENZHEN

35

EfcHRE Key Statistics

HAZ No. of phases 6 6
WAREE (F77K) Site area (sq.m.) 166,979 166,979
F#aiE T A & Construction start date —EZENFHHA May 2009
3% T F & Completion date —mENA August 2014
fhEH AR EEE (5 K) Total estimated GFA (sg.m.) 774,371 774,371
RZZEZEF+_A=1T—HH Estimated net saleable / leasable
15.#@7%%/75@ SMIE (FHK)  GFA(sg.m.) as at 31 December 2020 33,454 33,454
HEME
Project Overview
ih B Location ERE R MELEEER Renmin South Road, Longhua Town, Bao’an District,
AREE Shenzhen, Guangdong Province
BREXHDH Lease term of EHMAE Long lease
HEHR investment
portion
YIEER Property type FE=RZTE Residential and retail
=% Highlights {7 A b 85 U 55 AR AT 1L 3k Locates at the Hongshan Station of Subway Line No. 4

KFHER—FI (—HE=H) X (=
IR —E—ZEFER_T——F55|
BRI FGIE N E —BIEEE

KEER—FI(ER) R -_F——
FE=FRIFRBIHEEHEE

The Spring Land — Shenzhen (Phases 1 and 2) and
(Phase 3) were ranked the best and the second best-
selling projects in Shenzhen for 2010 and 2011,
respectively

The Spring Land — Shenzhen (Phase 5) was ranked
the best selling residential project in Shenzhen in the
third quarter of 2012

KEHE X — R
The Spring Land - Shenzhen

o
(CRHEs
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S/ SRR
PROPERTY PROJECTS PORTFOLIO

ARYIK 45 7E R
SHENZHEN WATER FLOWER GARDEN

EfcHRE Key Statistics

e No. of phases 3 3
WM (FJ77K) Site area (sg.m.) 164,764 164,764
Fga e T A & Construction start date —TET_F=H March 2002
BT HH Completion date —ETNE+A October 2006
fhErAEEER (F7K) Total estimated GFA (sq.m.) 294,638 294,638
RZZEZZEF+_A=1T—HH Estimated net saleable / leasable
1&#&7%%/‘1%3%%5&@& (FFH2K)  GFA (sgq.m.) as at 31 December 2020 4,992 4,992
HEBE
Project Overview
i B Location BERERYITEREBER Xiangmei Road, Futian District, Shenzhen,
Guangdong Province
BEILDH Lease termof RHEE Long lease
HEHR investment
portion
MEFR Property type = - ZEEKEMHR Residential, retail and clubhouse
=B Highlights FAF% OB E - IREEE W Situates prominently in the exclusive region of the
BE_HER city centre and offers unique view of the Honey

RE_FE-_F[HEEELHTEH
BRINR_FTZ_FER_TT=F
METFEREAE]

Lake

It was awarded ‘Classical Chinese Model Residential
Property’ in 2003 and ‘Real Estate of the Year’ in
both 2002 and 2003

IR TEED

Shenzhen Water Flower Garden
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Y SERR A
PROPERTY PROJECTS PORTFOLIO

EMNREREBE
CHANGZHOU FASHION MARK

FEGRTHE Key Statistics
HR 2 No. of phases 4 4
AR EE (F5K) Site area (sq.m.) 120,296 120,296
Fta T A 5 Construction start date —ZETRFNA August 2005
% T HH Completion date —E—=FXA June 2013
hetEEmE (FHK) Total estimated GFA (sg.m.) 513,404 513,404
RZZE-_ZEF+=-_A=1+—HH Estimated net saleable / leasable
EHFAHE A HEREmE (FHK)  GFA (sq.m.) as at 31 December 2020 82,043 82,043
HEBE
Project Overview
h B Location IEEEMNMERZRARE Xiyingli, Zhonglou District, Changzhou,
Jiangsu Province
REI DK Lease termof S HIEE Medium-term lease
HEHR investment
portion
ZERPAE Residential, retail and office

MEER Property type {I=- =
=% Highlights LR E MR EFR D Locates at the commercial centre of Changzhou city

Y —ZEERF[FEEFEMET AR Ranked in “China Top 10 Mainstream Real
FTREEE] MEEMNEIETE Estate Projects” in 2005 and Twin Stars (serviced
EEBEAE (RGN AE)LEIZZ apartments) of the project was awarded “2006 Best
TAFESERFEAR] International Apartment in China”

—HE =T EHTENXRNEMAM © Phases 1-3 comprise mainly of retail or apartments
PWHR A B = @ 150 K f KAEUEETE  while Phase 4 is a large-scale residential project with
H height over 150 metres

BHBAEXEMRRF Secured well-known anchor tenants

EMNRZEHE
Changzhou Fashion Mark
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S/ SRR
PROPERTY PROJECTS PORTFOLIO

ERBAERD
DONGGUAN LANDMARK

EfcHRE Key Statistics

e No. of phases 1 1
WM (FJ77K) Site area (sq.m.) 18,738 18,738
Fga e T A & Construction start date ZETREFRA June 2006
% T A 8 Completion date T N\FLA July 2008
fhErAEEER (F7K) Total estimated GFA (sq.m.) 79,679 79,679
RZZE_EF+_A=1+—HH Estimated net saleable / leasable
1&#&7%%/‘1%3%%5&@& (FFH2K)  GFA (sgq.m.) as at 31 December 2020 20,172 20,172
HEBE
Project Overview
i B Location B A oo h B & G 1R 3K 88 5 No. 88 Hongfu Road, Nancheng District, Dongguan,
Guangdong Province
BEILDH Lease termof RHEE Long lease
HEHR investment
portion
MEFR Property type FEKRZTE Residential and retail
=2 Highlights UREEFOLEEE NP L Locates in the CBD of Dongguan and the dramatic
JEEEZE MEMEH  KKIEHAE setting and accessibility of the mall substantially
b, 35 Y K S upgrade the local amenities
RERREED L

Dongguan Landmark
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E SERCR A
PROPERTY PROJECTS PORTFOLIO

IRAE'S TE 30 SpVy
HANGZHOU LANDMARK

FEGRTHE Key Statistics
HAZ No. of phases 1 1
AR ERE (F77K) Site area (sq.m.) 14,780 14,780
F#aiE T A & Construction start date —ETRFE—H January 2006
3% T B Completion date —ZTTLFLA July 2007
hetaEEmE (FAK) Total estimated GFA (sg.m.) 49,989 49,989
R_E_TF+_A=1T—HH Estimated net saleable / leasable
1$n+/qﬂﬁﬁ%/ﬁ‘ﬁ SmEE(FAK)  GFA (sq.m.) as at 31 December 2020 26,182 26,182
HEBE
Project Overview
i Bh Location AT A TN T R R R T Ouhuazhou Avenue, Linping, Yuhang District,
FBIEMKRE Hangzhou, Zhejiang Province
BREHDH Lease termof HHMAE Medium-term lease
HEHR investment
portion
MERR Property type =& Retail
SE Highlights e 3 Hb 399 0 Close proximity to metro station

BRESWEHMES BFWEA Leveraging on high growth city attributes, Linping is
M)H “REeEREEN T — set to be one of the three high growth satellite cities
of Hangzhou

ESMAREENTEPL  TEKIY  Secured well-known anchor tenants attract not only
Wl K=& 0 M B3I EEARA  other retailers, but also significant pedestrian traffic

7%
A

MMEREED O

Hangzhou Landmark
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ZE SRR
PROPERTY PROJECTS PORTFOLIO

REBEERS

CHENGDU FASHION MARK
FEHRTHE Key Statistics
e No. of phases 2 2
AR E R (F7K) Site area (sq.m.) 20,727 20,727
%A L B B Construction start date —T——%F XA June 2011
BT HH Completion date —T——&+—f December 2012
fhErAEEER (F7K) Total estimated GFA (sq.m.) 139,265 139,265
RZZE-_ZTF+=-_A=+—HHN Estimated net saleable / leasable
EEHFEAIHE AT EREEEE (FHK)  GFA (sq.m.) as at 31 December 2020 38,285 38,285

HEBE

Project Overview

i B Location & RKE TR R ZIRE IR Hongpailou, Fourth Section of Second Ring Road,

AN Wuhou District, Chengdu, Sichuan Province
YMEER  Property type ZERPAE Retail and office
=5 Highlights S = SR AR SR AR Uh Close proximity to Jialing Road Station of Metro line

HBIET T KO AREE,426.57T
BE REERITELREBEENHF
B+ Ak A

RZE—ZTF+—F AEBHEX
TSR MNDAER ARG —HHE
EZ HEVENREEERRELNR
30,500 75K « HHAA204F

no. 3

Site was secured at approximately RMB1,426.5 per
sg.m., significantly lower than the average land cost
for comparable projects

In November 2010, the Group entered into a
tenancy agreement with Rainbow Department
Store Co., Ltd. The GFA of the leased premises is
approximately 30,500 sqg.m. for a term of 20 years

HBRSREE
Chengdu Fashion Mark
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Y SERR A
PROPERTY PROJECTS PORTFOLIO

LEFHiHLNE
SHANGHAI SHAMA CENTURY PARK

a1

FEGRTHE Key Statistics
HAZ No. of phases TiEA N/A
A=l Acquisition date === 27 September
NWAZ++H 2013
Bt REE®E (FAK) Total estimated GFA (sg.m.) 49,357 49,357
T = B L 4B B Total number of underground
car park units 240 240
RZZE_ZTF+=-_A=+—HHK Estimated net saleable / leasable
Gt RO tHE M HEEREEmE ((FAK)  GFA (sq.m.) as at 31 December 2020 1,029 1,029
HEBE
Project Overview
i Bh Location LBHRRRAAR Dongxiu Road, Pudong New District, Shanghai
BREWBDH Leasetermof EHHEE Long lease
HEHR investment
portion
MEFR Property type BREALE Serviced apartment
=5 Highlights EESBHELAB AN ERFE Shanghai Shama Century Park is a serviced
HRBRAAE apartment located in Pudong New District
iabs37% 3 - AN S|

Shanghai Shama Century Park
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S/ SRR
PROPERTY PROJECTS PORTFOLIO

RERTH
TIANJIN LE LEMAN CITY

FEHRTHE Key Statistics
e No. of phases 3 3
WM (FJ77K) Site area (sq.m.) 114,080 114,080
Fga e T A & Construction start date e SN June 2012
FEHIE T HHER Expected completion date —T-TFRA June 2020
T REEmE (FHXK) Total estimated GFA (sq.m.) 114,080 114,080
RZZE-_ZTF+=-_A=+—HHX Estimated net saleable / leasable
EDFEAIHE AT ERZEEEE (FHK)  GFA (sq.m.) as at 31 December 2020 25,957 25,957
HEME
Project Overview
i Bh Location RAETEE G K Junction of Beihua Road and Jincang Expressway,
ERRBEAEED Jinhai County, Tianjin
WEER  Property type FERTE Residential and retail
= Highlights EEE R EmAR L (FHARE) 2022 Located 20 kilometres (“km”) away from Tianjin city
([RE]) centre (Nankai District)
PEBEAL RR RS R A U412 Approximately 12 km away from the south station
PRERIEFREFTRAELSAE  of Beijing-Tianjin high-speed railway and 5 km away
from Beijing-Tianjin Expressway
RERSH

Tianjin Le Leman City
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KBEX-ER
THE SPRING LAND - NANJING

43

FERTEE Key Statistics
EREL No. of phases 1 1
WAREE (F77K) Site area (sq.m.) 60,825 60,825
)= Construction start date —T—=%—H January 2013
% T B Hf Completion date —ZE—RENAR August 2015
fhEH AR EEE (7 K) Total estimated GFA (sg.m.) 188,125 188,125
RZZE-_ZTF+=-_A=+—HHK Estimated net saleable / leasable
EEDFAHE AIHAERERBE (FHXK) GFA (sq.m.) as at 31 December 2020 717 717
HEBE
Project Overview
i Bh Location JLERA B R T S R FE A Hexi CBD, Jianye District, Nanjing, Jiangsu Province
SRl
WEER  Property type FERTE Residential and retail
= Highlights 278 75 R O B 7S [ B R D S 7S Located in the central area of Hexi CBD
TR LEEEBEZEREK AT Hexi CBD has been planned to be a modern area
BEES mE XL NESHAE integrating trade, business, culture and sports in
m A IWiEBEEM RN R = ANE  the city which is connected with Shanghai in the
iadic] Yangtze River Delta
KEEXR-ER

The Spring Land - Nanjing
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ZE SRR
PROPERTY PROJECTS PORTFOLIO

tEEAIEH
SHANGHAI BAY VALLEY PROJECT
FEHRTHE Key Statistics
e No. of phases TEA N/A
W s B A Acquisition date —E—+F 31 July
+A=+—H 2017
hFrABEEEE (FHK) Total estimated GFA (sg.m.) 97,854 97,854
R-FE_ZTF+_A=+—HHK Estimated net saleable / leasable
BEHFIHE A AEEERE (FHK) GFA(sg.m) as at 31 December 2020 97,854 97,854
HEBE
Project Overview
i B Location EEIBHEEINTEREEARIREE  International Community Sector, New Jiangwan
City, Yangpu District, Shanghai
YIEER Property type iz Office
=% Highlights UREERIEIFL— EEEAR Located at Yangpu Technology Venture Centre —
CAFHERT SR ERERS S Bay Valley Technology Park, with the same level as
WIERL Zhangjiang Hi-tech Park
tEEAER

Shanghai Bay Valley Project
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ERNEREEREEE

HONG KONG KOWLOON TONG RUTLAND QUADRANT PROJECT
FEGRTHE Key Statistics
HAZ No. of phases TiEA N/A
AR (F75K) Site area (sq.m.) 958 958
Yo H HA Acquisition date —E-N\F 7 February

—AtH 2018

R-E-_ZTF+_A=+—HHK Estimated net saleable / leasable
BEHFAHE AIAEEERE (FHK) GFA(sgm.) as at 31 December 2020 574 574

HEWME

Project Overview

h B Location EENEEEBHOR No. 6 Rutland Quadrant, Kowloon Tong,
Hong Kong
YIEER Property type #&& Campus
=% Highlights EENBESE B UL 01T 5 D88 5-minute walk from Kowloon Tong MTR Station
BEBNEREEWRETEE

HONG KONG KOWLOON TONG RUTLAND QUADRANT PROJECT
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ZE SRR
PROPERTY PROJECTS PORTFOLIO

EREMHEFXS
KUNMING DIANCHI LAKESIDE PENINSULA

FERTHE Key Statistics

e No. of phases TEA N/A
AR E R (77 K) Site area (sq.m.) 558 558
& A BA Acquisition date —T—N\& 31 January
—BA=+—H 2018
RZTE_ZEF+-_A=+—HH Estimated net saleable / leasable
15#/?7%%/7@15@%%@%(3?75%) GFA (sq.m.) as at 31 December 2020 1,415 1,415
HAHE
Project Overview
ih B Location EHEEBERBANFHEMSEEEMN Dianchi Lakeside Peninsula Business Center,
B SO Liujia Sub-district Office, Guandu District,
Yunnan Province
MERR Property type i Residential
=% Highlights WROE KR RIBEM - EE  Close to the waterfront of Dianchi with superior and
& comfortable living environment
EREOHEEE

KUNMING DIANCHI LAKESIDE PENINSULA
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Y SERR A
PROPERTY PROJECTS PORTFOLIO

RYKEEEAE
SHENZHEN TOPSPRING INTERNATIONAL MANSION

FERTEE Key Statistics

EREL No. of phases 1 1
TEAAR R e T B EA Expected construction start date —ZE-NFENA August 2019
TEHE T HHf Expected completion date —E-—=—&+—A8 November 2022
hFHARREmE R (F77K) Total estimated GFA (sq.m.) 107,281 107,281
RZE_ZEF+A=+—HH Estimated net saleable / leasable
1Ep+/¥7§é%/7$ﬂ§§$%@ﬁ(ﬂ?ﬁ%) GFA (sg.m.) as at 31 December 2020 58,294 58,294

HEBE

Project Overview

ih B Location BRA R MEEN R ER Xinqu Ave West, Longhua District, Shenzhen,

Guangdong Province
MEER Property type ZELRMHAE Retail and office
=3 Highlights ZiMITE - BRI Y b Convenient transportation and close to Shangtang

Metro Station

RYKRERKE
SHENZHEN TOPSPRING INTERNATIONAL MANSION
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PROPERTY PROJECTS PORTFOLIO

RYIE LA AR

SHENZHEN JIANSHANG COMMERCIAL BUILDING

TERTRE

5

BT A
ST A H

st BT (F53K)
R-B-—ZE+-A=+—AN

EDFAHE AT HEREEE (FK)

HEHME

Project Overview

Key Statistics

No. of phases 1 1
Expected construction start date ZZE—NFNA  September 2019
Expected completion date —Z-_—_%)N\HA August 2022
Total estimated GFA (sq.m.) 21,829 21,829
Estimated net saleable / leasable

GFA (sg.m.) as at 31 December 2020 9,518 9,518

b B Location BRERYIMEEERNEAER Xinqu Ave West, Longhua District, Shenzhen,
Guangdong Province

YIEER Property type ZERMAE Retail and office

=3 Highlights ZimIT{E - BRI bk Convenient transportation and close to Shangtang

Metro Station

RYIE LA AR

SHENZHEN JIANSHANG COMMERCIAL BUILDING

F
| fE

==
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Y SERR A
PROPERTY PROJECTS PORTFOLIO

RIIKBE ERE
SHENZHEN UPPER RESIDENCE

FEGRTHE Key Statistics
HAZ No. of phases 1 1
TREAR s e T B HA Expected construction start date —ET—+FMA April 2017
JEHRME T H Hf Expected completion date —T-_—F+—A November 2021
hFHARREmE R (F77K) Total estimated GFA (sq.m.) 73,228 73,228
RZZE_ZEF+A=+—HH Estimated net saleable / leasable
RO tEE M EREmE ((FAK) GFA (sq.m.) as at 31 December 2020 40,088 40,088

HEBE

Project Overview

b B Location BRAR)IMEERNEXER Xinqu Ave West, Longhua District, Shenzhen,

Guangdong Province
YIEER Property type = Residential
=3 Highlights ZBTE - BRiL EEMEENE 0 27T Highly accessible with a 5-minute walking distance
55 % from Shangtang Metro Station

RIKEELRE
SHENZHEN UPPER RESIDENCE
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& %128 WATERLOO
HONG KONG 128 WATERLOO

FERTEE Key Statistics

e No. of phases 1 1

AR EAE (5 K) Site area (sq.m.) 1,692 1,692

Wb B HA Acquisition date —E—+& 15 December
+=A+HH 2017

WEEEE (F5K) Total GFA (sg.m.) 7,966 7,966

R-E-_ZTF+-_A=+—HK Estimated net saleable / leasable

e E A dEE A AEEEmE (FAK)  GFA (sg.m.) as at 31 December 2020 6,796 6,796

HERE

Project Overview

i B4 Location BEARNEESITEE 1285 No. 128 Waterloo Road, Kowloon Tong,
Hong Kong
MEER Property type f{:= Residential

ot

L Highlights MANEERRIERERE

Luxurious landmark residence located in prestigious
school district in Kowloon Tong

% 7% 128 WATERLOO
HONG KONG 128 WATERLOO

A . fdidan

@ rrmunnn

[ i=d633
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Y SERR A
PROPERTY PROJECTS PORTFOLIO

7 JE ST. LEONARDS & B
SYDNEY ST. LEONARDS PROJECT

FERTEE Key Statistics
EREL No. of phases TiEA N/A
A=l Acquisition date —T—tF 28 April
MAZ=+N\H 2017
Bt REE®E (FAK) Total estimated GFA (sg.m.) 35,876 35,876
R-E-_ZTF+_A=+—HHK Estimated net saleable / leasable
EDFAIHE P EREmE (FHK)  GFA (sq.m.) as at 31 December 2020 30,494 30,494
HEAHE
Project Overview
i B Location 72 St. Leonards St. Leonards, Sydney
MEFR Property type i< Residential
=% Highlights B St. Leonards N B i 251755 £ 5-minute walk from St. Leonards train station
& e ST. LEONARDSE B
SYDNEY ST. LEONARDS PROJECT
f
¥

#EESt. LeonardsIg H
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PROPERTY PROJECTS PORTFOLIO

EETH+T N\MKIER

HONG KONG YUEN LONG SHAP PAT HEUNG ROAD PROJECT

ETEGRBE
8

st BT (F 75 K)
Ve

403 AT (F 75 5K)
R-F-FE+-A=+—AH

BEDFAIHE A ERERE (THK)

HEHE
Project Overview

Key Statistics

No. of phases
Site area (sq.m.)

Acquisition date

Total GFA (sgq.m.)

6,504

—ZE—hF
+AhHB

22,764

Estimated net saleable / leasable
GFA (sg.m.) as at 31 December 2020 20,050

1
6,504

9 October
2015

22,764

20,050

i 2h Location

BRI ATTHAE + N\

Shap Pat Heung Road, Yuen Long District, NT,

Hong Kong

YI¥EEA  Property type

Residential

ot

L Highlights

PRSI AR TTRAUL S DB AR

5-minute drive from Yuen Long Station of West Rail
Line, to reach downtown within half an hour

ERTHTNAMBEKIER

.e‘\

| EEeA+/sER
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Y SERR A
PROPERTY PROJECTS PORTFOLIO

EARATHARERKIER
HONG KONG YUEN LONG TAI TONG ROAD PROJECT
FERTEE Key Statistics
EREL No. of phases 1 1
BRI AE (FF 77 K) Site area (sq.m.) 1,031 1,031
I HE A BA Acquisition date —T-REF 31 December
+=ZA=+—H 2015
BrsEmE (FAK) Total GFA (sgq.m.) 3,383 3,383
RZT=ZEF+-_A=+—HH Estimated net saleable / leasable
GETFAHE A HEREmE GFA (sg.m.) as at 31 December 2020
(F7K) 2,987 2,987
EHEAHE
Project Overview
b B Location ERFA TR RNRE Tai Tong Road, Yuen Long District, NT, Hong Kong
MEEFR Property type {t= Residential
=B Highlights PR AR TTRAUG S D EEE AR 5-minutes drive from Yuen Long Station to West
HNEFA R ET R Rail line, to reach downtown within half an hour
BEBTHAEKIER

HONG KONG YUEN LONG TAI TONG ROAD PROJECT
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e
v
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Pl B AARERRE
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TiE A N/A
11,123 11,123
—T—+F 25 October
+A=+HH 2017

ERTBEAFNIEE
HONG KONG YUEN LONG TONG YAN SAN TSUEN PROJECT
FEHRTHE Key Statistics
e No. of phases
AR E R (77 K) Site area (sq.m.)
& A BA Acquisition date
HEHE

Project Overview

i 2h Location FE T R ITERIE BT 1L B0 AT

Tong Yan San Tsuen, Ping Shan South,
Yuen Long District, NT, Hong Kong

W¥EER  Property type SA4%E

Composite development

oot

L Highlights B8 A B B PR S AR TTRA VA

Interchange for Light Rail Line and Yuen Long
Station of West Rail Line

BERTHEAHNIER
HONG KONG YUEN LONG TONG YAN SAN TSUEN PROJECT

BETCRAE AR
ks
)—“ﬁq}’
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Y SERR A
PROPERTY PROJECTS PORTFOLIO

8 LKEERIER
HONG KONG SHEUNG SHUI MA SIK ROAD PROJECT
FEGRTHE Key Statistics
HAZ No. of phases TiEA N/A
AR EAE (F 75 0K) Site area (sq.m.) 9,098 9,098
UeiE H HA Acquisition date —E—+F 11 July
+A+—H 2017
hetdEEmE (FHXK) Total estimated GFA (sg.m.) 7,278 7,278
RZZEZZTF+ZA=1T—HH Estimated net saleable / leasable
GETFAHE A HEREmE GFA (sg.m.) as at 31 December 2020
(FHXK) 6,497 6,497
HEBE
Project Overview
i B Location BT R EKE#ERE Ma Sik Road, Sheung Shui, NT, Hong Kong
WEER  Property type =% Residential
=B Highlights BRI b K b 883k LA % 65 28 b 88 0 Proximity to Sheung Shui MTR Station and Fanling
MTR Station
ERLEKEBERER
HONG KONG SHEUNG SHUI MA SIK ROAD PROJECT
: g 1‘5 v : = L8
s By

W =8 ok SiEigEe

RREEAS
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o RYIKHL
Shenzhen Hidden Valley
o MINEEBEEHDL
Hangzhou Landmark
o IRYIKBITEE

Shenzhen Water Flower Garden

o EMEFHE
Changzhou Fashion Mark
. RIIREEAN

Shenzhen Fashion Walk

ABOUT THIS REPORT

Top Spring International Holdings Limited (the “Group”, “Top Spring”
or “we") is pleased to present our Environmental, Social and Governance
Report (the “ESG Report”), covering our ESG management approach
and performance for the 2020 calendar and financial year. This report has
summarised measures undertaken by the Group in its pursuit of sustainability
and the evaluation of the environmental and social impact as a result of these
actions. For details on corporate governance, please refer to the Corporate
Governance Report of the annual report.

This report covers Top Spring’s ESG management approach and performance
for the period from 1 January 2020 to 31 December 2020 (“the reporting
period” or “the year under review").

The scope of this report primarily covers Top Spring’s core business. During the
year under review, the Group is principally engaged in the development and
management of real estate property in the People’s Republic of China (“PRC")
and Hong Kong, with a focus on the development and sales of residential
properties in Hong Kong. In addition, the Group has successfully diversified
into the education business by forming a joint venture with the operator of
a famous group of kindergartens and nurseries in Hong Kong, namely the
"Creative Kindergarten” and “Creative Day Nursery”. And this business
segment mainly involves provisions of books, school uniforms, snacks and
course management for these schools.

The ESG Report focuses on the environmental and social performances of our
core business during the year under review. The reported environmental key
performance indicators (the “KPIs") cover our own assets (prior to sales) in the
PRC during the year under review, which are listed below:

o IKBIER-RY
The Spring Land — Shenzhen
e REXRFHEEFRD
Dongguan Landmark
o  HEHFHE
Chengdu Fashion Mark
L4 R -H_“—W
Tianjin Le Leman City
o KHIER-—FER
The Sunny Land — Nanjing
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This report is compiled in accordance with the ESG Reporting Guide under
Appendix 27 of the Main Board Listing Rules issued by the Stock Exchange of
Hong Kong Limited (“HKEX"), meeting the “comply or explain” provision of
the ESG Reporting Guide. This report summaries the initiatives, quantitative
data, and approach that the Group undertakes to managing its material ESG
issues, as well as discloses environmental quantitative information related
to its sustainability performance and involvement which aims to provide the
transparency and accountability of the Group’s actions to stakeholders. For
more information relating to the Group’s business and its corporate governance
practices, please refer to the Corporate Governance section in this Annual
Report.

The overall direction of the development is set according to the stakeholders’
views and insights, and to address their concerns wherever possible. Top Spring
values stakeholder engagement as it provides valuable input which contributes
to steering the Group’s development in the ESG aspects. Any comments and
suggestions regarding this report are welcome and any enquiries shall be
submitted to Top Spring at IR@topspring.com.

Since our establishment, we have always adhered to the concept of creating
profit for shareholders in a responsible manner while taking into account our
employees, community and environment. We actively reduce the possible
impacts to the environment and maximise our contribution to the development
of society in property developments, business operations, investments and
integration of resources in the industry. In our business decision-making
processes, we give importance to the value of human with emphasis on the
contribution to our consumers, the environment and the society. In 2020, we
focused on four major areas, including “Compliance Operation”, “People-
oriented”, “Environmental Management” and “Community Care”.

The Company strives to integrate sustainability philosophy into its overall
strategy, policy and business plan. The Board understands the significance
of ESG and is responsible for the ESG strategy and reporting. The board is
responsible for evaluating and determining the issuer’s ESG-related risks and
ensuring that appropriate and effective ESG risk management and internal
control systems are in place. Also, the management provides a confirmation to
the board on the effectiveness of these systems.

The Group value honest, open and regular dialogue with our stakeholders. Our
major stakeholders include its shareholders, customers, employees, suppliers,
communities, government and regulators. Communication with stakeholders
through diversified channels allows us to understand their major concerns. In
preparation of the ESG Report, we continued to engage our stakeholders to
understand their material ESG concerns. Their opinions form an important basis
for the Group in formulating our overall ESG approach.
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R HEREREEREE

EBE BEAREH

Aspects Material issues

R REIKBERR

Environmental Wastewater discharge
ENEREER

Indoor air quality

K

Use of water

HE

Use of electricity

P EmEE
Social Product responsibility
BEERZR

Health and safety

Materiality Assessment

After internal review and consideration of the stability of its own business and
operating location, the results of material aspects in FY2020 remain unchanged
mainly on the basis of detailed and in-depth stakeholder engagement in
FY2019, pursuant to which the concerns of stakeholders are listed. Eight
issues covering environmental and social aspects have been identified as being
material to our stakeholders and the Group’s business and are thus focused
on by the Group. Based on these identified material ESG issues, we strive
to adequately address the most significant issues throughout our business
operations.

ESG Material Aspect

kol

Relevance

TR AP 3t 89 BE K HE A & AR B BERUR

Ensure wastewater discharge on our construction sites meet
relevant discharge standards
FRREARMETHENENEZRERUREEFER
Improve living quality with enhanced indoor air quality in our
residential projects
FREMERPLEEGREE RS AKNEG  i§ T
HIKTERBRARER

Improve water use efficiency through water efficient designs
such as water-saving fixtures in our properties’ design; recycle
and reuse of water in our construction sites

FHBIE B PIPTRGT RE A Y R RN ET R R 5T R R (10
B A2 BRBA) 2R BE IR e

Improve energy efficiency through the adoption of energy-
efficient designs and equipment such as lighting in our
designed and managed properties
WRVEHERBEDMENRE  BREKENTFER
SR HERE

Ensure the quality of property projects and educational
supplies; ensure customer information collected is well
protected

BRETIANZFALEMITIFRE  WEEECEOHSAS
18001 B 12 T & 22 2 71 1& & 71| (Occupational Health and
Safety Assessment Series) R : M B TRETFHREREREZE
# Al

Ensure safe working environment for our staff; property
management is certified with OHSAS 18001 Occupational
Health and Safety Assessment Series; provide regular health
and safety training for staff

R LIF FEiRMATA B TR AEIFII R B R B EEETE
Development and training TR
Continue staff’s development by providing in-house training to
front-line staff and sponsoring further studies by application
REGE FABRHRERETOITERNANBES

Anti-corruption

Set up whistleblowing channels and conduct internal audit for
routine monitoring
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#tl@ Community

X &’5 Anti-corruption

EfE T Product responsibility
HESEE TR Supply chain management
EAZET R3#HIZE Child & forced labour
8 T & &I53| Employee development & training
i FRE1%2 % Health and safety

8 T /&7 Employee benefits

BEME Packaging materials

F7K Use of water

B8 FERABEFE Fuel for mobile uses
JEIEH1ARABEFE Fuel for non-mobile uses
FE Use of electricity

#EZRFEZY) Non-hazardous waste

B EREEY) Hazardous waste

FE/KEERL Wastewater discharge

EERHEIR Air emission
REE1L Climate change

B E R GHG emission

M =2 Social

[ 3®3% Environmental

BRsEH

Overall materiality

—

REBEFNHENERIZE

Importance level per stakeholder
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ENVIRONMENT

The Group strictly follows the national and local laws and regulations on
environmental protection, including the Environmental Protection Law of the
PRC, the Law of the PRC on the Prevention and Control of Air Pollution, the
Law of the PRC on the Prevention and Control of Water Pollution and the Law
of the PRC on the Prevention and Control of Environmental Pollution by Solid
Waste.

To minimise the negative impacts on the environment and natural resources,
the Group adopts environmental-friendly practices during our business. We
have implemented different environmental protection measures for property
development, along with the incorporation of green building designs and
implementation of responsible construction practices in our work sites. Also,
we uphold the principles of reduce, recycle and reuse during the operation of
education-related business.

Property Design

Green building concept has been applied as early as on the designs of new
buildings. Starting from development and design to construction, we follow
or refer to national standards like the newly updated Assessment Standard
for Green Building (GB/T 50378-2020) or local provincial green building
requirements and create green building design after considering numbers
of aspects such as public green space, indoor natural ventilation, outdoor,
indoor noise, sound insulation quality, building lighting, material saving design
optimisation, adoption of heat insulating envelope, thermal insulation and
shadings.

During the year under review, the Group has implemented green building
designs and features, including:

Incorporation of passive building designs to improve ventilation and
optimise sunlight exposure;

—  Use of energy-efficient fixtures;
- Use of water-efficient fixtures;

—  Improvement of energy efficiency with designs such as variable speed
ventilation drives and heat recovery;

—  Greening of rooftops and vertical walls; and

—  Consideration of use of renewable energy features such as solar energy.
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In Hong Kong, we map out improving indoor air quality through introducing
the air purifying equipment in the property projects. We also implement smart
designs by installing sensors capable of measuring temperature and humidity in
each unit to monitor and thus enhance residents’ living conditions.

Construction Sites

During the construction process, we strictly abide by strictly follow relevant
government requirements to properly reduce and manage the environmental
impact of our construction sites, and continued to focus on the following key
construction site management aspects:

- Implement the “Six 100%" ("6 18100% ") measures of dust pollution
prevention and control at our construction sites as per regulatory

requirements;

—  Measure and limit the exhaust smoke of diesel engines for non-road
mobile machinery as required by local government;

—  Strengthen the dispose of construction wastes and recycle construction
wastes in response to latest requirements;

—  Use qualified vendors for the proper disposal of hazardous wastes;
—  Treat wastewater at our work sites prior to discharge; and

—  Regularly visit construction contractors to see if they have conducted
adequate environmental, safety and health inspections.
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M EHE

AEBEBEMEPRASBRCHERANE
BERERR - REBEHAR RMACEBNE
MYEXEENTIRZREBFENT

RERE
Environmental aspects
BEIRE TR

Energy management

RIFEER
Environmental management

nEza
Tenants’ engagement

TBERHI A
Recycling

MRS RER

Rainwater collection and reuse

L ERg

Property management

Property Management

The Group has adopted various green measures in our self-operating properties
to improve the overall environmental performances. The following are some
of our main environmental objectives regarding property management, which
have been achieved during the period under review:

1H B bt

Relevant measures

R AERBLED WRADAKEHNRABECHE
Replace lighting fixtures with LEDs and reduce the amount of lighting used in
common areas

JE15150 14001 TRIFE B RATH) R
Obtain ISO 14001 Environmental Management System certification

BMBEEFEEIROK ERYEHER) BRRERE - WiREEKFRE
VAR A BE )

Our tenants are encouraged to minimise their resource consumption (electricity,
water and material use) and are provided with recycling facilities to reduce
waste

BMEES R ERE R ETEEEDUEBEPBLEEXY TEREN
AT UXHEMBNNEXDBRBREY

Support the old clothing recycling activity of local government by providing
venues for equipment and publicity activities and encouraging tenants to
donate old clothes to those in need

BPIBBERKES KSR - HEEEERPEAEEP ETR2RIERE
Assist construction contractors to implement safety protective measures for
tenants during the implementation of the project separating rainwater from
sewage

RRBBEREARERBZE  BEEREBFERAHERENEANSE
[

Use of pesticides and cleansing agents in accordance to relevant regulations,
aiming for zero incidents regarding their use and storage

RIEFRRFEERLRAFRASK - BEYNRS
Manage community wastewater, waste and noise according to national
standards
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Material Aspects

Education-related business

The Group actively promotes energy conservation to achieve environmental
protection while operating education-related business. We have been pushing
forward the paperless office by reusing papers or adopting double-sided
printing whenever possible, replacing the paper-based office administrative
system with electronic office automation (OA) system. Meanwhile, we strongly
support the transition from traditional paper books to e-books and will move
towards this direction in the course of book publications. In addition to abiding
by the stringent requirements of the Education Bureau of Hong Kong regarding
the quality of educational supplies, we also endeavour to promote energy-
efficient and environmental-friendly products such as providing schools with
recyclable teaching supplies and storing them in a specific warehouse for reuse.

Performance of identified Material Environmental Aspects 2020

28 (%)

% change

AHeEEEE (BEME) Total GFA (Gross floor area)

FAXE Water consumption

AKEE Water intensity

HEE Electricity consumption

RE®RE Electricity intensity

R&mE Diesel consumption

PR HE S Diesel intensity
EEARM

REBRFE AEESETHRMAELMERR
AR RDERNOER -

1 —ERCTEMERERATENEARE EP
o B2 MR IA R ISR ERE

10,000 F 75 K 178.66 186.24 -4.03%
10,000 m?
SJTK 372,833.0 481,485.0 -22.57%
m3
MK FRH K 0.21 0.26 -19.23%
m3/m?
TRE 13,034,739.32 14,345,525.0 -9.14%
kWh
FEEFHXK 7.30 7.70 -5.19%
kWh/m?
van 0 0 i A
L N/A
/K 0 0 i A
L/m? N/A

Regulatory Compliance
During the year under review, the Group complied with relevant environmental
laws and regulations of the countries where we operate.

1 Diesel consumption of 2020 was under control of the property contractor/ tenants in
Hong Kong. There was no diesel consumption in the property projects of Mainland China.
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EMPLOYMENT

Our people are our success and the primary bridge between our business and
the local community. We anticipate our staff to “be virtuous and talented, have
morality come first”, and encourage duty and trust. We strictly comply with
the laws and regulations, including the Labour Law of the People’s Republic
of China, the Labour Contract Law, the Law on the Protection of Minors
and the Provisions on Prohibition of Child Labour. We prohibit employment
discrimination. exploitation of forced labour, and employment of child labour.
We also adopt a zero-tolerance attitude towards any form of discrimination
or harassment behaviours. During the Reporting Period, the Group did not
experience any non-compliance cases in employment of child labour or forced
labour.

We have compiled policies and guidelines including Recruitment Management
System, Guidelines for Assignment Management Training, Internal Trainer
Management Guidelines, Attendance and Leave Management System,
Assignee Management System, Guidelines for Career Planning for Officers,
Annual Training Plan, Group Accelerated Talent Training Scheme and a
Group Management Trainee Program, which sets out the recruitment system,
standards, processes, employee benefits, welfares and employee training
programs.

Employee Benefits

We strive to promote fair competition and prohibit discrimination or harassment
against any employee on the basis of their gender, age, marital status,
religion, race, nationality, disability or any status protected by law. The Group
has complied the Employment Policy., Guidelines for Talent Referral Reward
and Training Management System. We reward employees with competitive
compensation and benefits packages, supportive working conditions and a
good work-life balance. Paid annual leave (adjusted by seniority), paid sick
leave, compassionate leave, maternity leave/abortion leave, work injury leave
and etc are provided to our people. All eligible employees are enrolled to a
defined contribution mandatory provident fund scheme in Hong Kong or
social insurance scheme in Mainland China. To retain staff and maintain our
competitiveness, we regularly review our rewards and career opportunities,
particularly for key positions.

In addition, our employees are awarded other employment benefits at the
discretion of the Group. We encourage our staff to provide feedback. In line
with this, there are channels in place for our employees to express grievances
and complaints, which will be addressed as per the predetermined procedures.
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Regulatory Compliance

The Group strictly complies with all the regulatory requirements with respect
to labour standards and prohibits the employment of child and forced labour.
During the year under review, neither any non-compliances with respect
to employment, child labour or forced labour, nor any discrimination or
harassment incidents were reported within the Group. The Group’s staff
turnover rate was 8%, which was 12.9% in 2019. The average service length of
our employees was 4 years (31 December 2019: 3.45 years) as at 31 December
2020.

Healthy and Safe Working Environment

We attach great care to staff and pay attention on their health and safety. We
also strictly comply with relevant laws and regulations, such as the Law on the
Prevention and Control of Occupational Diseases of the People’s Republic of
China, Provisions on the Supervision and Management of Occupational Health
at Work Sites, and Regulation on Work-related Injury Insurances.

We established the Safety Management Handbook and an Emergency
Management Handbook to provide our staff with safety guidelines. We
organise relevant training sessions to improve our employees’ awareness on
health and safety. In addition, we identify job types for site employees and
provide them with work injury insurance, accidental injury insurance and
annual physical examinations. Regular checks on self-managed properties
and construction sites are carried out. Our property management is certified
with OSHAS 18001 Occupational Health and Safety Assessment Series. To
enhance safety management and ensure traffic safety of the community where
our properties are located, we have formulated with the occupational health
and safety policy. We also aimed at striving for zero major health and safety
incidents, including health and safety accidents and emergency. We have
provided workers with regular body check-ups and medical insurance.

Regulatory Compliance
During the year under review, the Group experienced no accidents resulting in
work-related injuries or fatalities due to work occurred.

Development and Training

Talent is the key strategy of our business and also the most valuable resource of
us. We encourage our employees to learn continuously through coaching and
further studies. The Group has formulated Training Management, Guidelines
for Assignment Management Training and Internal Trainer Management
Guidelines, dedicated to build an elite team with long-lasting, professional and
high efficient.

The Group has tailored on-the-job training and self-learning programs are
offered to improve employees’ knowledge and skillsets. Team building
activities and environmental operation training are organised in collaboration
with external professional institutes to strengthen team bonding and deepen
employees’ sense of belonging to the Group.
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Two-way communication with employees is maintained through networking
activities and feedback sessions. The annual performance appraisal provides an
opportunity for all staff members to discuss career planning, identify areas for
further development and maximise career potential with their line managers.

Anti-corruption

The Group is committed to doing business with integrity and avoiding
corruption in any form.

Our people are expected to uphold broadly acknowledged ethical standards
or even the highest professional standard, so that they work with honesty,
broadmindedness, integrity and righteousness. We value business integrity and
adopt zero tolerance towards any form of corruption in our business activities.
Such provisions are included in the Group’s Employee Handbook and Group
Disciplinary System. Our people are required to immediately report any gifts
or benefits they receive from clients. We have set up reporting channels to
escalate any suspected incidents of corruption, and conduct internal audit for
routine monitoring. Our people are continuously reminded on the importance
of anti-corruption through training. During the year under review, there were
no reported non-compliances with regard to corruption within the Group.

PRODUCT RESPONSIBILITY AND SUPPLY CHAIN
MANAGEMENT

We are committed to creating high-quality property projects and lifestyle
services through innovation and delicacy, to create a better living atmosphere
for customers and provide a comfortable living experience.

Supply Chain Management

The Group aims to build an “open, fair and impartial” supply chain
management. We maintain transparency and fairness in our procurement
process and contractual arrangements. We work with reputable third-party
suppliers who have demonstrably high corporate standards. In the supplier
selection process, in addition to assessing factors such as the quality of
products, services provided by potential suppliers, goodwill, cost, we also
evaluate suppliers who have taking into consideration various factors such
as construction safety and product safety. Furthermore, we place greater
emphasis on green and responsible procurement to reduce the impact on the
environment; and even include standards such as corporate governance, labour
conditions, ethics and environmental standards as part of the assessment.
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We work in close cooperation with the contractors on all constructions
and sourcing affairs and organise regular meetings to facilitate two-way
communications. In addition, we regularly evaluate the performance of
contractors based on environmental and social risks. In terms of suppliers for
our education-related business, we not only work closely with brands and
companies with good reputation and mature products, such as food suppliers
and school bus operators, but also regularly evaluate them to assess their
alignments with our strategic visions.

Quality Services

High-quality service and product are the key to business success. To ensure the
consistently high quality in our property management services, we have been
certified with I1SO 9001 Quality Management System. We stick to the following
objectives in quality services to our tenants:

- Develop quality properties that embrace innovation and enhance the
neighbourhood;

- Provide sincere service and constantly improve our property management;

—  Strive for high standards by building scientific and standardised property
management, and achieve customer satisfaction; and

- Provide a tasteful living and working environment with standardised
service.

To ensure the quality of property construction, we also conduct assessments
includes actual measurements, safety and civilization, quality risk and
management measures. Apart from this, we also entrust a third party to
conduct the assessment, giving objective opinions on delivered project from the
prospect of our client, which include delivery risk inspection, quality inspection
and sentience evaluation. We will summarize the major defects found in
the annual inspection assessment and the relevant improvement measures.
We aim to gather experiences timely from all channels and recommend the
best construction method in the scope of the Group to drive the continuous
improvement in construction quality.

Furthermore, we pay high attention to the health and safety of students
and staff in our schools and have set up a quality control system that closely
monitors the quality of our day-to-day food supplies. Dedicated personnel are
assigned to manage food supplies in specific areas of each school. To ensure
that food quality is up to standard, we conduct regular inspections on the
hygiene conditions of food processing, handling, storage and distribution.
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Protection of Privacy

Upholding product responsibility, quality delivery of our services and products,
and respecting the privacy of our customers and tenants helps us build trusting
relationships. We keep customers’ information confidential and limit the access
to their data. We have formulated a series of policies to protect the privacy of
our tenants, such as Guidelines for Information System Security Management
and Staff Non-disclosure Agreement. We have a hierarchical authorisation
management system, under which different personnel are granted different
permissions. We regulate the methods in relation to the collection of customer
data and storage of customer information. This policy requires the staff to
comply with all the internal guidelines relating to the collection, handling,
transferring, storage and disposal of customer personal information.

Also, we strictly protect the privacy of students and parents from being leaked
in accordance with the Personal Data (Privacy) Ordinance of Hong Kong and
other applicable regulations.

To protect the rights and well-being of our customers and tenants, we regularly
communicate with them through satisfaction surveys in order to identify
potential areas for improvement. During the year under review, there were no
reported non-compliances regarding product responsibility within the Group.

Protection of Intellectual Property

Protection of intellectual property, trade mark and copyright are important for
the Group as our business involves book publishing. We strictly comply with
applicable laws and regulations, such as the Intellectual Property Law of Hong
Kong and the Patent Law of the People’s Republic of China to protect both our
trade mark and the book authors’ intellectual properties from infringement.
During the year under review, there were no reported non-compliances
regarding intellectual property and copyright.

COMMUNITY INVESTMENT

While pursuing business development, we remain strongly committed to our
social obligations towards the communities where we operate. We continued
to create education opportunities for under-privileged students, assist families
in difficulties and take care of elderlies through Shenzhen Topspring Charity
Foundation. During the year under review, we donated approximately
HKD2,224,000 to Beijing Zhonglun Charity Foundation, Green & Shine
Foundation, Shenzhen Mangrove Wetlands Conservation Foundation and etc.
We are dedicated to improving the rural education conditions in China and
enhancing the biodiversity of wetlands in China.
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Aspects Section Remarks

A R

Environmental

A1 3787
Emissions
BHBERARAZRESN  MARLHNES EEXEEER RE-
BEBEVNHRETHETABEAYENORBEER  &HERY

ER Environment -
Policies relating to air and greenhouse gas emissions, discharges ~ Commitment
into water and land, and generation of hazardous and non- Principle

hazardous waste Compliance with relevant laws and regulations
that have a significant impact on the issuer

A1 BERIE S ROR R B R - LERENEERZNAHALEABEE - HNBEERTR
Types of emissions and respective emission data EERHURARNERENTAREER -

This KPI is not identified as material for the Group. We will
continue to observe regulatory changes to update any disclosures
needed in the future.

A12 RERBEMENE NG E) R (ER)BE (WABEES - HEARERREREFALAEEREE - RN B EEER
B BERGTE) EELYINBRVEREMEMNREEH -
Greenhouse gas emissions in total (in tonnes) and, where This KPI is not identified as material for the Group. We will
appropriate, intensity (e.g. per unit of production volume, per continue to observe regulatory changes to update any disclosure
facility) needed in the future.
A13 FEARERENEE CAEAE) R (WER) BE (W& - EEBERMNBEBMARE - AW RIAIHFER AR
ESE  BERGHTE) EREAAEREHRE -
Total hazardous waste produced (in tonnes) and, where The amount of hazardous waste is insignificant. We will however
appropriate, intensity (e.g. per unit of production volume, per plan to more properly monitor its quantity in the future.
facility)
A4 FELRERENES CAEAE) R (WER) BE (A& - REMOTHEREAMKSE  ERREMERREANA
ESEN  BERMEAT) AEENSEER - ARBREEBEE -
Total non-hazardous waste produced (in tonnes) and, where Basic material sorting is in place in our work sites but the KPI is
appropriate, intensity (e.g. per unit of production volume, per not identified as a material aspect of the Group. No data is being
facility) collected.
A15 RHURE SR E R RS R BE-
Description of measures to mitigate emissions and result achieved {87 &% 3
Environment -
Initiatives and
Performances
A16 HARBAERESERDNGE HEELSNEERN  BE- —REENRENAARENEEER -
(EhES B#EREE  General waste is not identified material for the Group.
Description of how hazardous and non-hazardous wastes are  Environment -
handled, reduction initiatives and results achieved Initiatives and

Performances
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B
Aspects

A BE
Environmental
A2 ERER
Use of resources
BRERBR(BEER  KREMFRME) MER
Policies on the efficient use of resources, including energy, water
and other raw materials

REHBASHERR/JREEER(WE - fskid) 872 (L
FETREHE) REE (MASESEN - SERBHE)
Direct and/or indirect energy consumption by type (e.g. electricity,
gas or ail) in total (kWh in '000s) and intensity (e.g. per unit of
production volume, per facility)

BFRKEREE (WABEESM  BEREHE)

Water consumption in total and intensity (e.g. per unit of
production volume, per facility)

A2.1

A2.2

A23 Ha it g IR 68 R AR AT B RIS AR

Description of energy use efficiency initiatives and result achieved

U KIGE AR B EAMEE - U RRARKIGETE R
g R

Description of whether there is any issue in sourcing water that is
fit for purpose, water efficiency initiatives and results achieved

A2.4

A25 HRBFADENBOLE CIEHE) R (WER) §EEE

fifh 2

Total packaging material used for finished products (in tonnes)

and, if applicable, with reference to per unit produced

A3 BRERRARER
The environment and natural resources
BERSBETAHRERRABRERENYROBE
Policies on minimising the issuer’s significant impact on the
environment and natural resources

A3.1 B EBEHURERRABRNEAYERERNERE
BYENTY

Description of the significant impacts of activities on the
environment and natural resources and the action taken to

manage them

8- %

Section

RiE-
AR
BERERR
Environment -
Commitment
Principle;
Initiatives and
Performances
RiE-
BERERR
Environment -
Initiatives and
Performances
RE-
BERRE
Environment -
Initiatives and
Performances
B%E-
BERRE
Environment -
Initiatives and
Performances
B
EARER
Environment -
Initiatives and
Performances

RE-
BERKR
Environment -
Initiatives and
Performances
RBE-
BERRR
Environment -
Initiatives and
Performances

Remarks

FUKE M ARGOKEBPT IR 6L - BURSETR A I B E R
Water is supplied by municipal water supply department. No
potential risk is anticipated in its sources.

BAEMHERRBAIATEENEEZER -
The use of packaging material is not identified as a material
aspect of the Group.
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Social

&R

Employment
ERBEREUTTAETHETAGEAZEND T AR
ROESR -

Policies on employment and compliance with local laws and
regulations that have a significant impact on the issuer on the
following aspects:

- FMRmEE

- Compensation and dismissal

- HEREF

- Recruitment and promotion

- IKREH

- Working hours and rest periods

- TEgERRES

- Equal opportunity and anti-discrimination

- Bulk

- Diversity

- EEERET

- Other benefits and welfare

BEHZ2
Health and safety
FRRHEZ2TERERREESREBELRENBER
BTHRBERERER

Policies on providing a safe working environment and protecting
employees from occupational hazards and compliance with
relevant laws and regulations

BRI

Development and training
ERRAEERTIIEREN DS RRENEER : #iE
B

Policies on improving employees’ knowledge and skills for
discharging duties at work; description of training activities
EIg%E

Labour standard
BEIEET R84 THER  RETEERER
Policies and compliance with laws and regulations on preventing
child and forced labour

fEEEE

Supply chain management
ERHEENIRE R & RRBEK

Policies on managing environmental and social risks of the supply
chain
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B e
Social
B6 ERER

Product responsibility

FHMRUER LRENREERE BE RERLEE EERE:
HARMERAENHRE  REFTHBZEERER RERHL
Policies and compliance with relevant laws and requlations on  {RFEAHEE
health and safety, advertising, labelling and privacy matters Quality Services;
relating to products and services provided and methods of ~ Protection

redress of Privacy,
Protection of
Intellectual
Property
B7 R&ER

Anti-corruption
BBRDLBER 9% REREREOYE  RETERE RE
2R Anti-corruption
Policies and compliance with relevant laws and regulations
relating to bribery, extortion, fraud and money laundering

B8 HERE
Community investment
BN E2ERTRECACENALERERERAEY HERE
BEBHEEBHEFEHNER Community
Policies on community engagement to understand the needs  investment
of the communities where the issuer operates and to ensure its
activities take into consideration the communities’ interests
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE PRINCIPLES AND
PRACTICES

In the opinion of the Directors, the Company has complied with all the Code
Provisions set out in the Corporate Governance Code contained in Appendix 14
to the Listing Rules (the “CG Code"”) during the year ended 31 December 2020
and, where appropriate, adopted the Recommended Best Practices set out in
the CG Code, except for the following deviation:

Under Code Provision A.2.1 of the CG Code, the roles of the chairman and the
chief executive officer should be separate and should not be performed by the
same individual. During the year ended 31 December 2020, Mr. WONG Chun
Hong performed his duties as the chairman and the chief executive officer of
the Company. The Board considers that vesting both roles in the same person
ensures consistent leadership within the Group and enables more effective
and efficient planning of long-term strategies and implementation of business
plans. The Board believes that the balance of power and authority is adequately
ensured by the operations and governance of the Board which comprises
experienced and high calibre individuals, with more than half of the Board
members being non-executive or independent non-executive Directors. The
Company will review the current structure when and as it becomes appropriate.

The Directors are committed to upholding the corporate governance of the
Company to ensure that formal and transparent procedures are in place to
protect and maximise interests of the shareholders of the Company.

Details of the Company’s corporate governance practices will be set out in the
Company’s 2020 annual report.

THE BOARD

The Board is responsible for supervising and overseeing all major matters of
the Company, including the formulation and approval of overall management
and operation strategies, reviewing the internal control and risk management
systems, reviewing financial performance, considering dividend policies and
monitoring the performance of the senior management, while the management
is responsible for the daily management and operations of the Group.

The Board currently comprises four executive Directors, namely Mr WONG
Chun Hong, Mr YUAN Zhi Wei, Ms LAM Mei Ka, Shirley and Mr LIANG Rui Chi,
two non-executive Directors, namely Mr YIP Hoong Mun and Mr KUI Qiang,
and three independent non-executive Directors, namely Mr CHENG Yuk Wo,
Professor WU Si Zong and Mr CHAN Yee Herman.
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During the year under review, the Board held five Board meetings (exclusive
of meetings of the Board committees constituted by the Board held during
the year under review). The attendance of each Director is set out in the table
below:

HERE, B

Number of
attendance/Total

HITES Executive Directors

BERBAE(EERTHAEZ) Mr WONG Chun Hong (Chairman and Chief Executive Officer) 5/5
REEEE Mr YUAN Zhi Wei 5/5
MERLZ L Ms LAM Mei Ka, Shirley 5/5
R 5t & Mr LIANG Rui Chi 5/5
FHITES Non-executive Directors

BENXEE Mr YIP Hoong Mun 5/5
PR 58 5 A= Mr KUl Qiang 4/5
BYKHTES Independent non-executive Directors

BRGNS A Mr CHENG Yuk Wo 5/5
SOMREIR Professor WU Si Zong 5/5
PR {2 55 A Mr CHAN Yee Herman 5/5

| SRS
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TRAINING AND COMMITMENT

To ensure that a newly appointed Director will have a proper understanding
of the operations and business of the Company and is fully aware of his/her
responsibilities under all applicable laws and regulations (including the Listing
Rules), he/she will be provided with a comprehensive, tailor-made and formal
induction on the first occasion of his/her appointment.

The Company provides a series of directors’ trainings including “Amendments
to Main Board Listing Rules relating to the Codification of General Waivers and
Principles relating to IPOs and Listed Issuers and Minor Rule Amendments”,
“Amendments to Main Listing Rules relating to Debt Issues to Professional
Investors Only”, “Amendments to Main Board Listing Rules relating to Online
Display of Documents and Reduction of the Types of Documents on Display”,
"Amendments to Main Board Listing Rules relating to Paperless Listing and
Subscription Regime” and “Amendments to Main Board Listing Rules relating
to the new headline categories for debt issuance programmes” with relevant
reading materials to the Directors to help and ensure that they are apprised
of the latest changes in the commercial, legal and regulatory environment in
which the Group conducts its businesses and to refresh their knowledge and
skills on the roles, functions and duties of a director of listed company.
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Name of Director

The Directors are required to provide the Company with details of the
continuous professional development (“CPD") trainings undertaken by
them from time to time. Based on the details so provided, the CPD trainings
undertaken by the Directors in 2020 are summarized as follows.

EEERK
u—.¥ B /|:|
Legal, regulatory

and corporate

governance

BEEHAR -
BERBE
Directors’ roles,
functions and
duties

KEEEK

Businesses of
the Group

HTES Executive Directors
EERELE Mr WONG Chun Hong
(LEETHAH) (Chairman and Chief Executive Officer) v v v
rRERLE Mr YUAN Zhi Wei v v v
MERLL Ms LAM Mei Ka, Shirley v v/ v
Rt 5 Mr LIANG Rui Chi v v v
FHTES Non-executive Directors
EREX%AE Mr YIP Hoong Mun v v/ v
Bos st A Mr KUI Qiang v v/ v
BIFHTES Independent non-executive Directors
HHmAMEE Mr CHENG Yuk Wo v v v
RMRHE Professor WU Si Zong v v v
RELE Mr CHAN Yee Herman v/ v/ v
B Remarks:
i 1=3:5 v/ represents compliance
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The Company has received confirmations from the Directors that they have
provided sufficient time and attention to the affairs of the Group. Besides, the
Directors have disclosed to the Company their interests as director and other
office in other public companies and organisations in a timely manner and have
updated the Company on any subsequent changes. Each of the Directors has
complied with Code Provision A.6.5 of the CG Code.

CHAIRMAN AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER

Under Code Provision A.2.1 of the CG Code, the roles of the chairman and the
chief executive officer should be separated and should not be performed by
the same individual. With effect from 1 March 2018, Mr WONG Chun Hong
has become the chairman and the chief executive officer of the Company. The
Board considers that vesting both roles in the same person ensures consistent
leadership within the Group and enables more effective and efficient planning
of long-term strategies and implementation of business plans. The Board
believes that the balance of power and authority is adequately ensured by the
operations and governance of the Board which comprises experienced and
high caliber individuals, with more than half of the Board members being non-
executive or independent non-executive Directors. The Company will review the
current structure when and as it becomes appropriate.
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EEHERR AW DIRECTORS’ ATTENDANCE AT GENERAL MEETINGS

REBEFEAN AQRAIRZZFTZFFHHA Durng the year under review, the Company held one annual general meeting
ZHNBRIT-ABRERRAFARE ([ZF=F on 28 May 2020 ("2020 AGM") and one extraordinary general meeting on 29
FREBFAE]) UYHRZZFTZFTF+=H December 2020. The attendance of each Director is set out in the table below.
ZTAARIT-RAREFRIARE - SEEHH

fEBERETIN T -

BRRRFRRE
Extraordinary
general meeting

i = A i
BRRBAFAE +=A=+hH
2020 29 December
Name of Director AGM 2020
HITES Executive Directors
HEREE Mr WONG Chun Hong
(FEFTHAEZ) (Chairman and Chief Executive Officer) v v
REEEE Mr YUAN Zhi Wei v/ v/
MERLZ L Ms LAM Mei Ka Shirley v/ v
R Mr LIANG Rui Chi v/ v/
FHITES Non-executive Directors
ERNEE Mr YIP Hoong Mun v/ v
B ok 2 A4 Mr KUl Qiang v/ v
BUFHTES Independent non-executive Directors
RGN ST AE Mr CHENG Yuk Wo v v
ROMWREIE Professor WU Si Zong v v/
PR3 ST 4 Mr CHAN Yee Herman v X
sk Remarks:
v EHE v/ represents attendance

X IERE X represents absence
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REMUNERATION COMMITTEE

The chairman of the remuneration committee of the Company (the
“Remuneration Committee”) is Mr CHENG Yuk Wo. As at the date of this
report, the Remuneration Committee consists of one executive Director, Mr
WONG Chun Hong and two independent non-executive Directors, Mr CHENG
Yuk Wo and Professor WU Si Zong.

The primary duties of the Remuneration Committee are to make
recommendations to the Board on the Company’s policy and structure for
remuneration of Directors and senior management and on the establishment of
formal and transparent procedures for developing such remuneration policy.

In determining the remuneration of the Directors and the senior management,
the Remuneration Committee would consider factors such as salaries paid by
comparable companies, time commitment and responsibilities of the Directors
and the senior management, performance and contributions of the Directors
and the senior management and the change in market conditions.

The Remuneration Committee held two meetings during the year under review.
The attendance of each member of the Remuneration Committee is set out in
the table below:

HERE HBH

Number of

attendance/Total

BRGNS A (/) Mr CHENG Yuk Wo (Chairman) 212

BRERE Mr WONG Chun Hong 2/2

RN RHE Professor WU Si Zong 22
REBEEERN $HEESRFEEEGMAL  For the year under review, the Remuneration Committee recommended

AMTEELSRERBRNHRE_T_ZF
ToZA=+T—BLEFENFRIEL - HEES
DERFEHEAR T H SRR A B AAE -

BE_T_ZTF+_A=+—-BHULFE E=F
RARBRRERESBOFHMFBERIINA
EEGEYBRRMEIIRABERESTRE
EREERABZHME| & -

to the Board on the year-end bonus of executive Directors and the senior
management of the Company for the year ended 31 December 2020. No
Director was involved in deciding his own remuneration or options granted.

Details of the remuneration of each of the Directors and senior management
of the Company for the year ended 31 December 2020 are set out in note 9 to
the consolidated financial statements of the Group and in the section headed
“Remuneration for Senior Management” under the Directors’ Report of this
report.
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NOMINATION COMMITTEE

The chairman of the nomination committee of the Company (the “Nomination
Committee”) is Professor WU Si Zong. As at the date of this report, the
Nomination Committee consists of one executive Director, Mr WONG Chun
Hong and two independent non-executive Directors, Mr CHENG Yuk Wo and
Professor WU Si Zong.

The primary duties of the Nomination Committee are to (i) review the structure,
size, composition (including the skills, knowledge and experience required)
and diversity of the Board on a regular basis; (ii) to identify individuals suitably
qualified to become board members and select or make recommendations to
the Board on the selection of individuals nominated for directorships, having
due regard to the board diversity policy and the nomination policy of the
Company, when a vacancy occurs on the Board by reason of disqualification
resignation, retirement, death or an increase in the size of the Board; (iii) to
make recommendations to the Board on matters related to the appointment
or re-appointment of Directors and succession planning for Directors, and
any other area where action or improvement is needed; (iv) to assess the
independence of the independent non-executive Directors; (v) to review the
board diversity policy as appropriate and make recommendations on any
required changes to the Board for consideration and approval, and monitor
its implementation so as to ensure its effectiveness, and make disclosure of its
summary and the progress of its implementation in the corporate governance
report; (vi) to review the nomination policy for directors and to make disclosure
of the summary of nomination policy in annual report of the Company annually;
and (vii) to ensure the disclosures required by the terms of reference are set out
in the circular where the Board propose a resolution to elect an individual as an
independent non-executive Director.

NOMINATION POLICY

The Board has adopted a “Nomination Policy” on 1 January 2019 in relation
to the nomination, appointment, re-appointment of new Directors and the
nomination procedure of the Company, which provides that in evaluating
and selecting any candidate for directorship, the Nomination Committee shall
consider the candidates’ character and integrity, professional qualifications,
skills, knowledge and experience, independence, diversity on the Board,
willingness to devote adequate time to discharge duties as a Board member
and such other criteria that are appropriate to the business of the Company.
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BOARD DIVERSITY POLICY

The Board has adopted a revised “Board Diversity Policy” on 1 January 2019 in
relation to the nomination and appointment of new Directors, which provides
that the selection of Board candidates shall be based on a range of diversity
perspectives with reference to the Company’s business model and specific
needs, including but not limited to gender, age, race, language, cultural
background, educational background, industry experience and professional
experience. The above measurements were also reviewed and adopted when
the Nomination Committee reviewed the composition of the Board. After
assessing the suitability of the Directors’ skills and experience to the Company’s
business, the Nomination Committee confirmed that the existing Board was
appropriately structured and no change was required.

The Nomination Committee held one meeting during the year under review.
The attendance of each member of the Nomination Committee is set out in the
table below:

HERE HEE

Number of

attendance/Total

RNREE (FE) Professor WU Si Zong (Chairman) 11
s5ERERE Mr WONG Chun Hong 11
ERGRAN ST Mr CHENG Yuk Wo 171

REEFERN REZBEERELTRAE
BN10A R EFTEARRE - RERARIA R
BEEBREEREIE=S-

BEREES

ARBBEREZRE ((BRERT]) TFEREEH
MEL - RAREAY BERZEGRE=4
BIAFFRNITESE  MEHFMEL  RIWRHIR
RFRGEFEA -

ERZEQGNEERERUEE ESRENMG -
EFRREEAARMHERERNTEL - FEZZ
EgRBMAMBREEARARRZARE
B K N ER R RATH AR - R RABIS NS
ZEMmMESSREHEE RARBEEBENE
B & B E SN R B B B S R BB R %
B2 Z AR »

ERZESAERAHLE BERERING
RERMNEENESSRIEBES EHH
EHAREZERBRNARBBRERAG L1t
o TTHEE - REEFERN  EET T UL ER
BUE - BT BER SRR S SIS R BA i BR A £2
ERZEBETRANER -

During the year under review, the Nomination Committee reviewed the
structure, size and composition of the Board in accordance with Rule 3.10A of
the Listing Rules, and recommended the re-election of the retiring Directors.

AUDIT COMMITTEE

The chairman of the audit committee of the Company (the “Audit
Committee”) is Mr CHENG Yuk Wo. As at the date of this report, the Audit
Committee consists of three independent non-executive Directors, Mr CHENG
Yuk Wo, Professor WU Si Zong and Mr CHAN Yee Herman.

The Audit Committee reports to the Board and is authorised by the Board
to assess, review and monitor the integrity of the financial statements of the
Company. The Audit Committee oversees all financial reporting procedures
and the effectiveness of the Company’s risk management and internal control
system, advises the Board on the appointment and re-appointment of external
auditors, and reviews and monitors the independence and objectivity of
external auditors and the effectiveness of the audit process in accordance with
the applicable standard.

The Audit Committee is responsible for recommending to the Board on matters
related to the appointment, re-appointment and removal of the external
auditors, which is subject to the approval of the Board and the Shareholders
at general meeting of the Company. For the year under review, the Board has
not taken a different view from that of the Audit Committee regarding the
selection, appointment, resignation or dismissal of the external auditors.
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The Audit Committee held two meetings during the year under review. The
attendance of each member of the Audit Committee is set out in the table
below:

HERE B

Number of

attendance/Total

BRER RN A (£ /) Mr CHENG Yuk Wo (Chairman) 202
ROMREIE Professor WU Si Zong 2/2
BREZESE Mr CHAN Yee Herman 2/2

REbtgs FEZZESCER BHALI®W
AEERANEFRURESR BHE-FT—N
FHtoA=+T-RHLFENFERE #HE—
ZETFERA=ZTHEIERNEANREERE - U
NS ERE - ABPEE - BE RS - REER
B R EREE RGN AR -

BB BT BN &
BE-F-FF+-A=+—ALEE #E
BRIEBERBEN BN AR DN UA
LEARHAFHEAOBBLARIMT :

EZIRF
HoAth AR 75 (P E)

Audit services
Other services (Note)

At the above meetings, the Audit Committee has considered, reviewed and
discussed the accounting principles and practice adopted by the Group,
the annual results of the Group for the year ended 31 December 2019, the
interim results of the Group for the six months ended 30 June 2020 and the
effectiveness of financial reporting, internal control, consultancy services,
internal audit function and risk management systems.

AUDITORS’ REMUNERATION

For the year ended 31 December 2020, the total fees paid/payable to the
external auditors of the Company, KPMG, in respect of audit and non-audit
services are set out below:

mE-g-24
t=A=+-8
IR

For the year ended
31 December 2020
FHET

HK$'000

4,784
3,047

Total

7,831

M R REHRFEEZRBIN NEBSEZE
MESHEMELMMAARE DR BEEE
REEBRYG  ASENE QR BHKRM
ZERTS - AREMIEEZRTY (RIERHERE
HEREABEARRBER) -

Note: Apart from the provision of annual audit services, KPMG, the Group’s external auditors,
also provided review services on half yearly financial results, audit services on the financial
statement of the Group’s subsidiaries and other non- audit services including provision of
environmental, social and governance report and tax advice during the year.
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DIRECTORS’ RESPONSIBILITY ON THE FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

The Directors acknowledge their responsibility for preparing the financial
statements for the year ended 31 December 2020, and confirm that the
financial statements give a true and fair view for the year under review, and
are prepared in accordance with the applicable statutory requirements and
accounting standards. The statement of the external auditors of the Company,
KPMG, in relation to their reporting responsibilities on the financial statements
of the Group is set out in the Independent Auditor’s Report of this report.

INTERNAL CONTROL

The Board is fully responsible for maintaining proper and effective internal
control system and for regularly reviewing the operational efficiency of the
financial, operational, compliance controls, risk management and other aspects
of the system in order to safeguard the investment of Shareholders and the
assets of the Company. During the year under review, the Board has conducted
a review of the effectiveness of the risk management and internal control
system of the Group covering the above aspects. The Board has also considered
the adequacy of resources, qualifications and experience of staff of the
Company’s accounting, internal audit and financial reporting function, and their
training programmes and budget during the year under review. The Board is
not aware of any significant internal control and risk management weaknesses
nor significant breach or limits of risk management policies, and considers the
existing internal control system and risk management systems effective and
adequate. The Company has complied with the risk management and internal
control code provisions under the CG Code for the year ended 31 December
2020.

The internal audit department of the Company is responsible for regular review
and audit of the Group’s major finance and operating activities. The purpose of
such work is to ensure the normal operation of internal control and the playing
of its due role.

RISK MANAGEMENT

The Board has an overall responsibility for the risk management framework,
and for determining the significant risks it is willing to take in achieving the
Company’s objectives.

The Audit Committee is delegated with overseeing the effectiveness of internal
control and risk management, while management is responsible for the design,
implementation and monitoring of such systems. The Board office is responsible
for coordinating risk management activities, and to report regularly to the
Board.
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Our approach to manage risks involves identification and assessment of
principal risks from the external and internal environment at different
organisation levels. The assessment considers the changes in nature and
extent of significant risks and the Group’s ability to respond to changes in its
business and the external environment. Action plans have been developed and
risk ownership has been assigned for each key principal risk. The risk owners
coordinate the mitigation measures to ensure proper implementation of these
action plans. The process is closely monitored by the Board office. The internal
control and risk management systems are reviewed by the Board on an on-
going basis to ensure they are effective.

Taking into consideration the principal risks and mitigation actions, the Board
believes that the Company has the ability to respond to any such changes in
our business and the external environment.

DIVIDEND POLICY

The Board has adopted the “Dividend Policy” on 1 January 2019 in
recommending dividends, to allow the Shareholders to participate in the
Company’s profits and enable the Company to retain adequate reserves for
future growth, which provides that subject to the approval of the Shareholders
and requirement of the relevant law, the Company shall pay annual dividends
to the Shareholders if the Group is profitable, operations environment is stable
and there is no significant investment or commitment made by the Group.

PRINCIPAL RISKS AND UNCERTAINTIES

The principal risks and uncertainties that may cause the Group’s financial
conditions or results materially different from the expected or historical results
are described below:

Risks with regard to the property market in the PRC

Most of the Group’s property projects are located in Mainland China, and
some in Hong Kong and overseas, and most of the Group's revenue is derived
in the PRC. As at 31 December 2020, the Group had a total of 22 projects at
various stages of development. As such, the Group is therefore subject to the
risks associated with the PRC property market. The Group’s operations in the
PRC may also be exposed to the risks of policy change, interest rate change,
demand-supply imbalance and the overall economic conditions, which may
pose an adverse impact on the Group’s business, financial condition or results
of operations.
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Risks with regard to the funding of property development
The property development business is capital intensive. The Group funded its
land acquisitions and property developments primarily through bank loans,
internally generated cash flows (including proceeds from the pre-sale and
sale of the Group’s projects), note payable, convertible bonds and loans from
substantial Shareholders. The Group’s ability to obtain adequate funding
depends on a number of factors, some of which are beyond the Group’s
control, such as general economic conditions in the PRC, the performance and
outlook of the property development industry in the PRC, the Group’s financial
strength and performance, the availability of credit from financial institutions,
and regulatory measures instituted by the PRC government. There is no
assurance that the Group will be able to obtain adequate financing for land
acquisitions or property developments at all and/or on terms that will allow the
Group to earn reasonable returns.

Risks with regards to the redevelopment projects
Redevelopment projects in the PRC involve many uncertainties and are capital
intensive. The Group is required to obtain numerous government approvals in
relation to the Group’s urban redevelopment projects and to obtain consents to
relocate all of the existing residents. There is no assurance that the Group will
be able to obtain all of the necessary consents to relocate the existing residents
or that the Group will be able to obtain all necessary government approvals.

Risks with regard to the property leasing

The rental rates and the occupancy rates depend on various factors, including
but not limited to, prevailing supply and demand conditions, economic
conditions as well as the quality of the properties. There is no assurance that
the Group will be able to look for new tenants within a short period of time or
procure new leases or renew existing leases at the prevailing market rates.

Operational risks

The Group’s operation is subject to a number of risk factors distinctive to
property development and property related businesses. Default on the part of
the Group’s contractors, buyers, tenants, and strategic business partners, and
inadequacies or failures of internal processes, people and systems or other
external factors may have various levels of negative impact on the results of
the Group’s operation. In addition, accidents may happen despite systems and
policies set up for their prevention, which may lead to the Group’s financial
loss, litigation, or damage in reputation.

Interest rate risks

Most of the Group’s borrowings are floating-rate bank loans, which expose the
Group to rising interest rates. We will closely monitor the interest rate risk and
when appropriate adopt measures to manage the associated risk, including
but not limited to, the issuance of fixed rate bonds, and use of derivatives such
as interest rate swaps and management of the ratio of fixed or floating loan
portfolio. As at 31 December 2020, the Group had not carried out any hedging
activities to manage its interest rate exposure.
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Currency risks

Almost all of the Group’s operating activities are carried out in the PRC with
most of the transactions denominated in RMB. The Group is exposed to foreign
currency risk arising from the exposure of RMB against Hong Kong dollars or
US dollars as a result of its investment in Mainland China and the settlement
of certain general and administrative expenses and other borrowings in Hong
Kong dollars, United States dollars or Australian dollars. We will closely monitor
the fluctuations of the RMB exchange rate and give prudent consideration as
to entering into any currency swap arrangement as and when appropriate for
hedging corresponding risks. As at 31 December 2020, the Group had not
carried out any hedging activities to manage its foreign exchange rate risk.

HANDLING AND DISSEMINATION OF INSIDE
INFORMATION

The Company has put in place a policy on handling and dissemination of
inside information which sets out the procedures and internal controls for
handling and dissemination of inside information in a timely manner in such
a way to avoid placing any person in a privileged dealing position. The inside
information policy also provides guidelines to employees of the Group to
ensure proper safeguards exists to prevent the Company from breaching the
statutory and listing rule disclosure requirements. The Company has appropriate
internal control and reporting systems to identify and assess potential inside
information. Dissemination of inside information of the Company shall be
conducted by publishing the relevant information on the websites of the Stock
Exchange and the Company, according to the requirements of the Listing Rules.

MODEL CODE FOR SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS BY
DIRECTORS

The Company has adopted the Model Code for Securities Transactions by
Directors of Listed Issuers set out in Appendix 10 to the Listing Rules (the
“Model Code”) as its code of conduct for securities transactions by the
Directors. After having made specific enquiries with all Directors, all Directors
have confirmed that they have complied with the required standards set out
in the Model Code during the year ended 31 December 2020. To ensure
compliance, all Directors were requested to send a notice of intention to
deal with the securities of the Company to the chairman of the Corporate
Governance Committee and should obtain an approval from the chairman of
the Corporate Governance Committee or the designated person by the Board
during the year under review to deal with securities of the Company.

Relevant employees who are likely to be in possession of inside information of
the Company are also subject to compliance with guidelines on no less exacting
terms than the Model Code for the year ended 31 December 2020.
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COMPANY SECRETARY

The company secretary of the Company (the “Company Secretary”),
Mr WONG Tak Chun, is responsible to the Board for ensuring that Board
procedures are followed and Board activities are efficiently and effectively
conducted. These objectives are achieved through adherence to proper Board
processes and the timely preparation and dissemination to the Directors of
comprehensive meeting agendas and papers. Minutes of all Board meetings
and Board committees are prepared and maintained by the Company Secretary
to record in sufficient details of the matters considered and decisions reached
by the Board or Board committees, including any concerns raised or dissenting
views voiced by any Director. All draft and final version of the minutes of
Board meetings and meetings of Board committees are sent to Directors and
committee members respectively for comment and record and are available for
inspection by any Director upon request.

The Company Secretary is responsible for ensuring that the Board is fully
apprised of all legislative, regulatory and corporate governance developments
relating to the Group and that it takes these into consideration when making
decisions for the Group. From time to time, he organises seminars on specific
topics of significance and interest and disseminates reference materials to the
Directors for their information.

The Company Secretary is also directly responsible for the compliance of the
Group with all obligations of the Listing Rules and the Codes on Takeovers
and Mergers and Share Buy-backs, including the preparation, publication
and despatch of annual reports and interim reports within the time limits laid
down in the Listing Rules, the timely dissemination to the Shareholders and the
market of information relating to the Group.

Furthermore, the Company Secretary advises the Directors on their obligations
for disclosure of interests and dealings in securities of the Company, connected
transactions and inside information and ensures that the standards and
disclosures required by the Listing Rules are observed and, where required,
reflected in the annual report of the Company.

During the year under review, Mr WONG Tak Chun attended no less than 15
hours of relevant professional training in compliance with Rule 3.29 of the
Listing Rules.
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INVESTOR RELATIONS AND SHAREHOLDERS’
RIGHTS

The Company ensures that fair and transparent disclosure is made for its
business and financial performance through a variety of formal communication
channels. Information regarding the Company is published in its website:
www.topspring.com. Interim and annual reports, circulars and notices of the
Company are despatched to the Shareholders. The website of the Company
provides information such as e-mail address, correspondence address,
telephone numbers for enquiries, and provides information on the business
activities of the Group. Shareholders may at any time send their enquiries and
concerns to the Board in writing either by email to IR@topspring.com or direct
mailing to the principal place of business of the Company in Hong Kong for the
attention of the Company Secretary.

The Company’s annual general meeting of the Shareholders is a good
opportunity for communication between the Board and the Shareholders.
Notice of annual general meeting and related documents will be sent to
Shareholders pursuant to the requirements of the Listing Rules and the articles
of association of the Company (the “Articles of Association”), and are
published on the websites of the Company and the Stock Exchange.

Shareholders are encouraged to attend all general meetings of the Company.
Pursuant to Article 58 of the Articles of Association, Shareholders holding not
less than one-tenth of the paid up capital of the Company carrying the right
of voting at general meetings of the Company shall at all times have the right,
by written requisition to the Board or the Company Secretary, to require an
extraordinary general meeting to be called by the Board for the transaction of
any business specified in the requisition; and the Company shall hold general
meeting within two months after receiving the requisition. If a Shareholder
wishes to propose a person other than a retiring Director for election as
a Director at a general meeting, pursuant to Article 85 of the Articles of
Association, the Shareholder (other than the person to be proposed) duly
qualified to attend and vote at the general meeting shall send a written notice,
duly signed by the Shareholder, of his/her intention to propose such person
for election and also a notice signed by the person to be proposed of his/her
willingness to be elected. These notices should be lodged at the Company’s
head office or the office of the Company’s share registrar in Hong Kong (the
“Hong Kong Share Registrar”), Tricor Investor Services Limited. The period
for lodgement of such notices shall commence on the day after the despatch
of the notice of such general meeting and end no later than seven days prior
to the date of such general meeting. All substantive resolutions at general
meetings are decided on a poll which is conducted by the Company Secretary
and scrutinised by the Hong Kong Share Registrar of the Company. The results
of the poll are published on the websites of the Company and the Stock
Exchange. Regularly updated financial, business and other information on the
Group is made available on the website of the Company for Shareholders and
investors.

The Company also meets the investment community and responds to their
enquiries about the status of the Company from time to time, so as to
strengthen the contacts and communication between the Company and its
investors.
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DIRECTORS

Executive Directors

Mr WONG Chun Hong (E# E), aged 66
Executive Director, Chairman and Chief Executive Officer

Mr WONG is the Founder of the Group and is the executive Director, Chairman
and the Chief Executive Officer of the Company. He is also a director of
various subsidiaries within the Group. In addition, he is also the second
largest shareholder and vice chairman of the board of directors of Rainbow
Department Store Co., Ltd., a company listed on the Shenzhen Stock Exchange.
He has over 23 years of experience in the real estate business in the Mainland
and Hong Kong, and has profound accomplishments in the finance and retail
fields.

From 1993 to 1996, Mr WONG was the deputy managing director and the
second largest shareholder of Top Glory International Holdings Limited (formerly
known as World Trade Center Group Limited), a company which was listed on
the Stock Exchange and is now privatised and was the vice chairman of China
Foods Limited (formerly known as China Foods Holdings Limited), a company
listed on the Stock Exchange. From 1996 to 2001, Mr WONG was a major
shareholder, chairman and chief executive officer of ITC Properties Group
Limited (formerly known as Cheung Tai Hong Holdings Limited), a company
listed on the Stock Exchange. Mr WONG was awarded 20104 € @ & A ¥
(2010 Person of the Year) by China Real Estate Information Corporation (7
Bl EEFBEEE), FRE/E (Sina House), 2011 the Most Influential Person
in China and 2012 the Most Influential Person in real estate sector in China in
the 11th and 12th Boao Real Estate Forum respectively and 2011 CEIBS Alumni
Award Programme by China Europe International Business School. Mr WONG
also attended the Global CEO Programme for China in 2007 which was co-
organised by China Europe International Business School, IESE Business School
and Harvard Business School. He is the executive chairman of Federation of
Hong Kong Guangdong Community Organizations Limited, the chairman of
Hong Kong Federation of Guangzhou Associations Limited, the president of
Hong Kong Real Property Federation and a member of Guangzhou Chinese
People’s Political Consultative Conference (& /N ™ EX 1% & £ ). In July 2016,
Mr WONG was awarded the Bronze Bauhinia Star (BBS) by the Government of
the Hong Kong Special Administrative Region in recognition of his continuous
contribution to the well-being of Hong Kong Special Administrative Region
over the years, and for his distinguished achievements towards the commercial
sector and community affairs. The Bronze Bauhinia Star (BBS) was introduced in
1998 and is presented to individuals who demonstrate remarkable performance
in long-term community services. Mr WONG was bestowed an Honorary Doctor
of social science by City University of Hong Kong in October 2020.
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Chance Again Limited (“Chance Again”), a substantial shareholder (as defined
in the Listing Rules) of the Company, is wholly-owned by Cheung Yuet (B.V.1.)
Limited (“BVI Co"). The entire issued share capital of BVI Co is wholly-owned
by HSBC International Trustee Limited (“HSBC International Trustee”) as
the trustee of The Cheung Yuet Memorial Trust, a discretionary family trust
established by Mr WONG (the “Wong’s Family Trust”), the beneficiaries of
which include Mr WONG's family members. Mr WONG is the settlor and the
protector of the Wong's Family Trust. Mr WONG is also a director of Chance
Again. Save as mentioned above, Mr WONG does not have any relationship
with any Directors, senior management, substantial Shareholders or controlling
Shareholders of the Company.

The discloseable interest of Mr WONG in the Shares and underlying Shares
under the provisions of Part XV of the Securities and Futures Ordinance (the
“SFO") is set out in the section headed “Directors’ and Chief Executive's
Interests and Short Positions in Shares, Underlying Shares and Debentures of
the Company and its Associated Corporations” under the Directors’ Report of
this report.

Mr YUAN Zhi Wei (R &), aged 35
Executive Director

Mr YUAN was appointed as an executive Director on 1 September 2017. He
joined the Company as the Assistant President since 16 March 2016. Mr YUAN
joined Yunnan Health & Cultural Tourism Holding Group Co., Ltd.* (2@ &
BER¥EM &£ E AR A ,"YHCT”, formerly known as Yunnan Metropolitan
Construction Investment Co., Ltd.) in 2011, and has worked for a fund
company under YHCT, the board office of YHCT and Caiyun International
Investment Limited (¥ & BB 4% & B R 2 &) (“Caiyun”), a wholly- owned
subsidiary of YHCT and a substantial shareholder (as defined in the Listing
Rules) of the Company. He is currently the deputy general manager of
Caiyun. Mr YUAN has extensive management experience in the fields of fund
management, capital markets, real estate development, corporate governance
and cultural tourism. Mr YUAN obtained a bachelor’s degree in economics from
the Faculty of Economics of Yunnan University (£ & X2 ) in July 2008 and
a master’s degree in economics from the Institute of Development Studies of
Yunnan University* (£ K22 R FTPT) in July 2011.

Mr YUAN does not have any relationship with any Directors, senior
management or substantial or controlling Shareholders of the Company.

Mr YUAN does not have any interests in the Shares, underlying Shares
and debentures of the Company and its associated corporations under the
provisions of Part XV of the SFO.
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Ms LAM Mei Ka, Shirley (#k 3% %), aged 50
Executive Director

Ms LAM was appointed as an executive Director with effect from 1 March
2018. Ms LAM joined the Company in October 2017 and was appointed as the
managing director of Top Spring Healthcare Holdings (Hong Kong) Company
Limited, a subsidiary of the Company, where she was responsible for overseeing
the business operations related to education and healthcare services of the
Group. Prior to joining the Company, Ms LAM served in senior managerial
positions in a number of blue-chip property developers in Hong Kong, including
Techno Factor (Development) Limited, a wholly-owned subsidiary of Henderson
Land Development Company Limited, New World Development China Limited,
Hopewell Real Estate Agency Limited and MTR Corporation Limited. Ms LAM
has accumulated over 23 years of the management experience in the real estate
industry with a focus on real estate development, asset management and
management of shopping mall operations. Ms LAM graduated from Ottawa
University, the United States with a bachelor’s degree in business administration
and obtained a master's degree in Project Management from the Hong Kong
Polytechnic University. She is @ member of the Royal Institution of Chartered
Surveyors and Chartered Institute of Housing.

Ms LAM does not have any relationship with any Directors, senior management,
substantial Shareholders or controlling Shareholders of the Company.

Ms LAM does not have any interests in the Shares, underlying Shares and
debentures of the Company and its associated corporations under the
provisions of Part XV of the SFO.

Mr LIANG Rui Chi (R%5th), aged 49
Executive Director

Mr LIANG was appointed as an executive Director on 5 August 2019. Mr LIANG
joined the Group in February 2006 and worked as the general manager of
operations management department, strategic investment department and
Water Flower Property Development Co., Ltd. of the Group, and a director
of several subsidiaries of the Company. He was appointed as the assistant
president of the Group and the general manager of the Guangdong regional
branch in February 2014, and then left the Group in April 2015 due to personal
reason. He rejoined the Group and was appointed as the executive vice
president of the Group in April 2019, and was later appointed as the Group vice
chief executive officer in November the same year. Mr LIANG has over 21 years
of experience in corporate governance, investment and strategic management.
He was a supervisor of each of Dongjiang Environmental Company Limited, a
company listed on the Stock Exchange and the Shenzhen Stock Exchange (stock
codes: 895.HK, 002672.5Z), and Rainbow Department Store Company Limited,
a company listed on the Shenzhen Stock Exchange (stock code: 002419.57). Mr
LIANG graduated from Central University of Finance and Economics and was
awarded a bachelor degree in economics in 1994.

Mr LIANG does not have any relationship with any Directors, senior
management, substantial Shareholders or controlling Shareholders of the
Company.

Mr LIANG does not have any interests in the Shares, underlying Shares
and debentures of the Company and its associated corporations under the
provisions of Part XV of the SFO.
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Non-executive Director

Mr YIP Hoong Mun (¥ & ), aged 59
Non-executive Director

Mr YIP was appointed as a non-executive Director and a member of the
Corporate Governance Committee of the Company on 1 September 2017.
Mr YIP is the executive Director and Group chief executive officer of Metro
Holdings Limited (“Metro Holdings”, together with its subsidiaries, the
“Metro Group”) since June 2019. Metro Holdings is a company listed on The
Singapore Exchange Securities Trading Limited and a substantial shareholder (as
defined in the Listing Rules) of the Company.

Mr Yip has over 30 years of experience in executive and senior management
roles in strategic planning, operations, hospitality, real estate investment and
development. Mr Yip started his career with Indeco Engineers and later joined
BP South East Asia. Prior to joining Metro, he spent over 20 years with the
CapitaLand Group, and served different roles in various strategic business
units. He was managing director of Ascott China in 2003 and then chief
executive officer, Asia Pacific and the Gulf Region of The Ascott Group in 2006.
Subsequent to that, Mr Yip has been involved in property developments in the
Gulf Region, Vietnam and Indonesia of the CapitaLand Group.

Mr Yip has a Bachelor of Civil Engineering degree with first class honours
from the National University of Singapore and a Master’s degree in Business
Administration from Stanford University, USA. He also completed a
management course at Fudan University, Shanghai, China

Save as disclosed above, Mr YIP does not have any relationship with any
Directors, senior management or substantial or controlling Shareholders of the
Company.

Mr YIP does not have any interests in the Shares, underlying Shares and
debentures of the Company and its associated corporations under the
provisions of Part XV of the SFO.
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Mr KUI Qiang (B25%), aged 35
Non-executive Director

Mr KUl was appointed as a non-executive Director on 6 December 2019. He
is currently the director and financial controller of Caiyun. From December
2015 to March 2017, Mr KUI worked as the deputy supervisor of the financial
department of YHCT. Mr KUI obtained a double bachelor degree in E-commerce
and English Studies from Northeast Normal University (31t Ef &3 A5 ) in 2008
and a master degree in Accounting from the same university in 2010. Mr KUI
is also a certified management accountant of the Institute of Management
Accountants in the USA. Mr KUI has over 11 years of experience in the fields
of fund management, information technology, real estate development and
telecommunication.

Save as disclosed above, Mr KUI does not have any relationship with any other
Directors, senior management or substantial or controlling Shareholders (each
as defined in the Listing Rules)

Mr KUI does not have any interests in the Shares, underlying Shares and
debentures of the Company and its associated corporations under the
provisions of Part XV of the SFO.

Independent Non-executive Directors

Mr CHENG Yuk Wo (Z8%i#1), aged 60
Independent non-executive Director

Mr CHENG was appointed as an independent non-executive Director on 30
November 2010. Mr CHENG worked at PricewaterhouseCoopers (formerly
known as Coopers and Lybrand) in London in 1984 and at UBS AG (formerly
known as Swiss Bank Corporation) in Toronto in 1989. He is also the co-
founder of Centurion Corporate Finance Limited. In 1999, he became the sole
proprietor of Erik CHENG & Co., Certified Public Accountants. Mr CHENG
received his master’s degree of science (economics) in accounting and finance
from the London School of Economics and Political Science in 1984, and
his bachelor’s degree of arts (honours) in accounting from the University of
Kent in 1983. Mr CHENG is currently a member of the Institute of Chartered
Professional Accountants of Canada. He is also a Certified Public Accountant
practising in Hong Kong and a fellow of the Institute of Chartered Accountants
in England and Wales. Mr CHENG does not have any relationship with
any Directors, senior management, substantial Shareholders or controlling
Shareholders of the Company.
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The table below sets out Mr CHENG's directorships in a number of companies
listed in Hong Kong as at 31 December 2020:

ETARER B

Name of the listed company Position

BIEIRTTH R A B IFMITES

Chong Hing Bank Limited Independent non-executive director
PREAEEKRARA B IFMITE S

CPMC Holdings L|m|ted Independent non-executive director
EARRBMEARAR (ABELRKEKICEFRAA) B IFMITE S

CSI Properties Limited (formerly known as Capital Strategic Investment Limited) Independent non-executive director
REATHBRIREERER AT B IFMITE S

DTXS Silk Road Investment Holdings Company Limited Independent non-executive director
SHEEEERARA B IFMITE S

Goldbond Group Holdmgs Limited Independent non-executive director
BERR(ER)BERA B IFMITE S

HKC (Holdings) Limited Independent non-executive director
AN EERERAR BAFRITES

Somerley Capital HoIdings Limited Independent non-executive director
BRIEPERRR BAFRITES

Liu Chong Hing Investment Limited Independent non-executive director
SHEREEFRA BAFRITES

Miricor Enterprises Holdlngs Limited Independent non-executive director
ERGEBRARAR BAFRITES

Chia Tai Enterprises International Limited Independent non-executive director
LB ERAR D BAFRITES

Kidsland International Holdlngs Limited Independent non-executive director
hEBIR AR A BAFRITES

C.P. Pokphand Co. Ltd.

W LRI MBI A RIEE S LB
BHROIEXVEEATRENEDZH N AR
EHEEREEEERIETRABRAEAR

Al R EREOEE R - HERD RESAE

wmMKR ] —f e

Independent non-executive director

The discloseable interest of Mr CHENG in the Shares and underlying Shares
under the provisions of Part XV of the SFO is set out in the section headed
"Directors’ and Chief Executive’s Interests and Short Positions in Shares,
Underlying Shares and Debentures of the Company and its Associated
Corporations” under the Directors’ Report of this report.
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Professor WU Si Zong (R 5R), aged 69
Independent non-executive Director

Professor WU was appointed as an independent non-executive Director on
30 November 2010. Since 1997 and until now, he is a professor, a doctoral
tutor, at [A% X2 (Tongji University), where he had been the secretary of the
Party Committee and the vice dean of the Economic and Management School.
Professor WU s the vice chairman of L/ 1 1% 2 & (Shanghai Marketing
Society) and the standing director of F Bl 1% 2 & (China Marketing Society).
Professor WU lectures in economics and international trade. His main research
fields are business management, marketing and international trade. From
1994 to 1997, he was the Head of Affairs Committee of the International
Trade Faculty at Jiangxi University of Finance and Economics (T 7881 4&X K £2).
From 2001 to 2008, Professor WU published several theses and was involved
in various research projects in his fields of expertise. He also published many
books in marketing, commerce and trade from 2000 to 2007. Professor WU
received his Bachelor’s degree in Economics from (Jiangxi University of Finance
and Economics) ;T 75 Bf £ K £ in 1982. In 1995, he received his master’s
degree in economics at Shanghai University of Finance and Economics (_E /&
B 4% K 2). Professor WU does not have any relationship with any Directors,
senior management, substantial Shareholders or controlling Shareholders of the
Company.

The discloseable interest of Professor WU in the Shares and underlying Shares
under the provisions of Part XV of the SFO is set out in the section headed
“Directors’ and Chief Executive’s Interests and Short Positions in Shares,
Underlying Shares and Debentures of the Company and its Associated
Corporations” under the Directors’ Report of this report.

Mr CHAN Yee Herman (B &), aged 66
Independent non-executive Director

Mr CHAN was appointed as an independent non-executive Director, the
chairperson of the Corporate Governance Committee and a member of
the Audit Committee of the Company on 2 January 2018. He is currently a
consultant of Y.T. Chan & Co., a law firm. Mr CHAN has more than 9 years of
experience in the legal sector. He was admitted as a solicitor of the High Court
in Hong Kong in May 2011. Prior to his legal career, he was a superintendent
in the Hong Kong Police Force and had served the public for over 36 years.
Mr CHAN obtained his bachelor of laws (LLB) degree from the University of
London in 2003 and a postgraduate certificate in laws from City University of
Hong Kong in 2005. Mr CHAN was a non-executive director of Infinity Financial
Group (Holdings) Limited (Stock Code: 1152) from July 2013 to June 2017.

Mr CHAN does not have any relationship with any Directors, senior
management, substantial Shareholders or controlling Shareholders of the
Company.

Mr CHAN does not have any interests in the Shares, underlying Shares
and debentures of the Company and its associated corporations under the
provisions of Part XV of the SFO.
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Mr CHEN Haihong (R’ %), aged 51
Vice President

Mr CHEN joined the Group as the vice president of the Group on 1 February
2018. Prior to joining the Group, he had held various senior management
positions in several well-renowned corporations, namely the Vice President
and Hong Kong-Zhuhai-Macao Regional Managing Director of Shanghai Forte
Land Company Limited and Fosun Property Holdings Ltd.; Managing Director
of China Overseas Property Ltd. as well as the Managing Director of China
Overseas Mechanical & Electrical Engineering Ltd., etc.. Mr CHEN has more
than 21 years of experience in top-ranking construction companies and first-
rated real estate companies. He has sound knowledge in Hong Kong real estate
market, and has an in-depth and comprehensive understanding in investment,
design, development and marketing solutions. Mr CHEN is a member of the
Chartered Institute of Building, a senior engineer in China and a member
of Hong Kong Institute of Real Estate Administrators. Mr CHEN received a
bachelor's degree in electrical engineering from Tongji University in 1991 and a
master’s degree in engineering business management from Warwick University
and the Hong Kong Polytechnic University in 2006.

Mr CHEN does not have any relationship with any Directors, senior
management, substantial Shareholders or controlling Shareholders of the
Company.

Mr LI Guohua (Z B %), aged 47
Vice President

Mr LI joined the Group on 26 December 2009, and is currently the executive
vice president of the Group. Prior to joining the Group, he had held senior
management positions in a number of companies, including the general
manager at the Baolong Group (Qingdao) Commercial Properties Company
(BREESEMEWENRT). Mr L has engaged in real estate industry for
over 21 years and gained extensive experiences in practical management.
Mr LI obtained a degree specialized in radio communication from the South
China University of Technology in 1996. He is now attending the Private Equity
Investment and Corporate Listing Programme (L2 I8 % & B % F
{£3) at the HSBC Business School, Peking University. Mr LI does not have any
relationship with any Directors, senior management, substantial Shareholders or
controlling Shareholders of the Company.
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Mr LI Shouwen (Z=718), aged 44
Vice President

Mr LI joined the Group in August 2018 and currently acts as the vice president
of the Group. Prior to joining the Group, he held various senior management
positions in several companies, including the general manager of business
development department of China Travel International Investment Hong Kong
Limited, the regional general manager of Kaisa Group Holdings Limited, the
general manager of Vanke Projects. Mr LI has over 21 years of outstanding
experience in real estates as well as cultural tourism projects. He has a thorough
understanding of the entire operation of real estate development and project
management and control of investment. He has extensive expertise and
practical management experience, as well as practical experience in cultural
tourism scenic area projects. Mr LI obtained a bachelor’s degree in industrial
and civil architecture from Xi'an University of Architecture and Technology in
1998 and got the graduate degree in industrial and economic studies from the
Central University of Finance and Economics in December 2018. Mr LI does
not have any relationship with any directors, senior management, substantial
shareholder or controlling shareholder of the Company.

Mr WONG Tak Chun (# #&18), aged 39
Chief Financial Officer and Company Secretary

Mr WONG was appointed as chief financial officer of the Company on 9
January 2018. He joined the Group as the Company Secretary in February
2017. Mr WONG is a certified public accountant of the Hong Kong Institute
of Certified Public Accountants, and a fellow member of the Hong Kong
Institute of Chartered Secretaries and the Institute of Chartered Secretaries
and Administrators in the United Kingdom. He obtained a bachelor’s degree
in economics from the University of British Columbia in 2005, and a master’s
degree in corporate governance from the Hong Kong Polytechnic University in
2014.

Mr WONG has more than 16 years of experience in accounting, corporate
governance, corporate finance, capital markets, and investor relations. He
worked as an assistant manager in KPMG from August 2005 to May 2010.
From May 2010 to June 2013, he served as a company secretary and finance
manager of Central China Real Estate Limited (Stock Code: 0832). He served
as the deputy chief financial officer since February 2014 and the company
secretary since April 2014 of Modern Land (China) Co., Limited (Stock Code:
1107) until January 2016. He served as the company secretary and the chief
financial officer of Helidongsheng International Logistic Company Limited*
(Fn~7 5 FH BB 4 7% B 2 4B IR A 7)) in Hunan, the PRC, from March 2016
to February 2017. Mr WONG has been appointed as an independent non-
executive director of Dadi Education Holdings Limited (Stock Code: 8417) since
17 January 2017.

Mr WONG does not have any relationship with any Directors, senior
management, substantial Shareholders or controlling Shareholders of the
Company.

*for identification only
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The Directors are pleased to present their annual report and the audited
consolidated financial statements of the Company for the year ended 31
December 2020.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

The principal activity of the Company is investment holding. The Group is a
real estate property developer in the PRC and is specialised in the development
and operation of urban mixed-use communities, and the development and sale
of residential properties in the Greater Bay Area, the Yangtze River Delta, the
Beijing-Tianjin and the Chengdu-Chongqing regions in the PRC. Details of the
principal activities of the subsidiaries of the Company are set out in note 14 to
the financial statements. There were no significant changes in the nature of the
Group's principal activities during the year.

BUSINESS REVIEW AND PERFORMANCE

A fair review of the business of the Group and a discussion and analysis of
the Group’s performance during the year and the material factors underlying
its results and financial position as required by schedule 5 to the Hong Kong
Companies Ordinance (Chapter 622 of the Laws of Hong Kong) are included in
the sections of Chairman’s Statement and Management Discussion and Analysis
of this report, respectively. The future development of the Group’s business is
discussed in the section of the Chairman’s Statement of this report. In addition,
further details regarding the Group’s principal risks and uncertainties are
included in the section of the Corporate Governance Report of this report. The
sections of the Chairman’s Statement, the Management Discussion and Analysis
and the Corporate Governance Report form part of this report.

FINAL DIVIDEND

The Board has recommended the payment of a final dividend of HK4 cents
per Share attributable to the equity shareholders of the Company and the
holders of PCSs for the year ended 31 December 2020 (for the year ended 31
December 2019: HK2 cents) to the shareholders and the holders of PCSs whose
names appear on the register of members or the register of holders of PCSs of
the Company on Thursday, 3 June 2021. Upon approval by the shareholders of
the Company at the forthcoming annual general meeting of the Company to
be held on Tuesday, 25 May 2021 (“2021 AGM"), it is expected that the final
dividend will be payable on Friday, 18 June 2021.
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the register of members and the register of holders of the PCSs of the Company
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(i)

For determining the eligibility of the shareholders of the Company to
attend and vote at the 2021 AGM or any adjournment of such meeting:

The register of members and the register of holders of the PCSs of the
Company will be closed from Thursday, 20 May 2021 to Tuesday, 25
May 2021 (both days inclusive), during which period no transfer of the
Shares and PCSs will be effected.

In order to qualify for attending and voting at the 2021 AGM or any
adjournment of such meeting, (a) in the case of the Shares, all transfers
of Shares accompanied by the relevant share certificates must be lodged
with the Company’s branch share registrar in Hong Kong (the “Hong
Kong Share Registrar”), Tricor Investor Services Limited, at Level 54,
Hopewell Centre, 183 Queen’s Road East, Hong Kong by no later than
4:30 p.m. on Tuesday, 18 May 2021; and (b) in the case of the PCSs,
the notice of conversion in prescribed form, together with the relevant
certificate of the PCSs and confirmation that any amounts required
to be paid by the holder of the PCSs have been so paid, must be duly
completed, executed and deposited with the Company at Rooms
04-08, 26th Floor, Shui On Centre, 6-8 Harbour Road, Wanchai, Hong
Kong not later than 4:30 p.m. on Tuesday, 11 May 2021.

The record date for such purposes is Tuesday, 25 May 2021.
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(i) For determining the entitlement of the shareholders and the holders of
PCSs to the proposed final dividend:

The register of members and the register of holders of the PCSs of the
Company will be closed from Tuesday, 1 June 2021 to Thursday, 3
June 2021 (both days inclusive), during which period no transfer of the
Shares and PCSs will be effected.

In order to qualify for the proposed final dividend, (a) in the case of
the Shares, all transfers of Shares accompanied by the relevant share
certificates must be lodged with the Hong Kong Share Registrar at Level
54, Hopewell Centre, 183 Queen’s Road East, Hong Kong by no later
than 4:30 p.m. on Monday, 31 May 2021; and (b) in the case of the
PCSs, all transfers of the PCSs accompanied by the relevant certificate
of the PCSs must be lodged with the Company at Rooms 04-08, 26th
Floor, Shui On Centre, 6-8 Harbour Road, Wanchai, Hong Kong not
later than 4:30 p.m. on Monday, 24 May 2021.

The record date for such purposes is Thursday, 3 June 2021.

SUMMARY FINANCIAL INFORMATION

A summary of the published results and assets and liabilities of the Group for
the last five financial years is set out on pages 269 to 272 of this report. This
summary does not form part of the audited consolidated financial statements.

PROPERTY AND EQUIPMENT AND INVESTMENT
PROPERTIES

Details of movements in the property and equipment and investment properties
of the Group during the year are set out in note 12 to the financial statements,
respectively. Further details of the Group’s major investment properties are set
out in the section of Management Discussion and Analysis of this report.

PROPERTIES UNDER DEVELOPMENT FOR SALE

Details of the properties under development for sale of the Group during the
year are set out in note 18 to the financial statements. Further details of the
Group's major properties under development for sale are set out in the section
of Management Discussion and Analysis of this report.

COMPLETED PROPERTIES FOR SALE

Details of the completed properties for sale of the Group during the year are set
out in note 18 to the financial statements. Further details of the Group’s major
completed properties held for sale are set out in the section of Management
Discussion and Analysis of this report.
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LEASEHOLD LAND HELD FOR DEVELOPMENT FOR
SALE

Details of the leasehold land held for development for sale of the Group during
the year are set out in note 18 to the financial statements. Further details of the
Group’s major leasehold properties held for development for sale are set out in
the section of Management Discussion and Analysis of this report.

SHARE CAPITAL

Details of movements in the Company’s share capital during the year are set
out in note 28 to the financial statements.

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There are no provisions for pre-emptive rights under the Articles of Association
or the laws of the Cayman Islands which would oblige the Company to offer
new shares on a pro rata basis to existing Shareholders.

TAX RELIEF AND EXEMPTION

The Company is not aware of any tax relief and exemption available to the
Shareholders by reason of their holding of the Company’s securities.

PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF COMPANY'S
LISTED SECURITIES

Neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries has purchased, sold or
redeemed any of the Company’s listed securities during the year ended 31
December 2020.

RESERVES

Details of movements in the reserves of the Company and the Group during the
year are set out in note 28 to the financial statements and in the consolidated
statement of changes in equity.

DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVES

As at 31 December 2020, the aggregate amount of the Company’s reserves
available for distribution to equity shareholders and the holders of PCSs of
the Company, as calculated in accordance with the Companies Law of the
Cayman Islands and the Articles of Association, was HK$4,602,462,000 (2019:
HK$4,692,054,000). Under the Companies Law, Cap 22 (Law 3 of 1961, as
consolidated and revised) of the Cayman Islands, the share premium of the
Company is available for paying distributions or dividends to Shareholders
and holders of PCSs subject to the provisions of its Articles of Association and
provided that immediately following the distribution of dividend the Company
is able to pay its debts as they fall due in the ordinary course of business. In
accordance with the Articles of Association, dividends shall be distributed out of
the retained profits or other reserves, including share premium and contributed
surplus, of the Company.
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BANK AND OTHER BORROWINGS

Particulars of bank and other borrowings of the Group as at 31 December 2020
are set out in note 24 to the financial statements.

KEY PERFORMANCE INDICATORS (“KPI")

(a) Pre-sales

Definition and calculation: Pre-sales measures the sale performance
of the Group’s properties and car park units by multiplying the pre-
sold GFA with the pre-sales ASP.

Purpose: The Group monitors its product mix to be launched for sale
on the basis of the pre-sold GFA and the pre-sales ASP. The pre-
sold GFA and the pre-sales ASP provide direction for the Group to
determine its sale strategies in the forthcoming year. The extent to
which this objective has been achieved is assessed by comparing the
Group’s actual pre-sales to the pre-sales target, as it is an indicator
showing the Group’s achievement in its sales planning.

Quantified KPI data: The pre-sales, pre-sold GFA and pre-sales
ASP was approximately HK$1,125.2 million, 16,839 sq.m. and
HK$66,417.2 per sq.m., respectively, for the year ended 31
December 2020 (2019: approximately HK$104.3 million, 8,172
sq.m. and HK$11,649.5 per sq.m.).

(b) Gross profit margin

Definition and calculation: Gross profit margin measures the
profitability that the Group generates from its revenue by comparing
the revenue net of direct costs as a percentage of the revenue. It
indicates the financial success and viability of the Group’s principal
business.

Purpose: The Group aims to enhance its gross profit margin. The
extent to which this objective has been achieved is assessed by
comparing the Group’s gross profit margin from one year to the
next, as it is an indicator showing the Group’s profitability.

Quantified KPI data: The gross profit margin was approximately
45.4% for the year ended 31 December 2020 (2019: approximately
59.5%).
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(c) Profit for the year

Definition and calculation: Net profit measures the revenue derived
from the Group’s business, less all expenses and taxes. It indicates
the Group’s earnings from its business operations and other related
activities.

Purpose: The Group emphasises cost control. The net profit provides
direction for a better control and utilisation of expenses. The extent
to which this objective has been achieved is assessed by comparing
the Group’s net profit from one year to the next, as it is an indicator
showing the Group’s earnings from its business operations and other
related activities.

Quantified KPI data: The net loss was approximately HK$367.5
million for the year ended 31 December 2020 (2019: net loss
approximately HK$529.9 million).

(d) Net gearing ratio

Definition and calculation: Net gearing ratio measures the financial
leverage of the Group by comparing the total borrowings net of
cash and cash equivalents, and restricted and pledged deposits as a
percentage of total equity. It indicates the proportion of equity and
debt the Group has been using to finance its assets.

Purpose: The Group monitors its capital structure on the basis of a
net gearing ratio. The net gearing ratio provides direction for the
Group to optimise its financing and business development activities.
The extent to which this objective has been achieved is assessed by
comparing the Group’s net gearing ratio from one year to the next,
as it is an indicator showing the Group’s level of leverage.

Quantified KPI data: The net gearing ratio was approximately 59.8%
as at 31 December 2020 (2019: 50%).

CHARITABLE DONATIONS

The charitable donations made by the Group during the year amounted to

approximately HK$2,224,000 (2019: HK$4,993,000).
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CONNECTED TRANSACTION

Secured Facility Agreement

On 26 October 2018, Metro Property (BVI) Limited (“Metro Property”) and
Lee Kim Tah Holdings Limited (the “Lenders”), Top Spring International (BVI)
Limited (a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company) (the “Borrower”), Metro-
LKT (BVI) Limited (“Metro-LKT") (as the security agent and the facility agent)
and the Company (as the guarantor) entered into a secured facility agreement
(the "Secured Facility Agreement”), pursuant to which, among other things,
the Lenders agreed to provide the Borrower with the loan (the “Loan”) in an
aggregate sum of US$120,000,000 (equivalent to HK$938,400,000) for 24
months from 27 November 2018 (the “Utilisation Date"”) with an option of
12-month extension at the Borrower’s request subject to additional terms and
conditions specified in the Secured Facility Agreement. The payment obligations
of the Borrower under the Secured Facility Agreement has been secured by the
share charges and the shareholder’s loans assignment given by the Borrower in
favour of Metro-LKT as the security agent.

On 23 November 2020, the Lenders, the Borrower, Metro-LKT and the
Company entered into the supplemental agreement (the “Supplemental
Agreement”), pursuant to which, the parties have agreed on the variations
of terms (the “Variations of Terms”) to the Secured Facility Agreement. The
Variations of Terms include (i) the term of the Loan will be 24 months from
the Utilisation Date, with an option of 24-month extension at the Borrower’s
request subject to additional terms and conditions specified in the Secured
Facility Agreement; and (ii) if the final repayment date is extended for 24
months, the interest rate will be 11% per annum, payable semi-annually
commencing from the date falling 24 months from the Utilisation Date and
ending on the extended final repayment date.

Each of Metro Property and Metro-LKT is a subsidiary of Metro Holdings
Limited which is a substantial Shareholder, and is therefore an associate of
Metro Holdings Limited and a connected person of the Company. As such,
entering into of the Secured Facility Agreement constituted a connected
transaction of the Company under Rule 14A.24 of the Listing Rules and subject
to the reporting, announcement and independent shareholders’ approval
requirements under Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules. Since the Variations
of Terms constituted material variations of terms of the Secured Facility
Agreement, the Supplemental Agreement and the transactions as contemplated
thereunder were subject to the reporting, announcement and the independent
shareholders’ approval requirements under Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules.
For further details, please refer to the announcement of the Company dated 23
November 2020 and circular of the Company dated 9 December 2020.
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CONTINUING CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS

Framework development management agreement

On 31 May 2018, Top Spring Australia Property and Development Services
Pty Ltd (“TSI Australia”), a then subsidiary of the Company, and Silver Pond
Investments Pty Ltd (“Silver Pond”) entered into a development management
agreement (the "Development Management Agreement”), pursuant
to which TSI Australia agreed to act as the development manager for the
development project in relation to a land parcel located in Australia to perform
the development management services for an initial term of three years from 1
June 2018.

As Silver Pond is held as to 51% by the immediate family members of Mr
WONG Chun Hong (“Mr WONG") (the chairman of the Board, the chief
executive officer, an executive Director and a substantial shareholder of
the Company), and as to 49% indirectly by the Company, it is therefore an
associate of Mr WONG (and his immediate family members) and a connected
person of the Company within the meaning of the Listing Rules. The provision
of development management services by TSI Australia to Silver Pond under
the Development Management Agreement constituted continuing connected
transactions of the Company (the "CCTs") under the Listing rules.

The maximum aggregate annual caps (the “Annual Caps”) approved by the
independent Shareholders or set by the Company (as the case may be) and the
aggregate annual transaction value of the CCTs actually recorded for the year
ended 31 December 2020 are set out below:

ERXZLE
(F#T)
BE-Z-Z25—H—H
BEZZ-FF
+=-—BA=+—HL
Actual transaction
amount (AUD’000)

FELR

(F#&T)
BE-Z=-B5—-H—H
BEZZB-ZF
+=—A=+—HLt
Annual Caps
(AUD’000)

From 1 January 2020
to 31 December 2020

Transaction agreement

From 1 January 2020
to 31 December 2020

BREE

HRESEAAS EESR01%ELR5%
TSI Australia 48 35 2 & & 12 1% 7% [7) Silver Pond
RHEEEERBAET EMBRANE14AFE
THF AERFEERBZAT  HERREE
TFTEYBRRMENET BHREREERED
HE—FHBORARABHA-ZZT—/\ERA
T+ —HOREREE -

R -ZFERHETSI Australia 2 100% % 1
% BREBHBETZRGTBALARAZ
HERERS -

Development Management Agreement 665

1,108

As the highest applicable percentage ratio is more than 0.1% but less than
5%, the provision of development management services by TSI Australia to
Silver Pond under the Development Management Agreement is subject to the
reporting, announcement and annual review requirements but is exempt from
the independent Shareholders’ approval requirement under Chapter 14A of the
Listing Rules. Further details of the Development Management Agreement were
disclosed in the announcement of the Company dated 31 May 2018.

Following the disposal of 100% shareholding in TSI Australia within 2020, the
transactions under the Development Management Agreement ceased to be
continuing connected transactions of the Company.
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Upon reviewing the CCTs and the report of the auditor of the Company, each
of the independent non-executive Directors has confirmed in accordance with
Rule 14A.55 of the Listing Rules that the CCTs have been entered into:

(i) inthe ordinary and usual course of business of the Group;
(i) on normal commercial terms or better; and

(i) in accordance with the relevant agreement governing the relevant CCTs
and on terms that were fair and reasonable and in the interests of the
Group and the Shareholders as a whole.

The Company’s auditor was engaged to report on the CCTs in accordance with
Hong Kong Standard on Assurance Engagements 3000 (Revised) “Assurance
Engagements Other Than Audits or Reviews of Historical Financial Information”
and with reference to Practice Note 740 “Auditor’s Letter on Continuing
Connected Transactions under the Hong Kong Listing Rules” issued by the
Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants.

The auditor has issued their unqualified letter containing their findings and
conclusions in respect of the CCTs in accordance with Rule 14A.56 of the
Listing Rules. A copy of the auditor’s letter has been provided by the Company
to the Stock Exchange. The auditor has confirmed that regarding the CCTs,
nothing has come to their attention that causes them to believe that:

(i) the CCTs have not been approved by the Board;

(i) ~ for transactions involving the provision of goods or services by the Group,
such transactions were not, in all material respects, in accordance with the
pricing policies of the Group;

(i) the transactions were not entered into, in all material respects, in
accordance with the relevant agreements governing respective CCTs; and

(iv) the aggregate amount of each of the CCTs has exceeded the Annual
Caps.

MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

For the year ended 31 December 2020, sales to the Group’s five largest
customers accounted for approximately 5.1% of the Group’s revenue for the
year and sales to the largest customer amounted to approximately 1.3% of the
Group's revenue for the year.

For the year ended 31 December 2020, purchases from the Group’s five largest
suppliers accounted for approximately 6.1% of the Group’s purchases for the
year and purchases from the largest supplier amounted to approximately 2.0%
of the Group’s purchases for the year.

None of the Directors or any of their close associates or any Shareholders (which,
to the best knowledge of the Directors, own more than 5% of the Company’s
issued share capital) had any interest in any of the five largest customers and
suppliers of the Group.
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DIRECTORS

The Directors during the year and up to the date of this report were:

ZERH

BERH

Date of Date of

appointment resignation

HTES Executive Directors
HERELE Mr WONG Chun Hong —ZETAENA iE A
(EEFITHAEE) (Chairman and Chief Executive Officer)  —+ T H N/A
25 August 2009
RERLLE Mr YUAN Zhi Wei —T—tFNA—HB TEA
1 September 2017 N/A
MERLZ T Ms LAM Mei Ka, Shirley —E-)\F=A—H T@EH
1 March 2018 N/A
2 im 5 A Mr LIANG Rui Chi “ZE-NFNAER TEA
5 August 2019 N/A
FHITES Non-executive Directors
ERXEE Mr YIP Hoong Mun —T—+HFNA—8B TEA
1 September 2017 N/A
bR o& S A4 Mr KUI Qiang —E-NF+ZAB TEA
6 December 2019 N/A
BIFHTES Independent non-executive Directors
B0 &0 AN 5 A Mr CHENG Yuk Wo —E-EF+—A T A
=+H N/A
30 November 2010
RN R Professor WU Si Zong —E-ZF5+—A TEA
=18 N/A
30 November 2010
FR1Z 55 A& Mr CHAN Yee Herman —ET-NF—-A=H TER
2 January 2018 N/A

RESRAEANE REERRBFAX
BL ER=ZDZMEZF(WARLIE=M
B AREEIETIR=02 AL
AWmERE BREFAZIE=FOKREA
FREWMEREI-R -BFRANEFE/BE L
REZREIZZEAREIHARENES - %
FREERFAABEEEE - BB URE
BRANEFT RIFRERAHE) - REFRR
AMAIEBAMNMG  EERERE REBRELER
BHEMEEBR S —FRAEBFALRE
R ERLEEEREE -

In accordance with Article 84(1) of the Articles of Association, at each annual
general meeting, one-third of the Directors for the time being (or, if their
number is not a multiple of three, the number nearest to but not less than one-
third) shall retire from office by rotation provided that every Director shall be
subject to retirement at an annual general meeting at least once every three
years. The Directors to retire in every year will be those who have been longest
in office since their last re-election or appointment but as between persons who
became or were last re-elected Directors on the same day those to retire will
(unless they otherwise agree among themselves) be determined by lot. By virtue
of Article 84(1) of the Articles of Association, Mr WONG Chun Hong, Mr YUAN
Zhi Wei and Mr CHENG Yuk Wo will retire from office and, being eligible, will
offer themselves for re-election at the 2021 AGM.
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Mr CHENG Yuk Wo has served the Company for more than nine years. As an
independent non-executive Director with extensive experience and knowledge
and in-depth understanding of the Company’s operations and business,
Mr CHENG Yuk Wo has expressed objective views and given independent
guidance to the Company over the past years. The Board considered that their
long service would not affect their exercise of independent judgment and was
satisfied that Mr CHENG Yuk Wo has the required integrity and experience
to continue fulfilling the role of an independent non-executive Director and
consider each of Mr CHENG Yuk Wo to be independent.

The Company has received from each of the independent non-executive
Directors an annual confirmation of his independence pursuant to Rule 3.13 of
the Listing Rules. The Company considers that, as at the date of this report, all
of the independent non-executive Directors are independent.

DIRECTORS’ AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT'S
BIOGRAPHIES

Biographical details of the Directors and the senior management of the Group
are set out in the section of Biography of Directors and Senior Management.

CHANGES IN DIRECTORS’ BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS

Upon specific enquiry by the Company and based on the confirmations from
the Directors, there has been no change in the information of the Directors
required to be disclosed pursuant to Rule 13.51B of the Listing Rules since the
Company'’s last published annual report.

DIRECTORS’ SERVICE CONTRACTS

No Director proposed for re-election at the 2021 AGM has a service contract
or appointment letter (as the case may be) which is not determinable by the
Group within one year without payment of compensation, other than statutory
compensation.

DIRECTORS' REMUNERATION

The Directors’ fees are subject to shareholders’ approval at general meetings.
Other emoluments are determined by the Company’s Chief Executive Officer
and reviewed by the Remuneration Committee with reference to salaries
paid by comparable companies, time commitment and responsibilities of the
Directors, performance and contributions of the Directors and also the change
in market conditions.
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DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN TRANSACTION,
ARRANGEMENT OR CONTRACT

Save as disclosed in note 32 to the financial statements, there is no transaction,
arrangement or contract of significance subsisting during or at the end of the
financial year under review in which a Director or an entity connected with a
Director is or was materially interested, either directly or indirectly.

REMUNERATION FOR SENIOR MANAGEMENT

The emoluments of the senior management of the Group by bands are as
follows:

A

Number of individuals

HK$2,500,001 to HK$3,000,000 2
HK$4,000,001 to HK$4,500,000 2
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DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE'S INTERESTS
AND SHORT POSITIONS IN SHARES, UNDERLYING
SHARES AND DEBENTURES OF THE COMPANY AND
ITS ASSOCIATED CORPORATIONS

As at 31 December 2020, the interests and short positions of the Directors
and the chief executives of the Company in the Shares, underlying Shares
or debentures of the Company and its associated corporations (within the
meaning of Part XV of the SFO) (i) which were required to be notified to the
Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to Divisions 7 and 8 of Part XV
of the SFO (including interests and short positions which they were taken or
deemed to have under such provisions of the SFO); or (ii) which were required,
pursuant to section 352 of the SFO to be entered in the register referred to
therein; or (iii) which were required to be notified to the Company and the
Stock Exchange pursuant to the Model Code contained in the Listing Rules,
were as follows:
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RAERXBRGREBRGNETR Long positions in Shares and underlying Shares of the
Company
BEXA
BER B FEBRE ARKRES BERAR EERTRA
‘& EA A (R) 8 (R) #A (R) HERR B A BRED T
Total number
Number of ~ Number of Share Number of of Shares and Approximate
Shares held options held PCSs held underlying percentage of
Name of Director Type of interest (Shares) (Shares) (Shares) Shares held issued Shares
(Brzk1)
(Note 1)
(@)+(b)+()
EREEE(EEED (H:2) R EEER 148,500 - - 148,500 AR 17 (L) 0.01
Mr WONG Chun Hong Interest in a controlled 148,500 Shares (L)
(“Mr WONG") (Note 2) corporation
EFEEIZA 417,593,500 - 116,552,800 534,146,300 &1 () 37.81
Settlor of a trust 534,146,300 Shares (L)
BREEA 5,083,200 1,400,000 - 6483200 (L) 0.46
Beneficial owner 6,483,200 Shares (L)
gEmet ((8EE]) (FE3) BEEEEA - 1,420,000 - 1,420,000 1D (L 0.10
Mr CHENG Yuk Wo Beneficial owner 1,420,000 Shares (L)
("Mr CHENG") (Note 3)
SMRHR ([RAR]) (HiE4) EREEA - 400,000 - 400,000 R (L) 0.03

Professor WU Si Zong Beneficial owner 400,000 Shares (L)

(“Professor WU") (Note 4)

Bt 3 Notes:
(1) [LIHEEERROHIBEROITE - (1) The letter “L” denotes the Director’s long position in the Shares or underlying Shares.
(2)  KangJun Limited ([Kang Jun]) B E e A2 EHA - (2)  Kang Jun Limited (“Kang Jun") is wholly-owned by Mr WONG. By virtue of the SFO, Mr

RIEFEH KRB SIS =% £ W18 AKX EKang
Jun#s 5 #9148,500 f% i% {5 7 B # & ° Chance
AgainBVI Co2 & # K - BVI ComM 2B EITIR
A ELEREAIEATRRKRKERZITAZR
BEHA HIHABREELENRERE - &k
EARBERREETHEILARREA  RIRES

K BB AR PI - & 5L £ %48 R Chance AgainF &
417,593,500 A& A& 1 K 5 Chance Again % 4 25K
AT R % A B /9 116,552,800 A% 4H B8 A% 15
WAL - B E N E A 5,083,200 B A 15 K
BEERAAEEEERENEELADAREZ
1,400,000 (0 FERR#E (55 —4t) - FTAZSEN T =
TFEF A=+ —BMATEZERE ATR=
T-CZFANAtABE-_ZTE-_—FXA=-+H
HHIB RS 2.264 8 7T 2 RIBBITE o

WONG is deemed to be interested in 148,500 Shares held by Kang Jun. Chance Again
is wholly-owned by BVI Co. The entire issued share capital of BVI Co is wholly-owned by
HSBC International Trustee as the trustee of the Wong's Family Trust and the beneficiaries
of which include Mr Wong’s family members. Mr WONG is the settlor and the protector
of the Wong’s Family Trust. By virtue of the SFO, Mr WONG is deemed to be interested in
417,593,500 Shares held by Chance Again and 116,552,800 underlying Shares in relation
to the PCSs held by Chance Again. And Mr WONG beneficially owned 5,083,200 Shares
and 1,400,000 options granted to him by the Company under the Post-IPO Share Option
Scheme (Lot 1). These share options, all of which remained exercisable as at 31 December
2020, were exercisable at the subscription price of HK$2.264 per Share during the period
from 26 June 2013 to 25 June 2022.
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(3)  Mr CHENG's long position in the underlying Shares comprises (i) 420,000 options granted
to him by the Company under the Post-IPO Share Option Scheme (Lot 1) and (i) 1,000,000
options granted to him by the Company under the Post-IPO Share Option Scheme (Lot
3). These share options, all of which remained exercisable as at 31 December 2020, were
exercisable as to (i) 420,000 share options (Lot 1) at the subscription price of HK$2.264
per Share during the period from 26 June 2013 to 25 June 2022 and (i) 1,000,000 Share
options (Lot 3) at the subscription price of HK$3.3 per Share during the period from 28
April 2016 to 27 April 2025.

(4)  Professor WU's long position in the underlying Shares comprises 400,000 options by the
Company under the Post-IPO Share Option Scheme (Lot 3). The share options, which
remained exercisable as at 31 December 2020, were exercisable as to 400,000 Share
options (Lot 3) at the subscription price of HK$3.3 per Share during the period from 28
April 2016 to 27 April 2025.

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 December 2020, none of the Directors or the
chief executives of the Company had or was deemed to have any interests or
short positions in the Shares, underlying Shares or debentures of the Company
or any of its associated corporations (within the meaning of Part XV of the SFO)
which were required (i) to be notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange
pursuant to Divisions 7 and 8 of Part XV of the SFO (including interests and
short positions in which they were taken or deemed to have under such
provisions of the SFO), or (ii) which were required, pursuant to section 352 of
the SFO, to be entered in the register referred to therein; or (iii) which were
required to be notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to
the Model Code.

DIRECTORS’ RIGHTS TO ACQUIRE SHARES OR
DEBENTURES

Save as disclosed in this report, at no time during the year were rights to
acquire benefits by means of the acquisition of Shares in or debentures of the
Company granted to any of the Directors or their respective spouses or minor
children, or were any such rights exercised by them; nor was the Company,
its holding company, or any of its subsidiaries or fellow subsidiaries a party to
any arrangement to enable the Directors or their respective spouses or minor
children to acquire such rights in any other body corporate.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN A COMPETING BUSINESS

For the year ended 31 December 2020, none of the Directors are considered
to have interests in a business which competes or is likely to compete, either
directly or indirectly, with the businesses of the Group, as defined in the Listing
Rules.
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PERMITTED INDEMNITY PROVISION

The Articles of Association provide that the Directors are entitled to be
indemnified and secured harmless out of the assets and profits of the Company
against all actions, costs, charges, losses, damages and expenses which they
shall or may incur or sustain in or about the execution of the duties of their
office or otherwise in relation thereto, provided that this indemnity shall not
extend to any matter in respect of any fraud or dishonesty which may attach to
any of the Directors.

The Company has purchased and maintained Directors’ liability insurance
during the year under review and as at the date of this report, which provides
appropriate cover for the Directors.

EQUITY-LINKED AGREEMENTS

Details of the equity-linked agreements entered into during the year or
subsisting at the end of the year are set out below:

Share Option Schemes

The Company adopted the Pre-IPO Share Option Scheme on 2 December 2010
under which the Company granted share options to certain eligible employees.

The said Pre-IPO Share Option Scheme was terminated upon expiry of exercise
period of the share options granted thereunder. The 1,523,631 outstanding
share options granted thereunder lapsed on 2 December 2020.

The Company also adopted the Post-IPO Share Option Scheme on 28 February
2011 for the purpose of recognising and acknowledging the contribution that
eligible employees have made or may make to the Group. The said Post-IPO
Share Option Scheme had an effective period of 10 years until 27 February
2021. On 26 June 2012, 20 June 2013, 28 April 2015, 8 September 2015, 23
October 2015 and 5 December 2016, the Group granted 15,720,000 share
options (Lot 1), 14,000,000 share options (Lot 2), 82,650,000 share options
(Lot 3), 3,000,000 share options (Lot 4), 10,000,000 share options (Lot 5) and
31,000,000 share options (Lot 6) under the Post-IPO Share Option Scheme,
respectively, at the exercise prices of HK$2.264 per Share (adjusted), HK$4.14
per Share, HK$3.3 per Share, HK$3.65 per Share, HK$3.45 per Share and
HK$2.796 per share, respectively, to certain Directors, senior management
and selected employees of the Group. Upon completion of the bonus issue
on 20 June 2013, adjustment was made to the number of the share options
granted under the Post-IPO Share Option Scheme (Lot 1) in which an additional
5,808,000 share options were granted to the holders of Lot 1 under the Post-
IPO Share Option Scheme. During the year ended 31 December 2020, no share



TOP SPRING INTERNATIONAL HOLDINGS LIMITED ANNUAL REPORT 2020 111

ESWESE
DIRECTORS’ REPORT

B-+HEREITARE SHIBEEXARE  option was exercised by the grantees and 5,167,000 share options lapsed upon
BEBEREERENERE(E—H)BE  resignation of the grantees. As a result, 92,210,500 share options (representing
ER AR ERRBEEXNAMEERIEREST  approximately 6.53% of the issued share capital of the Company as at the date
2B —HtHE AR HEES5,808,00017 BER%  of this report) were outstanding as at 31 December 2020 under the Post-IPO
- BHE_T_TF+_A=+—HBILFE" -  Share Option Scheme.

AR BB TTE B A - 5,167,000 17 B A

BERFERABTERR Bt RZZTZF

F+ZA=+—H BXAHBEEERBIET

E78792,210,500 17 B Ix #E (BB E R AR AR

s BB B TR A 6.53% ) MARETTHE o

HE-_Z-_TF+_A=+—HILFE BIE Movement of the outstanding share options under the Pre-IPO and Post-IPO
BRAMBER N ERARBEEEEMRMETS]  Share Option Schemes for the year ended 31 December 2020 is as follows:
WARBITFEERENSEMT

i
® S 33
b S 33 B&iH BT B BAK +=A
TEEE —A—B BRE IR BRE B Er=[E
As at Share Share Share Share As at
Exercise 1 January options options options options 31 December
Price 2020 granted exercised cancelled lapsed 2020

SRER

HK$

per Share
BRAFEER  PredPO 178 1,523,631 - - - 1,523,631 -

BRDAEER  PostIPO

F—it Lot 1 2.264 3,451,500 - - - - 3,451,500
i Lot 2 4.14 6,716,000 - - - - 6,716,000
F=4 Lot 3 33 49,318,000 - - - 395,000 48,923,000
St Lot 4 3.65 767,500 - - - 347,500 420,000
ERit Lot 5 3.45 10,000,000 - - - - 10,000,000
e Lot 6 2.796 27,124,500 - - - 4,424,500 22,700,000
et Sub-total 97,377,500 - - - 5,167,000 92,210,500

@t Total 98,901,131 - - - 6,690,631 92,210,500
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(a) Pre-IPO Share Option Scheme

()

(i)

Purpose and participants of the Pre-IPO Share Option Scheme

The Company adopted the Pre-IPO Share Option Scheme on 2
December 2010 to recognise and acknowledge the contributions
that certain of its employees or employees of companies in which
the Group holds an interests (excluding the subsidiaries of the
Group) (“Invested Entity/ies”) have made or may make to the
Group.

Implementation

On 3 December 2010, options (the “Pre-IPO Options”) to subscribe
for a total of 34,371,667 Shares were granted to 98 employees of
the Group and an Invested Entity (the “Selected Grantees”) under
the Pre-IPO Share Option Scheme. The outstanding 1,523,631 share
options granted under the Pre-IPO Share Option Scheme lapsed
on 2 December 2020. Further details of the share options granted
under the Pre-IPO Share Option Scheme are set out in note 27 to the
financial statements.

The Pre-IPO Options were transferred to Great Canyon Investment
Limited, a special purpose vehicle incorporated in the British Virgin
Islands under the share option trust (the “Share Option Trust”)
which holds the Pre-IPO Options on trust for the benefit of the
Selected Grantees prior to the vesting of the Pre-IPO Options in
accordance with the terms and conditions of the Pre-IPO Share
Option Scheme and instrument constituting the Share Option Trust.
For the implementation of the Pre-IPO Share Option Scheme, the
Share Option Trust was established on 3 December 2010 for the
benefit of the Selected Grantees and HSBC Trustee (Hong Kong)
Limited acts as the trustee thereof.

All the Pre-IPO Options were granted at a consideration of HK$1.00
paid by each Selected Grantee and no further option was granted
under the Pre-IPO Share Option Scheme on or after the listing date
of the Shares (the "Listing Date").
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(i) Vesting of the Pre-IPO Options

Subject to applicable laws and regulations and the paragraphs
below, the Pre-IPO Options are to be exercised on or after the
Listing Date and are subject to a vesting period of three years
commencing from the Listing Date during which 30% of the
total Pre-IPO Options granted to a Selected Grantee will vest
on each of the first and second anniversary dates of the Listing
Date and 40% of the total Pre-IPO Options granted to such
Selected Grantee will vest on the third anniversary date of the
Listing Date.

Notwithstanding the paragraph above, unless it is provided for
in the employment contract with the relevant Selected Grantee
and/or written documents for granting an offer, any Pre-IPO
Option granted to a Selected Grantee whose employment
with the Group or an Invested Entity is less than one year as
at the Listing Date shall be subject to the vesting period of
three years from the first anniversary date of the employment
commencement date of such Selected Grantee, during which
30% of the total Pre-IPO Options granted to such Selected
Grantee will vest on each of the second and third anniversary
dates of the employment commencement date and 40% of
the total Pre-IPO Options granted to such Selected Grantee
will vest on the fourth anniversary date of the employment
commencement date.

Any vesting date of a Selected Grantee is subject to
postponement of one year in the event that the performance
appraisal of such Selected Grantee is rated at the lowest range
for two consecutive years. Notwithstanding the postponement
of the vesting date, the vesting period shall remain as a period
of three years from the Listing Date or, as the case may be, the
first anniversary date of the employment commencement date,
and any Pre-IPO Option granted to a Selected Grantee but not
vested at the end of the vesting period shall be deemed to
have been surrendered by such Selected Grantee forthwith.

The Pre-IPO Options will become exercisable for a period to be
notified by the Advisory Committee to each Selected Grantee
and will not be more than 10 years from the date on which the
Pre-IPO Option is deemed to have been granted in the manner
as stipulated in the Pre-IPO Share Option Scheme.
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(iv)  Exercise price of the Pre-IPO Options

v)

The exercise price payable upon the exercise of any Pre-IPO Options
is at HK$2.492 per Share, subject to any adjustment made in the
manner as contemplated under the Pre-IPO Share Option Scheme.
Upon completion of the bonus issue on 20 June 2013, the exercise
price of Pre-IPO Options was adjusted to HK$1.78 per Share.

Other material terms of the Pre-IPO Share Option Scheme

The terms of the Pre-IPO Share Option Scheme are similar to those of
the Post-IPO Share Option Scheme except in respect of the following
material terms:

e  the Pre-IPO Share Option Scheme is not conditional upon
listing of Shares of the Company on the Main Board of the
Stock Exchange and is not subject to any other conditions;

e the provisions on the granting of options to connected persons
(as defined in the Listing Rules) were not included; and

e the Advisory Committee may only grant options under the
Pre-IPO Share Option Scheme at any time on a business day
(as defined in the Listing Rules) during a period commencing
on 2 December 2010 and before the Listing Date. No further
options can be offered under the Pre-IPO Share Option Scheme
after the Listing Date and accordingly, the Pre-IPO Share Option
Scheme does not contain provision relating to the “refreshing”
of the 10% limit or the seeking of separate approval for
granting options beyond the 10% limit as anticipated in Note
1 of Rule 17.03(3) of the Listing Rules, or the restrictions on
the number of shares issued or to be issued under options in
any 12-month period to any participant of the Pre-IPO Share
Option Scheme not exceeding 1% of the Shares in issue as
anticipated in the Note to Rule 17.03(4) of the Listing Rules.
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(b) Post-IPO Share Option Scheme

()

(ii)

(i)

Purpose of the Post-IPO Share Option Scheme

The Company adopted the Post-IPO Share Option Scheme on 28
February 2011 to recognise and acknowledge the contributions that
Eligible Persons (as defined in paragraph (ii) below) have made or
may make to the Group.

Participants of the Post-IPO Share Option Scheme

The Board may at its discretion grant options to: (i) any director,
employee, consultant, professional, customer, supplier, agent,
partner or adviser of or contractor to the Group or a company in
which the Group holds an interest or a subsidiary of such company
(" Affiliate”); or (ii) the trustee of any trust the beneficiary of
which or any discretionary trust the discretionary objects of which
include any director, employee, consultant, professional, customer,
supplier, agent, partner or adviser of or contractor to the Group or
an Affiliate; or (iii) a company beneficially and wholly-owned by any
director, employee, consultant, professional, customer, supplier,
agent, partner, adviser of or contractor to the Group or an Affiliate
(“Eligible Person(s)").

Subscription price of Shares

The subscription price for any Share under the Post-IPO Share Option
Scheme will be a price determined by the Board and notified to
each grantee and will be not less than the highest of (i) the closing
price of a Share as stated in the Stock Exchange’s daily quotations
sheet on the date of grant of the relevant option, which must
be a business day as defined in the Listing Rules; (ii) an amount
equivalent to the average closing price of a Share as stated in the
Stock Exchange’s daily quotations sheets for the five business days (as
defined in the Listing Rules) immediately preceding the date of grant
of the relevant option; and (iii) the nominal value of a Share. The
subscription price shall also be subject to any adjustments made in a
situation contemplated under the Post-IPO Share Option Scheme.
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(iv)  Maximum number of Shares

The maximum number of Shares in respect of which options may
be granted under the Post-IPO Share Option Scheme and any other
schemes involving the issue or grant of options or similar rights over
Shares or other securities by the Company shall not, in aggregate,
exceed 10% of the issued share capital of the Company as at the
Listing Date (subject to adjustment under the Post-IPO Share Option
Scheme) unless Shareholders’ approval has been obtained.

Pursuant to the Post-IPO Share Option Scheme and in compliance
with Chapter 17 of the Listing Rules, the Company may refresh
the scheme mandate limit under the Post-IPO Option Scheme
by ordinary resolution of the Shareholders at a general meeting
provided that the number of Shares which may be allotted and
issued upon exercise of all share options to be granted under the
Share Option Schemes and any other share option schemes of the
Company shall not, in aggregate, exceed 10% of the Shares in issue
as at the date of approval of such refreshment by Shareholders in
general meeting. At the annual general meeting held on 23 May
2016, the scheme mandate limit was refreshed pursuant to which
Directors are authorised to grant share options according to the
Post-IPO Option Scheme to subscribe for up to 118,220,459 Shares.

Upon such refreshment, all options granted under the Share Option
Schemes and any other option schemes of the Company (including
those exercised, outstanding, cancelled or lapsed in accordance with
the terms of the Share Option Schemes or any other share option
schemes of the Company) prior to the approval of such refreshment
shall not be counted for the purpose of calculating whether the
refreshed scheme mandate limit has been exceeded.

Notwithstanding the above, pursuant to the Post-IPO Share Option
Scheme and the Listing Rules, the maximum number of Shares
which may be issued upon exercise of all outstanding share options
granted and yet to be exercised under the Share Option Schemes
and any other share option schemes of the Company must not, in
aggregate, exceed 30% of the Shares in issue from time to time. No
share options shall be granted under any share option schemes of
the Company (including the Share Option Schemes) if this will result
in the 30% limit being exceeded.
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Maximum entitlement of each Eligible Person

No option may be granted to any Eligible Person which, if exercised
in full, would result in the total number of Shares issued and to be
issued upon exercise of the share options already granted or to be
granted to such Eligible Person under the Post-IPO Share Option
Scheme (including exercised, cancelled and outstanding share
options) in the 12-month period up to and including the date of
such new grant exceeding 1% of the issued share capital of the
Company as at the date of such new grant. Any grant of further
share options above this limit shall be subject to certain requirements
provided under the Listing Rules.

Any grant of options to any Director, chief executive (as defined in
the Listing Rules) or substantial Shareholder (as defined in the Listing
Rules) or any their respective associates (as defined in the Listing
Rules) must be approved by the independent non-executive Directors
(but excluding, for all purposes, any independent non-executive
Director who is a proposed grantee).

Where any grant of options to a substantial Shareholder or an
independent non-executive Director or their respective associates
would result in the total number of the Shares issued and to be
issued upon exercise of the options granted and to be granted
(including options exercised, cancelled and outstanding) to such
person in any 12-month period up to and including the date of the
grant:

(@) representing in aggregate over 0.1% of the Shares in issue;
and

(b) having an aggregate value, based on the closing price of the
Shares at the date of each grant, in excess of HK$5.0 million,

such further grant of options must be approved by the Shareholders.

Time of exercise of the options

Subject to certain restrictions contained in the Post-IPO Share Option
Scheme, an option may be exercised in accordance with the terms
of the Post-IPO Share Option Scheme and the terms of grant thereof
at any time during the applicable option period, which is not more
than 10 years from the date of grant of option.
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Payment on acceptance of option offer

HK$1.00 is payable by the Eligible Person to the Company on
acceptance of the option offered as consideration for the grant. The
offer of a grant of share options may be accepted within 21 business
days from the date of offer.

The life of the Post-IPO Share Option Scheme

The Post-IPO Share Option Scheme had an effective period of
10 years from the adoption day (i.e. 28 February 2011) until 27
February 2021, after which no further options will be issued but the
provisions of the scheme shall remain in full force and effect to the
extent necessary to give effect to the exercise of any options granted
prior thereto or otherwise as may be required in accordance with the
provisions of the scheme.

Present status of the Post-IPO Share Option Scheme

On 26 June 2012, 20 June 2013, 28 April 2015, 8 September 2015,
23 October 2015 and 5 December 2016, the Company granted
15,720,000 share options (Lot 1), 14,000,000 share options (Lot
2), 82,650,000 share options (Lot 3), 3,000,000 share options (Lot
4), 10,000,000 share options (Lot 5) and 31,000,000 share options
(Lot 6) under the Post-IPO Share Option Scheme, respectively, at
the exercise prices of HK$2.264 per Share (adjusted), HK$4.14
per Share, HK$3.3 per Share, HK$3.65 per Share, HK$3.45 per
Share and HK$2.796 per Share, respectively, to certain Directors,
senior management and selected employees of the Group. Upon
completion of the bonus issue on 20 June 2013, adjustment was
made to the number of the share options under the Post-IPO
Share Option Scheme (Lot 1) in which an additional 5,808,000
share options were granted to the holders of Lot 1 under the Post-
IPO Share Option Scheme and the exercise price was adjusted to
HK$2.264. During the year ended 31 December 2020, no Post-IPO
share option was exercised by the grantees and 5,167,000 Post-IPO
share options lapsed upon resignation of the grantees. As a result,
92,210,500 share options (representing approximately 6.53% of the
issued share capital of the Company as at the date of this report)
were outstanding as at 31 December 2020 under the Post-IPO Share
Option Scheme.
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PERPETUAL SUBORDINATED CONVERTIBLE
SECURITIES (“PCSs")

Details of the deed poll in relation to the bonus issue of the PCSs subsisting at
the financial year ended 31 December 2020 are set out below:

On 20 June 2013, the Company executed the deed poll in relation to the
bonus issue of HK$25,092,080 PCSs. The bonus PCSs will be irredeemable
but will have conversion rights entitling the bonus PCS holders to convert into
an aggregate of 250,920,800 Shares (subject to adjustment). The conditions
precedent of the bonus issue of the PCSs are set out on page 9 of the
Company’s announcement dated 27 March 2013. All the conditions precedent
of the issue of the PCSs had been fulfilled on 20 June 2013. As at the latest
practicable date prior to the issue of this report, HK$13,436,800 PCSs had
been converted into 134,368,000 Shares, and there were HK$11,655,280
outstanding PCSs which can be convertible into 116,552,800 Shares (subject to
adjustment). For details, please refer to the Company’s announcement dated 27
March 2013.

The Directors considered that the bonus issue of the PCSs was a feasible and
practical solution to restore the minimum public float of the Shares.

CONTRACT OF SIGNIFICANCE

No contract of significance had been entered into between the Company or
any of its subsidiaries and the controlling shareholder of the Company or any of
its subsidiaries during the year under review.

There is no contract of significance for the provision of services to the Company
or any of its subsidiaries by the controlling shareholder of the Company or any
of its subsidiaries.

MANAGEMENT CONTRACTS

No contracts, other than employment contracts, concerning the management
and administration of the whole or any substantial part of the business of the
Company or any of its subsidiaries were entered into or existed during the year
under review.
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SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS' INTERESTS
IN SHARES OR UNDERLYING SHARES OF THE
COMPANY

As at 31 December 2020, so far as is known to any Director or the chief
executive officer of the Company, the following persons (other than a Director
or the chief executive officer of the Company) had interests or short positions
in the Shares or underlying Shares of the Company as recorded in the register
required to be kept by the Company pursuant to section 336 of the SFO or
which would fall to be disclosed to the Company under the provisions of
Divisions 2 and 3 of Part XV of the SFO, or, who was, directly or indirectly,
interested in 5% or more of the nominal value of any class of share capital
carrying rights to vote in all circumstances at the general meetings of any other
members of the Group:

Chance Again (Hi7t2)
Chance Again (Note 2)

BVI Co(fif3£2)
BVI Co (Note 2)

EERREE(HE2)
HSBC International Trustee (Note 2)

EvEgt(Bat)) (WE2k3)
Ms LIU Choi Lin ("Ms LIU") (Notes 2 & 3)

FE(M3E4)
Caiyun (Note 4)

ZEFRREE (i)
YHCT (Note 4)

Crown Investments Limited
(T'Crown Investments |) (%35)
Crown Investments Limited
("Crown Investments”) (Note 5)

Metro Holdings Limited ([ Metro ) (Fffz£5)
Metro Holdings Limited (“Metro”) (Note 5)

ONG Jenn % (Ifizt6)
Mr ONG Jenn (Note 6)

ONG Sek Hian 72 (Fi{3£6)
Mr ONG Sek Hian (Note 6)

BEKA
KaRH BERRE THRRES BERGBR HERTRH
#A #A %A HERGAH HENED L
Total number
of Shares and Approximate
Number of ~ Number of Share Number of underlying percentage of
Capacity Shares held options held PCSs held Shares held issued Shares
(MzE1)
(Note 1)
@) (@)+b)+(c) (%)
(&) B (L)
(Shares) (Shares) Shares (L)
EREAA 417,593,500 - 116,552,800 534,146,300 %13 (1) 3781
Beneficial owner 534,146,300 Shares (L)
SREEES 417,593,500 - 116,552,800 534,146,300 8% (3 () 37.81
Interest in a controlled corporation 534,146,300 Shares (L)
[FEEEIN 417,593,500 - 116,552,800 534,146,300 %13 (1) 37.81
Trustee of a trust 534,146,300 Shares (L)
EEER 422,825,200 1,400,000 116,552,800 540,778,000 & &5 (L) 38.28
Interest of spouse 540,778,000 Shares (L)
EREAA 400,959,840 - - 400,959, 840MRRED (L) 2838
Beneficial owner 400,959,840 Shares (L)
R EER 400,959,840 - - 400,959,840 &R (L) 2838
Interest in a controlled corporation 400,959,840 Shares (L)
REEER 227,970,810 - - 22797081084 (1) 16.14
Interest in a controlled corporation 227,970,810 Shares (L)
REEERR 228,390,110 - - 228390,110MBEH () 16.17
Interest in a controlled corporation 228,390,110 Shares (L)
EEEER 228,390,110 - - 228,390,108 () 16.17
Interest in a controlled corporation 228,390,110 Shares (L)
R EER 228,390,110 - - 228,390,110 kRt (L) 16.17
Interest in a controlled corporation 228,390,110 Shares (L)
EREAA 2,000,000 - - 2,000,000 REE (L) 0.14

Beneficial owner

2,000,000 Shares (L)
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The letter “L" denotes the person’s long position in the Shares or underlying Shares of the
Company.

Chance Again is wholly-owned by BVI Co. The entire issued share capital of BVI Co is
wholly-owned by HSBC International Trustee as the trustee of the Wong's Family Trust. Mr
WONG is the settlor and the protector of the Wong’s Family Trust. By virtue of the SFO,
Mr WONG is deemed to be interested in 417,593,500 Shares held by Chance Again and
116,552,800 underlying Shares in relation to the PCSs held by Chance Again.

Ms LIU is the spouse of Mr WONG. By virtue of the SFO, Ms LIU is deemed to be
interested in all the Shares and underlying Shares in which Mr WONG is interested.

400,959,840 Shares were held by Caiyun, which is wholly-owned by YHCT. Accordingly,
YHCT is deemed to be interested in all the Shares and the underlying Shares held by
Caiyun.

227,970,810 Shares were held by Crown Investments which was in turn wholly-owned by
Metro China Holdings Pte Ltd which was in turn wholly-owned by Metro. 419,300 Shares
were held by Meren Pte Ltd which was in turn wholly-owned by Metro. By virtue of the
SFO, Metro is deemed to be interested in 227,970,810 Shares and 419,300 Shares held
by Crown Investments and Meren Pte Ltd, respectively.

Metro's ultimate controlling shareholders (as defined under the Listing Rules) are Mr. Ong
Jenn and Mr. Ong Sek Hian, and their aggregate direct and deemed interest in Metro is
approximately 35.398%. By virtue of the SFO, Mr ONG Jenn is deemed to be interested
in the 227,970,810 Shares and 419,300 Shares held by Crown Investments and Meren
Pte Ltd, respectively. Mr ONG Sek Hian is deemed to be interested in the 227,970,810
Shares and 419,300 Shares held by Crown Investments and Meren Pte Ltd, respectively. In
addition, Mr ONG Sek Hian beneficially owned 2,000,000 Shares.

as disclosed above, as at 31 December 2020, no person (other than

a Director or chief executive(s) of the Company) had any interests or short
positions in the Shares and underlying Shares of the Company as recorded in
the register required to be kept by the Company pursuant to section 336 of
the SFO or which would fall to be disclosed to the Company and the Stock
Exchange pursuant to the provisions of Divisions 2 and 3 of Part XV of the SFO.

Notes:

Certain amounts and percentage figures included in this report have been subject to
rounding adjustments. Accordingly, figures shown as total sums in certain tables may not
be an arithmetic aggregation of figures preceding them.
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COMPLIANCE OF NON-COMPETITION UNDERTAKINGS

To protect the Group from potential competition, Mr WONG entered into
a deed of non-competition (the “Deed of Non-Competition”) with the
Company pursuant to which he represents, warrants and undertakes to the
Company (for itself and for the benefit of the other members of the Group),
among other things, that other than through the Group, neither he nor any
of his associates is currently interested, involved or engaged, or is likely to be
interested, involved or engaged, directly or indirectly, in any business which
is or is about to be engaged in any business which competes or is likely to
compete directly or indirectly with the Group’s business. Details of the Deed of
Non-Competition have been set out in the paragraph headed “Non-Competition
Undertakings from Mr WONG" in the section headed “Relationship with our
Controlling Shareholders and the Scarborough Group” of the prospectus of the
Company dated 11 March 2011.

The Company has received the annual confirmation from Mr WONG in respect
of his compliance with the terms of the Deed of Non-Competition.

In order to ensure compliance by Mr WONG of the Deed of Non-Competition
and to manage any potential conflict of interests arising from the business of
the Controlling Shareholders and to safeguard the interests of the Shareholders,
the Company has adopted the following corporate governance measures (the
“Corporate Governance Measures”):

(@) the independent non-executive Directors have reviewed, on an annual
basis, the compliance with the undertakings by Mr WONG under the
Deed of Non-Competition;

(b)  Mr WONG provided all information requested by the Company which
is necessary for the annual review by the independent non-executive
Directors of his compliance with the Deed of Non-Competition such as: (i)
information on business opportunities including project names, amount
of investment and the geographical location which may be identified
by him or any of his associate(s); and (ii) information on any property
developments conducted by him or any of his associate(s) during the year
or a negative confirmation, as appropriate;

(c) the Company disclosed decisions on matters reviewed by the independent
non-executive Directors relating to (where applicable) (i) compliance
and enforcement of Mr WONG's non-competition undertakings; (ii) the
exercise of the pre-emption rights where a business opportunity is referred
to the Group; and/or (iii) any decision on the enforcement of breaches of
his non-competition undertakings either through the annual reports of
the Company, or by way of announcement to the public;
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Mr WONG made an annual declaration on compliance with his
non-competition undertakings in the annual report of the Company
and ensure that the disclosure of details of his compliance with and the
enforcement of his non-competition undertakings is consistent with the
principles of disclosure in the Corporate Governance Report contained in
Appendix 14 to the Listing Rules;

Mr WONG abstained from voting in all meetings of the Shareholders and/
or the Board where there is any actual or potential conflicting interest;

the Board has a balanced composition of executive Directors,
non-executive Directors and independent non-executive Directors so
that there is a strong element on the Board that can effectively exercise
independent judgement. With expertise in different professional fields,
the Company believes that the independent non-executive Directors have
the necessary caliber and expertise to form and exercise independent
judgement in the event that conflicts of interest between the Group and
the controlling shareholders arise;

in the event that potential conflicts of interest materialise, that is,
where a Director has an interest in a company that would enter into an
agreement with the Group, the Director(s) with an interest in the relevant
transaction(s) would not be allowed to attend the relevant Board meeting,
and would be excluded from the Board deliberation and abstained from
voting and would not be counted towards quorum in respect of the
relevant resolution(s) at such Board meeting;

in the event that potential conflicts of interest materialise, the
controlling shareholders would be required to abstain from voting in
the Shareholders’ meeting of the Company with respect to the relevant
resolution(s); and

the Group is administratively independent from the controlling
shareholders as it has its own company secretary, authorised
representatives and administrative personnel.

The Directors consider that the above Corporate Governance Measures are
sufficient to manage any potential conflict of interests between the Controlling
Shareholders and their respective associates and the Group and to protect the
interests of the Shareholders, in particular, the minority Shareholders.

The Directors confirm that each of the Corporate Governance Measures has
been performed satisfactorily during the financial year ended 31 December
2020.
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COMPLIANCE WITH THE RELEVANT LAWS AND
REGULATIONS

The Group has compliance policies and procedures in place to ensure adherence
to applicable laws, rules and regulations, in particular, those have a significant
impact on the Group. The Group would seek professional legal advice from
its legal advisers to ensure transactions and business to be performed by the
Group are in compliance with the applicable laws and regulations. During the
year under review, the Group was not aware of any non-compliance with any
relevant laws and regulations that had a significant impact on it.

ENVIRONMENTAL POLICIES AND PERFORMANCE

Acting in an environmentally responsible manner, the Group endeavours to
comply with laws and regulations regarding environmental protection and to
adopt effective measures to achieve efficient use of resources, energy saving
and waste reduction. The Group has implemented internal recycling programme
for office consumables such as toner cartridges and paper to minimise the
operational impact on the environment and natural resources.

The Group will review its environmental practices from time to time and will
implement further eco-friendly measures and practices closely enhancing
environmental sustainability.

For details, please refer to the Environmental, Social and Governance Report in
this report.

RELATIONSHIPS WITH THE GROUP’S EMPLOYEES

The Group believes that employees are important and valuable assets. The
Group will provide trainings for employees to enhance their knowledge in
corporate values and culture and to implement them thoroughly. Meanwhile,
the Group accelerates development of young leaders and nurtures them
in establishing study-oriented teams and keeps them abreast of updated
knowledge and timely development.

The Group also aims to provide competitive and attractive remuneration
packages to retain the employees. Management reviews annually the
remuneration package offered to employees of the Group. Meanwhile, for
the purpose of providing incentives and rewards to eligible participants who
contributed to the success of the Group’s operations, the Group adopted the
Pre-IPO Share Option Scheme, the Share Award Scheme and the Post-IPO Share
Option Scheme. Information about these scheme is set out in the paragraph
headed “Share Option Schemes” in the Directors’ Report of this report.
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RELATIONSHIPS WITH THE GROUP’S CUSTOMERS
AND SUPPLIERS

The Group values long standing relationships with its suppliers and customers.
The Group aims at delivering high quality properties and services to its
customers and developing mutual trust and enhancing communication and
commitment between the Group and its suppliers, especially the commercial
banks and financial institutions as the Group's businesses are capital intensive
which require on-going funding to maintain sustainable growth.

SIGNIFICANT EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING
PERIOD

Save as disclosed elsewhere in this annual report, there are no material events
affecting the Group after the end of the reporting period.

SUFFICIENCY OF PUBLIC FLOAT

Based on information that is publicly available to the Company and within the
knowledge of the Directors, the Company has maintained the prescribed public
float under the Listing Rules as at the latest practicable date prior to the issue of
this report.

AUDITORS

KPMG will retire and a resolution for their re-appointment as auditors of the
Company will be proposed at the forthcoming annual general meeting of the
Company.

ON BEHALF OF THE BOARD
TOP SPRING INTERNATIONAL HOLDINGS LIMITED

WONG Chun Hong
Chairman

Hong Kong
31 March 2021
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Independent auditor’s report to the shareholders of
Top Spring International Holdings Limited
(Incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)

OPINION

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of Top Spring
International Holdings Limited (“the Company”) and its subsidiaries (“the
Group”) set out on pages 133 to 268, which comprise the consolidated
statement of financial position as at 31 December 2020, the consolidated
statement of profit or loss, the consolidated statement of profit or loss and
other comprehensive income, the consolidated statement of changes in equity
and the consolidated cash flow statement for the year then ended and notes
to the consolidated financial statements, including a summary of significant
accounting policies.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true and fair view of
the consolidated financial position of the Group as at 31 December 2020 and
of its consolidated financial performance and its consolidated cash flows for the
year then ended in accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards
("HKFRSs") issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants
("HKICPA") and have been properly prepared in compliance with the disclosure
requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

BASIS FOR OPINION

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards on Auditing
("HKSAs") issued by the HKICPA. Our responsibilities under those standards
are further described in the Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the
consolidated financial statements section of our report. We are independent
of the Group in accordance with the HKICPA's Code of Ethics for Professional
Accountants (“the Code"”) together with any ethical requirements that are
relevant to our audit of the consolidated financial statements in the Cayman
Islands, and we have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance
with these requirements and the Code. We believe that the audit evidence we
have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.

KEY AUDIT MATTERS

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgement, were
of most significance in our audit of the consolidated financial statements of the
current period. These matters were addressed in the context of our audit of
the consolidated financial statements as a whole, and in forming our opinion
thereon, and we do not provide a separate opinion on these matters.



TOP SPRING INTERNATIONAL HOLDINGS LIMITED ANNUAL REPORT 2020

127

BUZBEMERE
INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT

FERETSEE® KEY AUDIT MATTERS (Continued)

REWENEE
Valuation of investment properties
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Refer to Note 12 to the consolidated financial statements and the accounting policies Note 2(i).

HRENEE
The Key Audit Matter
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As at 31 December 2020, the Group held
a portfolio of investment properties located
in Mainland China and Hong Kong with a
fair value of HK$7,238,615,000 which, in
aggregate, accounted for 27% of the Group’s
total assets. These investment properties
principally comprise residential, retail and office
premises.
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BYfE AEREVER-_ZB_ZBF+=
A=+—H®HRAEE:-

The fair values of the investment properties as
at 31 December 2020 were assessed by the
directors based on independent valuations
prepared by a firm of qualified external
property valuers.

BEZERAABESNERENE KR
et BRI EAMEREEEELESE X
b TI5THE R LB E R T TIHER
The determination of these fair values involves
significant management judgement and
estimation, particularly in relation to selecting
the appropriate valuation methodology,
capitalisation rates, market rents and average
market price of the comparable properties.
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We identified the valuation of investment
properties as a key audit matter because of
the inherent risks involved in estimating the
values of the properties, particularly in light
of the current economic circumstances and
the various property market cooling measures
implemented by local governments in various
cities across Mainland China.

RMANBEANIEEZEE

How the matter was addressed in our audit

B EREDENEEETNETREFRENATRIE
Our audit procedures to assess the valuation of investment properties included
the following:
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obtaining and inspecting the valuation reports prepared by the external
property valuers engaged by management and on which the directors’
assessment of the fair values of investment properties was based;

FHESNER L EM R EME T ENEE -
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assessing the external property valuers’ qualifications, experience and
expertise in the properties being valued and considering their objectivity
and independence;
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with the assistance of our internal property valuation specialists, discussing
with the external property valuers their valuation methodology and the
key estimates and assumptions adopted in their valuations;
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54

evaluating the external property valuers’ valuation methodology and
challenging the key estimates and assumptions (including capitalisation
rates, prevailing market rents and comparable market transactions)
adopted in the valuations, on a sample basis, by comparison with available
market data and/or government produced market statistics; and

G EEERMNBYEHEMIEHRNHEEER (BHEARE
HeRHBEE) HBBMAEHKRE B ELR -

comparing tenancy information, including committed rents and occupancy
rates, provided by the Group to the external property valuers with
underlying contracts and related documentation, on a sample basis.
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Valuation of receivables from the third parties without specified dates of settlement
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KEY AUDIT MATTERS (Continued)

Refer to Note 17 to the consolidated financial statements and the accounting policies Note 2(g).
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How the matter was addressed in our audit

B AR EE S E RN ERE =T RENGEETHNETETE
FEATEIE -

Our audit procedures to assess the valuation of receivables from the third
parties without specified dates of settlement included the following:

HRENEE
The Key Audit Matter
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As at 31 December 2020, the Group had
certain receivables from the third parties
without specified dates of settlement of
HK$1,286,972,000, which were classified as
financial assets measured at fair value through
profit or loss (“FVTPL") in the consolidated
statement of financial position. In 2020, the
Group recognised relevant fair value loss of
HK$2,411,000 regarding the above receivables.
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These financial assets are classified as level 3
financial instruments in the fair value hierarchy.
The valuations of these financial assets are
derived from valuation models which require a
number of inputs and assumptions which are
not observable from market data and which are
significant to the entire measurement.
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We identified the valuation of receivables from
the third parties without specified dates of
settlement as a key audit matter because of the
degree of complexity involved in valuing these
financial assets and the degree of judgement
exercised by management in determining the
inputs used in the valuation models which may
have significant impact to the financial results
of the Group.
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obtaining and inspecting the valuation prepared by management; or
obtaining and inspecting the external valuation report for the valuation
prepared by external valuer engaged by management and on which the
directors’ assessment of the fair value was based;
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assessing the external valuer's qualifications, experience and expertise
in the financial asset being valued and considering its objectivity and
independence;
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with the assistance of our internal valuation specialists, assessing the
valuation methodology adopted in the valuations with reference to the
requirements of the prevailing accounting standards and challenging
the estimation in future cash flows and discount rates adopted in the
valuations;
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evaluating the Group’s estimated future cash flows from the respective
debtors used in the valuation model which include obtaining legal opinion
in respect of the unresolved matters and reading the terms set out in the
respective agreements and challenging management’s assumptions in
respect of the ability of the debtors to pay and timing of settlements with
reference to the debtors’ financial condition; and

2ERTEEENRT M EEERGS M ERESR A EMR
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assessing the adequacy of the Group’s disclosures in the consolidated
financial statements in relation to the key inputs and assumptions adopted
in the valuation with reference to the requirements of the prevailing
accounting standards.
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KEY AUDIT MATTERS (Continued)

B E R
Assessment of impairment of goodwill
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Refer to Note 13 to the consolidated financial statements and the accounting policies Note 2(f).
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How the matter was addressed in our audit

BREITER
The Key Audit Matter
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—N E g B B AR R BR S E E’J F‘ﬁ 24  Our audit procedures to assess the impairment of goodwill included the
40,736,000/8 7T ° following:

As at 31 December 2020, goodwill arising from

the acquisition of the educated related service o TERERERETGHER  2EH7T ‘l‘ﬁﬁ‘JE’JEFJZ BRI

in 2018 amounted to HK$40,736,000.
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Management perform annual impairment
assessment of goodwill based on discounted
cash flow forecast prepared for each cash-
generating unit (“CGU") to which goodwill
is allocated. The impairment assessment is
carried out by management with reference to a
valuation report prepared by an external valuer
appointed by management.
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The preparation of discounted cash flow
forecasts involves the exercise of significant
management judgement, in particular in
determining the appropriate short-term and
long-term revenue growth rates, profit margin
and discount rates.
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We identified the assessment of impairment
of goodwill as a key audit matter because the
assessment of the recoverable amounts of CGU
can be inherently subjective and requires the
exercise of significant management judgement
and estimation which increases the risk of error
or management bias, in particular the impact to
education industry brought by COVID-19.
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obtaining an understanding of the management’s impairment assessment
model, evaluating the identification of the CGU and the allocation of
assets to that CGU with reference to the requirements of the prevailing
accounting standards;

AL ERER NI ERMBERE KB R EEHHE
assessing the qualifications, experience and expertise of the external
valuer appointed by management;

EIRE AR L ERT B WE AR St RRER L A
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B (CHERHEB AR RERAHEA@AE) REEL
discussing future operating plans with management and challenging
the key estimates and assumptions adopted in the discounted cash flow
forecast, in particular in relation to revenue growth rates and profit
margin, by comparing these with historical results, economic and industry
forecasts;

HEBRBNFENERSH 2 ATl D& 5B E
HH)r o & R TR AREE AL
re-performing calculations made by management in arriving at the year
end assessments of recoverable amounts and comparing the calculated
recoverable amounts to the actual carrying amounts;
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performing a retrospective review by comparing the prior year’s
discounted cash flow forecast with the current year’s results to assess the
reliability and historical accuracy of management'’s forecasting process;
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with the assistance of our internal valuation specialists, evaluating the
appropriateness of the discount rates by benchmarking against other
comparable companies in the same industry;

HEERKX(BERRR SR ETER A E’Ji"ﬁi)&ﬁﬁiﬁ$)iﬁﬁﬂi
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performing sensitivity analysis of key assumptions, including growth
rates and discount rates applied in the discounted cash flow forecast
and considering the resulting impact on the impairment assessment and
whether there were any indicators of management bias; and

2ZRTEERNER  FEREREBNBERENGERS
WK P EIKEE o

assessing the disclosures in the consolidated financial statements in
respect of management’s impairment assessment of goodwill with
reference to the requirements of the prevailing accounting standards.
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INFORMATION OTHER THAN THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND OUR AUDITOR’S
REPORT THEREON

The directors are responsible for the other information. The other information
comprises all the information included in the annual report, other than the
consolidated financial statements and our auditor’s report thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not cover the other
information and we do not express any form of assurance conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial statements, our
responsibility is to read the other information and, in doing so, consider
whether the other information is materially inconsistent with the consolidated
financial statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit or otherwise
appears to be materially misstated.

If, based on the work we have performed, we conclude that there is a material
misstatement of this other information, we are required to report that fact. We
have nothing to report in this regard.

RESPONSIBILITIES OF THE DIRECTORS FOR THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The directors are responsible for the preparation of the consolidated financial
statements that give a true and fair view in accordance with HKFRSs issued by
the HKICPA and the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies
Ordinance and for such internal control as the directors determine is necessary
to enable the preparation of consolidated financial statements that are free
from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors are responsible
for assessing the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as
applicable, matters related to going concern and using the going concern basis
of accounting unless the directors either intend to liquidate the Group or to
cease operations, or have no realistic alternative but to do so.

The directors are assisted by the Audit Committee in discharging their
responsibilities for overseeing the Group’s financial reporting process.
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AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT OF
THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the
consolidated financial statements as a whole are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report
that includes our opinion. This report is made solely to you, as a body, and for
no other purpose. We do not assume responsibility towards or accept liability to
any other person for the contents of this report.

Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that
an audit conducted in accordance with HKSAs will always detect a material
misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error
and are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could
reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on
the basis of these consolidated financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise professional
judgement and maintain professional scepticism throughout the audit. We also:

e Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the consolidated
financial statements, whether due to fraud or error, design and perform
audit procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain audit evidence that
is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk
of not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher
than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery,
intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal
control.

e Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order
to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but
not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the
Group's internal control.

e  Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the
reasonableness of accounting estimates and related disclosures made by
the directors.

e  Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of the going
concern basis of accounting and, based on the audit evidence obtained,
whether a material uncertainty exists related to events or conditions that
may cast significant doubt on the Group’s ability to continue as a going
concern. If we conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are required
to draw attention in our auditor’s report to the related disclosures in the
consolidated financial statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate,
to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence
obtained up to the date of our auditor’s report. However, future events or
conditions may cause the Group to cease to continue as a going concern.
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AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT OF
THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

(Continued)

° Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the
consolidated financial statements, including the disclosures, and
whether the consolidated financial statements represent the underlying
transactions and events in a manner that achieves fair presentation.

o Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial
information of the entities or business activities within the Group to
express an opinion on the consolidated financial statements. We are
responsible for the direction, supervision and performance of the Group
audit. We remain solely responsible for our audit opinion.

We communicate with the Audit Committee regarding, among other matters,
the planned scope and timing of the audit and significant audit findings,
including any significant deficiencies in internal control that we identify during
our audit.

We also provide the Audit Committee with a statement that we have complied
with relevant ethical requirements regarding independence and communicate
with them all relationships and other matters that may reasonably be thought
to bear on our independence and, where applicable, actions taken to eliminate
threats or safeguards applied.

From the matters communicated with the Audit Committee, we determine
those matters that were of most significance in the audit of the consolidated
financial statements of the current period and are therefore the key audit
matters. We describe these matters in our auditor’s report unless law or
regulation precludes public disclosure about the matter or when, in extremely
rare circumstances, we determine that a matter should not be communicated in
our report because the adverse consequences of doing so would reasonably be
expected to outweigh the public interest benefits of such communication.

The engagement partner on the audit resulting in this independent auditor’s
report is Wong Chun Pong.

KPMG
Certified Public Accountants

8th Floor, Prince’s Building
10 Chater Road
Central, Hong Kong

31 March 2021
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS

HE-T-FF+- A=+ ALFEUELHT)
For the year ended 31 December 2020 (Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

N Revenue 4 575,051 719,246
BB Direct costs (313,922) (291,238)
EF Gross profit 261,129 428,008
WEMERDERTHE Valuation (losses)/gains on investment

HERREYER properties and investment properties

HE (B8R s classified as held for sale 12 (77,944) 197,409
E A Other revenue 5 139,945 153,819
Htg A (E518) F 58 Other net income/(loss) 6 48,742 (380,640)
SHE R EHEAY Selling and marketing expenses (76,898) (51,619)
ITERAX Administrative expenses (310,126) (421,149)
25 REAMEIWEIAERFRE Impairment loss on trade and other

&8 receivables 29(a) (18,527) (28,462)
REEBKEENER Loss from operations (33,679) (102,634)
&R A Finance costs 7(a) (301,811) (323,353)
DLEEE QR EE Share of losses of associates 15 (2,122) (2,621)
DMEEEREEIE Share of losses of joint ventures 16 (8,992) (15,781)
RRELAIE 1B Loss before taxation 7 (346,604) (444,389)
Fris %t Income tax 8(a) (20,932) (85,539)
FEBE Loss for the year (367,536) (529,928)
LT ALHREM,: Attributable to:
AR EVRE AR AL R KA Equity shareholders of the Company and

KA R RE S (KA A holders of bonus perpetual subordinated

BRIFFDFEA convertible securities (“PCSs") (283,258) (582,939)
IR Non-controlling interests (84,278) 53,011
FEBE Loss for the year (367,536) (529,928)
BREE (Br) Loss per share (HK$)
EAREE Basic and diluted 11 (0.19) (0.38)

F141E 268 B WM TR Z S8 75 4% —=8  The notes on pages 141 to 268 form part of these financial statements. Details
Do FENARRN BRI Mok AR # A% E5%F  of dividends payable to equity shareholders of the Company and holders of
B AR E R FBHRMIFE28(0) PCSs are set out in Note 28(b).
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GEeREERHEMEEKRER
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS AND OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

BE_Z-ZEF+-A=+—HLEFEGEBTIIFR)
For the year ended 31 December 2020 (Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

FEBE Loss for the year (367,536) (529,928)
FEHMZEKRS Other comprehensive income
(RBIREHDEHAER) for the year (after tax and
reclassification adjustments)
A& A GEET I E B Items that may be reclassified subsequently
HIEE - to profit or loss:
HMEE N Z5 Exchange differences on translation of:
— BN B R A B S R R — financial statements of foreign subsidiaries 685,152 (236,178)
—HEMBARBENSEE — reclassified to profit or loss upon disposal
B of subsidiaries 26 (6)
685,178 (236,184)
DIEEE AT REERE Share of other comprehensive income of
AHE Ath 2 mE S associates and joint ventures 34,047 (6,851)
____________________________________________________________________________________________ 719,225  (243,035)
FEXEHREAE Total comprehensive income for the year 351,689 (772,963)
BT AL Attributable to:
RN AR 2R AR R TR ok A AT HR R Equity shareholders of the Company
BEHFFEA and holder of PCSs 421,274 (815,551)
IR E R Non-controlling interests (69,585) 42,588
FEXHWKSAE Total comprehensive income for the year 351,689 (772,963)

F141 5268 B WM F4EKZE I & 3RE — 28  The notes on pages 141 to 268 form part of these financial statements.

o

N
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

MR-Z-ZEF+-A=+—HCAVERIIT)
At 31 December 2020 (Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)
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ERBEE Non-current assets
REME Investment properties 12 7,238,615 6,297,551
HE - BE&EE Other property, plant and equipment 12 199,281 199,049
7,437,896 6,496,600
mEEE Intangible assets 3,769 3,769
[EES Goodwill 13 40,736 40,736
i RN L= R Interest in associates 15 7,072 8,739
REERENRER Interest in joint ventures 16 423,328 423,597
E{mﬁ mEE Other financial assets 17 1,488,143 1,338,322
e YR8 Other receivables 19 231,761 210,027
ELERREE Deferred tax assets 8(d) 85,540 75,212
9,718,245 8,597,002
REEE Current assets
GFENEAME DA Inventories and other contract costs 18 10,884,496 9,921,176
HEMemEE Other financial assets 17 115,657 130,470
H 5 N E M EURIE Trade and other receivables 19 1,654,142 1,553,629
B H I8 Prepaid tax 8(c) 38,846 20,891
ZR R EEARER Restricted and pledged deposits 20 3,046,639 2,612,642
RERREFEIEE Cash and cash equivalents 21(a) 1,653,196 2,115,129
17,392,976 16,353,937
DERFELHENKRE Investment properties classified
LS as held for sale 12 70,657 64,683
17,463,633 16,418,620
FREBEE Current liabilities
B 5 Kk H Ath FEAS /I8 Trade and other payables 22 4,004,074 3,646,717
aHaE Contract liabilities 23 726,231 58,577
RITERRAMES Bank loans and other borrowing 24 5,966,708 3,947,660
fﬂ‘zﬁﬁa Lease liabilities 25 21,971 31,604
JERHES Bonds payable 26 248,552 500,355
FEIBiIR Tax payable 8(c) 168,259 716,509
11,135,795 8,901,422
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e BRI R
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

R-F-TE+=A=+—R (ABRFIR)
At 31 December 2020 (Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

REEEFE Net current assets 6,327,838 7,517,198
HEERRBERE Total assets less current liabilities 16,046,083 16,114,200
kRBEE Non-current liabilities
RITERREMEE Bank loans and other borrowing 24 4,495,656 5,119,614
HEAE Lease liabilities 25 40,684 48,613
FEERTEEE Deferred tax liabilities 8(d) 1,355,501 1,105,800
______________________________________________________________________ 5,891,841 6,274,027

EEFRE NET ASSETS 10,154,242 9,840,173
R R H#E CAPITAL AND RESERVES
[ @N Share capital 28(c) 141,273 141,273
i Reserves 9,933,656 9,542,968
AATEERRER KA Total equity attributable to equity

ARRESEEAEMN shareholders of the Company and

RSB holders of PCSs 10,074,929 9,684,241
FEBRER Non-controlling interests 79,313 155,932
ERBE TOTAL EQUITY 10,154,242 9,840,173

gExeN T - —F=-H=+—HIERERE Approved and authorised for issue by the board of directors on 31 March 2021.
Fz -

HEE
Wong Chun Hong
BF

Director

55141 % 268 B &Y MY s AR X 7% 5 B 15 Sk — A6

S

N

MER

Lam Mei Ka Shirley

BF

Director

The notes on pages 141 to 268 form part of these financial statements.
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY

BE_Z-ZF+-A=+—HUIEFEGETIIT)
For the year ended 31 December 2020 (Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

Attributable to equity shareholders of the Company and holders of PCSs

EhEH  EiER Ko
Reserve
arising from PRC Non-
isuance  Captl  Bxchange  statutory Other ~ Retained controling
aptal  premum  ofPCSs Tesenve TeSeIve  TBSeIVeS Tesenve rofts Totdl  interests
i i i r r n n n i i
§000 §000 §000 §000 §000 §000 §1000 §1000 §000

HZZ-NE-F-ANER  Balanceat 1 January 2019 138558 1951259 1435 T80T @472 481649 (©711) 8739140 1058279 113777 106%,0%6

“E-nEERRE Changes n equity for 2019:

EE(5R) /&l (Lossfprofit or the year - - - - - - S99 99 B0 (2999
ifp2Eka Other comprehensie income - - - - 81 - - -6 (043 (u3039)
2AkEaE Total comprehensive income - - - - (360 - - (82939 (815551 42588 (772963

BEERDREEHRERDE lsuance of new shares under Pre-PO
BEREREIHEATRE  and PostPO Share Option Schemes 2
RERKATAREEET  Issance of new shares upon conversion

K==3

Wl 15 8% - (632 - - - - m - n9

v ofPCSs 28(0i) 2700 - (2,700) - - - - - - - -
REEENRAARERORS  Fouitysetled share-based transactons - - - - - - -5 -
BRABRERZBRG  Share options and awarded shares

forfeited - - - (2,078) - - - 2078 - - -
A 3ERRANEN B Acouisiion of additional nterest in
HENER asubsidaryfiom & non-controling
Interest - - - - - - B0) - ) 433 (3753)
A2 RHEEHEHBAE Proceeds fom disposal of nerests
ERIAEE in subsidares to & non-controling
nterest - - - - - - 4353 - 1353 - 4353
ERENETERE Transter to PRC statutoryresenves 28 - - - - i - - - -
HERRENRE Dividend approved nrespect of the
Drevious year 28) - - - - - - -GS @) - @75

WZB-RETZB=t-8  Balanceat 31 December 2019
i3 273 195215 11,65 78350 (1044084 486423 (3219 8061748 9,684,241 155932 9,840,173
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RERRBER
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY

HE-T-FF+-A=+—ALEE BT
For the year ended 31 December 2020 (Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

RARERRRAATERESEEARE
Attributable to equity shareholders of the Company and holders of PCSs

¥4

TERES Gl
B BHEE EfMER BREE EXRE ERRE  AMER  REEW A% FiRER

Reserve

arising from PRC Non-
Share Share  issuance  Capital  Exchange statutory Other  Retained controlling
apital  premium  ofPCSs  reseve  reseve  reseves  reseve  profits Total interests equity
1 1 i i i i r o 1 1 i
§1000 §1000 §1000 §/000 §1000 §1000 §1000 §1000 §1000 §1000 §1000

HZBZ3E-F-ANER  Balanceat ! January 2020 W3 1952155 1165 78350 (1044084) 486413 (279 8061748 9684241 155932 9840173

“REEERRY. Changes in equity for 2020:

ERBE Loss for the year - - - - - - - (%) (B35 (BA2B)  (367S30)
ErENE Other comprehensive income - - - B (%3] - - - TS 1468 71905
2AkGaE Total comprehensive income - - - - 0453 - - (83258) 4274 (69585) 351,689
BRABRERZBRG  Share options and awarded shares

forfeted - - - (9.275) - - - 9275 - - -
EREnEETRE Transterto PRC statutoryresemves 280 - - = = - - = - -
LERHENRE Dividends approved in respect of the

Drevious year 28) - - - - - - - (30586)  (30,586) - (30,586)
ENFERRE RS Diidend paid o non-controling

shareholder - - - - - - - - - (1034 (7.03)

WZBZBEtZA=t-F  Balanceat 31 December 2020
i3 W23 195,15 11,655 69075 (33955 488,734 (3279) 7754868 10,074,929 19313 10,154,242

F141 2268 EHIM T AR Z S B3R &x — 30  The notes on pages 141 to 268 form part of these financial statements.

)
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RERERER
CONSOLIDATED CASH FLOW STATEMENT

HE-T-FF+- A=+ ALFEUELHT)
For the year ended 31 December 2020 (Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

REER Operating activities
EEREIRFE ARG Cash used in operations 21(b) (51,831) (628,962)
Bt ERIE PRC tax paid (431,346) (615,539)
REXLEFFEABESFEE  Net cash used in operating activities (483,177) (1,244,501)
REFEE Investing activities
BEEMERNK Payment for purchase of wealth
management products (346,950) (5,056,417)
HERIERMWATSFIE  Proceeds from disposal of wealth
management products 260,485 5,041,372
BEHMESMEEMNK Payment for purchase of other financial
assets - (115,589)
HEEMEREER Proceeds from disposal of other financial
Fri8 A assets 102,944 52,485
BF A Interest received 13,984 215,412
B YR E W Investment income received 4,889 8,710
AEEREEE Capital contribution to joint ventures - (6,305)
HEALDLEZATSFHIE  Proceed from disposal of a joint venture 21,148 -
AEEPERENER Loans to joint ventures (11,748) (35,412)
HEMRBAR R Net cash outflow from disposals of
mHEFEE subsidiaries 21(e) (8,292) (1,265)
BEWME - BE R Payment for purchase of property, plant and
BCINE:N equipment (9,534) (6,905)
HEME  MEKEMHEZ  Proceeds from disposal of property, plant
Fr8 A and equipment 1,185 -
ME=HREER Loans to the third parties = (485,016)
BEMFE=TIREMEF  Repayment of loans to the third parties = 434,028
HEDEABIEHENIRE Deposits received from sale of investment
Y FTIEIE € properties classified as held for sale - 18,295
EEMAEDERBAET Repayment of loans to a joint venture - 45,191
EHh Others - 858

RETEHFEERESTFE  Net cash generated from investing
activities 28,111 109,442
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RERERER
CONSOLIDATED CASH FLOW STATEMENT

BE_Z-ZEF+-A=+—HLEFEGEBTIIFR)
For the year ended 31 December 2020 (Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

& SEE Financing activities

ISR ITERREMEE  Proceeds from new bank loans and other

FriSs8 borrowings 21(c) 2,516,707 3,481,563
BITESFSRE Proceeds from issuance of bonds 21(c) 251,966 506,270
EERTERLEMMEE  Repayment of bank loans and other

borrowings 21(c) (1,401,711) (3,051,426)
EERRES Repayment of convertible bonds 21(c) = (1,255,932)
EEEMNES Repayment of bond payable 21(c) (503,802) (778,877)
BERHERS 2 EAESD  Capital element of lease rentals paid 21(c) (39,861) (38,127)
BERHERS Z2FEESD  Interest element of lease rentals paid 21(c) (4,019) (5,237)
FEIE R TR AR Advance from non-controlling interests 21(c) 42,236 93,402
EEIFERE R IR Repayment to a non-controlling interest 21(c) (39,167) (140,502)
B 17 28 0 Increase in pledged deposits (271,815) (129,393)
ENMEREMEERA  Interest and other borrowing costs paid 21(0) (626,656) (823,801)
MR R D IRR B Distribution to non-controlling shareholders (7,034) -
B AR RIMEZE IR E Kok A Dividends paid to equity shareholders of

AMRESFEARE the Company and holders of PCSs 28(b) (30,586) (91,757)
R BITRG IR Proceeds from issuance of new shares - 280
HEH B A AEEEIEIEN  Proceeds from disposal of interests in

T % PTIS RE subsidiaries to a non-controlling interest - 43,535

 BETBHFRBARLFE  Net cash used in financing activities (113,742) (2,190,002)
RekEELEEER Net decrease in cash and cash

B EE equivalents (568,808) (3,325,061)
R—B—BWRER Cash and cash equivalents at 1 January

ReZEER 21(a) 2,115,129 5,488,739
EREFFHNT Effect of foreign exchange rate changes 106,875 (48,549)
R+=—A=+—HMHEE  Cash and cash equivalents

RE&£ZEER at 31 December 21(a) 1,653,196 2,115,129

N

-

F14E268 B EAKZ S 5K — 50 The notes on pages 141 to 268 form part of these financial statements.
5o
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r S B A AR MY R
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

(B S BEREIN - LUETIIR)
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)
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REBEBREEERAR ([R28])) RE
HEHEAREENRE (—AR—F&
Pl= BEARETNR_FFTNLFENHA
“tThAREHRERESEMKRILSER R
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AEBEARGEHME AR ZERB
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GENERAL INFORMATION

Top Spring International Holdings Limited (“the Company”) was
incorporated in the Cayman Islands as an exempted company with limited
liability on 25 August 2009 under the Companies Law, Cap. 22 (Law 3 of
1961, as consolidated and revised) of the Cayman Islands. The Company’s
shares were listed on the Main Board of The Stock Exchange of Hong
Kong Limited (“Stock Exchange”) on 23 March 2011 (“Listing Date").

The principal activity of the Company is investment holding and the
principal activities of its subsidiaries are property development, property
investment, property management and related services and education
related services in the People’s Republic of China (“PRC").

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(a) Statement of compliance

These financial statements have been prepared in accordance with
all applicable Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards (“HKFRSs"),
which collective term includes all applicable individual Hong Kong
Financial Reporting Standards, Hong Kong Accounting Standards
("HKASs") and Interpretations issued by the Hong Kong Institute
of Certified Public Accountants (“HKICPA"), accounting principles
generally accepted in Hong Kong and the disclosure requirements
of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance. These financial statements
also comply with the applicable disclosure provisions of the Rules
Governing the Listing of Securities on The Stock Exchange of Hong
Kong Limited (“the Listing Rules”). Significant accounting policies
adopted by the Group are disclosed below.

The HKICPA has issued certain amendments to HKFRSs that are first
effective or available for early adoption for the current accounting
period of the Group and the Company. Note 2(c) provides
information on any changes in accounting policies resulting from
initial application of these developments to the extent that they are
relevant to the Group for the current accounting periods reflected in
these financial statements.
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RE M BHRMEE

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

(RS ERBIN - LETIIR)
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)
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2 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

(b) Basis of preparation of the financial statements

The consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31
December 2020 comprise the Company and its subsidiaries (together
referred to as the “Group”) and the Group’s interest in associates
and joint ventures.

The measurement basis used in the preparation of the financial
statements is the historical cost basis except that the following
assets and liabilities are stated at their fair value as explained in the
accounting policies set out below:

—  investment properties, including interests in leasehold land and
buildings held as investment property where the Group is the
registered owner of the property interest (see Note 2(i));

- other investments in debt and equity securities (see Note 2(g));
and

- derivative financial instruments (see Note 2(h)).

Non-current assets held for sale are stated at the lower of carrying
amount and fair value less costs to sell (see Note 2(aa)).

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with HKFRSs
requires management to make judgements, estimates and
assumptions that affect the application of policies and reported
amounts of assets, liabilities, income and expenses. The estimates
and associated assumptions are based on historical experience and
various other factors that are believed to be reasonable under the
circumstances, the results of which form the basis of making the
judgements about carrying values of assets and liabilities that are not
readily apparent from other sources. Actual results may differ from
these estimates.

The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an
ongoing basis. Revisions to accounting estimates are recognised in
the period in which the estimate is revised if the revision affects only
that period, or in the period of the revision and future periods if the
revision affects both current and future periods.

Judgements made by management in the application of HKFRSs that
have significant effect on the financial statements and major sources
of estimation uncertainty are discussed in Note 3.
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(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)
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2 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

(c)

(d)

Changes in accounting policies

The HKICPA has issued the following amendments to HKFRSs that
are first effective for the current accounting period of the Group:

° Amendments to HKFRS 3, Definition of a Business

° Amendments to HKFRS 9, HKAS 39 and HKFRS 7, Interest Rate
Benchmark Reform

° Amendments to HKAS 1 and HKAS 8, Definition of material

None of these developments have had a material effect on how the
Group’s results and financial position for the current or prior periods
have been prepared or presented in this report. The Group has not
applied any new standard or interpretation that is not yet effective
for the current accounting period except for the amendment to
HKFRS 16, Covid-19-Related Rent Concessions, which provides
a practical expedient that allows lessees not to assess whether
particular rent concessions occurring as a direct consequence of the
COVID-19 pandemic are lease modifications and, instead, account
for those rent concessions as if they were not lease modifications.
There is no material impact by adoption of the amendment to the
Group.

Subsidiaries and non-controlling interests

Subsidiaries are entities controlled by the Group. The Group controls
an entity when it is exposed, or has rights, to variable returns from
its involvement with the entity and has the ability to affect those
returns through its power over the entity. When assessing whether
the Group has power, only substantive rights (held by the Group and
other parties) are considered.

An investment in a subsidiary is consolidated into the consolidated
financial statements from the date that control commences until
the date that control ceases. Intra-group balances, transactions
and cash flows and any unrealised profits arising from intra-group
transactions are eliminated in full in preparing the consolidated
financial statements. Unrealised losses resulting from intra-group
transactions are eliminated in the same way as unrealised gains but
only to the extent that there is no evidence of impairment.
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2 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

(d) Subsidiaries and non-controlling interests (Continued)

Non-controlling interests represent the equity in a subsidiary not
attributable directly or indirectly to the Company, and in respect
of which the Group has not agreed any additional terms with the
holders of those interests which would result in the Group as a
whole having a contractual obligation in respect of those interests
that meets the definition of a financial liability. For each business
combination, the Group can elect to measure any non-controlling
interests either at fair value or at the non-controlling interests’
proportionate share of the subsidiary’s net identifiable assets.

Non-controlling interests are presented in the consolidated statement
of financial position within equity, separately from equity attributable
to the equity shareholders of the Company. Non-controlling
interests in the results of the Group are presented on the face of
the consolidated statement of profit or loss and the consolidated
statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income as an
allocation of the total profit or loss and total comprehensive income
for the year between non-controlling interests and the equity
shareholders of the Company. Loans from holders of non-controlling
interests and other contractual obligations towards these holders
are presented as financial liabilities in the consolidated statement of
financial position in accordance with Notes 2(s) or (t) depending on
the nature of the liability.

Changes in the Group’s interest in a subsidiary that do not result in
a loss of control are accounted for as equity transactions, whereby
adjustments are made to the amounts of controlling and non-
controlling interests within consolidated equity to reflect the change
in relative interests, but no adjustments are made to goodwill and
no gain or loss is recognised.

When the Group loses control of a subsidiary, it is accounted for as a
disposal of the entire interest in that subsidiary, with a resulting gain
or loss being recognised in profit or loss. Any interest retained in
that former subsidiary at the date when control is lost is recognised
at fair value and this amount is regarded as the fair value on initial
recognition of a financial asset (see Note 2(g)) or, when appropriate,
the cost on initial recognition of an investment in an associate or a
joint venture (see Note 2(e)).

In the Company’s statement of financial position, an investment in
a subsidiary is stated at cost less impairment losses (see Note 2(n)),
unless the investment is classified as held for sale (or included in a
disposal group that is classified as held for sale) (see Note 2(aa)).



TOP SPRING INTERNATIONAL HOLDINGS LIMITED ANNUAL REPORT 2020 145

mEMBRRMEE
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

(B S BEREIN - LUETIIR)
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)

2 FEEFTHEXR® 2 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

() MELQNRARAGERE

fERNRRAEESARAEEE
BEATZESN BUIFBBFLHLR
ZHEEEEH(BRE2EMBERE
BIRF)NERE -

REAELENLTH  AEBHA
REIREMT BERBHRZEZ
B TR B - B R EL R B
MEERE -

R—HEBERRKEERENRE
AR ABZAMB®RE - ED
BABELE (XBANBIRELE
B & BRI A) B 5 1R 5l (2B M
it2(aa)) - REBEEE - REVTR
AR ARR - WHR AN E G R E
RAABRNEEFERKRBERD
NABEERRERA (NE) B H
BMOEHHAR -REKABREEE
B WEZRENEREBHEEMBK
A ARBERAEBBRAERE —#
DREBERAHEELENEME
BRIRE R ZREAEAREHE
RIRIB R T EIRIRE R B & B
ENEEHNEZREBBENEM
B S 18 1 38 B (2B BT RE 2(F) B
(n)iii)) - MEREBH AEHEFF
HEAFERELRERENTERE
1B o Wi E AR E 5
REBRFEARERKRERENE
BHTILEE A RERREBER
mAERRER A KB EHER
RE R BB R TILE M2 E R
RBEARNGEEBER REME2EKE
RNFER

EASEEEBMERRIAEEDLE
IR AN EE R R E A R®
BECENERR  AEENES
RERET - AT HREREmEE -
HEfid A 5 B ZA IR E R BAE A
EREEEE  ARBRE QBN
RRZERTR - S & - AEE
MiEE S RER AT ENRERA
B EREHEBRAESEREE
RAEIXNALEERNREFE—HD
R E AR s (R EREER
ERELNERANZSEMRAES
(on:E ) 1& (L EE 2(n)G) ©

(e) Associates and joint ventures

An associate is an entity in which the Group or Company has
significant influence, but not control or joint control, over its
management, including participation in the financial and operating
policy decisions.

A joint venture is an arrangement whereby the Group or Company
and other parties contractually agree to share control of the
arrangement, and have rights to the net assets of the arrangement.

An investment in an associate or a joint venture is accounted for
in the consolidated financial statements under the equity method,
unless it is classified as held for sale (or included in a disposal group
that is classified as held for sale) (see Note 2(aa)). Under the equity
method, the investment is initially recorded at cost, adjusted for any
excess of the Group’s share of the acquisition-date fair values of
the investee’s identifiable net assets over the cost of the investment
(if any). The cost of the investment includes purchase price, other
costs directly attributable to the acquisition of the investment, and
any direct investment into the associate or joint venture that forms
part of the Group’s equity investment. Thereafter, the investment
is adjusted for the post acquisition change in the Group’s share
of the investee’s net assets and any impairment loss relating to
the investment (see Note 2(f) and (n)(iii)). At each reporting date,
the Group assesses whether there is any objective evidence that
the investment is impaired. Any acquisition-date excess over cost,
the Group’s share of the post-acquisition, post-tax results of the
investees and any impairment losses for the year are recognised in
the consolidated statement of profit or loss, whereas the Group’s
share of the post-acquisition post-tax items of the investees’ other
comprehensive income is recognised in the consolidated statement
of profit or loss and other comprehensive income.

When the Group’s share of losses exceeds its interest in the associate
or the joint venture, the Group’s interest is reduced to nil and
recognition of further losses is discontinued except to the extent
that the Group has incurred legal or constructive obligations or
made payments on behalf of the investee. For this purpose, the
Group’s interest is the carrying amount of the investment under the
equity method together with any other long-term interests that in
substance form part of the Group’s net investment in the associate
or the joint venture (after applying the ECL model to such other
long-term interests where applicable (see Note 2(n)(i)).
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2 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

(e) Associates and joint ventures (Continued)

()

Unrealised profits and losses resulting from transactions between
the Group and its associates and joint ventures are eliminated to
the extent of the Group’s interest in the investee, except where
unrealised losses provide evidence of an impairment of the asset
transferred, in which case they are recognised immediately in profit
or loss.

If an investment in an associate becomes an investment in a joint
venture or vice versa, the retained interest is not remeasured.
Instead, the investment continues to be accounted for under the
equity method.

In all other cases, when the Group ceases to have significant
influence over an associate or joint control over a joint venture, it
is accounted for as a disposal of the entire interest in that investee,
with a resulting gain or loss being recognised in profit or loss. Any
interest retained in that former investee at the date when significant
influence or joint control is lost is recognised at fair value and this
amount is regarded as the fair value on initial recognition of a
financial asset (see Note 2(g)).

Goodwill
Goodwill represents the excess of

(i)  the aggregate of the fair value of the consideration transferred,
the amount of any non-controlling interest in the acquiree and
the fair value of the Group’s previously held equity interest in
the acquiree; over

(i)  the net fair value of the acquiree’s identifiable assets and
liabilities measured as at the acquisition date.

When (ii) is greater than (i), then this excess is recognised
immediately in profit or loss as a gain on a bargain purchase.

Goodwill is stated at cost less accumulated impairment losses.
Goodwill arising on a business combination is allocated to each cash-
generating unit, or groups of cash-generating units, that is expected
to benefit from the synergies of the combination and is tested
annually for impairment (see Note 2(n)(iii)).

On disposal of a cash-generating unit during the year, any
attributable amount of purchased goodwill is included in the
calculation of the profit or loss on disposal.
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The Group’s policies for investments in debt and equity securities,
other than investments in subsidiaries, associates and joint ventures,
are set out below.

Investments in debt and equity securities are recognised/
derecognised on the date the Group commits to purchase/sell the
investment. The investments are initially stated at fair value, plus
directly attributable transaction costs, except for those investments
measured at fair value through profit or loss (FVTPL) for which
transaction costs are recognised directly in profit or loss. For an
explanation of how the Group determines fair value of financial
instruments, see Note 29(g). These investments are subsequently
accounted for as follows, depending on their classification.

(i) Investments other than equity investments

Non-equity investments held by the Group are classified into
one of the following measurement categories:

—  amortised cost, if the investment is held for the collection
of contractual cash flows which represent solely
payments of principal and interest. Interest income from
the investment is calculated using the effective interest
method (see Note 2(x)(vi)).

-  fair value through other comprehensive income
(FVTOCI) - recycling, if the contractual cash flows of the
investment comprise solely payments of principal and
interest and the investment is held within a business
model whose objective is achieved by both the collection
of contractual cash flows and sale. Changes in fair value
are recognised in other comprehensive income, except for
the recognition in profit or loss of expected credit losses,
interest income (calculated using the effective interest
method) and foreign exchange gains and losses. When
the investment is derecognised, the amount accumulated
in other comprehensive income is recycled from equity to
profit or loss.

- fair value at profit or loss (FVTPL) if the investment does
not meet the criteria for being measured at amortised
cost or FVTOCI (recycling). Changes in the fair value of
the investment (including interest) are recognised in profit
or loss.
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2 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

(g) Other investments in debt and equity securities
(Continued)

(i)

(iii)

Contingent considerations assumed in business
combinations

Any contingent consideration assumed in a business
combination is measured at fair value at the date of acquisition.
If an obligation to pay contingent consideration that meets
the definition of a financial instrument is classified as equity,
then it is not remeasured and settlement is accounted for
within equity. Otherwise, other contingent consideration is
remeasured at fair value at each reporting date and subsequent
changes in the fair value of the contingent consideration are
recognised in profit or loss.

Equity investments

An investment in equity securities is classified as FVTPL unless
the equity investment is not held for trading purposes and
on initial recognition of the investment the Group makes an
irrevocable election to designate the investment at FVTOCI
(non-recycling) such that subsequent changes in fair value are
recognised in other comprehensive income. Such elections are
made on an instrument-by-instrument basis, but may only be
made if the investment meets the definition of equity from
the issuer’s perspective. Where such an election is made, the
amount accumulated in other comprehensive income remains
in the fair value reserve (non-recycling) until the investment is
disposed of. At the time of disposal, the amount accumulated
in the fair value reserve (non-recycling) is transferred to
retained earnings. It is not recycled through profit or loss.
Dividends from an investment in equity securities, irrespective
of whether classified as at FVTPL or FVTOCI, are recognised in
profit or loss as other income in accordance with the policy set
out in Note 2(x)(v).

(h) Derivative financial instruments
Derivative financial instruments are recognised at fair value. At the
end of each reporting period the fair value is remeasured. The gain
or loss on remeasurement to fair value is recognised immediately in
profit or loss.
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2 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

(i)

()

Investment property

Investment properties are land and/or buildings which are owned
or held under a leasehold interest (see Note 2(m)) to earn rental
income and/or for capital appreciation. These include land held
for a currently undetermined future use and property that is being
constructed or developed for future use as investment property.

Investment properties are stated at fair value, unless they are still
in the course of construction or development at the end of the
reporting period and their fair value cannot be reliably measured at
that time. Any gain or loss arising from a change in fair value or from
the retirement or disposal of an investment property is recognised in
profit or loss. Rental income from investment properties is accounted
for as described in Note 2(x)(ii).

Other property, plant and equipment

The following items of property, plant and equipment are stated at
cost less accumulated depreciation (see Note 2(k)) and impairment
losses (see Note 2(n)(iii)):

—  interest in leasehold land and buildings where the Group is the
registered owner of the property interest (see Note 2(m));

—  right-of-use assets arising from leases over leasehold properties
where the Group is not the registered owner of the property
interest (see Note 2(m)); and

—  furniture, fixtures and other equipment.

The cost of self-constructed items of property, plant and equipment
includes the cost of materials, direct labour, the initial estimate,
where relevant, of the costs of dismantling and removing the items
and restoring the site on which they are located, and an appropriate
proportion of production overheads and borrowing costs (see Note

2(2)).

Gains or losses arising from the retirement or disposal of an item
of property, plant and equipment are determined as the difference
between the net disposal proceeds and the carrying amount of the
item and are recognised in profit or loss on the date of retirement
or disposal. Any related revaluation surplus is transferred from the
property revaluation reserve to retained profits and is not reclassified
to profit or loss.
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2 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
(k) Depreciation of other property, plant and equipment

0]

(i) Ownership and leasehold interests in land and buildings

Depreciation is provided on the cost of the leasehold land of
properties over the unexpired terms of lease. Costs of buildings
thereon are depreciated on a straight-line basis over the shorter
of the unexpired term of lease and their estimated useful lives,
being no more than 50 years after the date of completion.

(ii) Furniture, fixtures and other equipment

Depreciation is calculated to write off the cost of furniture,
fixtures and other equipment, less their estimated residual
value, if any, using the straight-line method over their
estimated useful lives of 3 to 5 years.

Where parts of an item of other property, plant and equipment
have different useful lives, the cost of the item is allocated
on a reasonable basis between the parts and each part is
depreciated separately. Both the useful life of an asset and its
residual value, if any, are reviewed annually.

Intangible assets (other than goodwill)

Expenditure on research activities is recognised as an expense in the
period in which it is incurred. Expenditure on development activities
is capitalised if the product or process is technically and commercially
feasible and the Group has sufficient resources and the intention
to complete development. The expenditure capitalised includes the
costs of materials, direct labour, and an appropriate proportion of
overheads and borrowing costs, where applicable (see Note 2(z)).
Capitalised development costs are stated at cost less accumulated
amortisation and impairment losses (see Note 2(n)(iii)). Other
development expenditure is recognised as an expense in the period
in which it is incurred.

Other intangible assets that are acquired by the Group are stated
at cost less accumulated amortisation (where the estimated useful
life is finite) and impairment losses (see Note 2(n)(iii)). Expenditure
on internally generated goodwill and brands is recognised as an
expense in the period in which it is incurred.

Intangible assets are not amortised while their useful lives are
assessed to be indefinite. Any conclusion that the useful life of
an intangible asset is indefinite is reviewed annually to determine
whether events and circumstances continue to support the indefinite
useful life assessment for that asset. If they do not, the change in
the useful life assessment from indefinite to finite is accounted for
prospectively from the date of change and in accordance with the
policy for amortisation of intangible assets with finite lives.
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the identified asset and to obtain substantially all of the economic
benefits from that use.

(@

As a lessee

Where the contract contains lease component(s) and non-lease
component(s), the Group has elected not to separate non-lease
components and accounts for each lease component and any
associated non-lease components as a single lease component
for all leases.

At the lease commencement date, the Group recognises a
right-of-use asset and a lease liability, except for short-term
leases that have a lease term of 12 months or less and leases of
low-value assets which, for the Group are primarily laptops and
office furniture. When the Group enters into a lease in respect
of a low-value asset, the Group decides whether to capitalise
the lease on a lease-by-lease basis. The lease payments
associated with those leases which are not capitalised are
recognised as an expense on a systematic basis over the lease
term.

Where the lease is capitalised, the lease liability is initially
recognised at the present value of the lease payments payable
over the lease term, discounted using the interest rate implicit
in the lease or, if that rate cannot be readily determined, using
a relevant incremental borrowing rate. After initial recognition,
the lease liability is measured at amortised cost and interest
expense is calculated using the effective interest method.
Variable lease payments that do not depend on an index or
rate are not included in the measurement of the lease liability
and hence are charged to profit or loss in the accounting
period in which they are incurred.
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2 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

(m) Leased assets (Continued)

(@

As a lessee (Continued)

The right-of-use asset recognised when a lease is capitalised is
initially measured at cost, which comprises the initial amount
of the lease liability plus any lease payments made at or
before the commencement date, and any initial direct costs
incurred. Where applicable, the cost of the right-of-use assets
also includes an estimate of costs to dismantle and remove
the underlying asset or to restore the underlying asset or the
site on which it is located, discounted to their present value,
less any lease incentives received. The right-of-use asset is
subsequently stated at cost less accumulated depreciation and
impairment losses (see Notes 2(k) and 2(n)(iii)), except for the
following types of right-of-use asset:

—  right-of-use assets that meet the definition of investment
property are carried at fair value in accordance with Note
2(i); and

—  right-of-use assets related to interests in leasehold land
where the interest in the land is held as inventory are
carried at the lower of cost and net realisable value in
accordance with Note 2(0).

The lease liability is remeasured when there is a change in
future lease payments arising from a change in an index
or rate, or there is a change in the Group's estimate of
the amount expected to be payable under a residual value
guarantee, or there is a change arising from the reassessment
of whether the Group will be reasonably certain to exercise
a purchase, extension or termination option. When the lease
liability is remeasured in this way, a corresponding adjustment
is made to the carrying amount of the right-of-use asset, or is
recorded in profit or loss if the carrying amount of the right-of-
use asset has been reduced to zero.
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2 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

(m) Leased assets (Continued)

(0]

(ii)

As a lessee (Continued)

The lease liability is also remeasured when there is a change
in the scope of a lease or the consideration for a lease that
is not originally provided for in the lease contract (“lease
modification”) that is not accounted for as a separate lease.
In this case the lease liability is remeasured based on the revised
lease payments and lease term using a revised discount rate
at the effective date of the modification. The only exceptions
are any rent concessions which arose as a direct consequence
of the COVID-19 pandemic and which satisfied the conditions
set out in paragraph 46B of HKFRS 16 Leases. In such cases,
the group took advantage of the practical expedient set out
in paragraph 46A of HKFRS 16 and recognised the change in
consideration as if it were not a lease modification.

In the consolidated statement of financial position, the
current portion of long-term lease liabilities is determined as
the present value of contractual payments that are due to be
settled within twelve months after the reporting period.

As a lessor

When the Group acts as a lessor, it determines at lease
inception whether each lease is a finance lease or an operating
lease. A lease is classified as a finance lease if it transfers
substantially all the risks and rewards incidental to the
ownership of an underlying assets to the lessee. If this is not
the case, the lease is classified as an operating lease.

When a contract contains lease and non-lease components,
the Group allocates the consideration in the contract to
each component on a relative stand-alone selling price basis.
The rental income from operating leases is recognised in
accordance with Note 2(x)(ii).

When the Group is an intermediate lessor, the sub-leases
are classified as a finance lease or as an operating lease with
reference to the right-of-use asset arising from the head lease.
If the head lease is a short-term lease to which the Group
applies the exemption described in Note 2(m)(i), then the
Group classifies the sub-lease as an operating lease.
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2 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

(n) Credit losses and impairment of assets

Credit losses from financial instruments and lease
receivables

The Group recognises a loss allowance for expected credit
losses (ECLs) on the following items:

—  financial assets measured at amortised cost (including
cash and cash equivalents, restricted and pledged
deposits, trade receivables and other receivables,
including loans to joint ventures, which are held for the
collection of contractual cash flows which represent solely
payments of principal and interest); and

- lease receivables.

Other financial assets measured at fair value, including equity
and debt securities measured at FVTPL and derivative financial
assets, are not subject to the ECL assessment.

Measurement of ECLs

ECLs are a probability-weighted estimate of credit losses. Credit
losses are measured as the present value of all expected cash
shortfalls (i.e. the difference between the cash flows due to the
Group in accordance with the contract and the cash flows that
the Group expects to receive).

The expected cash shortfalls are discounted using the following
discount rates where the effect of discounting is material:

—  fixed-rate financial assets and trade and other receivables:
effective interest rate determined at initial recognition or
an approximation thereof;

—  variable-rate financial assets: current effective interest
rate; and

- lease receivables: discount rate used in the measurement
of the lease receivable.
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2 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

(n) Credit losses and impairment of assets (Continued)

(0]

Credit losses from financial instruments and lease
receivables (Continued)

Measurement of ECLs (Continued)

The maximum period considered when estimating ECLs is the
maximum contractual period over which the Group is exposed
to credit risk.

In measuring ECLs, the Group takes into account reasonable
and supportable information that is available without undue
cost or effort. This includes information about past events,
current conditions and forecasts of future economic conditions.

ECLs are measured on either of the following bases:

- 12-month ECLs: these are losses that are expected to
result from possible default events within the 12 months
after the reporting date; and

—  lifetime ECLs: these are losses that are expected to result
from all possible default events over the expected lives of
the items to which the ECL model applies.

Loss allowances for trade receivables and lease receivables are
always measured at an amount equal to lifetime ECLs. ECLs
on these financial assets are estimated using a provision matrix
based on the Group’s historical credit loss experience, adjusted
for factors that are specific to the debtors and an assessment
of both the current and forecast general economic conditions
at the reporting date.

For all other financial instruments, the Group recognises a loss
allowance equal to 12-month ECLs unless there has been a
significant increase in credit risk of the financial instrument
since initial recognition, in which case the loss allowance is
measured at an amount equal to lifetime ECLs.
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2 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

(n) Credit losses and impairment of assets (Continued)

(@

Credit losses from financial instruments and lease
receivables (Continued)

Significant increases in credit risk

In assessing whether the credit risk of a financial instrument
has increased significantly since initial recognition, the Group
compares the risk of default occurring on the financial
instrument assessed at the reporting date with that assessed
at the date of initial recognition. In making this reassessment,
the Group considers that a default event occurs when (i) the
borrower is unlikely to pay its credit obligations to the Group in
full, without recourse by the Group to actions such as realising
security (if any is held); or (ii) the financial asset is 90 days past
due. The Group considers both quantitative and qualitative
information that is reasonable and supportable, including
historical experience and forward-looking information that is
available without undue cost or effort.

In particular, the following information is taken into account
when assessing whether credit risk has increased significantly
since initial recognition:

—  failure to make payments of principal or interest on their
contractually due dates;

— an actual or expected significant deterioration in a
financial instrument’s external or internal credit rating (if
available);

— an actual or expected significant deterioration in the
operating results of the debtor; and

—  existing or forecast changes in the technological, market,
economic or legal environment that have a significant
adverse effect on the debtor’s ability to meet its obligation
to the Group.
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2 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

(n) Credit losses and impairment of assets (Continued)

(0]

Credit losses from financial instruments and lease
receivables (Continued)

Significant increases in credit risk (Continued)

Depending on the nature of the financial instruments,
the assessment of a significant increase in credit risk is
performed on either an individual basis or a collective basis.
When the assessment is performed on a collective basis, the
financial instruments are grouped based on shared credit risk
characteristics, such as past due status and credit risk ratings.

ECLs are remeasured at each reporting date to reflect
changes in the financial instrument’s credit risk since initial
recognition. Any change in the ECL amount is recognised as an
impairment gain or loss in profit or loss. The Group recognises
an impairment gain or loss for all financial instruments with a
corresponding adjustment to their carrying amount through
a loss allowance account, except for investments in debt
securities that are measured at FVTOCI (recycling), for which
the loss allowance is recognised in other comprehensive
income and accumulated in the fair value reserve (recycling).

Basis of calculation of interest income

Interest income recognised in accordance with Note 2(x)(vi) is
calculated based on the gross carrying amount of the financial
asset unless the financial asset is credit-impaired, in which case
interest income is calculated based on the amortised cost (i.e.
the gross carrying amount less loss allowance) of the financial
asset.

At each reporting date, the Group assesses whether a financial
asset is credit-impaired. A financial asset is credit-impaired
when one or more events that have a detrimental impact on
the estimated future cash flows of the financial asset have
occurred.



158 XEEBREEARAIF _T-_TFH

e MR
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

(RS A I -

LAETTEIR)

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)

2 EERHEE®
(n) FRBREREERE®)

(i)

THMIAREREENERE
BGE)

FIEBA 71 ERE (&)
UTAEREFTEASHE
EHIRERRE

- EBALREREMFRE:

- EREH mEREH
=

- ERAEAEREHRESR
ETHMM SR

— BT @ESER
TR R B AG T
YEMEASD

_ % %.%{E?ﬁAEEnuﬁﬁﬂz
WK EERTS

7B

g B R ER EFRREN S
MEEXEERWHIE  &~&E
B2 s A (Bh oy k2 80) BRmE
#BE - ZBERBFLHERAE
lﬁEnz1 AL ELERH
imu%ﬁ@éF‘M&U\PﬁfLA
BEFAMHSTE LI -

BE 12 W [B] S5 BT 3EH B B EE R UK
(2] 57 P 7E 48 a5 70 i 2R 45 OB B 33K
8] o

2 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
(n) Credit losses and impairment of assets (Continued)

(@

Credit losses from financial instruments and lease
receivables (Continued)

Basis of calculation of interest income (Continued)

Evidence that a financial asset is credit-impaired includes the
following observable events:

- significant financial difficulties of the debtor;

—  abreach of contract, such as a default or past due event;

— it becoming probable that the borrower will enter into
bankruptcy or other financial reorganisation;

- significant changes in the technological, market,
economic or legal environment that have an adverse
effect on the debtor; or

—  the disappearance of an active market for a security
because of financial difficulties of the issuer.

Write-off policy

The gross carrying amount of a financial asset or lease
receivable is written off (either partially or in full) to the extent
that there is no realistic prospect of recovery. This is generally
the case when the Group determines that the debtor does not
have assets or sources of income that could generate sufficient
cash flows to repay the amounts subject to the write-off.

Subsequent recoveries of an asset that was previously written
off are recognised as a reversal of impairment in profit or loss
in the period in which the recovery occurs.
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2 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

(n) Credit losses and impairment of assets (Continued)
(ii) Credit losses from financial guarantees issued

Financial guarantees are contracts that require the issuer (i.e.
the guarantor) to make specified payments to reimburse the
beneficiary of the guarantee (the “holder”) for a loss the
holder incurs because a specified debtor fails to make payment
when due in accordance with the terms of a debt instrument.

Financial guarantees issued are initially recognised within
“trade and other payables” at fair value, which is determined
by reference to fees charged in an arm’s length transaction
for similar services, when such information is obtainable, or
to interest rate differentials, by comparing the actual rates
charged by lenders when the guarantee is made available with
the estimated rates that lenders would have charged, had the
guarantees not been available, where reliable estimates of such
information can be made. Where consideration is received or
receivable for the issuance of the guarantee, the consideration
is recognised in accordance with the Group’s policies applicable
to that category of asset. Where no such consideration is
received or receivable, an immediate expense is recognised in
profit or loss.

Subsequent to initial recognition, the amount initially
recognised as deferred income is amortised in profit or loss
over the term of the guarantee as income from financial
guarantees issued.

The Group monitors the risk that the specified debtor will
default on the contract and recognises a provision when ECLs
on the financial guarantees are determined to be higher than
the amount carried in “trade and other payables” in respect
of the guarantees (i.e. the amount initially recognised, less
accumulated amortisation).

To determine ECLs, the Group considers changes in the risk
of default of the specified debtor since the issuance of the
guarantee. A 12-month ECL is measured unless the risk that
the specified debtor will default has increased significantly
since the guarantee is issued, in which case a lifetime ECL
is measured. The same definition of default and the same
assessment of significant increase in credit risk as described in
Note 2(n)(i) apply.
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2 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

(n) Credit losses and impairment of assets (Continued)

(i)

(iii)

Credit losses from financial guarantees issued (Continued)

As the Group is required to make payments only in the event
of a default by the specified debtor in accordance with the
terms of the instrument that is guaranteed, an ECL is estimated
based on the expected payments to reimburse the holder for a
credit loss that it incurs less any amount that the Group expects
to receive from the holder of the guarantee, the specified
debtor or any other party. The amount is then discounted using
the current risk-free rate adjusted for risks specific to the cash
flows.

Impairment of other non-current assets

Internal and external sources of information are reviewed at
the end of each reporting period to identify indications that
the following assets may be impaired or, except in the case of
goodwill, an impairment loss previously recognised no longer
exists or may have decreased:

—  property, plant and equipment, including right-of-use
assets;

—  intangible assets;

- goodwill;

— Interests in associates and joint ventures; and

—  investments in subsidiaries in the Company'’s statement of
financial position.

If any such indication exists, the asset's recoverable amount

is estimated. In addition, for goodwill, intangible assets that

are not yet available for use and intangible assets that have

indefinite useful lives, the recoverable amount is estimated
annually whether or not there is any indication of impairment.
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2 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

(n) Credit losses and impairment of assets (Continued)
(iii) Impairment of other non-current assets (Continued)

Calculation of recoverable amount

The recoverable amount of an asset is the greater of
its fair value less costs of disposal and value in use. In
assessing value in use, the estimated future cash flows are
discounted to their present value using a pre-tax discount
rate that reflects current market assessments of the
time value of money and the risks specific to the asset.
Where an asset does not generate cash inflows largely
independent of those from other assets, the recoverable
amount is determined for the smallest group of assets
that generates cash inflows independently (i.e. a cash-
generating unit).

Recognition of impairment losses

An impairment loss is recognised in profit or loss if the
carrying amount of an asset, or the cash-generating unit
to which it belongs, exceeds its recoverable amount.
Impairment losses recognised in respect of cash-
generating units are allocated first to reduce the carrying
amount of any goodwill allocated to the cash-generating
unit (or group of units) and then, to reduce the carrying
amount of the other assets in the unit (or group of units)
on a pro rata basis, except that the carrying value of an
asset will not be reduced below its individual fair value
less costs of disposal (if measurable) or value in use (if
determinable).

Reversals of impairment losses

In respect of assets other than goodwill, an impairment
loss is reversed if there has been a favourable change in
the estimates used to determine the recoverable amount.
An impairment loss in respect of goodwill is not reversed.

A reversal of an impairment loss is limited to the asset’s
carrying amount that would have been determined
had no impairment loss been recognised in prior years.
Reversals of impairment losses are credited to profit or
loss in the year in which the reversals are recognised.
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2 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

(n) Credit losses and impairment of assets (Continued)
(iv) Interim financial reporting and impairment

Under the Listing Rules, the Group is required to prepare an
interim financial report in compliance with HKAS 34, Interim
financial reporting, in respect of the first six months of the
financial year. At the end of the interim period, the Group
applies the same impairment testing, recognition, and reversal
criteria as it would at the end of the financial year (see Notes
2(n)(i) and (iii)).

Impairment losses recognised in an interim period in respect
of goodwill are not reversed in a subsequent period. This is
the case even if no loss, or a smaller loss, would have been
recognised had the impairment been assessed only at the end
of the financial year to which the interim period relates.

(o) Inventories and other contract costs

(@

Inventories

Inventories are assets which are held for sale in the ordinary
course of business, in the process of production for such sale
or in the form of materials or supplies to be consumed in the
production process or in the rendering of services.

Inventories are carried at the lower of cost and net realisable
value as follows:

—  Leasehold land held for development for sale

The cost of leasehold land, which is held for development
for sale, represents the cost of acquisition and the
premium, if any, payable to the relevant government
authorities. Net realisable value is determined by
reference to management estimates based on prevailing
market conditions.

—  Properties held for/under development for sale

The cost of properties held for/under development for
sale comprises specifically identified cost, including the
acquisition cost of interests in leasehold land, aggregate
cost of development, materials and supplies, wages
and other direct expenses, an appropriate proportion of
overheads and borrowing costs capitalised (see Note 2(z)).
Net realisable value represents the estimated selling price,
based on prevailing market conditions, less estimated
costs of completion and costs to be incurred in selling the
property.



mEMBRRMEE
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

(BB B AN

LAETTEIIR)

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)

2 FESTHXR®)
(o) FERHEMEBHMAE (&)

(i) =€

R E -

(%)

FESRTYE
FEHEERTMERK
RBEMARBRA 8
HEARBFEEXEHR
A R AR PTEE RO o

PEBRENERTYE
MmE - HEREERNLED
ZIREBN - B EHKA
REBMNE Y RZER
THB R EAKRANE D
MEEETE AT
VAR BB B I S AR E B
I BB AS B 55 VR o AT
HHFERMGAEERD
EMERELENKA -

BB (85 7 dn K A /e dm

XA LA DN 455 E ©
ARERERE - REBRB
R ey bt & B A ET
ERBRA -

ZEFEMNER

T {6 £ 48 B8 Y\ HEE 32 0 3 o e
R -

T & OB 2= 7] & 3R % (B 6 (E ]

SEMEFENMEEE

K

£
3R & 1B R0 HA R R R 7

X o 7 & A {E fa] R B [ 7

2R

(] 5 i 1 72 Rk R R

RXNEESHE -

TOP SPRING INTERNATIONAL HOLDINGS LIMITED ANNUAL REPORT 2020

163

2 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

(o) Inventories and other contract costs (Continued)

(@

Inventories (Continued)

Completed properties for sale

The cost of completed properties held for sale comprises
all costs of purchase, costs of conversion and other costs
incurred in bringing the inventories to their present
location and condition.

In the case of completed properties developed by the
Group which comprise of multiple units which are sold
individually, the cost of each unit is determined by
apportionment of the total development costs for that
development project to each unit on a per square metre
basis, unless another basis is more representative of the
cost of the specific unit. Net realisable value represents
the estimated selling price less costs to be incurred in
selling the property.

Low value consumables and supplies

Cost is determined using the weighted average method.
Net realisable value is the estimated selling price in the
ordinary course of business less the estimated costs
necessary to make the sale.

When inventories are sold, the carrying amount of those
inventories is recognised as an expense in the period in which
the related revenue is recognised.

The amount of any write-down of inventories to net realisable
value and all losses of inventories are recognised as an expense
in the period the write-down or loss occurs. The amount of
any reversal of any write-down of inventories is recognised
as a reduction in the amount of inventories recognised as an
expense in the period in which the reversal occurs.
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2 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

(o) Inventories and other contract costs (Continued)
(ii) Other contract costs
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Other contract costs are either the incremental costs of
obtaining a contract with a customer or the costs to fulfil a
contract with a customer which are not capitalised as inventory
(see Note 2(o)(i)), property, plant and equipment (see note 2(j))
or intangible assets (see note 2(1)).

Incremental costs of obtaining a contract are those costs that
the Group incurs to obtain a contract with a customer that it
would not have incurred if the contract had not been obtained
e.g. an incremental sales commission. Incremental costs of
obtaining a contract are capitalised when incurred if the costs
relate to revenue which will be recognised in a future reporting
period and the costs are expected to be recovered. Other costs
of obtaining a contract are expensed when incurred.

Costs to fulfil a contract are capitalised if the costs relate
directly to an existing contract or to a specifically identifiable
anticipated contract; generate or enhance resources that
will be used to provide goods or services in the future; and
are expected to be recovered. Costs that relate directly to an
existing contract or to a specifically identifiable anticipated
contract may include direct labour, direct materials, allocations
of costs, costs that are explicitly chargeable to the customer
and other costs that are incurred only because the Group
entered into the contract (for example, payments to sub-
contractors). Other costs of fulfilling a contract, which are not
capitalised as inventory, property, plant and equipment or
intangible assets, are expensed as incurred.

Capitalised contract costs are stated at cost less accumulated
amortisation and impairment losses. Impairment losses are
recognised to the extent that the carrying amount of the
contract cost asset exceeds the net of (i) remaining amount of
consideration that the Group expects to receive in exchange
for the goods or services to which the asset relates, less (i) any
costs that relate directly to providing those goods or services
that have not yet been recognised as expenses.

Amortisation of capitalised contract costs is charged to profit or
loss when the revenue to which the asset relates is recognised.
The accounting policy for revenue recognition is set out in Note
2(x).
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2 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

(p)

(a)

(s)

Contract liabilities

A contract liability is recognised when the customer pays non-
refundable consideration before the Group recognises the related
revenue (see Note 2(x)). A contract liability would also be recognised
if the Group has an unconditional right to receive non-refundable
consideration before the Group recognises the related revenue. In
such cases, a corresponding receivable would also be recognised (see
Note 2(q)).

When the contract includes a significant financing component,
the contract balance includes interest accrued under the effective
interest method (see Note 2(x)).

Trade and other receivables

A receivable is recognised when the Group has an unconditional
right to receive consideration. A right to receive consideration is
unconditional if only the passage of time is required before payment
of that consideration is due. If revenue has been recognised before
the Group has an unconditional right to receive consideration, the
amount is presented as a contract asset.

Receivables are stated at amortised cost using the effective interest
method less allowance for credit losses (see Note 2(n)(i)).

Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash at bank and on hand,
demand deposits with banks and other financial institutions, and
short-term, highly liquid investments that are readily convertible into
known amounts of cash and which are subject to an insignificant risk
of changes in value, having been within three months of maturity at
acquisition. Bank overdrafts that are repayable on demand and form
an integral part of the Group’s cash management are also included
as a component of cash and cash equivalents for the purpose of
the consolidated cash flow statement. Cash and cash equivalents
are assessed for expected credit losses (ECL) in accordance with the
policy set out in Note 2(n)(i).

Trade and other payables

Trade and other payables are initially recognised at fair value. Except
for financial guarantee liabilities measured in accordance with
note 2(n)(ii), trade and other payables are subsequently stated at
amortised cost unless the effect of discounting would be immaterial,
in which case they are stated at cost.
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2 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

(t)

(u)

Interest-bearing borrowings

Interest-bearing borrowings are measured initially at fair value less
transaction costs. Subsequent to initial recognition, interest-bearing
borrowings are stated at amortised cost using the effective interest
method. Interest expense is recognised in accordance with the
Group's accounting policy for borrowing costs (see Note 2(2)).

Employee benefits
(i) Short term employee benefits and contributions to
defined contribution retirement plans

Salaries, annual bonuses, paid annual leave, contributions
to defined contribution retirement plans and the cost of
non-monetary benefits are accrued in the year in which the
associated services are rendered by employees. Where payment
or settlement is deferred and the effect would be material,
these amounts are stated at their present values.

Contributions to Mandatory Provident Funds as required under
the Hong Kong Mandatory Provident Fund Schemes Ordinance,
are recognised as an expense in profit or loss as incurred.

The employees of the Group participate in retirement plans
(defined contribution retirement plans) managed by respective
local governments of the municipalities in which the Group
operates in the PRC. The contribution to the retirement plan
is calculated based on fixed rates of the employees’ salaries
cost and charged to profit or loss as and when incurred,
except to the extent that they are included in the cost of
inventories not yet recognised as an expense. The Group has
no other obligation for the payment of retirement and other
post-retirement benefits of staff other than the contributions
described above.

(ii) Share-based payments

The fair values of share options and awarded shares granted
to employees are recognised as employee costs with a
corresponding increase in a capital reserve within equity. The
fair value is measured at grant date using valuation techniques,
taking into account the terms and conditions upon which
the options and awarded shares were granted. Where the
employees have to meet vesting conditions before becoming
unconditionally entitled to the options, the total estimated fair
values of the options and awarded shares are spread over the
vesting period, taking into account the probability that the
options will vest.
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2 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

(u) Employee benefits (Continued)
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(ii) Share-based payments (Continued)

During the vesting period, the number of share options and
awarded shares that is expected to vest is reviewed. Any
resulting adjustment to the cumulative fair value recognised in
prior years is charged/credited to the profit or loss for the year
of the review, unless the original employee expenses qualify
for recognition as an asset, with a corresponding adjustment
to the capital reserve. On vesting date, the amount recognised
as an expense is adjusted to reflect the actual number of
options and awarded shares that vest (with a corresponding
adjustment to the capital reserve) except where forfeiture is
only due to not achieving vesting conditions that relate to the
market price of the Company’s shares. The equity amount
is recognised in the capital reserve until either the option/
awarded share is exercised (when it is transferred to the share
premium account) or the option/awarded share expires (when
it is released directly to retained profits).

(v) Income tax

Income tax for the year comprises current tax and movements in
deferred tax assets and liabilities. Current tax and movements in
deferred tax assets and liabilities are recognised in profit or loss
except to the extent that they relate to items recognised in other
comprehensive income or directly in equity, in which case the
relevant amounts of tax are recognised in other comprehensive
income or directly in equity, respectively.

Current tax is the expected tax payable on the taxable income for
the year, using tax rates enacted or substantively enacted at the end
of the reporting period, and any adjustment to tax payable in respect
of previous years.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities arise from deductible and taxable
temporary differences respectively, being the differences between
the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities for financial reporting
purposes and their tax bases. Deferred tax assets also arise from
unused tax losses and unused tax credits.
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2 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

(v) Income tax (Continued)

Apart from certain limited exceptions, all deferred tax liabilities, and
all deferred tax assets to the extent that it is probable that future
taxable profits will be available against which the asset can be
utilised, are recognised. Future taxable profits that may support the
recognition of deferred tax assets arising from deductible temporary
differences include those that will arise from the reversal of existing
taxable temporary differences, provided those differences relate
to the same taxation authority and the same taxable entity, and
are expected to reverse either in the same period as the expected
reversal of the deductible temporary difference or in periods into
which a tax loss arising from the deferred tax asset can be carried
back or forward. The same criteria are adopted when determining
whether existing taxable temporary differences support the
recognition of deferred tax assets arising from unused tax losses and
credits, that is, those differences are taken into account if they relate
to the same taxation authority and the same taxable entity, and are
expected to reverse in a period, or periods, in which the tax loss or
credit can be utilised.

The limited exceptions to recognition of deferred tax assets and
liabilities are those temporary differences arising from goodwill
not deductible for tax purposes, the initial recognition of assets or
liabilities that affect neither accounting nor taxable profit (provided
they are not part of a business combination), and temporary
differences relating to investments in subsidiaries to the extent that,
in the case of taxable differences, the Group controls the timing of
the reversal and it is probable that the differences will not reverse
in the foreseeable future, or in the case of deductible differences,
unless it is probable that they will reverse in the future.

Where investment properties are carried at their fair value in
accordance with the accounting policy set out in Note 2(i), the
amount of deferred tax recognised is measured using the tax rates
that would apply on sale of those assets at their carrying value at
the reporting date unless the property is depreciable and is held
within a business model whose objective is to consume substantially
all of the economic benefits embodied in the property over time,
rather than through sale. In all other cases, the amount of deferred
tax recognised is measured based on the expected manner of
realisation or settlement of the carrying amount of the assets and
liabilities, using tax rates enacted or substantively enacted at the end
of the reporting period. Deferred tax assets and liabilities are not
discounted.
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2 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

(v) Income tax (Continued)
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Current tax balances and deferred tax balances, and movements
therein, are presented separately from each other and are not
offset. Current tax assets are offset against current tax liabilities,
and deferred tax assets against deferred tax liabilities, if the Group
or the Company has the legally enforceable right to set off current
tax assets against current tax liabilities and the following additional
conditions are met:

- in the case of current tax assets and liabilities, the Group or the
Company intends either to settle on a net basis, or to realise
the asset and settle the liability simultaneously; or

- in the case of deferred tax assets and liabilities, if they relate to
income taxes levied by the same taxation authority on either:

- the same taxable entity; or

- different taxable entities, which, in each future period
in which significant amounts of deferred tax liabilities
or assets are expected to be settled or recovered,
intend to realise the current tax assets and settle the
current tax liabilities on a net basis or realise and settle
simultaneously.

Provisions, contingent liabilities

Provisions are recognised when the Group has a legal or constructive
obligation arising as a result of a past event, it is probable that an
outflow of economic benefits will be required to settle the obligation
and a reliable estimate can be made. Where the time value of
money is material, provisions are stated at the present value of the
expenditure expected to settle the obligation.
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2 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

(w) Provisions, contingent liabilities (Continued)

(x)

Where it is not probable that an outflow of economic benefits
will be required, or the amount cannot be estimated reliably, the
obligation is disclosed as a contingent liability, unless the probability
of outflow of economic benefits is remote. Possible obligations,
whose existence will only be confirmed by the occurrence or non-
occurrence of one or more future events are also disclosed as
contingent liabilities unless the probability of outflow of economic
benefits is remote.

Revenue and other income

Income is classified by the Group as revenue when it arises from the
sale of properties, the provision of services or the use by others of
the Group’s assets under leases in the ordinary course of the Group’s
business.

Revenue is recognised when control over a product or service is
transferred to the customer, or the lessee has the right to use the
asset, at the amount of promised consideration to which the Group
is expected to be entitled, excluding those amounts collected on
behalf of third parties. Revenue excludes value added tax or other
sales taxes and is after deduction of any trade discounts.

Where the contract contains a financing component which provides
a significant financing benefit to the customer for more than 12
months, revenue is measured at the present value of the amount
receivable, discounted using the discount rate that would be
reflected in a separate financing transaction with the customer, and
interest income is accrued separately under the effective interest
method. Where the contract contains a financing component which
provides a significant financing benefit to the Group, revenue
recognised under that contract includes the interest expense
accreted on the contract liability under the effective interest method.
The Group takes advantage of the practical expedient in paragraph
63 of HKFRS 15 and does not adjust the consideration for any effects
of a significant financing component if the period of financing is 12
months or less.
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2 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

(x) Revenue and other income (Continued)

Further details of the Group’s revenue and other income recognition
policies are as follows:

(0]

(i)

Sale of properties

Revenue arising from the sale of properties in the ordinary
course of business is recognised when property is delivered
to customer in Mainland China or when legal assignment is
completed in Hong Kong, which is the point in time when
the customer has the ability to direct the use of the property
and obtain substantially all of the remaining benefits of the
property. Advanced payments received on properties and
prior to the date of revenue recognition are included in the
statement of financial position as contract liabilities (see Note
2(p)).

For contracts where the period between the payment by the
customer and the transfer of the promised property exceeds
one year, the transaction price and the amount of revenue
from the sales of completed properties is adjusted for the
effects of a financing component. If the advance payments
by the customer are regarded as providing a significant
financing benefit to the Group, interest expense arising from
the adjustment of time value of money will be accrued by the
Group during the period between the payment date and the
date of delivery of property. This accrual increases the balance
of the contract liability during the period of construction,
and therefore increases the amount of revenue recognised
when control of the completed property is transferred to
the customer. The interest is expensed as accrued unless it is
eligible to be capitalised under HKAS 23, Borrowing costs, in
accordance with the policies set out in Note 2(2).

Rental income from operating leases

Rental income receivable under operating leases is recognised
in profit or loss in equal instalments over the accounting
periods covered by the lease term, except where an alternative
basis is more representative of the pattern of benefits to be
derived from the use of the leased asset. Lease incentives
granted are recognised in profit or loss as an integral part
of the aggregate net lease payments receivable. Variable
lease payments that do not depend on an index or a rate are
recognised as income in the accounting period in which they
are earned.
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2 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

(x) Revenue and other income (Continued)

(iii)

(iv)

(v)

(vi)

(vii)

Property management and related services income

Property management and related services income is
recognised when services are provided.

Education related services income

Education related services income is recognised when services
are provided.

Dividends

Dividend income from unlisted investments is recognised when
the shareholder’s right to receive payment is established.

Interest income

Interest income is recognised as it accrues using the effective
interest method using the rate that exactly discounts estimated
future cash receipts through the expected life of the financial
asset to the gross carrying amount of the financial asset. For
financial assets measured at amortised cost that are not credit-
impaired, the effective interest rate is applied to the gross
carrying amount of the asset. For credit-impaired financial
assets, the effective interest rate is applied to the amortised
cost (i.e. gross carrying amount net of loss allowance) of the
asset (see Note 2(n)(i)).

Government grants

Government grants are recognised in the statement of financial
position initially when there is reasonable assurance that
they will be received and that the Group will comply with the
conditions attaching to them. Grants that compensate the
Group for expenses incurred are recognised as income in profit
or loss on a systematic basis in the same periods in which the
expenses are incurred.
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2 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

(y)

(2)

Translation of foreign currencies

Foreign currency transactions during the year are translated at the
foreign exchange rates ruling at the transaction dates. Monetary
assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies are translated
at the foreign exchange rates ruling at the end of the reporting
period. Exchange gains and losses are recognised in profit or loss.

Non-monetary assets and liabilities that are measured in terms of
historical cost in a foreign currency are translated using the foreign
exchange rates ruling at the transaction dates. The transaction date
is the date on which the company initially recognises such non-
monetary assets or liabilities. Non-monetary assets and liabilities
denominated in foreign currencies that are stated at fair value are
translated using the foreign exchange rates ruling at the dates the
fair value was measured.

The results of foreign operations are translated into Hong
Kong dollars at the exchange rates approximating the foreign
exchange rates ruling at the dates of the transactions. Statement
of financial position items are translated into Hong Kong dollars
at the closing foreign exchange rates at the end of the reporting
period. The resulting exchange differences are recognised in other
comprehensive income and accumulated separately in equity in the
exchange reserve.

On disposal of a foreign operation, the cumulative amount of the
exchange differences relating to that foreign operation is reclassified
from equity to profit or loss when the profit or loss on disposal is
recognised.

Borrowing costs

Borrowing costs that are directly attributable to the acquisition,
construction or production of an asset which necessarily takes a
substantial period of time to get ready for its intended use or sale
are capitalised as part of the cost of that asset. Other borrowing
costs are expensed in the period in which they are incurred.

The capitalisation of borrowing costs as part of the cost of a
qualifying asset commences when expenditure for the asset is
being incurred, borrowing costs are being incurred and activities
that are necessary to prepare the asset for its intended use or sale
are in progress. Capitalisation of borrowing costs is suspended or
ceases when substantially all the activities necessary to prepare
the qualifying asset for its intended use or sale are interrupted or
complete.
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2 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

(aa) Non-current assets held for sale

A non-current asset (or disposal group) is classified as held for sale
if it is highly probable that its carrying amount will be recovered
through a sale transaction rather than through continuing use
and the asset (or disposal group) is available for sale in its present
condition. A disposal group is a group of assets to be disposed
of together as a group in a single transaction, and liabilities
directly associated with those assets that will be transferred in the
transaction.

When the Group is committed to a sale plan involving loss of control
of a subsidiary, all the assets and liabilities of that subsidiary are
classified as held for sale when the above criteria for classification as
held for sale are met, regardless of whether the Group still retain a
non-controlling interest in the subsidiary after the sale.

Immediately before classification as held for sale, the measurement
of the non-current assets (and all individual assets and liabilities
in a disposal group) is brought up-to-date in accordance with
the accounting policies before the classification. Then, on initial
classification as held for sale and until disposal, the non-current
assets (except for investment properties which are measured at
fair value), or disposal groups, are recognised at the lower of their
carrying amount and fair value less costs to sell. The principal
exceptions to this measurement policy so far as the financial
statements of the Group are concerned are investment properties.
These assets, even if held for sale, would continue to be measured in
accordance with the policy set out in Note 2(i).

Impairment losses on initial classification as held for sale, and on
subsequent remeasurement while held for sale, are recognised in
profit or loss. As long as a non-current asset is classified as held for
sale, or is included in a disposal group that is classified as held for
sale, the non-current asset is not depreciated or amortised.
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2 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
(bb)Related parties

(a)

(b)

A person, or a close member of that person’s family, is related
to the Group if that person:

(i)
(ii)

(iii)

has control or joint control over the Group;

has significant influence over the Group; or

is a member of the key management personnel of the
Group or the Group’s parent.

An entity is related to the Group if any of the following
conditions applies:

(i

(ii)

(iii)

(iv)

(vi)

(vii)

(viii)

The entity and the Group are members of the same group
(which means that each parent, subsidiary and fellow
subsidiary is related to the others).

One entity is an associate or joint venture of the other
entity (or an associate or joint venture of a member of a
group of which the other entity is a member).

Both entities are joint ventures of the same third party.

One entity is a joint venture of a third entity and the other
entity is an associate of the third entity.

The entity is a post-employment benefit plan for the
benefit of employees of either the Group or an entity
related to the Group.

The entity is controlled or jointly controlled by a person
identified in (bb)(a).

A person identified in (bb)(a)(i) has significant influence
over the entity or is a member of the key management
personnel of the entity (or of a parent of the entity).

The entity, or any member of a group of which it is a
part, provides key management personnel services to the
Group or to the Group’s parent.

Close members of the family of a person are those family members
who may be expected to influence, or be influenced by, that person
in their dealings with the entity.
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2 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

(cc) Segment reporting
Operating segments, and the amounts of each segment item
reported in the financial statements, are identified from the financial
information provided regularly to the Group’s most senior executive
management for the purposes of allocating resources to, and
assessing the performance of, the Group’s various lines of business
and geographical locations.

Individually material operating segments are not aggregated for
financial reporting purposes unless the segments have similar
economic characteristics and are similar in respect of the nature of
products and services, the nature of production processes, the type
or class of customers, the methods used to distribute the products or
provide the services, and the nature of the regulatory environment.
Operating segments which are not individually material may be
aggregated if they share a majority of these criteria.

3 ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENT AND ESTIMATES

Other than those disclosed elsewhere in these financial statements, the
key sources of estimation uncertainty and critical accounting judgements
in applying the Group’s accounting policies are described below.

(a) Valuation of investment properties
As described in Note 12, investment properties are stated at fair
value based on the valuation performed by an independent firm of
professional valuers.

In determining the fair value of investment properties, the valuers
have based on a method of valuation which involves, inter alia,
certain estimates including current market rents and market price for
similar properties in the same location, and condition, appropriate
discount rates and expected future market rents.

In relying on the valuation report, management has exercised their
judgement and is satisfied that the method of valuation is reflective
of the current market conditions.

(b) Valuation of receivables from the third parties
As described in Notes 17 and 29(f), receivables from the third parties
are measured at FVTPL and classified as level 3 financial instruments
in the fair value hierarchy.
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3 ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENT AND ESTIMATES

(Continued)

(b)

(c)

(d)

Valuation of receivables from the third parties
(Continued)

In determining the fair value of receivables from the third parties, the
Group has based on valuation models which require a number of
inputs and assumptions which are not observable from market data
and are significant to the entire measurement. Management has
exercised their judgement and is satisfied that valuation models are
reflective of the features of receivables from the third parties. Given
the uncertainties in determining the inputs used in the valuation
models, the estimated fair value may change at the end of each
reporting period. Any increase or decrease in estimates would affect
income statement in the future years.

Impairment of non-current assets

If circumstances indicate that the carrying amounts of property, plant
and equipment, intangible assets, interest in associates and joint
ventures and goodwill may not be recoverable, the assets may be
considered impaired and are tested for impairment. An impairment
loss is recognised when the asset’s recoverable amount has declined
below its carrying amount. The recoverable amount is the greater
of the fair value less costs to sell and value in use. In determining
the recoverable amount which requires significant judgements, the
Group estimates the future cash flows to be derived from continuing
use and ultimate disposal of the asset and applies an appropriate
discount rate to these future cash flows.

Provision for PRC LAT

As explained in note 8(a), the Group has estimated, made and
included in tax provision for PRC LAT according to the requirements
set forth in the relevant PRC tax laws and regulations. The actual
PRC LAT liabilities are subject to the determination by the tax
authorities upon completion of the property development projects
and the tax authorities might disagree with the basis on which the
provision for PRC LAT is calculated. Significant judgment is required
in determining the level of provision, as the calculation of which
depends on the ultimate tax determination. Given the uncertainties
of the calculation basis of PRC LAT as interpreted by the local tax
bureau, the actual outcomes may be higher or lower than those
estimated at the end of the reporting period. Any increase or
decrease in the actual outcomes/estimates will impact the income
tax provision in the period in which such determination is made.
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3 ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENT AND ESTIMATES

(Continued)

(e) Deferred tax liabilities

(f)

The Group has leased out certain of the completed properties to
third parties whereby the directors consider that such arrangement is
not temporary. In the circumstance, the Group has decided to treat
those properties as investment properties because it is the Group’s
intention to hold these properties in long-term for rental income
and/or capital appreciation.

Under HKAS 12, deferred tax is required to be measured with
reference to the tax consequences that would follow the manner in
which the entity expects to recover the carrying amount of the assets
in question. In this regard, HKAS 12 has a rebuttable presumption
that the carrying amount of investment property carried at fair value
under HKAS 40, Investment property, will be recovered through sale.
This presumption is rebutted on a property-by-property basis if the
investment property in question is depreciable and is held within a
business model whose objective is to consume substantially all of the
economic benefits embodied in the investment property over time,
rather than through sale.

In this connection, the Group has reviewed its investment property
portfolio on a regular basis and has concluded that as at 31
December 2020, the Group has determined that each of these
properties are held within a business model whose objective is to
consume substantially all of the economic benefits embodied in the
investment property over time and consequently the presumption
in HKAS 12 is rebutted for these properties. As a result, the Group
has continued to measure the deferred tax relating to these
other properties using the tax rate that would apply as a result of
recovering their value through use.

Recognition of deferred tax assets

Deferred tax assets are recognised and measured based on the
expected manner of realisation or settlement of the carrying amount
of the assets, using tax rates enacted or substantively enacted at the
end of the reporting period. In determining the carrying amounts
of deferred tax assets, expected taxable profits are estimated
which involves a number of assumptions relating to the operating
environment of the Group and require a significant level of judgment
exercised by the directors. Any change in such assumptions and
judgment would affect the carrying amounts of deferred tax assets
to be recognised and hence the net profit in future years.
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3 ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENT AND ESTIMATES

(Continued)

(g) Determining the provision for inventories

As explained in note 2(o), the Group’s land held for future
development, properties under development and completed
properties held for sale are stated at the lower of cost and net
realisable value. Based on the Group’s recent experience and the
nature of the subject property, the Group makes estimates of the
selling price, the costs of completion in case for properties under
development, and the costs to be incurred in selling the properties.

If there is an increase in costs to completion or a decrease in net sales
value, provision for completed properties held for sale, properties
held for future development and under development for sale may be
resulted. Such provision requires the use of judgment and estimates.
Where the expectation is different from the original estimate, the
carrying value and provision for properties in the periods in which
such estimate is changed will be adjusted accordingly.

Given the volatility of the PRC property market and the distinctive
nature of individual properties, the actual outcomes in terms of
costs and revenue may be higher or lower than estimated at the end
of the reporting period. Any increase or decrease in the provision
would affect profit or loss in future years.
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4 REVENUE AND SEGMENT REPORTING

(a) Revenue
Revenue represents income from sale of properties, rental income,
income from provision of property management and related services
and income from provision of education related services earned
during the year, net of value added tax and other sales related taxes
and discounts allowed.

Further details regarding the Group’s principal activities are disclosed
in Note 4(b).

(i) Disaggregation of revenue

Disaggregation of revenue from contracts with customers by
major products or service lines is as follows:

EBUBEREERFE 155 Revenue from contracts with
AMEZEFRTAHRKA customers within the scope
of HKFRS 15
—MEEE — Sales of properties 79,211 162,348
—EEERBEBREUWA  ~ Property management and related
services income 228,176 237,217
—H B RBRBBA — Education related services income 36,536 47,696
343,923 447,261
H i RIRAUA Revenue from other sources
REBREMENHC LR Gross rentals from investment
properties
— & 7E S BUR B ) 2 ) — Lease payments that are fixed or
HERR depend on a rate 218,104 255,846
— PHURR B EH — Variable lease payments that do not
AIEMEENR depend on an index or a rate 13,024 16,139
231,128 271,985
575,051 719,246

Ly R R MR T 5 R P AT AY
O NG s == N D
A(b)(i) K2 4(b)iii) °

Disaggregation of revenue from contracts with customers by
divisions and by geographic markets is disclosed in Notes 4(b)(i)
and 4(b)(iii) respectively.
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4 REVENUE AND SEGMENT REPORTING (Continued)

(a) Revenue (Continued)
(i) Revenue expected to be recognised in the future arising

from contracts with customers in existence at the
reporting date

As at 31 December 2020, the aggregated amount of
HK$1,058,322,000 (2019: HK$54,650,000) under the Group’s
existing contracts expected to be recognised as revenue
in the future upon delivery of properties to customers in
Mainland China or upon the completion of legal assignment
in Hong Kong. This amount includes the interest component
of properties sales contracts under which the Group obtains
significant financing benefits from the customers (see Note
2(x)(i)). The Group will recognise the expected revenue in
future when or as the work is completed or, in the case of
the properties under development for sale and completed
properties for sale, when the properties are assigned to the
customers, which is expected to occur over the next 12 to 24
months.

The Group has applied the practical expedient in paragraph
121 of HKFRS 15 to its property management and related
services and education related services such that the above
information does not include information about revenue that
the Group will recognise at the amount to which it has a
right to invoice, which corresponds directly to the value to the
customer of the Group’s performance completed to date.
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4 REVENUE AND SEGMENT REPORTING (Continued)

(b) Segment reporting

The Group manages its businesses by divisions, which are organised
by a mixture of both business lines (products and services)
and geography. In a manner consistent with the way in which
information is reported internally to the Group’s most senior
executive management for the purposes of resource allocation and
performance assessment, the Group has presented the following
four reportable segments. No operating segments have been
aggregated to form the following reportable segments:

—  Property development: this segment develops and sells
residential and retail properties.

—  Property investment: this segment leases shopping arcades,
club houses, serviced apartments and car park units to
generate rental income and to gain from the appreciation in
the properties’ values in the long term. Currently, the Group’s
investment property portfolio is located entirely in the Mainland
China and Hong Kong.

—  Property management and related services: this segment
mainly provides property management and related services
to purchasers and tenants of the Group’s self-developed
residential and retail properties and decoration services to
group companies.

—  Education related services: this segment mainly provides
education related services and products to students.

(i) Segment results, assets and liabilities

For the purposes of assessing segment performance and
allocating resources between segments, the Group’s senior
executive management monitors the results, assets and
liabilities attributable to each reportable segment on the
following bases:

Segment assets include all tangible, intangible assets, non-
current and current assets with the exception of interests in
associates and joint ventures, other financial assets other than
receivables from the third parties, prepaid tax, deferred tax
assets and other corporate assets. Segment liabilities include
trade and other payables and lease liabilities attributable to the
operating activities of the individual segments and bank and
other borrowings managed directly by the segments.
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4 REVENUE AND SEGMENT REPORTING (Continued)
(b) Segment reporting (Continued)

(@

Segment results, assets and liabilities (Continued)

Revenue and expenses are allocated to the reportable segments
with reference to revenues generated by those segments and
the expenses incurred by those segments.

The measure used for reporting segment profit is “adjusted
EBITDA" i.e. “adjusted earnings before interest, taxes,
depreciation and amortisation”, where “depreciation and
amortisation” is regarded as including impairment losses on
non-current assets. To arrive at adjusted EBITDA, the Group's
earnings are further adjusted for items which are non-recurring
or not specifically attributed to individual segments, such as
share of profits less losses of associates and joint ventures,
other revenue and net income, valuation change on investment
properties and investment properties classified as held for sale,
impairment loss on trade and other receivables and other head
office or corporate expenses.

In addition to receiving segment information concerning
adjusted EBITDA, management is provided with segment
information concerning inter-segment sales, interest income
and expense from cash balances and borrowings managed
directly by the segments, depreciation and amortisation,
valuation changes on investment properties and investment
properties classified as held for sale, impairment loss on trade
and other receivables and additions to non-current segment
assets used by the segments in their operations. Inter-segment
sales are priced with reference to prices charged to external
parties for similar orders.

Disaggregation of revenue from contracts with customers,
revenue from other sources as well as information regarding
the Group’s reportable segments as provided to the Group's
most senior executive management for the purposes of
resource allocation and assessment of segment performance
for the years ended 31 December 2020 and 2019 is set out
below.
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4 WARDE®RE @) 4 REVENUE AND SEGMENT REPORTING (Continued)

(b) ZEWE (&) (b) Segment reporting (Continued)
() oPEE BEEREEE) (i)

Segment results, assets and liabilities (Continued)

HEEER 48
NELR NERE R HERE it
Property managementand ~ Education related
Property development Property investment related services services Total
C8o8F E-NF CERCBE E0F CE0EE 3 £ Z328F CR0f
2020 2019 2020 2019 2020 2020 2020 2019
r i S i n T n r fr
§1000 §000 §000 §1000 §000 §1000 §1000 §000
REAREFHUA Revenue from external customers 1M 16238 B %S N6 3120 36,536 476% 575,051 719,246
BTN Interseqment evenue - N T 7 N1 - - B 189
REABUA Reportable segment revenue 1M 162348 200447 3645 346030 317510 36,536 a76% A4 863199
BEAB(BE)/BA Reportable segment (oss)profi
(BEEBIDA) (adjusted EBITDA) (178203) (126863 163846 187639 12933 2015 (1,508) 2574 (3022) 87,365
FORHHEMA Iterest income fiom bark deposts B g 4,005 98t 910 125 s S Bl N
ERHERA Othr interest ncome N 506 - - - - - - 5
flekx Inferest expense (235516)  (88971) (57699 (31,039 (8.5%) (2.994) - (353 (o811 B3B3
it Deprcton and amortiation (M41) (56 B BE) (o) (29 @) @Y (19589 (2141
EERERELTAS  impaiment losson rade and other
AERE receliables (1,7%) (1117) (15%) (6,864) (2.240) (5062) (8,576) (580 (14200 (1963
FERRRDAEEAETE Farvalue gaintloss) onfinancil asses
SREENDRERNE/  measuedatPTRL
(&%) noe) - - - 7 /B 71 NS
REMERARERE  Valation lossesigains on ivestment
HEMRANZOLE  propertes and investment properties
(B8)/ha dlsfied as hed for sae - - s 19749 - - - - (M 19749
EREETHATEE  Addtonsto non-urentseqent
assets during the year 2350 857 1947 91 1120 211 B 2111 5748 6,05
RENDEE Reportable segment assets 1906460 1713535 20424 6200360 494307 8109 M54 15354 2630489 2401038
fEABEE Reportable segment liabilities 13812341 11791688 1,000473 954291 138 29083 53,283 59297 15249319 13,0%,109
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4 WARDEBEHE @) 4 REVENUE AND SEGMENT REPORTING (Continued)
(b) 7AW (40)
(i) BEIBBA -BE HER
BENHIR

(b) Segment reporting (Continued)
(ii) Reconciliations of reportable segment revenues, profit or
loss, assets and liabilities

KA Revenue
HE D HBBA Reportable segment revenue 742,224 863,199
2 B REUL A A Elimination of inter-segment revenue (167,173) (143,953)
A WA (K5t 4@)) Consolidated revenue (Note 4(a)) 575,051 719,246
BB Loss
REASEIINARTFH Reportable segment (loss)/profit
WwEDI(E1E),BF derived from Group’s external
customers (3,022) 87,365
DA E R BEE Share of losses of associates (2,122) (2,621)
DEEEREEIR Share of losses of joint ventures (8,992) (15,781)
EH bl ARz (E518) Other revenue and net income/(loss)
R 188,687 (226,821)
B 5 Rk H At RN EIE R Impairment loss on trade and other
BB 1R receivables (18,527) (28,462)
T8 R Depreciation and amortisation (39,261) (38,447)
RE KA Finance costs (301,811) (323,353)
WEMERD B RIFE Valuation (losses)/gains on
HERNRAEMENGE investment properties and
(&18) M investment properties classified
as held for sale (77,944) 197,409
AOBBIREERT Unallocated head office and
corporate expenses (83,612) (93,678)
LAEBRTATEE Consolidated loss before taxation (346,604) (444,389)
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4 WARDE®RE @) 4 REVENUE AND SEGMENT REPORTING (Continued)
(b) P}/ (5)
(i) WEDBKA - 8% BER
SENYHE ()

(b) Segment reporting (Continued)
(ii) Reconciliations of reportable segment revenues, profit or
loss, assets and liabilities (Continued)

&= Assets
WEDHEE Reportable segment assets 26,137,469 24,010,363
RN L= o 7 Interest in associates 7,072 8,739
REEPENRER Interest in joint ventures 423,328 423,597
HEfhemEE Other financial assets 316,828 301,849
AR Prepaid tax 38,846 20,891
BEREFIBEE Deferred tax assets 85,540 75,212
AOBBE RPEEE Unallocated head office and

corporate assets 172,795 174,971
LAEREE Consolidated total assets 27,181,878 25,015,622
a8& Liabilities
WEDHEE Reportable segment liabilities 15,249,379 13,096,109
FERTHEIR Tax payable 168,259 716,509
RIETIRE B Deferred tax liabilities 1,355,501 1,105,800
AOBBEREEEE Unallocated head office and

corporate liabilities 254,497 257,031
GAaBaE Consolidated total liabilities 17,027,636 15,175,449
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4 WARDEHRE ® 4 REVENUE AND SEGMENT REPORTING (Continued)
(b) 2 EBHRE (&) (b) Segment reporting (Continued)
(iii) WEER (iii) Geographic information

TREHEBOAEER A I
BB 2 P e WA R (i) AN 5 B
REME HWE BEK
RE BUEE BERNY
BREIRAELENELR &
U 58 = 75 3R IR B A MR OR
((EEFRBEE]) WIEEL
BEEN - TP MMIBAE TR
BRERBTRRXNEMNLE -
BEFRRBDEENMENET)
REEEERME (KWAKRE
MEREMYE BB RERE)
mEMB(MRABVEE B
BREAMIER G EKRIE) &
REME (MANRBERRR
BELFMERD) BB D

The following table sets out information about the
geographical location of (i) the Group’s revenue from external
customers and (ii) the Group's investment properties, other
property, plant and equipment, intangible assets, goodwill and
interests in associates and joint ventures, receivables from the
third parties and other receivables (“specified non-current
assets”). The geographical location of customers is based on
the location at which the services were provided or the goods
delivered. The geographical location of the specified non-
current assets is based on the physical location of the asset,
in the case of investment properties and other property, plant
and equipment, the location of the operation to which they are
allocated, in the case of intangible assets, goodwill and other
non-current receivables, and the location of operations, in the
case of interests in associates and joint ventures.

Sl ap ) Mainland China
B Hong Kong
SE M Australia

RANHPEFHRA REFRBEE
Revenue from external customers  Specified non-current assets

“ESRF ZFNF 0 ZBSERF ZTNF
2020 2019 2020 2019
T T Tr T
$'000 $'000 $'000 $'000
530,486 664,369 8,451,905 7,532,118
44,565 54,877 576,608 448,146
- - 390,589 355,233

575,051 719,246 9,419,102 8,335,497
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5 HiA 5 OTHER REVENUE

RIT AL A Bank interest income 39,605 56,083
H At F B A Other interest income 39,435 55,206
REERATTESREED Interest income on financial assets
FEWA measured at amortised cost 79,040 111,289
REKEHE (HIEEYE Rental income from operating leases,
BEERIN HESUA other than those relating to investment
properties 35,842 30,403
HERUA Compensation income 10,331 -
REEERBUWA Construction management service income - 1,208
A AR WA Other service income 1,826 3,341
At (P 5E) Others (Note) 12,906 7,578
139,945 153,819
Mkt EEAEBURRNBTHEDS S E8 Note: This mainly represents the government grants received by the Group which are
Mt BB A B 5t COVID-19 A R 1T R EL R A mainly related to subsidies for staff retention, interest in bank loans, operation
BRET  RITERFE EXEAREIL supporting of industrial capital headquarters and compensation for salaries paid to
BYEREMNESTFSHENHMER - employees received by certain subsidiaries related to COVID-19 pandemic.
6 HWA (FBE) EEE 6 OTHER NET INCOME/(LOSS)

HEH B R RN (5E) Net (loss)/gain on disposal of subsidiaries

Was B EE (MFE21(e) (Note 21(e)) (269) 565
HE—MeEErENEBIEFE Net loss on disposal of a joint venture (5,456) -
FBERERAABEAREER Fair value gain/(loss) on financial assets

BEEMAABAEKS (&) measured at FVTPL 49,943 (390,904)
B 5, W 2 5 B8 Net exchange gain 4,576 8,287
HESEABIEHEMNIREYE  Net gain on sale of investment properties

W 558 classified as held for sale = 1,611
HEWE  HEREZED Net (loss)/gain on disposal of property,

(BB) s F58 plant and equipment (138) 487
Brips A R RESELEMAE  Amortisation of loss arising from the

issuance of convertible bonds - (1,858)

HAh Others 86 1,172

48,742 (380,640)
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7 FRBIATESE
BBLBIAIER NG GEA) U T & H K
PR :

7 LOSS BEFORE TAXATION

Loss before taxation is arrived at after charging/(crediting):

(a) BE KA (a) Finance costs
RITREAMEEF L Interest on bank and other
borrowings 21(c) 558,233 568,841
HEAREFE Interest on lease liabilities 21(c) 4,022 5,237
EAEHNF R Interest on bonds payable 21(c) 41,330 68,054
FE AT FE 22 AR IR R AR Interest on amounts due to
=R AINSK non-controlling interests 14,552 1,976
AIR AR E H 7 B Interest on convertible bonds = 7,610
HMEERAR Other borrowing costs 15,915 9,849
634,052 661,567
ERHBEERMER D Accrued interest on significant
B FEETFILE financing component of contract
liabilities 6,098 6,961
640,150 668,528
o B AME R EE Less: amount capitalised (338,339) (345,175)
301,811 323,353

sk EERADEN T1.77% = 14.0% B & F|
R(ZE—NE :2.79% £ 16.6%) EA1L -

Note: The borrowing costs have been capitalised at rates ranging from 1.77% to 14.0%
(2019: 2.79% to 16.6%) per annum.
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7 BRTAIEIE @

7 LOSS BEFORE TAXATION (Continued)

(b) ET A (b) Staff costs
e IEREMAR Salaries, wages and other benefits 209,214 244,493
M) E R FUR KR I 3R Contributions to defined contribution
(B %) retirement plans (Note) 4,916 10,256
% 45 B AR 1 S2 D A 2 Equity settled share-based payment
expenses - 2,559
214,130 257,308
() HtEE (c) Other items
P& R Depreciation and amortisation
—FM - RKEREMEEEE — furniture, fixtures and other fixed
assets 9,873 8,183
—(ERAEEE — right-of-use assets 29,388 30,264
39,261 38,447
BEEWEKAR Cost of properties sold 98,623 82,362
wEMEHHESEA Rental income from investment
properties 231,128 271,985
W B Less: Direct outgoings (19,996) (14,600)
211,132 257,385
(3Gl Auditors’ remuneration
— RIS — audit services 4,784 4,784
—E AR — other services 3,047 3,674
7,831 8,458
MizE - RACOVID- 19 BEHE BB =T =% Note: Due to the impact of COVID-19 pandemic, a number of policies including the relief

FARBMZEBE  BRELERBER -
LABNIRAR B A B IR 1R - {82 F M BR (3R AT 2
HYE TR A TR -

of social insurance have been promulgated by the government since February 2020
to expedite resumption of economic activities, which contributed to the relief of
certain cost of defined contribution scheme during the year.
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8 FEw 8 INCOME TAX
() 3 AGABEENOFMEHE L

(a) Income tax charged to consolidated statement of profit or loss
represents:

HEABLE Current tax
PR EAER ([RZEHREBH]) Net reversal for PRC Corporate Income

e EIpE Tax (“CIT") (135,050) (157,108)
TG ER ([ L B EB ) Net reversal for Land Appreciation Tax

CEIpES (“LAT") (5,463) (7,447)
TR B [ Reversal for withholding tax (4,257) (2,015)
BB R Deferred tax (144,770) (166,570)
M ERENES RER Origination and reversal of temporary

differences 165,702 252,109

20,932 85,539

REEBRLES ((RBELEHE])
EHRESESHARANRRN  AEHE
BABMNEBREZHERHAERS
M EAAREH -

HRAEBNEENBRAIREE
—EZTFER=ZZFT—NFE+=A
=+ — B 1L FE I R AR
MEABFNESHOERT AN - I
EBRBENESHRIELREE BRES
MEArRZBEHEREEZEEH]
EBERIE16.5% 8 b = 5112 B
FHN -

TEMSHRBEIIZRANEBANFEH
A b BB R A A il 5T FE AR R &R
HIEAERCEMSHBRTHE -
MZzEHETREFBEABAER
HARHHEE BHEZZTZ-ZTF
T-A=+—BHLEFENERLE
FIERHEE25% (ZE—NF:
25%) °

Pursuant to the rules and regulations of the British Virgin Islands
(“BVI") and the Cayman Islands, the Group is not subject to any
income tax in the BVI and the Cayman Islands.

No provision was made for Hong Kong Profits Tax as the Group’s
Hong Kong subsidiaries did not earn any assessable profits subject to
Hong Kong Profits Tax for the years ended 31 December 2020 and
2019, except for the Hong Kong subsidiaries in principal activities of
education related services, which calculated the provision for Hong
Kong Profits Tax at 16.5%.

The provision for CIT is based on the respective applicable CIT
rates on the estimated assessable profits of the subsidiaries in the
Mainland China within the Group as determined in accordance
with the relevant income tax rules and regulations of the PRC. The
applicable CIT rate was 25% for the year ended 31 December 2020
(2019: 25%).



192 X EEREEARAT T _ZFH

e MR
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

(RS ERBIN - LETIIR)
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)

8 it

B E
{ 4 )
S (#5)

(a)

(%)

REERPFEAMEEERMEREN
MEREMBFAEMNREYWEALR L
I3 (B 18 fE LA 30% 2= 60% K 2 EFH
T+ IR ER - MR EEA R
Bl - L HbIBE TR L EMEMS
SRIERL AT 0% B S (‘8 5 Lt {5 R 4
HESZH EHERARMBEER
MEERASZ)GE -

ARBE—MEING &R RRIRE
MEWARAEERBE WA - AR —
BEENERBRSEAME SR
BYER PTG RIBRETAHIN -

FN-ARESHEREMBLAN
THIEERETEE  AFEED
A9 1 th 38 8 7 15 5K 342,265,000 78 T
(Z=Z— A4 : 570,196,000 7T )
WEAEINCEMSH - Bt B
AFEEMNCEMEREERARS
EMHEEECHEELHAE - A
A T TR AERRYEE

S B 488
HERRE -

8

INCOME TAX (Continued)
(a) (Continued)

LAT is levied on properties developed and investment properties held
by the Group in the Mainland China for sale, at progressive rates
ranging from 30% to 60% on the appreciation of land value, which
under the applicable regulations is calculated based on the proceeds
of sale of properties less deductible expenditures including lease
charges of land use right, borrowing costs and all qualified property
development expenditures.

Withholding taxes are levied on interest income and related services
income earned from an overseas joint venture by the Company and
proceeds from the sale of investment properties in the Mainland
China by a Hong Kong subsidiary.

During the year, as a result of clearance of LAT settlement
of a subsidiary by the respective tax bureau, LAT payment of
HK$342,265,000 (2019: HK$570,196,000) made in this year
considered CIT deductible. Accordingly, a provision of CIT in prior
years and the corresponding deferred tax assets with same amount
were adjusted. There is no net impact to the consolidated statement
of profit or loss in 2020 in this respect.
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8 M@ 8 INCOME TAX (Continued)
(b) FIEHRAYERERBEAENS (b) Reconciliation between income tax expense and accounting loss at
s (E1R) /RFILERWNT - applicable tax rates:

BB R 18 Loss before taxation (346,604) (444,389)

MR ATE BN ZETE (JREBH  Notional tax on loss before taxation,
BAREERMBEABEGHE) calculated at the rates applicable to

the jurisdictions concerned (38,581) (27,648)

e MR E Effect of non-deductible expenses 25,625 24,653
BT EEARERTIERE  Effect of prior years’ unrecognised tax

-2 losses utilised (5,872) (11,045)
FEAMBEIERAERLEME Effect of unused tax losses and

EZRENpE temporary differences not recognised 101,407 181,629
BEFEBERE Over-provision in respect of prior years (57.550) (79,077)
THIEED LAT (5,463) (7,447)
TR ER B EAIEL TS Z Deferred tax effect on LAT provision 1,366 4,474
BERMEHAX Actual income tax expense 20,932 85,539

() HABIHRENENAFIA (c) Current taxation in the consolidated statement of financial position
represents:

AR Prepaid tax:

T I AR LAT 38,846 20,891
EASHIE : Tax payable:

RS PRC CIT (126,840) (324,171)
TR Withholding tax (39,730) (39,773)
T IE(E LAT (1,689) (352,565)

(168,259) (716,509)
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8 FEHR®W 8 INCOME TAX (Continued)

d) ERAELEHEEERAR (d) Deferred tax assets and liabilities recognised
RERE B ISARR R AR AR E TR The components of deferred tax liabilities/(assets) recognised in the
BRE(BE)AKED REAND consolidated statement of financial position and the movements
BEMT : during the year are as follows:

it HHEER
FRAAE HaEst: / B RpERH
AHE it A% EREER  RHER THIAE 28

Depreciation

allowances Fairvalue  Temporary

in excess Impact adjustment  differences Other
of related lease  ofinterest Revaluation on business onLAT Unused  Distributable  temporary
depreciation  amangement  capitalisation of properties combination  provision  Accruals  tax losses profits  differences
Bt S S S i i i i r
Note l $1000 §000 §1000 §1000 §1000 §/000 §1000 $1000

AUATEREENELHE: Deferred tax arising from:

RoE-AE-F-B At lanuary 2019 142,700 (9,200) M3 993 0 5% B (860 45088 6179 799280
REEPIR/GEA)  Chargedlvedted) toprofitorloss  8f) 3341 3087 38162 58231 (1961 137811 2,166 688 (1863 252,109
3 Bichange adjustments 3616) 14 36 (1513) B3:830) 2N 1% 216 (955) 53 (080

RZE-AE+ZA=1-8 At31 December 2019 and
Rk-E-35-A-A 1 January 2020 1,425 (5,891) 37,085 153,027 173,940 (112,579) (5,963) (17,697) 4130 (7889 1,030,588

REEMIR/ (A Chagedloedted opoftorlos 8d 4657 36M 0 (1908) 16,53 1064 (17089 1606 165702
e Eichange adustrens 14101 (86) W s 14 (34) BB ey (g meM

i3 At 31 December 2020
t-Azt-8 33483 23n3) 69,553 782,091 185,430 370 (532 (36,99) 47,085 (6761)  1.269,91

e B R AR ERE Net deferred tax assets recognised

RERIEE EFE in the consolidated statement of
financial position (85,540) (75,212)
e B R AR ERE Net deferred tax liabilities recognised
EERIE B (EF 58 in the consolidated statement of
financial position 1,355,501 1,105,800

1,269,961 1,030,588
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8 Fi®Hw
(e) RHERELEFBEE -

()

WARB THIER BRAOBELEHIEER
=
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INCOME TAX (Continued)

(e) Deferred tax assets not recognised:

Deferred tax assets have not been recognised in respect of the
following items:

AR EREER Deductible temporary differences 1,375,803 1,371,450

REYATIEEE Unused tax losses

— & (ML) - Hong Kong (Note (i) 17,428 11,830

— R B b (B E Gi)) — Mainland China (Note (ii)) 1,709,073 1,334,981
3,102,304 2,718,261

P &E -

() BERITBBER KB EBIEEE
TR -

(i) APARABRARERELEFEL
AR E R RS AFARNRRD
B RBABBEBER_T=—F
E-T_AFHRHEH -

F 70 AJ BE I B 4 K 2R B AR AR &L R
ARAREHETMRESEERELKR
BRANEER RAKELRRE
THEARNATMRESEEER
ARBARBAERERELERAEE

AERBEEHRIARE -

REFTSRABAREERMAEE
PFRERGCER -_TETNE—A—
BEAMEAERMAEFREEIINEE
2R N AR B A AR B BB 10% B
AR (BRIEB GO BE BT
D) MR =ZEENF—A—RBRE
HE R R DR B F B E R R BN % T
HNH - BIFFREFBOHRES L
REAEBEBRO - FE R BB E25%
SN ERENEEREENBER
BIESHEBA]l  AIZHE5%HK
THENHER AEEVEFELE
FHEHBEAGR_ZZENF—A
— B 18 FTE 4 & 758,561,000 7% 7T
— T — fL4F : 50,429,000 7T) {E
LEEHBEEERE RERASE
B 5z KB A A R IR SR
WRERAI R RRKTE D IKZE

2R o

()

Notes:

(i) The unused tax losses do not expire under the current tax legislation.

(i) The unused tax losses can be carried forward to offset against taxable profits
of subsequent years for up to five years from the year in which they arose.
The unused tax losses expired between 2021 and 2025.

The Group has not recognised deferred tax assets in respect of
deductible temporary differences and unused tax losses of certain
subsidiaries as it is not probable that sufficient future taxable profits
will be available against which the deductible temporary differences
and unused tax losses can be utilised.

Deferred tax liabilities not recognised:

The Corporate Income Tax Law and its implementation rules impose
a withholding tax at 10%, unless reduced by a treaty or agreement,
for dividends, distributed by a PRC-resident enterprise to its
immediate holding company outside the PRC for profits generated
beginning on 1 January 2008 and undistributed profits generated
prior to 1 January 2008 are exempt from such withholding tax.
According to the China-Hong Kong tax arrangement and its
relevant regulations, a qualified Hong Kong tax resident which is
the “beneficial owner” and holds 25% or more of a PRC enterprise
is entitled to a reduced withholding tax rate of 5%. The Group
did not provide for deferred tax liabilities on profits generated by
certain of its PRC subsidiaries after 1 January 2008 amounting to
HK$58,561,000 (2019: HK$50,429,000) since the Group controls
the dividend policy of these subsidiaries and it has been determined
that it is probable that these profits will not be distributed in the
foreseeable future.
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9 EEME 9 DIRECTORS’ EMOLUMENTS
1R F B A a6 5 383(1) 1§ M A A (3% Directors’ emoluments disclosed pursuant to section 383(1) of the Hong
BEEMEER) RAIE28  EEMS Kong Companies Ordinance and Part 2 of the Companies (Disclosure of
WENT : Information about Benefits of Directors) Regulation are as follows:
¥4 BER BRGEHE
£k ENEAN %
Salaries,
allowances
and Retirement
Directors’ benefits scheme
fees in kind contributions Sub-Total
Tr Tr Fr T
$'000 $'000 $'000 $000
BTES Executive directors
EER Wong Chun Hong - 4,252 6 4,258 4,258
RER Yuan Zhi Wei = 2,352 = 2,352 2,352
MER Lam Mei Ka - 2,853 18 2,871 2,871
paEy Liang Rui Chi - 3,705 - 3,705 3,705
FHTES Non-executive directors
Baca Kui Qiang = = = = =
ERX YIP Hoong Mun 304 - - 304 304
BUFYTES Independent non-executive
directors
L Cheng Yuk Wo 304 - - 304 304
MR Wu Si Zong 304 - - 304 304
& Chan Yee Herman 304 - - 304 304

1,216 13,162 24 14,402 14,402
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9 EEMEw 9 DIRECTORS’ EMOLUMENTS (Continued)
RANGHE
ENET {3
Salaries,
allowances
and Retirement
Directors' benefits scheme Share-based
fees in kind contributions Sub-Total payments
(hts)
(Note)
r T Fr S Fr
$'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000
BTES Executive directors
BRE Wong Chun Hong - 4,580 18 4,598 - 4,598
REE Yuan Zhi Wei - 2,877 - 2877 - 2877
HER Lam Mei Ka - 3,383 18 3,401 - 3,401
25 (R -F—N%E  Liang Rui Chi (appointed on
NERREZR) 5 August 2019) - 1,237 - 1,237 - 1,237
BEE(MZZ—NE  ChenZhi Xiang (resigned on
NARABE) 5 August 2019) - 1320 11 1,331 92 1423
FYES Non-executive directors

BBR(M-Z-NAFE  KuiQiang (appointed on

+-A/BEZT)  6December 2019) - - _ _ _ _
FEMZZ-NE  Xulei(removed on

+-A~BE2) 6 December 2019) - - - _ _ _

ERX Yip Hoong Mun 304 - - 304 - 304
BUFYTES Independent non-executive
directors
L Cheng Yuk Wo 304 - - 304 - 304
ROR Wu Si Zong 304 - - 304 - 304
RERE Chan Yee 304 - - 304 - 304
1,216 13,397 47 14,660 92 14,752
MizE FERIBEA AT BIRETZR TESHE R Note: These represent the estimated value of share options granted to the directors under
G EE ZSEREGSENBEN T the Company’s share option scheme. The value of these share options is measured
AuNFTEAE BB RS ARSI E according to the Group's accounting policies for share-based payment transactions
BRET2E - BRIBZEBGR - ZEEBIEER as set out in Note 2(u)(ii) and, in accordance with that policy, includes adjustments
FBATHR WM E B AT AL G to reverse amounts accrued in previous years where grants of equity instruments
EFERE AN AL - are forfeited prior to vesting.
ZEEYVEINNFES (BREIZERRER The details of these benefits in kind, including the principal terms and number of

HERESE ) RHIFE27 K5 - options granted, are disclosed in Note 27.



198 HEEMEBERAT T TER

mEMBRRME
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

(BB A I - LABTTIIR)

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)

10 BREFHFMAL 10 INDIVIDUALS WITH HIGHEST EMOLUMENTS
hEAGREFMALESY =2 (=ZZF—H Of the five individuals with the highest emoluments, three (2019: three)
FZR)EENFHRBERM T K are directors whose emoluments are disclosed in Note 9. The aggregate of
SRATEF AT ¢ the emoluments in respect of the remaining individuals are as follows:

e EULREWER Salaries, allowances and benefits in kind 6,282 8,500
RIRET B Retirement scheme contributions 18 18
6,300 8,518

L& eE M A THFEIAR 0T ¢ The emoluments of the above individuals with the highest emoluments

are within the following bands:

—s-% —T-hE

2020 2019

AE A&

Number of Number of

individuals individuals

2,500,001 7t - 3,000,000 7T $2,500,001 — $3,000,000 1 -
3,000,001 7t - 3,500,000 7T $3,000,001 - $3,500,000 1 -

4,000,001 7T - 4,500,000 7T $4,000,001 - $4,500,000 =
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1 BREE 11 LOSS PER SHARE
(a) BREXEE (a) Basic loss per share

BREABEZARB#E= KR The calculation of basic loss per share is based on the loss
RAXKARBMBRHBLFITEAEBNLES attributable to equity shareholders and the holder of PCSs of the
$6283,258,000/ 8 L (=& — L. F : Company of HK$283,258,000 (2019: HK$582,939,000) and the
582,939,000/8 7t) & F KB 1T weighted average number of 1,529,286,000 (2019: 1,529,272,000)
3 NAE A% £ 1,529,286,000 f% (= shares in issue during the year, calculated as follows:
T — A4 11,529,272,0008%) &t &
A

EFIIRE Weighted average number
of shares
BEITEBER Issued ordinary shares 1,412,733 1,385,575
ETfEEREN T E Effect of share options exercised
(BT 28())) (Note 28(c)(i) - 144
B AR RRE SRR Effect of PCSs converted
(M 3E28(0) (i) (Note 28(c)(ii) - 18,123
BITHAR (S —BERKATE  Effect of bonus issue of shares
MRREH) N E (with PCSs as an alternative) 116,553 125,430
R+ A=+—HB/ Weighted average number of shares
TR at 31 December 1,529,286 1,529,272
(b) BREEEE (b) Diluted loss per share
RS -—"FTER-_FT—NE AQ During 2020 and 2019, the effect of deemed issue of shares under
FIAEEEITIRM B ERR T 238 the Company’s share option schemes for nil consideration was anti-

RREEENTE diluted.
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12 REYEREMYE - BE
&3]

12 INVESTMENT PROPERTIES AND OTHER
PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

REELIHE
KEERET BEERK
hEERESR Az KB #ER
(REASIE)  (REASIR) HpEREE
Ownership
interests in Other
|easehold land properties
and buildings |eased for Furniture,
held for own use fixtures and
Investment own use cartied other fixed
properties Sub-total  carried at cost at cost assets Sub-total
Tr Tr I Tn Tn Tn
§1000 §'000 §'000 §'000 §'000 §'000
AATRE: Cost or valuation:
RZZZTE-A-8  AtlJanuay200 6,297,551 6,297,551 145,283 81,600 103,063 329,946 6,627,497
ERAE Bxchange adjustments 389,4% 389,4% 8,660 260 6433 17,715 407,11
RE Addtions - - - 1527 9,534 31,061 31,061
ERERE Transfer from inventories 631,121 631,121 - - - - 631,121
HENBAF Disposalof subsidiaries 2le) - - - - (616) (616) (616)
e Disposals - - - (26,720) (4,642) (31362) (31362)
DEREY Change in fair value (79,553) (19,553) - - - - (79,553)
RIZZFETZA At31 December 2020
=1+-A 1,238,615 1,238,615 153943 79,029 113112 346,744 7,585,359
1 Representing;
i Cost - - 153,943 79,029 131 346,744 346,744
ff Valuation 7,238,615 7,238,615 - - - - 7238615
1,238,615 1,238,615 153943 79,029 113,112 346,744 7,585,359
Zithé FER Accumulated amortisation,
HEFE: depreciation and impairment
losses:
RZZZFE-A-R At Janay 2020 - - (26,676) (25,289) (78,932) (130,897) (130,897)
ERA% Bichange adjustments - - (2,056) (39%) (5,120) (1512) (1512)
Enzi Charge for the year = - (5,106) (24282) (9873) (39,261) (39.261)
HEHBL R Written back on disposal of
&1 subsiciaies 2(e) - - - - 25 215 05
HERED Written back on disposals - - - 26,120 332 30,042 30,02
RoE-EE At 31 December 2020
SRR R e R ey N tosre) _araes)  (4nAG3)
REFE: Net book value:
W-%-% At 31 December 2020
tZA=t-8 1,238,615 1,238,615 120,105 55,782 2330 199,281 7,431,8%
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N REYEREMYWE- -BE 12 INVESTMENT PROPERTIES AND OTHER
L)) PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT (Continued)

Ownership
EE Other
leasehold fand properties
and buildings leased for Furniture,
held for own Use fixtures and
Investment OWn Use carried other fixed
properties Sub-total  carried at cost at cost assets Sub-total
T Tr Tr Tr Tr Tr
$'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 §'000 §'000
HAGRE Cost or valuation:
RZE-NF-A—F At1January 2019 5,704,379 5,704,379 149,141 37,604 101,568 288313 5,992,692
ERAE Exchange adjustments (127.212) (127.212) (3,146) (7125) 2,128 (5,999) (133.211)
AE Additions - - - M4 8,429 53,150 53,150
BREER Transfer from inventories 522975 522975 - - - - 522975
HEMBAR Disposal of subsidiaries - - - - (3,885) (3,885) (3,885)
HE Disposals - - (712 - (En)] (1,633) (1,633)
ArEEEY Changein fair value 197409 197409 - - - - 197,409
RZE-NEFZA  At31 December 2019
=t-A 6,297,551 6,297,551 145,283 81,600 103,063 329,946 6,627,497
0 Representing:
A Cost - - 145,283 81,600 103,063 329,946 329,946
ft& Valuation 6,297,551 6,297,551 - - - - 6,297,551
6,297,551 6,297,551 145,283 81,600 103,063 329,946 6,627,497
it FER  Accumulated amortisation,
HEFE: depreciation and impairment
losses:
RIE-NE At 1 January 2019
-A-8 - - (22,735) - (73,880) (96,615) (96,615)
ERAE Exchange adjustments - - 562 58 1573 2193 2193
Emit Charge for the year - - (4917) (25,347) (8,183) (38,447) (38,447)
HEHBAFN Written back on disposal of
el subsidiaries - - - - 71 71 71
HEEED Written back on disposals - - 414 - 847 1,61 1,61
RIE-NE At 31 December 2019
T-A=t-8 - - (26,676) (25,289) (78932) (130,897) (130,897)
FEFE: Net book value:
RZZ-NE At 31 December 2019

+Zf=1-H 6,297,551 6,297,551 118,607 56,311 24131 199,049 6,496,600
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12 RENEREMBYE  BE
K&
(a) REVERDEARBELER
EYMENAAEBETE

(i)

DMAEEER
TREJNAEBERENEE D
EARBELEREMERRE
HARBREEEEEAENAR
BlE TREEEMBHREE
QB 13RALEBEFENTER
DR=ZEIARBESZH -8
RAABEFENRIIDZEME
18735 P 2 R 1 8 A BUR H A]
BEUEMEZHEETHT

- F-RHEE:EERFE—
R ABBFENRAE
B Rt E R HERRE
mIZHEREERBER
RN RE

- F_RHEE:-FAE-A&
BABBTENAAE
(ERNE IR ST -]
BERa ABBERARERA
TAIBRMEZH A
& o TRl B i A SR 5
EXIBMHE R K8 A
i

- F=RMAE:ERTAE
ENEEHABEIERN
ARfEE

12 INVESTMENT PROPERTIES AND OTHER
PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT (Continued)

(a) Fair value measurement of investment properties
and investment properties classified as held for sale

(@

Fair value hierarchy

The following table presents the fair value of the Group’s
investment properties and investment properties classified as
held for sale measured at the end of the reporting period on
a recurring basis, categorised into the three-level fair value
hierarchy as defined in HKFRS 13, Fair value measurement.
The level into which a fair value measurement is classified is
determined with reference to the observability and significance
of the inputs used in the valuation technique as follows:

—  Level 1 valuations: Fair value measured using only Level 1
inputs i.e. unadjusted quoted prices in active markets for
identical assets or liabilities at the measurement date

—  Level 2 valuations: Fair value measured using Level 2
inputs i.e. observable inputs which fail to meet Level
1, and not using significant unobservable inputs.
Unobservable inputs are inputs for which market data are
not available

—  Level 3 valuations: Fair value measured using significant
unobservable inputs
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N REYEREMYWE- -BE 12 INVESTMENT PROPERTIES AND OTHER

RE&E @ PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT (Continued)
() REVERIBEABELHER (a) Fair value measurement of investment properties
EYENAAEBENE (B and investment properties classified as held for sale
(Continued)
(i) A2REEZEHK(E) (i) Fair value hierarchy (Continued)

e S 1 R-Z-®E+=A=+-R
—RA=t-H AREEHESER
WAREE Fair value measurements as at
Fair value at 31 December 2020 categorised into
31 December E Rt F=R
2020 Level 1 Level 2
T Tr Tr
$'000 $'000 $'000

_I_

BEMALEEE  Recurring fair value measurement

BEME Investment properties 7,238,615 = = 7,238,615
SHEABELERE  Investment properties dassified as
mE held for sale 70,657 - - 70,657

R-T—

+-A=1+—H BAEER
NARERE Fair value measurements as at

Fair value at 31 December 2019 categorised into
31 December E—H E_
2019 Level 1 Level 2
T T T
$'000 $'000 $'000

AEMALEEFE  Recurring fair value measurement

REME Investment properties 6,297,551 - - 6,297,551
SEAHEHERE  Investment properties dassified as

mE held for sale 64,683 - - 64,683
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12 REVEREMYE  BE
K&

() REMERSBERFHEHER
BEMENDAEBENE @R

(0]

DABEBEER(E)
FRF-RRE-_RZEL
BEE TRAF=ZHNEA
FEH(ZFE-NF &) o

AEBEFRBREMERFFEL
ERBMER T _TF+=
A=+t—REEHMHE- HE
TERBINERMITRIERT
EIT ZAEMITHETI 29
EREANEMBEEs K
HmELREEAMGER
BB [F — i B AN KR B &Y
ME - HERTEREET -
AEEEEENERE QS
TRERREERRRMGELS
REZAEENETHR °

12 INVESTMENT PROPERTIES AND OTHER
PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT (Continued)

(a) Fair value measurement of investment properties
and investment properties classified as held for sale
(Continued)

(i) Fair value hierarchy (Continued)

During the year, there were no transfers between Level 1 and
Level 2, or transfers into or out of Level 3 (2019: Nil).

All of the Group’s investment properties and investment
properties held for sale were revalued as at 31 December
2020. The valuations were carried out by an independent firm
of surveyors, DTZ Cushman & Wakefield, who have among
their staff Members of the Hong Kong Institute of Surveyors
with recent experience in the location and category of property
being valued, on a market value basis. Management of the
Group has discussion with the surveyors on the valuation
assumptions and valuation results when the valuation is
performed at each reporting date.
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12 REVEREMYE BE
NS 16

() REMERSERFHEHER
BEMENDAEBENE R

12 INVESTMENT PROPERTIES AND OTHER
PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT (Continued)

(a) Fair value measurement of investment properties
and investment properties classified as held for sale

(i) FRAF=RLIABETENER

(Continued)

(ii) Information about Level 3 fair value measurements

HER % FARRRAYE MEFEH
Valuation techniques Unobservable input Weighted average
RENE-ZE WAER{L T EHmSHE ARESITE AR®1297T
Investment properties Income capitalisation (ARBTL/Fh%/R) ARE33L (Z2-N&:
~ retail method Expected market rental (ZB-NEF: AR®E1317T)
(RMB/sq.m./month) AREWTE RMB129
ARE3797) (2019: RMB131)
RMB53 to RMB373
(2019: RMBA49 to
RMB379)
BEAE 25%£7.25% 5.9%
Capitalisation rate (Z2-hE: (ZZ—N%F :59%)
25%%7.25%) 5.9%
2.5%107.25% (2019: 5.9%)
(2019:2.5% t0 7.25%)
RENZE-FES HENEE T E AR 1014157 AR 120,0787C
Investment properties Direct comparison (AR #f1) ZAR%130,6537T (ZZ-1%:
- carpark method Average market price (ZB-NF: AR®120,1507T)
(RMB/unit) AR 101415 F RMB120,078
AR#130,3667T) (2019: RMB120,150)
RMB101,415 to
RMB130,653
(2019: RMB101,415 to
RMB130,366)
RENE-BBAE ERLBE FAmE ARE47,04 T AR 4704170
Investment properties Direct comparison (AREL/FAR) (Z2-NE&: (ZZ-NE&:
~ commercial building method Average market price AR¥47,7867T) AR#47,7867T)
(RMB/sq.ft.) RMB47,041 RMB47,041
(2019: RMBA47,786) (2019: RMB47,786)
REN%-2EEK HENRE FHmE ARE67,147 7T ARHB67,147 7
NN Direct comparison (ARET/FHK) (ZE-NF: XER) (ZZ-NF: KER)
Investment properties method Average market price RMB67,147 RMB67,147
- storey commercial (RMB/sq.m.) (2019: Not applied) (2019: Not applied)
apartment building
PRARELERE BEABE FAmE ARHE54,1687 ARHES5742 7T
nE-REALE Direct comparison (ARERL/ EARH588917T (ZZ-N%E:
Investment properties method FAHK) (Z2-nF: ANE#56,4217)
dlassified as held for sale Average market price ARE55,000LE RMB55,742
- senviced apartment (RMB/sq.m.) AE#59,9037T) (2019: RMB56,421)
RMB54,168 to
RMB58,891
(2019: RMB55,000 to
RMB59,903)
PRARELERENE EBERELRE MR AR #300,0007T A& #300,000 T
-BEB Direct comparison (AREL/ €M) (Z5-NF: 8) (ZE-NF: &)
Investment properties method Average market price RMB300,000 RMB300,000
dassified as held for sale (RMB/unit) (2019: Nil) (2019: Nil)

- carpark
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12 REYEREMYE - BE

&3]

(&)

() REMERSERFHHER
BEMENDAEBENE @R

(ii)

FRE=RRAEEAENER
(%)
BREMERDBRBIEHERN
BREMENRAREBEDERK
ABBRCESRERLEEER
RS KRAFRE (BN %E
ERBENEN) BEXRML  HR
BYTABREESEALR
MENTHRER  KIEZFO
HHERBAEEMETEN
BERFEMETE - ZEEE
BEMENESATSEE - F
ERANERNMEEDHRETHE
ERMHARBFERELR
B -RAREBEAERMGHTS
BekFHTEEEEMRR"
i B & A K B AR -

RERN ZEE=RAREME

HEMERE

LI

12 INVESTMENT PROPERTIES AND OTHER
PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT (Continued)

(a) Fair value measurement of investment properties
and investment properties classified as held for sale
(Continued)

(i)

Information about Level 3 fair value measurements
(Continued)

The fair value of investment properties and investment
properties classified as held for sale is determined using
income capitalisation method or direct comparison method by
capitalising the net rental income allowing for the reversionary
income potential of the properties, or by reference to recent
sales price of comparable properties on a price per square
meter basis, adjusted for a premium or a discount specific to
the quality of the Group’s properties compared to the recent
sales. The valuation takes into account expected market rental
of the properties. The capitalisation rates used have been
adjusted for the quality and location of the buildings and
the tenant quality. The fair value measurement is positively
correlated to the expected market rental and average market
price, and negatively correlated to the capitalisation rate.

The movements during the year in the balances of these Level
3 fair value measurements are as follows:

KEYF Investment properties
n—HA—H At 1 January 6,297,551 5,704,379
BERATE Transfer from inventories 631,121 522,975
REBETERNHE Valuation (losses)/gains recognised

(BB Mz in profit or loss (79,553) 197,409
PE 5 3 2 Exchange adjustments 389,496 (127,212)
R+-_A=+—H At 31 December 7,238,615 6,297,551
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12 REVEREMYE BE
NS 16

() REMERSERFHEHER
BEMENDAEBENE R

(i) FRAF=RLIABEETENER

(&)

DEBIFEL EREYE

12 INVESTMENT PROPERTIES AND OTHER
PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT (Continued)

(a) Fair value measurement of investment properties
and investment properties classified as held for sale

(Continued)

(ii) Information about Level 3 fair value measurements

(Continued)

Investment properties classified as

held for sale
w—HA—H At 1 January 64,683 104,539
e Disposals = (38,325)
PIBR RN G ERES Valuation gains recognised

in profit or loss 1,609 -
PE 5 & Exchange adjustments 4,365 (1,531)
R+=—A=+—8H At 31 December 70,657 64,683

BREMERDBRFBIEHEN
BRENDABEAERGAR
BRENMRENERDER
FEHENREMENMAE (B
18) Wz | B R o

Fair value adjustment of investment properties and investment
classified as held for sale is recognised in the line item “valuation
(losses)/gains on investment properties and investment
properties classified as held for sale” on the face of the

consolidated statement of profit or loss.



208 HEEBEBMERART _—T_TFR

e MR
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

(BB A I - LABTTIIR)

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)

N REYEREMYE - -BE 12 INVESTMENT PROPERTIES AND OTHER

RE&E @ PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT (Continued)

(b) FHEEE (b) Right-of-use assets
RZZEZZEF+_A=+—H & As at 31 December 2020, the analysis of the net book value of right-
HEBESENEREEENRR of-use assets by class of underlying asset is as follows:
FEATAT

PR E L RIFIEE BEFAFET Ownership interests in leasehold land
BREEDS R ERATIER) A and buildings held for own use,

BTHEA - (FEEa) carried at depreciated cost, with
remaining lease term of: (Note (i))
—50F A £ — 50 years or more 24,664 24,314
—H 102504 — between 10 and 50 years 95,441 94,293
120,105 118,607
HihfAEEEAMNWE (JRESE  Other properties leased for own use,
AR BR) (B 3 Gi)) carried at depreciated cost (Note (ii) 55,782 56,311
175,887 174,918
NHREREMENFTEEREZ  Ownership interests in leasehold
(RARBEIR) WA THE investment properties, at fair value,
A with remaining lease term of:
—S50F A E - 50 years or more 2,344,065 2,217,764
—R10E504F — between 10 and 50 years 4,894,550 4,079,787
7,238,615 6,297,551
RO EABELENHEEREY Ownership interests in leasehold
¥NFEEER RAREE investment properties classified
FIER) MER T A HER A as held for sale, at fair value, with
remaining lease term of:
—S50F sk — 50 years or more 70,657 64,683

7,485,159 6,537,152
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12 hﬁ%%& HMYWXE- -BE 12 INVESTMENT PROPERTIES AND OTHER

K& fE PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT (Continued)

(b) Eﬁﬁgﬁﬁ (%) (b) Right-of-use assets (Continued)
EHAHENFAYEE »TRERT The analysis of expense items in relation to leases recognised in
HRAAT : profit or loss is as follows:

FEAREERABEENERN  Depreciation charge of right-of-use

FEXH : assets by class of underlying asset:
RAETHNIFBIEEBEFH  Ownership interests in leasehold land
FRB RS and buildings held for own use 5,106 4,917
HEFERNEMmYE Other properties leased for own use 24,282 25,347
29,388 30,264
HEHBEZHE (HFE7a) Interest on lease liabilities (Note 7(a)) 4,022 5,237
ﬁl%ﬁ Lﬁﬁfﬁiﬁ Negp T HEER Expense relating to short-term leases
—EEF+TA=1+—H and other leases with remaining
2 Al fE e A & lease term ending on or before
L3 31 December 2020 1,697 3,602
BB COVID-19MF LK SE  COVID-19-related rent concessions
received 256 -
RNRERN FTREEZEERNE A During the year, additions to right-of-use assets were
21,527,000 0 (Z & — L F : HK$21,527,000 (2019: HK$44,721,000). This amount relates to the
44,721,000 7T) - RIBFH AL 3% capitalised lease payments payable under new tenancy agreements.
SREAEENMEBEE N R ERFIE o
fﬂ‘fiﬁﬁ;‘mﬁ wEE S B ED H Details of total cash outflow for leases and the maturity analysis of
D2 FEBED BIFR M 3E21(d) & lease liabilities are set out in Notes 21(d) and 25, respectively.
25 °
M sE2 FRIREE - ANEB D IRFE RN As disclosed in Note 2, the Group has early adopted the Amendment
%-f BB HmEERF165RES] 0 A to HKFRS 16, Leases, COVID-19 Related Rent Concessions, and has
B RBCOVID-19 LSRR » I applied the practical expedient introduced by the Amendment to all
ﬁ’gﬁﬁﬁ RIEE AN E B R ERNERE eligible rent concessions received by the Group during the year.
FiBE&EBHESHRREL& AT 1THE
HAE -
(i) REELHRBFEERAEFED (i) Ownership interests in leasehold land and buildings held
FrE RS for own use
NEBEEZEMEIELARS The Group holds several properties as its offices. The Group is
B ANEEAZSEMERERS (8 the registered owner of these property interests, including the
FEAARE + 2 2Pk 2 kD E| whole or part of undivided share in the underlying land. Lump
) s EsEA A o — X sum payments were made upfront to acquire these property
R AERELREMMEAS ATE interests from their previous registered owners, and there are
LESZEEREZDS  MEBE no ongoing payments to be made under the terms of the land

T+ EE R AT BT K o lease.



210 HEEBEBERLATD _T-TFH

RE M BHRMEE

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

(BB A I - LABTTIIR)

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)

12 REYPEREMYE - KE
RE&E @
(b) EREEE®E)

(i) EEBAZEbyE
AEEERAHEEHEESE
FEMMLERLAE T&
ERBAEHERN - BEEE
BE2ENE - BENKAEE
FEZMURBRTIEAS - A
EMTRERES T RREN

=/
e

(0 BREME
AEERBLEMEHAREDE -
ZEHE-—RUVFL/BE—E=E+0F
Y EREZERABIGRREFNHEZ
BREE HENFBESFEM
ARRTIHHEE o

REE B H - AEBERE A HH
RERERN R KEME BRI
BAENFKAT :

12 INVESTMENT PROPERTIES AND OTHER
PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT (Continued)

(b) Right-of-use assets (Continued)
(ii) Other properties leased for own use

The Group has obtained the right to use other properties
as its warehouses, retail stores and offices through tenancy
agreements. The leases typically run for an initial period of 2
to 21 years. Lease payments are usually increased every year to
reflect market rentals. None of the leases includes options or
variable lease payments.

(c) Investment property
The Group leases out investment property under operating leases.
The leases typically run for an initial period of 1 to 15 years, with
an option to renew the lease after that date at which time all terms
are renegotiated. Lease payments are usually increased every year to
reflect market rentals.

Undiscounted lease payments under non-cancellable operating
leases in place at the reporting date will be receivable by the Group
in future periods as follows:

—FR Within 1 year 224,141 221,683
—FREMFA After 1 year but within 2 years 171,932 169,913
MEREB=FA After 2 year but within 3 years 116,903 125,071
=FREMFA After 3 year but within 4 years 72,297 92,277
MERERFA After 4 year but within 5 years 56,487 63,099
AFi& After 5 years 88,671 128,534

730,431 800,577

(d) AEENETREMEUREM L
W REFEBRRARFRITER
BB E24

(d) The Group's certain investment properties and other land and
buildings were pledged to secure bank loans, details of which are set
out in Note 24.
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13 & 13 GOODWILL

B K AR E{E

Cost and carrying amount 40,736 40,736

HRESELENV(BEHE) NRE
A
EEENEHRS A BEmBETRER
A RNRBEETNB Y (L EE IR SR
AEAEABRAFOBE T - RIFE A
BE(EREE) EEMEBERERA
A(REEE)ReELEMNAKE
SR -REZAKESBDNREETER
UEBRRETE - BAFFETEBRE
REEEBHAENMBREFELNREKRER
EREER - MEBEEEWNFERSME BE
EfmaEMnBANREN % - H#ER
AHENERE S REEB L TR AXE
BEXRHERH BREXTEBEERAEELE
UREXBHEBITENRBTHEREK -
BRBEETRARBRAY RRABITER
BeELEMAS RARLERZBIRE
MR E R

RETHERENR BFNEIRS
MENKEEREEMENTBREMET -
Hitp =R EREFIMT

Impairment tests for cash-generating units containing
goodwiill

Management performed impairment testing on goodwill at the each
reporting date. The recoverable amount of CGU of Creative Education
Holding Company Limited (“Creative Education Group”) determined
based on the value in use (“VIU”) calculation by the directors of the
Company with the assistance of an independent valuer, RAA, Ravia
Global Appraisal Advisory Limited. Their recoverable amounts are based
on certain similar key assumptions. The calculation use after-tax cashflow
projections based on financial budgets approved by management
covering a five-year period. Creative Education Group has the projection
periods to be in line with the profit guarantee period agreed in the sales
and purchase agreement. Cash flows beyond the projection period are
extrapolated using the estimated long-term growth rates below. The
growth rates do not exceed the long-term average growth rate for the
related industry in which the CGU operate. The discount rates used are
after-tax and reflect specific risks relating to the relevant industry and the
CGU itself and macro-environment of the relevant region.

For the purpose of impairment testing of goodwill, the forecasted
cashflows of the first year are estimated based on financial budgets
approved by the management. Other key assumptions are set out as
follows:

e IR Annual growth rate of revenue 2.0%-10.2% 3.0%-10.9%
EME (=T D) Gross margin (% of revenue) 69.4%-70.9% 71.6%
REPERE Long-term growth rate 2.0% 3.0%
PRz AR IR X After-tax discount rate 15.0% 14.6%

R-ZE_TF+_-_A=+—H A&EH
RETHSELBMNZEAGEERAE
2t B8 4 R AR LA IR BR COVID-19 K T &
B2 TR -

As at 31 December 2020, the Group adjusted the above key assumptions
in determination of the VIU of CGU to reflect the uncertainties caused by
the COVID-19 pandemic.
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13 8w
HESELEN (BEEHE) WEE
EIE ()
BAKE S EREAERARSELE
R DB A F BT -

13 GOODWILL (continued)

Impairment tests for cash-generating units containing
goodwill (Continued)
Details of the headroom calculated based on the recoverable amounts

deducting the carrying amount of and goodwill allocated for the CGU are
set out as follows:

oo

peigeas Headroom

13,948 34,975

ERECHBERENAETHRED
e TREIITTEBHBRFBFFENEF
EEEXR RHERXRBEFHEERN

GELR

Management have undertaken sensitivity analysis on the impairment
test of goodwill. The following table sets out the hypothetical changes
to annual growth rate, long-term growth rate and after-tax discount
rate that would, in isolation, have removed the remaining headroom
respectively:

FHEEFHD Decrease in annual growth rate 3.7% 8.1%
R ARG R &R Decrease in long-term growth rate 3.6% 16.7%
B 7 1% B3R S8 0 Increase in after-tax discount rate 3.2% 6.7%

REEFIEERIERMEEME SR
HEEAERRAGHARBDESE
EHNAKREEE R_B_FF+_H
=t—R ARFEFETHARDE
fEHRE -

By reference to the recoverable amounts determined by directors of the
Company with assistance of RAA, an independent qualified professional
valuer, as at 31 December 2020, the directors of the Company determined
that no impairment of goodwill was required.
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14 RITBARINKRE

TRESINEIEFEAGERE BE
HEBNMBABFE - BREEHRAN

i B 0 1O J8 3l 2 A A

WEARES

Name of subsidiary

Top Spring Real Estate (Shenzhen)
Co., Ltd.
(RERWE (R BRAF)

Dongguan SZITIC Property
Development Co., Ltd.
(REMABREHERE
BRAR)

Changzhou Top Spring Landmark
Real Estate Co., Ltd.
(BMASHEERARATA)

Top Spring Realty (Chengdu)
Co., Ltd.
(REEX () BRAR)

Top Spring International (Yuhang)
Landmark Co., Ltd.
(RRER (R EX
ERAF)

Tianjin Hyperion Construction
Co., Ltd.
(REEEERRBRAR)

Tianjin Hyperion Investment
Development Co., Ltd.
(REBEERERR
ERAFE)

Tianjin Jin Jun Investment
Development Co., Ltd.
(REREREERBBEAR)

REBMHE
DT IN Vil
Place of
incorporation/
establishment
and operation

and type of legal

entity

REL
PRC*

R
PRC*

PR
PRC*

R
PRC*

R
PRC*

R
PRC*

R
PRC*

R
PRC*

14 INVESTMENTS IN SUBSIDIARIES

The following list contains only the particulars of subsidiaries which
principally affected the results, assets or liabilities of the Group. The class
of shares held is ordinary unless otherwise stated.

BRARE/

M E R
Particulars of
issued capital/
registered capital

AR 653,060,0007C
RMB653,060,000

AF20,000,0007T
RMB20,000,000

60,000,000 7T
US$60,000,000

18,750,000 % 7
US$18,750,000

10,000,000 %7
US$10,000,000

AEH50,000,000 7
RMB50,000,000

AR 100,000,0007T
RMB100,000,000

ARH75,000,0007T
RMB75,000,000

PR Bl

Proportion of ownership interest

AEEH
ERER
Group's
effective
interest

100%

100%

100%

100%

100%

58%

58%

58%

AR
®A

Held by the
Company

H—E
WEAR
58

Held by a
subsidiary

100%

100%

100%

100%

100%

58%

58%

58%

213

TEXHK
Principal activity
NEERREE

Property development
and investment

NEERRERE
Property development
and investment

NEERLEE
Property development
and investment

NEERRERE
Property development
and investment

NEERRERE
Property development
and investment

NEERRERE
Property development
and investment

NEERREE
Property development
and investment

NEERREE
Property development
and investment



214 FEEREEERAT T -TFH

mEMBRRME
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

(BB A I - LABTTIIR)

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)

14 RB AT NKRE &) 14 INVESTMENTS IN SUBSIDIARIES (Continued)

ML L

REEHY

MR EA SR FrERERER LAl

Place of Proportion of ownership interest
incorporation/ BREIRE/ AEEHN B—

establishment ZMERFEE EREE HERAF ] PN
and operation Particulars of Group's =8 220)
HEAFEE and type of legal issued capital/  effective Heldbythe Heldbya FE#%
Name of subsidiary entity registered capital interest  Company  subsidiary  Principal activity

Great Billion Corporation Limited ~ &/ 1% 100% - 100% WEBERRE
(EKBRAF) Hong Kong 1 share Property development
and investment
Wealth Channel Holdings Limited ~ &7 1% 100% - 100% WEBRRRE
(EBREBERAT) Hong Kong 1 share Property development
and investment
Nanjing Top Spring Water Flower o & * AR50,000,000 7 100% - 100% DEERRKE
Property Development Co., Ltd.  PRC* RMB50,000,000 Property development
(BRREKETEBENE and investment
REERAA])
Nanjing Top Spring Real Estate & * A% 300,000,0007C 100% - 100% DEERRRE
Co., Ltd. PRC* RMB300,000,000 Property development
(ARKSELERATA) and investment
Shenzhen Water Flower hEx AR 5,000,000 7T 100% - 100% MERRE
Commercial Management CO., PRC* RMBS,OO0,000 PrOperTy investment
Ltd.
(RYIMAEEEER
BRAT)
Shenzhen Water Flower hEx AR 28,000,000 100% - 100% MERE
Commercial Property PRC* RMB28,000,000 Property investment

Management Co., Ltd.
(R EENZER

ARAT)

Shanghai Pengxiu Business R * AR 50,000,000 78 70% - 100% WEFRRRE
Consultancy Co., Ltd. PRC* RMB50,000,000 Property development
(LEEGEBEAERAR) and investment

Shanghai Pengyi Business R AEK#30,000,000 7 70% - 100% MEERERE
Consultancy Co., Ltd. PRC* RMB30,000,000 Property development
(LEBEBBEABRAR) and investment

Shanghai Pengji Business R * AR 50,000,000 70 70% - 100% WEFRRRE
Consultancy Co., Ltd. PRC* RMB50,000,000 Property development

(BB EEREAERAR) and investment
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14 RITB A RIMIRE (@)

WEARER

Name of subsidiary

Shenzhen Zhong Yi Ming Hao
Real Estate Development
Company Limited
(RYIT &G AR %
BERAT)

Creative Kindergarten Holdings
Limited
(RBYHREEEERAF)

Creative Education Holding
Company Limited
(MBZERERAT)

Great Property Corporation
Limited
(ERELRBRAT)

Great Prosper Development
Limited
(FEBRBBEAT)

Faith Luck Corporation Limited
(EHARAR)

Rapid Sight Limited
(REERAA)

# SNEBE DR
A HINRERNEERR

* BERAA]

ML/ R
REBHE
MR E AR FrE R LAl
Place of Proportion of ownership interest
incorporation/ ERTRE/ AKEH H—H
establishment TMERFEE ERERZ BFAF HWEAT
and operation Particulars of Group's BB BE
and type of legal issued capital/ effective Heldbythe  Held by a
entity registered capital interest  Company  subsidiary
o+ AR 50,000,000 7T 100% - 100%
PRC* RMB50,000,000
EE 1,000,000 % 100% - 100%
Hong Kong 1,000,000 shares
BB 100 A% 66.8% - 66.8%
Hong Kong 100 shares
BB 18 100% - 100%
Hong Kong 1 share
BB 2k 60% - 100%
Hong Kong 2 shares
BB 15 100% - 100%
Hong Kong 1 share
EE T 100% - 100%
Hong Kong 1 share

W Wholly foreign-owned enterprise

& Sino-foreign equity joint venture

ki Limited liability company

215

14 INVESTMENTS IN SUBSIDIARIES (Continued)

TEXRH

Principal activity

NEERRERE
Property development
and investment

NERE

Property investment

HE R

Education related

NEERRERE
Property development
and investment

NEERRERE
Property development
and investment

NEERRERE
Property development
and investment

NEBRRZE
Property development
and investment

EERA N_ZE-_ZER_ZT—HEF
+ZA=+—H8 BEYASENE B
BRAYEAIE B I P e 25 o

The directors consider that no individual non-controlling interest is
material to the Group as at 31 December 2020 and 2019.
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15 REE R R ER
HEIA R BN B A R S MR A B
BRERAREEAROFEDT :

AER AR L K
XM
Place of
incorporation
and business

Shenzhen Green Port Co., Ltd. &
(RImHRRREEDR PRC
BxERAF)

Shenzhen Water Honey Real HE
estate development Co., Ltd.  PRC
(RYTAEEER ER
BERRE)

MEBMERRBAFLTARAER A

BERIZFERBERRREERER

15 INTEREST IN ASSOCIATES

Details of the Group’s interest in the associates, which is accounted for
using the equity method in the consolidated financial statements, are as

H—E
] NG

58
Held by a
subsidiary

43%

20%

follows:
FrE Rz LAl
Proportion of ownership interest
AEEH
BERfTR EREZ HFAF
HERAFE Group's =2]
Particulars of issued effective Held by the
and paid up capital interest  Company
AR 50,000,000 7T 43% -
RMB50,000,000
AR 10,000,000 7T 20% -
RMB10,000,000

TEER

Principal activities

g
Supply chain

NEER

Property development

All of the associates are unlisted corporate entities whose quoted market

prices are not available.

Aggregate information of associates that are not individually material:

ANEBEEGERFEE EHE A FH Aggregate carrying amounts of the

BEFEMNKREAE

Groups's share of net assets of

individually immaterial associates 7,072 8,739
REEELZEH SN R1R%E Aggregate amounts of the Group’s share
of those associates’
FEEE Loss for the year (2,122) (2,621)
Hip 2w Other comprehensive income 455 (198)
THEK R Total comprehensive income (1,667) (2,819)
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16 REEEXNER
BEARENG SO ENBRENEEH
BREFAEDAABO BN -

ALK
BXmH

Place of
incorporation

16 INTEREST IN JOINT VENTURES

Details of the Group’s interest in joint ventures, which is accounted for
using the equity method in the consolidated financial statements, are as

and business

Shenzhen Qian Hai Xin Lai Yuan
Investment Fund Management ~ PRC

Co., Ltd.
(FIFEMRRRERER
SEBERAR)

M

Silver Pond Investments Pty Ltd. &)
Australia

Huizhou Kefuxuexing Venture sl
Capital Investment Partnership  PRC

(Limited Partnership)
(BMHRIEREA %
REGBLE
(BRa%)
Top Spring Projects No. 1 &5
Company Limited Hong Kong
Top Spring Projects No.2 &5
Company Limited Hong Kong
Top Spring Australia R
Development Pty Ltd Australia

FRERERRHR/RFLTAREE A
BETISRE -

follows:
FrE R L Bl
Proportion of ownership interest
rEEY B =
BETR BERER AL ol PN
HERAFE Group's =21 ¥5
Particulars of issued effective Heldbythe  Heldbya FE¥%
and paid up capital interest Company  subsidiary  Principal activities
AR 50,000,000 7T 49% - 9% REER
RMB50,000,000 Investment
management
85,672,471 27T 49% - 49% MEER
AUD85,672,471 Property development
AR%61,010,0007C 16.4% - 164% HEERE
RMB61,010,000 Investment
management
1007 50% - 50% REER
HKD100 Investment
management
1007 50% - 50% REEE
HKD100 Investment
management
10027 50% - 50% REEE
AUD100 Investment
management

All of joint ventures are unlisted corporate entities whose quoted market
prices are not available.
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16 REELENER ) 16 INTEREST IN JOINT VENTURES (Continued)
ERISEFEE ERERLEBER Aggregate information of joint ventures that were not individually
material:

RNEFRIGERNIFEETEALDE  Aggregate carrying amount of the Group’s

AR TH 4218 share of individually immaterial joint
ventures 212,346 252,317
RNEEBEIHREEFESE (M)  Aggregate amounts of the Group’s share
of shareholders’ loan (Note) 210,982 171,280
423,328 423,597
REERELZEAELERTE Aggregate amounts of the Group’s share
of those joint ventures'’
FEEE Loss for the year (8,992) (15,781)
Hip 2 mEW s Other comprehensive income 33,592 (6,653)
2 H KRR Total comprehensive income 24,600 (22,434)
Mizk: IHBELECXEBENIER  GECEES Note: In accordance with the terms of the joint venture agreement, both parties to
B R IR 1% & B F5 AR 2 bt Il IR AR 18 48 R 16 5% the joint venture have provided loan capital to the joint venture in proportion to
MZEECERMBERER - ZEERA their shareholdings and under equal terms. The loans are unsecured, interest-
EIER - R R RIRFNET% E8% T ER free or interest bearing at 7%-8% per annum and recoverable within three years
MERZEECEESHEMBER=F subordinated to the other financing obtained by the joint venture. Repayment of
A E - EEERNZEERNCES EZ any amount of the loan requires both ventures’ approval and is subject to the joint
MR E - BAFZE EEERET venture having sufficient assets after taking into account the external financing and
RONRBER BT aFEABRAEER accumulated profits. Accordingly, the shareholder’s loan forms an integral part of
FAER Bt RRERXBRAEER the group’s equity investment in the joint venture and is recognised as such.

B ERE 2 RIEIRE 2 ERRERA LRI HERR
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17 EhEmEE

17 OTHER FINANCIAL ASSETS

JERNHY Non-current 29(g)
—FFEEEMIE L™ — Unlisted equity securities not
N held for trading 127,084 100,701
—LEBFRERES BN — Units in private security
investment funds - 5,931
—RGEH — Trading securities 39,683 44,935
—FEE = FIE — Receivables from the third parties (i) 1,274,540 1,152,029
—RESRMKE — Hybrid financial investments (i) 46,836 34,726
1,488,143 1,338,322
BDHA Current 29(g)
—RESRKE — Hybrid financial investments (ii) - 100,464
—FEWE = FUB — Receivables from the third parties (i) 12,432 14,914
—IEBE — Wealth management products 103,225 15,092
115,657 130,470
B Notes:

@)

(ii)

BRE=EREIEARAABESRTH
E3BemI A ZSemEENEED
REERBE  ZEAFEREEER
TISEIB RN 8 A SR R BRR - W E
B EEMEZ -FR BBRBSREAR
BEARTENESREERELEARER
B8 42,411,000 T (ZF— L F : BB
437,788,000/ 7T) °

RESRMREBFEHBEIRETNERHIRE -
FFIEAF15% I _EWIRE T HENLI5%
RERR RARNBEELEIEAE=HS
BMILA - ZESREENGEDRGERE
s ZEAFTEREELNLTSERE
A A SR KRR YHEEFEEEE
Z-RER - BHRESEIZEN L E KR
£1,348,0008 7L (Z T —NF: &) B
AREBEEFEEEEHFTABEHHRTR
G AN A REEWE 59,320,000
L (=ZZ—h4 : 19,434,000/87T) ©

MEEMEREERBEEMBREE
A IRDBABBERBRARBEALR -

(ii)

Receivables from the third parties are classified as level 3 financial instruments in
the fair value hierarchy. The valuations of these financial assets are derived from
valuations models which require a number of inputs and assumptions which are not
observable from market data and which are significant to the entire measurement.
During the year, the fair value loss on financial assets measured at FVTPL amounted
to HK$2,411,000 (2019: loss of HK$437,788,000).

Hybrid financial investments include debt investments to the investees with
interest bearing at 15% per annum plus 45% equity return on the residual
value of the investees, which are classified as level 3 financial instruments in the
fair value hierarchy. The valuations of these financial assets are derived from
valuations models which require a number of inputs and assumptions which
are not observable from market data and which are significant to the entire
measurement. During the year, partial hybrid financial investments were disposed
with gain of HK$1,348,000 (2019: nil) and the fair value gain on remaining hybrid
financial investments measured at FVTPL amounted to HK$9,320,000 (2019:
HK$19,434,000).

All of other financial assets are classified as at FVTPL under HKFRS 9.
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18 FEREMEHNRAK 18 INVENTORIES AND OTHER CONTRACT COSTS

LI ERLY Property development
—FEERPHEELTH — Leasehold land held for development
for sale 761,520 707,332
—FEERPYME — Property under for development for sale 8,223,359 7,073,589
—FEERRIYE — Completed properties for sale 1,890,788 2,132,496
10,875,667 9,913,417
HAth & KRR Other contract costs 2,542 -
10,878,209 9,913,417
Hh 275 Other operations
REEEEDREER Low value consumables and supplies 6,287 7,759
10,884,496 9,921,176
R — FERBEBHAIKRE N EKIES The amount of properties expected to be recovered after more than one
10,630,847,000/ 55 (=& — N 4F : year is HK$10,630,847,000 (2019: HK$9,649,294,000).
9,649,294,000 7% 7T.) °
(a) FEFEDR THHEREIFAT (@) The analysis of carrying value of land held for property development

for sale is as follows:

RARAHAH THEA In Mainland China, with remaining
lease term of
—504 s A £ - 50 years or more 123,389 115,744
—10F£504F - between 10 and 50 years 1,548,172 2,039,053
1,671,561 2,154,797
REBNHRTHEAR In Hong Kong, with remaining lease
term of
—50F A £ — 50 years or more 668,000 668,000
—10F£504F - between 10 and 50 years 761,520 707,332
1,429,520 1,375,332

3,101,081 3,530,129
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18 FEREMEHNRAEK )

(b) AEEETRHEZFRAFHENA

(c)

Bt HFEBELERESRD
ERFEER THED KFURE
RITREMEE  BRAFBHAK
724 -

EH R

R-E-_ZF+-FA=+—HERN
EMEHRAES A FYERED
BIEHEMS B MzRIENH
EEHENEFPRAEERARER
HMINATERTMETLE R E) ©
A KR AT AR B ) 2 6 B I TR
HETERRTPERBIEENA]
H—3D  FALTEEEBSFER
EARERA o

AEERANRBEVERELRE
155 FARMAIITRETE - A
SERTTHRAEENBHFEMRZE
AIVEHABNBRBRERA B
BRFAHERITMENHE LRSS
A KIRIER AR E AR R R ©

R —FEBEHRATKEHNERN A
AP AN 2,542,000 T (ZE— A
FF)o
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18 INVENTORIES AND OTHER CONTRACT COSTS
(Continued)

(b) The Group’s certain leasehold land held for development for sale,

(c)

properties under/held for development for sale and completed
properties for sale were pledged to secure bank and other
borrowings, detail of which is set out in Note 24.

Contract costs

Contract costs capitalised as at 31 December 2020 relate to the
incremental sales commissions paid to property agents whose
selling activities resulted in customers entering into sale and
purchase agreements for the Group’s properties which are still under
construction at the reporting date. Contract costs are recognised as
part of “direct costs” in the statement of profit or loss in the period
in which revenue from the related property sales is recognised. No
capitalised costs were recognised in profit or loss during the year.

The Group applies the practical expedient in paragraph 94 of HKFRS
15 and recognises the incremental costs of obtaining contracts
relating to the sale of completed properties and services as an
expense when incurred if the amortisation period of the assets that
the Group otherwise would have recognised is within the same
reporting period as the date of entering into the contract.

The amount of capitalised contract costs that is expected to be
recovered after more than one year is HK$2,542,000 (2019: nil).

19 TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES

U E R (FNBR B 1B #EHE) Trade debtors, net of loss allowance 101,308 83,953

H b e U 5108 (FNER BB B E)  Other debtors, net of loss allowance  (1)&29(a) 590,139 506,193
B N —EE T UEIEFIE  Less: amount to be recovered more

than one year (231,761) (210,027)

o 3583718 . 296,166
WK AT EMNESBMEE  Financial assets measured at

amortised cost 459,686 380,119

B& RN HIE Deposits and prepayments (ii) 1,194,456 1,173,510

1,654,142 1,553,629
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19 EZRHMEKE

Wi

K I8 (45)

()  EfEYRENREBEERFE 1T

19 TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES (Continued)

Notes:

(i) The details of other receivables (net of loss allowance) are set out below:

ME=HEHEEKGE Loans to third parties (a) 305,392 302,447
FEUA & HEFIE (b) Amounts due from joint ventures (b) 41,898 25,955
Hit Others 242,849 177,791
590,139 506,193

@ MRZZE_TF+-_A=+—8 KM (@  As at 31 December 2020, apart from the loans to the third parties of

%_H§ﬂ231,761,000,%7t(_?
— L& 210,027,000 78) (ZE 3%
B REMNRIB%(ZE—N4EF:
13%) 58 BATR—FHEE) 5
FTAKBRHE R REFK3I%E
13% (=2 —NEF : 3.45% £ 13%) &t
B WAR—FAKE -

b) RZZT_ZTFE+-_A=+—H8 K
EMEB AT (HE216) 2EKRE
12,000,000 T (ZE—NE : &) 5
EIEA R R BN B &EHY RER
R ERR18% £20% (ZT— N
F:18% F20%) 7t B WEAREK
I [g]

(i) HERFBENFAFBEHINOT

HK$231,761,000 (2019: HK$210,027,000) which were secured, interest-
bearing at 13% (2019:13%) per annum and repayable after one year, all of
the balances were secured, interest-bearing from 3% to 13% (2019: 3.45%
to 13%) per annum and recoverable within one year.

(b)  As at 31 December 2020, apart from the consideration receivables for
disposal of subsidiaries (Note 21(e)) of HK$12,000,000 (2019: nil) which
were unsecured and interest-free, all of the balance were unsecured,
interest-bearing from 18% to 20% (2019: 18% to 20%) per annum and
recoverable on demand.

(i) The details of deposits and prepayments are set out below:

Lz B8 - b {58 F AR O FBA 3B Prepayments for acquisition of land use rights 807,893 757,677
L i P 5 B9 FE 5 SR IE (a) Prepayments for acquisition of properties (a) 30,000 143,426
Hit Others 356,563 272,407

1,194,456 1,173,510

@ R-ZE-AF+-—A=+—H &#H
TERAAEERREKBYEED
AR

@iy BRER DT

RBEHR - BUAE S IRF (R EERE)
RIBHFRRADORRONOT :

(@)  As at 31 December 2019, the balance mainly represented the repayment
made to a shareholder of the Group for properties acquisition.

(iii)  Ageing analysis

As at the end of the reporting period, the ageing analysis of trade debtors (net of
loss allowance) based on invoice date was as follows:

—fEAR Within 1 month 47,384 43,584
—Z={@A 1 to 3 months 22,575 16,464
=Z~18A 3 to 6 months 17.346 12,349
NERE—%F 6 months to 1 year 14,003 11,556

101,308 83,953
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19 EFREMERIIE®

i

(iv)

(v)

€-)

AR EE T REAE S B ARRIRI TR -
B AKITE24 -

ERASEEABRNUARE S REMER
FRIE E A ) {5 AR 6 — et FE RN
7£29(a) °
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19 TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES (Continued)

Notes:

(iv)

(v)

(Continued)

The Group’s certain rental receivables were pledged to secure bank loans, details of
which are set out in Note 24.

Further details on the Group’s credit policy and credit risk arising from trade and
other receivables are set out in Note 29(a).

20 RESTRICTED AND PLEDGED DEPOSITS

SRR S 7 5k (M EEG)) Restricted deposits (Note (i) 27,140 49,880
[mEEEEERCIEA(D)) Pledged deposits (Note (ii)) 3,019,499 2,562,762
3,046,639 2,612,642

GEX

@

(ii)

RIBHEBZERERALN  AREETET
WERFEBEENTENEB R REAREER
IRFPHRERE TESRENER - BLAIER
AR AR R EE RN RERANTIR
KAERBRFETE TEME - ZEERER
HRERENRERARBITEERER -

EERATEREAEEER TRITUERR
TR E MTF 5K ° 1¥3£3,018,713,0008 7T (=
= — J1L4F 1 2,561,968,000/8 T) B 3 1 LA EL
BR—FREENRTREE BHER
RENEE °

AEBMETROFRELERERATRER
HHE LR :

Notes:

(ii)

In accordance with relevant construction or redevelopment contracts, certain of
the Group’s PRC subsidiaries with property development projects are required to
place at designated bank accounts certain amount of deposits for potential default
in payment of construction costs payables to the relevant contractors or fulfill
certain obligations to the relevant government. Such guarantee deposits will be
released after the settlement of the construction costs payables or fulfilment of the
obligations.

Pledged deposits represent deposits pledged to banks to secure banking facilities
granted to the Group. Deposits amounting to HK$3,018,713,000 (2019:
HK$2,561,968,000) have been pledged to secure bank and borrowings repayable
within one year and are therefore classified as current assets.

The Group’s certain bank deposits which were pledged as securities in respect of:

RITER Bank loan facilities 3,018,713 2,561,968
BITERTFAEENEEROIZIBER Mortgage loan facilities granted by the banks

to purchasers of the Group’s properties 786 794

3,019,499 2,562,762
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21 RERBELSESEEBLUKRE 21 CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AND OTHER
HwEEREER CASH FLOW INFORMATION

(@) B RIS EEIBHBHE: (a) Cash and cash equivalents comprise:

RRTORERFERES

Cash at banks and on hand 1,653,196 2,115,129

RZEBE-_TE+_A=+—H8 »® At 31 December 2020, cash at banks and on hand included

FITHEES R FHERESBEHAE
B E T E B R RR & H 5 BUF
HEHE 35 A9 AR B SR 1E IR 4B OE B
THRPFHFMNEEMEMSREBEL
%8152,542,0008 L (=& — NLF :
42,395,000/ 70) ° 2 F1F AN ER
EERITH ER T A AEAHEBY
XAZEEEBEREEMBRINE
B -ZETRERBEEHREYE
SERK & BRI o

R_E_ZTF+_A=+—H"7F
BEAEITHNESRBSEEER
K EE 7 A1,394,826,0008 7T (=
ZT— 4 : 1,691,138,000/87T) ° [E
o AR B A 3 A B < 78 3 ST R B T
18 0 A B 5 PR 1 ©

proceeds from the pre-sale of properties totalling HK$152,542,000
(2019: HK$42,395,000) placed in designated bank accounts by
certain of the Group’s PRC subsidiaries in accordance with relevant
documents issued by local government authorities. Such deposits
can only be used for purchases of construction materials and the
payments of construction fees of the relevant property development
projects when approval from the designated bank is obtained. Such
deposits will be released after the completion of the pre-sale of the
relevant properties.

At 31 December 2020, cash and cash equivalents and fixed deposits
with banks in Mainland China amounted to HK$1,394,826,000
(2019: HK$1,691,138,000). Remittance of funds out of Mainland
China is subject to exchange restrictions imposed by the PRC
government.
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21 RENBELSEEEBLUKRE 21 CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AND OTHER

HMEEREEZL @)

(b) RFEAIBRELEMELER MY
BE :

CASH FLOW INFORMATION (continued)

(b) Reconciliation of loss before taxation to cash used in operations:

BRELAIE R Loss before taxation (346,604) (444,389)
AT % Adjustments for:
F WA Interest income 5 (79,040) (111,289)
AR AR Finance costs 7(a) 301,811 323,353
e REH Depreciation and amortisation 7(0) 39,261 38,447
BEMERDBEARFEL Valuation losses/(gains) on investment
ERREMER properties and investment properties
hERR (Ke) classified as held for sale 12 77,944 (197,409)
HEMBRARMNEER,/ Net loss/(gain) on disposal of subsidiaries
(W) %5 6 269 (565)
NEBERERANEE Fair value (gain)/loss on financial assets
AR ENEREER measured at FVTPL
DAEE W)/ EE 6 (49,943) 390,904
HESHERFIELHERE Net gain on sale of investment properties
MKW F classified as held for sale 6 = (1,611)
B 5 N H fth FEURIE ) Impairment losses on trade and other
REEE receivables 29(a) 18,527 28,462
BHBTRRESEE Amortisation of loss arising from the
H e issuance of convertible bonds = 1,858
HEME  BERZEH Net (loss)/gain on disposal of property,
(B8) Mz %8 plant and equipment 6 138 (487)
R EE R T HRIRX Equity settled share-based payment
expenses 7(b) - 2,559
DIEEEE A REE Share of losses of associates 15 2,122 2,621
DIEEECEEE Share of losses of joint ventures 16 8,992 15,781
Ry T Net foreign exchange gain 6 (4,576) (8,287)
BEESEE: Changes in working capital:
FERHEMELHRAR Increase in inventories and other contract
#Zn costs (642,254) (315,669)
B 5 & H A FE USRI N Increase in trade and other receivables (80,441) (158,752)
XRHBELFD Decrease in restricted cash 24,671 82,432
B 5 N Hofth JE A FRIE Increase/(decrease) in trade and other
i,/ Ci) payables 49,742 (180,019)
aWaEEm/ Cid) Increase/(decrease) in contract liabilities 627,550 (96,902)
KeXBmapEs Cash used in operations (51,831) (628,962)




226 FEEBEBERATN _-T-TFH

mEMBRRME
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

(BB A I - LABTTIIR)

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)

21 RERBELSESEEBLUKRE 21 CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AND OTHER

thREREER @ CASH FLOW INFORMATION (Continued)
() RMETBMEENEEHE () Reconciliation of liabilities arising from financing
activities
TRFMANEBREFZAEEN The table below details changes in the Group’s liabilities from
BEZY  RRERSRIERSEH - financing activities, including both cash and non-cash changes.
BMEFHMELENBED AR SR Liabilities arising from financing activities are liabilities for which cash
SRAKRBERERAANEB N é.\ flows were, or future cash flows will be, classified in the Group’s
RERMEXDERMEETDME consolidated cash flow statement as cash flows from financing
EREMEE - activities.
L GEA
RITRAMES EfiES HEEE BEME
Amounts
Bank and due to
other Bonds Lease non-controlling
borrowings payable liabilities interests
(KzE24) (Kizk26) (KizE25) (M&22)
(Note 24) (Note 26) (Note 25) (Note 22)
r r i r
$'000 $'000 $'000 $'000
R=B=2F-A-8  At1January 200 9,067,274 500,355 80,217 1002459 10,740,305
HERERESRD: Changes from financing cash flows:
MERTREMERATE  Proceeds from new bank and other
B borrowings 2,516,707 - - - 2,516,707
B{TEHFGHE Proceeds from issuance of bonds - 251,966 = = 251,966
BEBITRAMES Repayment of bank and other
borrowings (1,401,711) - - - (1,401,711)
BEERGES Repayment of bond payable - (503,802) - - (503,802)
REFFZRERDHBI Advance from non-controlling interests - - - 42,236 42,236
BEEERER Repayment to a non-controlling interest - - - (39,167) (39,167)
BERAEREMERRA  Capital element of lease rentals paid - - (39,861) = (39,861)
BERAEREMFEHS  Interest element of lease rentals paid - = (4,019) = (4,019)
ERHE Interest paid (578,477) (48,179) - - (626,656)
HERLRELHEE  Total changes from financing cash flows 536,519 (300,015) (43,880) 3,069 195,693
ERAE Exchange adjustments 272,790 13,495 10,978 47,724 344,987
Hip 25 Other changes:
MERZ (M 7a) Interest expense (Note 7(a)) 574,148 41,330 4,022 14,552 634,052
REFRFTUFAES  Increase in lease liabilities from entering
REBELEM into new leases during the year - - 11,318 - 11,318
ERFIREE Change in interest payables 11,633 (6,613) - (14,552) (9,532)
s L Totaotherchanges . ST wm_____ A T 635,838
it 23 At 31 December 2020

+ZA=t-H 10,462,364 248,552 62,655 1,143,252 11,916,823
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21 RENBELSEEEBLUKRE 21 CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AND OTHER

fLIREREER @ CASH FLOW INFORMATION (Continued)
() METBRELENEGHER@® () Reconciliation of liabilities arising from financing

activities (Continued)

BITREMER

Amounts
Bank and due to
other Convertible Bonds Lease  non-controlling

bonds payable liabilities interests

(B zE 26) (R&E25) (B&E22)

(Note 26) (Note 25) (Note 22)

T T T T T
$'000 1 $'000 $'000 $'000

RZZ-n§ At 1 January 2019
-A-AH 8,726,314 1,461,691 783,150 76,918 1,157,996 12,206,069

MERERERH . Changes from financing
cash flows:

HERTREMET Proceeds from new bank

FEFE and other borrowings 3,481,563 - - - - 3,481,563
BTEHFEHE  Proceeds from issuance of
bonds - - 506,270 - - 506,270
BERTREMIES Repayment of bank and
other borrowings (3,051,426) - - - - (3,051,426)
BEEMNES Repayment of bond payable - - (778,877) - - (778.877)
BETERES  Repayment of convertible
bond - (125593) - - - (125593)
REFERERE  Advance from
23 non-controlling interests - - - - 93,402 93,402
BEFARELR  Repaymenttoa
non-controlling interests - - - - (140,502) (140,502)
ERAERSHER Capital element of lease
R rentals paid - - - (38,127) . (38,127)
BRTAEREMFE Interest element of lease
#9 rentals paid - - - (5,237) - (5,237)
ERFIEREM  Interestand other

EERA borrowing costs paid (544,715) (205,293) (73,793) - - (823,801)
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21 RERBLSEEEBLUKRE 21 CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AND OTHER

fEREREEH CASH FLOW INFORMATION (Continued)
() METEFEENEEHER®) () Reconciliation of liabilities arising from financing

activities (Continued)

RITREMEE
Amounts

Bank and due to
other Convertible Bonds Lease  non-controlling

borrowings bonds payable liabilities MIEENS
(Fts£24) (it 26) (Fit3E25) (Fit&r22)
(Note 24) (Note 26) (Note 25) (Note 22)
i T i Tr i

$000 $'000 $'000 $'000

BERSTERY  Total changes from

et financing cash flows (114,578) (1,461,225) (346,400) (43,364) (47,100) (2,012,667)
ENAE Exchange adjustments (137,510) (466) (3372 (2,019) (20,413) (163,780)
Hit2 Other changes:

FERL (HHE7@) Interest expense (Note 7(a)) 578,690 7,610 68,054 5,237 1,976 661,567

REEBATUHAE Increase in lease liabilities
MAEEEEM  from entering into new
leases during the period - - - 43,445 - 43,445
BEETAAR  Amortisation of loss arising
EHEEMEE  fromthe issuance of

convertible bonds - 1,858 - - - 1,858
RS2 Change in interest payables 14,358 (9,468) (1,077) - - 3813
Ewgsen Total other changes 593,048 - 66,977 48682 1,976 710,683

RZZ-A%+=8 At31December 2019
=t+-H 9,067,274 - 500,355 80,217 1,092,459 10,740,305
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21 HERBEESEEEAEUREAE
HEREEREEZR @

(d HERSRHAHE

(e)

HRESFARSREBR ZFHIAH A
TRIRARK
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CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AND OTHER
CASH FLOW INFORMATION (continued)

(d) Total cash outflow for leases

Amounts included in the cash flow statement for leases comprise
the following:

RELEREBREN Within operating cash flows 1,697 3,602
RREREREN Within financing cash flows 43,880 43,364
45,577 46,966

ZECHREATEREH

These amounts relate to the following:

ENHEERS Lease rentals paid 45,577 46,966

HENRE QA

Top Spring Australia Properties
Property Limited ([ TSAP|) &
Top Spring Australia Property and
Development Services Property
Limited ([ TSAPD |) 7 7% 55 [& 2 iff
BRA -R_T-_ZTFLA+AR
—E-_TFLA-+H AEER
HEREEMEE FRENEA
Al 2 IR EE —E & & % Top
Spring Australia Development Pty Ltd
71 3B {7 B8 B #3 =% o TSAP & TSAPD
2 BRED B A1,426,906 2 7T (18
77,401,000/ 7T) % 799,693 - T
(A&7 4,061,000 7T) °

(e) Disposal of subsidiaries

Top Spring Australia Properties Property Limited (“TSAP”) and Top
Spring Australia Property and Development Services Property Limited
(“TSAPD") were subsidiaries of the Group. On 10 July 2020 and 20
July 2020, the Group entered into the Share Purchase Agreements
with a joint venture, Top Spring Australia Development Pty Ltd, for
disposals of 100% equity interest of the above two subsidiaries
held by the Group. The total consideration were AUD1,426,906
(equivalent to HK$7,401,000) for TSAP and AUD799,693 (equivalent
to HK$4,061,000) for TSAPD respectively.
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21 RERBELSESEEBLUKRE 21 CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AND OTHER

thREREER @ CASH FLOW INFORMATION (Continued)

(e) HEMBAR (&) (e) Disposal of subsidiaries (Continued)
HEFEHAEENEERAED The total effect of the above disposals on the Group’s assets and
FrBEREMT liabilities is set out below:

B o T
Notes $'000
Hih% - BE L& Other property, plant and equipment 12 391
B 5 K& E bR FRIE Trade and other receivables 3,372
RehReEBEEEB Cash and cash equivalents 8,292
B 5 K& E AR FRIE Trade and other payables (350)
T H R Exchange reserve 26
AEEEEDHEEEFE Net assets attributable to the Group
disposed of 11,731
LERBATIMERE Loss on disposal of the subsidiaries 6 (269)
B Considerations 11,462
W RARFEREIEERERE Less: considerations to be received
subsequent to current year (11,462)
FIbEMRERREEEIEE Cash and cash equivalents disposed of (8,292)
B R HE Net cash outflow (8,292)
22 BEFRHMENFIE 22 TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES

E SN HRIE Trade payables (i) 221,117 163,595
HtENERERRETER Other creditors and accrued charges (i) 2,528,132 2,265,184
FETIETE AR i 2R N IE Amounts due to non-controlling

interests (iii) 1,143,252 1,092,459

IREHERK AT EMLAEE  Financial liabilities measured at

amortised cost 3,892,501 3,521,238
HekEMZS Rental and other deposits 86,352 98,062
TEUFRIA Receipts in advance 25,221 27,417

4,004,074 3,646,717
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22 ESZREMENREA® 22 TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES (Continued)
BT Notes:
() RBEHMELEER FTABSREMBERNK () Included in trade and other payables are trade payables with the following ageing
EHNEZRENFIERBEERBHOKREKS analysis based on invoice date at the end of the reporting period:
R

—f@AR Within 1 month 82,104 69,622
—Z={@A 1 to 3 months 62,723 43,168
=ZXEA 3 to 6 months 37,898 21,872
NERE—F 6 months to 1 year 31,339 22,790
il — Over 1 year 7,053 6,143
221,117 163,595
(i) AEBAEHEHMEMEREIEGSERE (i) All of the Group’s other creditors and accrued charges are expected to be
MR —FAEENERERERE B—F settled within one year or are repayable on demand except for an amount of
© 585 1,749,209,0003% 75 (Z T — fL 4 HK$1,749,209,000 (2019: HK$1,796,425,000), which presents estimated value of
1,796,425,000% 70) M FERRIN - Z 2B A future settlement properties to be compensated to residents, which is expected to
HEETERORRLZEYENGER - be settled after more than one year.
MZEMERRERNER —FREE -
iy MZZEZTF+-A=+—H BREFEZE (i) As at 31 December 2020, apart from the amounts due to non-controlling interests
A% 4 25 7078 93,810,000 T (Z T — h & : of HK$93,810,000 (2019: Nil) which are interest-bearing at 4.35%, unsecured
fE)1R435% 5 BMERREARERER and repayable on demand, all of the balances are unsecured, interest-free and
SN FTERESRREER R B AEERER - repayable on demand.
AN
23 EHER 23 CONTRACT LIABILITIES

L T5IIE B /T8 GRIR Receipts in advance in respect of
—MEHE — Sales of properties 708,099 47,222
—WEEERS — Property management services 18,132 11,355

726,231 58,577
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23 5 n’J ﬁ{i(i“

EHNEEERE
HERRANBBENESEETEN
— R AHERT -

i /E 3k

%E?ﬁﬁﬁﬁi’ﬁ%@ﬂ&ﬁﬁ%%
#T(MIEREMERT) & 2
IE}EEWJ;EETBEW EHIRAE -
ZRBRAF B EHANARLE
BEWERREEAKTYERRAES
MHER < LI B RIE H1A$ETJ’E
AEBRFMNEFA S REIEM
&B%ZJEH?XEIHHi%%*H‘E;—EEE
ZEHEZAPBRENaRRER
ERBENSHTE - BN ZEA
EREMRAZEREANENEES
#HOAK CEIRHVDBRAZERE
R TYFROEHIEBE =R FEEN -

23 CONTRACT LIABILITIES (Continued)

Movements in contract liabilities
Typical payment terms which impact on the amount of contract
liabilities recognised are as follows:

Property development

Depending on market conditions, the Group requires the customers
to pay off the full consideration within an agreed time frame while
developments are still ongoing, rather than on the completion
of the relevant properties. Such advance payment schemes result
in contract liabilities being recognised throughout the remaining
property development period for the full amount of the contract
price. In addition, the contract liabilities will be increased by the
amount of interest expense being accrued by the Group to reflect
the effect of any significant financing benefit obtained from the
customers during the period between the payment date and the
date of delivery of property or completion of legal assignment. As
this accrual increases the amount of the contract liabilities during the
period of development, it therefore increases the amount of revenue
recognised when control of the completed property is transferred to
the customer.

R—A—BrR&& Balance at 1 January 58,577 155,479
REVERTAEGHBEDN Decrease in contract liabilities as a result
FRABRAZHEDEERD of recognising revenue during the
year that was included in the contract
liabilities at the beginning of the year (50,605) (141,361)
RERAIE R ) W ER ) % Increase in contract liabilities as a result of
HEBENREERANAE receiving advanced payments of sales
&N of properties during the year in respect
of properties still under construction as
at the year end 655,959 43,226
R R ET RS S8 nE 2L Increase in contract liabilities as a result of
X B EEN accruing interest expense on advances 6,098 6,961
PE 4 =58 Exchange difference 56,202 (5,728)
RTZA=+—H&# Balance at 31 December 726,231 58,577

BERNEHERMEEERBNZ
R—FREZS/BANERKRTR

814 688,254,000 8L (ZZ—L4F ¢
) o

The amount of receipts in advance in respect of sales of properties
and property management services expected to be recognised as
income after more than one year is HK$688,254,000 (2019: Nil).



TOP SPRING INTERNATIONAL HOLDINGS LIMITED ANNUAL REPORT 2020 233

e MR
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

(B S BEREIN - LUETIIR)
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)

24 RITERRHEMEER 24 BANK LOANS AND OTHER BORROWING
RTZA=+—H ROERXREME At 31 December, bank loans and other borrowing were analysed as
BEAMET follows:

RITER Bank loans
—HEA - Secured 9,532,028 8,132,594
Hifg & Other borrowing
— & A (i) — Secured (iii) 930,336 934,680
10,462,364 9,067,274
R+ZA=+—H RITEXRKEAME At 31 December, bank loans and other borrowing were repayable as
EMERBERET : follows:

—FRIBPLFARBES Within 1 year and included in current
liabilities 5,966,708 3,947,660

—FEABPI T AFEREEME:  After 1 year and included in
non-current liabilities:

—FREMER After 1 year but within 2 years 2,329,825 1,845,814
MEEBERFERN After 2 years but within 5 years 577,165 1,835,284
AFIE After 5 years 1,588,666 1,438,516

4,495,656 5,119,614

10,462,364 9,067,274
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24 S(RITERREMEE @

P

() MT=ZA=+—8 RITEFTRMNEFLHE
FEA4.69% (ZF — N4 : 5.28%) 5T B
A& EEEM

24 BANK LOANS AND OTHER BORROWING (Continued)

Notes:

@

At 31 December, the bank loans bore interest at a weighted average interest rate
of 4.69% (2019: 5.28%) per annum and were secured by the following assets:

REME Investment properties 5,708,911 4,958,520
HAoth 1t RIEF Other land and buildings 8,465 9,049
FE Inventories 4,408,893 4,278,237
B HERFR Pledged deposits 3,018,713 2,561,968
e & Rental receivables 14,469 11,515
“wEt Total 13,159,451 11,819,289

iy R-ZE-_TE+-_A=+—H " BITERA
R#1,628,300,000 7T (A8E 7 1,934,537,000
Bir) (ZZ—hF : AR 1,717,500,000
7T (F % 72 1,914,067,00078 78) ) AR £ E A
—RHTE AR AR A S AR - WIRE
B 539%%85% (ZF—fLF : 539% %
8.5%) &M & °

iy M-ZBE-_ZTE+-_F=+—H SiEHFHEM
EEREASEE —BRRE - xEERFRH X
M% (ZZE—NF :13%) 7t 8 THARE
I 7 BT BB 1 ) ) PR A e e (A 3R

vy R-ZE-_ZEE+-_A=+—H AE£ERE
TERAZXARM177,500,000 7T (HHE R
210,883,000 L) (ZZT—NLF : ARK
207,500,000 7T (48 % 74 231,249,0007% JT) )
WERFEHEMNRLY - ERTEREHEE
BHAR—FXWEBRRNRERREEED
FEER M ARRAREERETAKE - Ll
RITEREZER T _TFE+_A=+—
BOMMBERRAERADBEAERBAE -

(ii)

(iii)

(iv)

As at 31 December 2020, the bank loan of RMB1,628,300,000 (equivalent to
HK$1,934,537,000) (2019: RMB1,717,500,000 (equivalent to HK$1,914,067,000))
was secured by equity interests in subsidiaries within the Group with the interest-
bearing from 5.39% to 8.5% (2019: 5.39% to 8.5%) per annum.

As at 31 December 2020, the secured other borrowing was from a shareholder of
the Group. The borrowing is interest-bearing at 11% (2019:13%) per annum and
secured by equity interests in subsidiaries within the Group.

At 31 December 2020, bank loans of the Group totaling RMB177,500,000
(equivalent to HK$210,883,000) (2019: RMB207,500,000 (equivalent to
HK$231,249,000)) were not in compliance with the imposed covenants. Such non-
compliance was primarily related to a subsidiary which failed to achieve certain
monthly rental income earned from the underlying properties at the end of the
reporting period. All of the above bank loans were classified as current liabilities in
the consolidated statement of financial position at 31 December 2020.
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25 HE&E 25 LEASE LIABILITIES
RBERR AEEHESENFHE The following table shows the remaining contractual maturities of the
LAfEmARR T Group’s lease liabilities at the end of reporting periods:
=t St 5 —ENE
2020 2019
EERENRRE REHEAREE SEHENFRE SEAEMF
Present value Present value

of the minimum Total minimum of the minimum Total minimum
lease payments lease payments lease payments lease payments
5 i i i
$'000 $'000 $'000 $'000
—FR Within 1 year 21,971 24,981 31,604 35,258
—FREMEN After 1 year but within 2 years 4,945 7,390 10,518 13,017
MEZBERER After 2 years but within 5 years 7,848 14,044 11,932 20,244
AFRE After 5 years 27,891 33,544 26,163 31,466
40,684 54,978 48,613 64,727
62,655 79,959 80,217 99,985

B ARMERY Less: total future interest
FakS] expenses (17,304) (19,768)
HERERE Present value of lease liabilities 62,655 80,217

26 BENEZ 26 BONDS PAYABLE

W T - ZFE|EIAY 65,000,000  USD 65 million due in 2020 (Note (i)

ST (BIEEG)) - 500,355

W —ZT - —FF|HAY32,500,000  USD 32.5 million due in 2021 (Note (ii))
ST (B FE () 248,552 -
248,552 500,355

Bt 3 Notes:

i) RNZZT—NFAA-++B KNEHE— (i) On 27 September 2019, the Group entered into a subscription agreement with a
% 5% =77 % &% = 65,000,000 % ;¢ (FHE R third party for Private Offering of Corporate Bonds of USD65,000,000 (equivalent
500,355,000 % 7T) R ElfESH M IEAFREER] HK$500,355,000). The amount is interest-bearing at 9.5% per annum and secured
VRE G % BIETFKI5%E B by issued share capital of a subsidiary and receivables owned by the Company. The
Wi —ERBARBEETRAARAR A Company had fully redeemed this bond by 17 September 2020.

AR EYGRIEER - RARER_ZE_F
FALA+EBBEERZES -

(i) M-F-FEAA-—+-R FHEEHE— (i) On 22 September 2020, the Group entered into a subscription agreement with a
BE= 77_ & = 32,500,000 3% 5t (% R third party for Private Offering of Corporate Bonds of USD32,500,000 (equivalent
248,552,000‘}%73) ’Dﬂ%é’?ﬁ’\]?ﬁ’&ﬁﬁ%%% HK$248,552,000). The amount is interest-bearing at 9% per annum and secured

I%%E%Tﬁ%% c REBBFNEI%BE S
m—EMBARCBETRARRAR 7}?&
B O FE TR o

':k

by issued share capital of a subsidiary and receivables owned by the Company.
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27 H%i‘ifg,.ﬁﬁ R AE®MNEK 27 EQUITY SETTLED SHARE-BASED TRANSACTIONS

() BRABIREABIRE S
RDERAE BRD RS AR

(a) Pre-IPO Share Option Scheme
The Company has a Pre-IPO Share Option Scheme whereby the

e Bl ARRARESERER
WEBEAEEEES (BEAKEE
TEMAFNES) ARESHER
.00 T MBRE  URER
RAKH RZE—FTF+=A=
H - RIEE XA SR ERER
2|4 K% 134,371,667 10 B AR AE o
IR ETh A HE sk (BT 1B R
mE) B EEREAABANE ERF
BENA=FRZE2RE HEAR
B BHARE FFEEATTE -
RRATIE(E 52492870 » BIAR R AR
NERXAFAEEERAIL0% ° BT
AT AR SR £ (R M RE28(0))) + T A%
ITEEFAEZE1.7808 T - BFHER

directors of the Company are authorised, at their discretion, to invite
employees of the Group, including directors of any company in the
Group, to take up options at consideration of HK$1.00 per grant to
subscribe for shares of the Company. On 3 December 2010, a total
number of 34,371,667 share options were granted under the Pre-
IPO Share Option Scheme. The options will fully vest after three years
from the Listing Date or, as the case may be, the first anniversary
date of the employment commencement date of the relevant
grantees, and are then exercisable within a period of 10 years from
the date of grant. The exercise price per share is HK$2.492, being
40% of the price of IPO of shares of the Company. Upon completion
of the bonus issue (see Note 28(c)(ii)), the exercise price per share
was adjusted to HK$1.780. Each option gives the holder the right to
subscribe for one ordinary share in the Company and is settled gross
in shares.

BT HAEARH ARBARR
— R A AR R B o

() BHEAOGRRGHERT (i)  The terms and conditions of the grants are as follows:

BIREN
TAHE BERK BHEHY

Contractual
Number of life of
instruments Vesting conditions options

M—HEEREABIREE
Options granted to a director:
-R-E-FTFE+_-_H=H 1,166,667 - B HifEET —4F (30%) ° T
- on 3 December 2010 4 (60%) M = F (100%) 10 years
One year (30%), two years (60%)
and three years (100%) from the

Listing Date
MERERRELESR DA EARE:
Options granted to senior
management and employees:
-RIE-TF+-_A=H 33,205,000 F7iH B —F(30%) T
- on 3 December 2010 I F (60%) & = F (100%) 10 years

One year (30%), two years (60%)
and three years (100%) from the
Listing Date

ER AR R 34,371,667
Total share options granted
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27%%5%&&@%%%%&
(%)

(a) BRARMBEABRETS (9
(i) WBREHEE RNEFIHITE

27 EQUITY SETTLED SHARE-BASED TRANSACTIONS
(Continued)

(a) Pre-IPO Share Option Scheme (Continued)
(i) The number and weighted average exercise price of share

BT : options are as follows:

—E-EHF e

2020 2019

BREHE EARiEEE

Number of Number of

options options

TR F AR

‘000 ‘000

RET B ARITE Outstanding at the beginning

of the year 1,525 1,682
FRITE Exercised during the year = (157)
FREI Forfeited during the year (1,525) -
RER HARITHE Outstanding at the end of the year = 1,525
REKR] F1760 Exercisable at the end of the year = 1,525

HE_Z - NWFR-ZZE-ZFF
+—A=+—BItFE W&
R IE B R AR RS R AR AT
E14% 5 (e P AR A o

BE-_ZT_ZTF+-_A=1+—
BIEFE  WEBREETE
R IR AR E SRR 2
RZZEZZEF+-_A=+—H
S 4 KA o

HEZZ—hF+_A=1+—
BIEFE  BITEERERTT
= B EAR In#E AR E R 2.73
Br-R-—_ZTE—hLhF+=A
=+ — B # R 1T E A B AR AE AN
EFHITEEB1.788 T 0 i
BEEHFBEHNFHRA09IF -
BRECKR-_ZE_TFEH -

No share options under the Pre-IPO Share Option Scheme were
granted during the years ended 31 December 2019 and 2020.

No option was exercised during the year ended 31 December
2020 and the Pre-IPO Share Option Scheme was lapsed as at
31 December 2020.

The weighted average share price at the date of exercise for
shares options exercised during the year ended 31 December
2019 was HK$2.73. The share options outstanding at 31
December 2019 had a weighted average exercise price of
HK$1.78 and a weighted average remaining contractual life of
0.9 years. The option were expired in 2020.
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27 BREGEELUROBEBENR

2 (4#)

(b) BERXRAMBEARMEBFE
RIEE X AR E ARG, 2B T &
ZAN/N TWZKE@%WEAH%DA
6,452,000 f% (B AL 81T718) AR
D UNKREHSE H$%@$ﬁﬂ?§
RATELEAERIA RS HEHF S
HARAFBRRAMNEZ—B -5 ERE
EEB—BEYN USKREER
BRI G  EAZNEAZE AT
MR- SEEIRHDERE L BEET=
FREE2FE BERBAEXERAE
WMo MBRERTEHEHELRR
M2 BIBR ON o R R R H A S
AR 17 1 LA BR 17 42 Bl 15 7L FT % A B AR
M (ERL3ITHR) B E - 31T
4R SERK 18 (R BT E28(0)) * E
A F£2,067,200 % HZEIAL (D ©

BE_Z-NFR-Z_ZTF+_
A=+—HLEE HBEREAX
DR E AR BB ET B3R B 2R
Bty o

B AR S R T

27 EQUITY SETTLED SHARE-BASED TRANSACTIONS

(Continued)
(b) Pre-IPO Share Award Scheme

Under the Pre-IPO Share Award Scheme, a total number of 6,452,000
(after capitalisation issue) shares of the Company was awarded to
certain employees of the Group as a means of recognising their
contributions to the early development of the Group and aligning
their interests with the shareholders of the Company. The eligible
employees received an offer to be granted by the awarded shares
at nil consideration but subject to a six-month lock-up period. The
awarded shares will fully vest after three years from the date of
award and are valid and effective for unlimited period unless a
triggering event has arisen upon the occurrence of certain events.
The shares awarded by the Company will be settled with the
shares (after capitalisation issue) held by a share award trust. Upon
completion of the bonus issue (see Note 28(c)(ii)), a total number of
2,067,200 awarded shares were adjusted.

No shares were awarded under the Pre-IPO Share Award Scheme
during the years ended 31 December 2019 and 2020.

The terms and conditions of the grants are as follows:

TAHE BERME

Number of
instruments Vesting condition

miE B &% H e
Shares awarded to employees:
—-RZT-ZTF+-A=H 6,452,000 B A HES—F (30%) « M4 (60%) K =4 (100%)
—on 3 December 2010 One year (30%), two years (60%) and three years (100%)
from the date of award
BE-_ZT-NFR-ZF-_ZFTF+= There was no outstanding awarded shares during the year ended 31
H_+ HIEFE  BEmARITE December 2019 and 2020.

REBAD ©
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27 BRGEH AR B REBO R

(c)

BERARBRERBRETS
ARBRBEERDRAEERBAE
E AHRL AR EERES
ERRAREHAREELHER

BRAMEERBRESIATH
FE AR - T AR PR S AR AR AT B IR R
ARREEMEEHHE (TEBE T
B AR +F) AR RITE -

RZE—RF+-_AAH  AQH
BIFE R AFREERERET S
BHEE1.0008 THRERAR
7] {& 8 4% 11 31,000,000 17 BE f% #E -
BMHEBRESE T8 AEFRE
ANRAA—REE0N BT E B
G ERBREENEHB SR =F
“EERB WA R T = /NFw
1T{E - 1TE(E 527968 7T - AR
TERABEREAIINKTES2.7
PEIT
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27 EQUITY SETTLED SHARE-BASED TRANSACTIONS

(Continued)
(c) Post-IPO Share Option Scheme

The Company has a Post-IPO Share Option Scheme which was to
recognise and acknowledge the contributions that the employees
and directors have made or may make to the Group.

An option under the Post-IPO Share Option Scheme may be
exercised in accordance with the terms of the share option scheme
at any time during a period as determined by the directors of the
Company, which must not be more than 10 years from the date of
grant.

On 5 December 2016, 31,000,000 share options were granted at a
consideration of HK$1.000 per grant paid by the employees of the
Company under the Post-IPO Share Option Scheme. Each option
gives the holder the right to subscribe for one ordinary share of
HK$0.1 each of the Company. These share options will fully vest
after three years from the date of grant, and then be exercisable
until 2026. The exercise prices is HK$2.796. The closing price of
the Company’s ordinary shares immediately before the grant was
HK$2.7.
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27 REZEURODEEBHUEZ 27 EQUITY SETTLED SHARE-BASED TRANSACTIONS

2 (1) (Continued)
() BXAHBERBRETE () (c) Post-IPO Share Option Scheme (Continued)
() BHEEGRRGERT (i)  The terms and conditions of the grants are as follows:

BIREN
TAYE HBEKRMS BHEHY

Contractual
Number of life of
instruments Vesting conditions options

A—REFROOERE :

Options granted to directors:

—-RZZE—ZFRNAZ+H 4,400,000 B HEHREF—FG0%) T4
— 26 June 2012 M4 (60%) }2 =45 (100%) 10 years
-R-ZE—=ZFXA=+H 5,700,000  One year (30%), two years (60%)

—20 June 2013 and three years (100%) from the
—-RZE—RAFWOA=+NH 34,000,000 date of grant

- 28 April 2015

—-RZE-—RAF+HA=+=H 10,000,000

— 23 October 2015

MERERERESREOERE:
Options granted to senior
management and employees:

—RZE—ZFAZ+<H 11,320,000 BB HLFT—F(30%) T
— 26 June 2012 M4 (60%) }2 = 45 (100%) 10 years
-R-ZE—=ZFXA=+H 8,300,000 One year (30%), two years (60%)

—20 June 2013 and three years (100%) from the
—-RZE—RAFMHA=+\H 48,650,000 date of grant

— 28 April 2015

—-RZE—RFNLANH 3,000,000

— 8 September 2015

—RZE-RFE+-AAH 31,000,000

— 5 December 2016

BRI BB
Total share options granted 156,370,000
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27%%%%&&@%%@%& 27
()
(0 BERAMREEERESS 5
(i) BEREMEE RNETEHTE
BT :

EQUITY SETTLED SHARE-BASED TRANSACTIONS

(Continued)

(c) Post-IPO Share Option Scheme (Continued)

(i) The number and weighted average exercise price of share
options are as follows:

—E-EF —T-NF

2020 2019

BREHE EARiEEE

Number of Number of

options options

TR F AR

‘000 ‘000

RET B ARITE Outstanding at the beginning of the

year 97,376 101,056
FREM Forfeited during the year (5,167) (3,680)
RER HARITHE Outstanding at the end of the year 92,209 97,376
REKR] F1760 Exercisable at the end of the year 92,209 97,376

RZE=ZZETF+=A=+—H
i AR 1T {65 A B AR A AN A 35 1T
FER3208TT(ZE—NF:
3.20%87C) - MEFHRLE
NERBIF (ZT—NF:
5.6%F) °

The share options outstanding at 31 December 2020 had a
weighted average exercise price of HK$3.20 (2019: HK$3.20)
and a weighted average remaining contractual life of 4.6 years
(2019: 5.6 years).
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28 WA - REERE 28 CAPITAL, RESERVES AND DIVIDENDS
(a) HHEARBONEE (a) Movements in components of equity
REEFRERESEARB O HNET The reconciliation between the opening and closing balances of
RF s 2 BRI & & each component of the Group’s consolidated equity is set out in the
HBEEK - ARARFNEFLKE consolidated statement of changes in equity. Details of the changes
MEREREAKE DO EEFEH in the Company’s individual components of equity between the
HT - beginning and the end of the year are set out below:

BIKAK
RRES
RE  RGEE EENERE W BARE  REEA

Reserve

arising from
Share Share issuance Capital Retained
capital premium of PCSs reserve profits
v i i A T
$'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000

W=Z-AE-H—H  Balanceat 1January 2019
ka3 138558 1,951,259 14,355 78,501 153981 2,336,654

ZE-NERESE: Changes in equity for 2019:

FEEARZAWEAEE  Profit and total comprehensive income
for the year - - - - 2587670 2,587,670
REERDFHEERRER Issuance of new shares under the
NRBERBERETEE  Pre-PO and Post-IPO Share Option

TR (M 0) Schemes (Note (c)(i) 15 896 - (632) - 279
BB A ATAREFEIT Issuance of new shares upon
oiRhn conversion of PCSs 2,700 - (2,700) - - -
REEEMRD AR Fquity settled share-based
X% transactions - - - 2,559 - 2,559
R MBERRE R BRI Share options and awarded shares
forfeited - - - (2,078) - (2,078)
LEERENRRE (M (b)) Dividend approved in respect of the
previous year (Note (b)) - - - - (91,757) (91,757)
RZE-hE+=A Balance at 31 December 2019 and
=Zt-BR=Z=ZF  1lJanuary 2020
—-A-BH&H 141273 1,952,155 11,655 78350 2,649,894 4,833,327

“ECSERESE: Changes in equity for 2020:

FEEEBR2AWEAE  Loss and total comprehensive income

for the year - - - - (38,076) (38,076)
BRUEEIRERZEBR(  Share options and awarded shares

forfeited - - - (9,275) - (9,275)
FERHENRS (M (b)) Dividend approved in respect of the

previous year (Note (b)) - - - - (30,586) (30,586)
R-E-BF Balance at 31 December 2020

TZAZT-RIES 141273 1,952,155 11,655 69075 2581232 4755390
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28 A - REERE @) 28 CAPITAL, RESERVES AND DIVIDENDS (Continued)
(b) BRE (b) Dividends
(i) FAENSEARAAEZRRE K (i) Dividends payable to equity shareholders of the
AABRBRRSFEANRE Company and holders of PCSs attributable to the year

MEELEERRERIKEA Final dividend proposed after the
R E R EERLRER  end of the reporting period of

KA AR FE 5 4 754 HK4 cents (2019: HK2 cents) per

(ZZ—n4F : 2780) ordinary share and unit of PCSs 61,171 30,586
R EMEEE B EEHRE The final dividend proposed after the end of the reporting
7R HA AR B0 4 A R 25 HA R A4S period has not been recognised as a liability at the end of the
BHERBAE - reporting period.

(i) E—EEBEFEEREMNA AT E (i) Dividends payable to equity shareholders of the

HBRRINFARERENH Company attributable to the previous financial year,
RE approved and paid during the year

FRHENEHH _E—EBFE Final dividend in respect of the
FEROKREESR LB KL previous financial year, approved
TRk ARRMRFES 2B and paid during the year, of
(ZZ—N%F : 6581) HK2 cents (2019: HK6 cents) per
ordinary share and unit of PCSs 30,586 91,757
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28 WA - REERE @) 28 CAPITAL, RESERVES AND DIVIDENDS (Continued)
() BRE (c) Share capital

KAFH
The Company
—E-EE ZE-NEF
2020 2019

R EE &8 k¢ x|
No. of shares Amount No. of shares Amount
i 5 Tt Fi

‘000 $'000 ‘000 $'000

EE Authorised:

SHEME0.10LH  Ordinary shares of $0.10 each

TiER 5,000,000 500,000 5,000,000 500,000
ERTRBEN Ordinary shares, issued and

EER fully paid:
m—A—H At 1 January 1,412,733 141,273 1,385,576 138,558

BIEE X AFEER Issuance of new shares under

RERAFEER  the Pre-IPO and Post-IPO

g BT Share Option Schemes

#htn (MEEEG)) (Note (i) - - 157 15
A RBKAFRAEFE Issuance of new shares upon

HRBITHRG conversion of PCSs (Note (ii))

(HE (i) - - 27,000 2,700
R+=—A=+—H At31 December 1,412,733 141,273 1,412,733 141,273
TBERIFEE AGERRTHEIRA The holders of ordinary shares are entitled to receive dividends as
RE - WEERARAKRE L E declared from time to time and are entitled to one vote per share
RRHIT"—F - RARFNERTE at meetings of the Company. All ordinary shares rank equally with

EmE ALz a RSN regard to the Company’s residual assets.

B 2 Notes:

() HEZZE=_TF+-A=1+—HLHF (i) During the year ended 31 December 2020, no share options under the Pre-
E - W ER ARSI B E IPO Share Option Scheme and share options under the Post-IPO Share Option
RERAREERBERETEIH T # Scheme were exercised to subscribe for ordinary shares of the Company.

EREEETR  ARBARE LA -

BE-_E—AE+=-_A=+—H8It During the year ended 31 December 2019, 157,000 share options under
FE HRXARABEABERETSE the Pre-IPO Share Option Scheme were exercised to subscribe for 157,000
T157,00017 fE AR HE 1T 6 - DARREE ordinary shares of the Company at a consideration of HK$1.780 per share
ARAE157,000EEKR REAE respectively, of which HK$0.10 per share was credited to share capital and
f%1.7807%8 L EFFR0.10BTE the balance of was credited to the share premium account. HK$632,000 has
FEARRA - REEAIE ARG & BR © been transferred from the capital reserve to the share premium account in
632,000 7% 7T B R 5 KT & 2(u)(i) ) BT accordance with the accounting policy set out in Note 2(u)(ii).

HEMBRARARFEEEER M5
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28 IR - @R RE )

() BA&(#)
MHE : ()

(i)

BREARAR-_Z—=FRAAT+AHAE
BITHRRERAS LEERN T ER
AR ARFCRESRADRRNE
B R AR S M R T AR ) O R R RS =
E—=FRA-+HHGR&%BEH) &
B A B AR ER A M B BROR B AT AT AR
i 2% < B SR 4 12 12 RBUK A AT i
FF o AERE 280k 80 ALARACEE o

KA FE S I LT R A RE -
L AT B 7 S R R M) AR A R A R R 55
FAABRKARTBREES LB
F R S W B R oK A AR 75
BT IR 8 A REAR IR B 1T AT AR MR
B AL AR SR B B9 AR ) o A A R A A E
BRREREEMNRESBEHAIK Al
KRR IE KA RRESFFE A
DIKAESENREREHDIK

RZZE—=FA=+H8 BHHE
85 7 # B 58 15,036,560 78 T E B 2 H
R X £+ 150,365,600 f% & i% @ {£0.10
VST I A AR AR R - I R R X F AT
% T 0 48 388 422 UK UK A ARG 7B 5 Y
AR AC S KB TR SRR ARG © Bboh -
ANA A AR R EUK A AT 2R 5 8
fi% BR 2% 17 {8 {& 25,092,080 7 7T K 5k A
ARRES - MR —SERRDHE
BREEANL  ERTIT KA RRE
HATEE N -

ARBETRKE BHBBEASEE
RARBERMRARARBEERBR
RERT B3 H BB I A0 7T (2 8 il R AT
E8 B A RIBE ERAREERRG
HEED AT B PTIX H A) RE AR A7 1F R
(RHEE27@)  (b) R (0) °

BT KA TR B HTEENRER
A& 17 B AR EE AN b - B R ok
AR B HFBBITHRG - % FHEH
HEERTE A R 1 AR 1T A K A AT IR AR
BHLSE -BE_T-_TF+=A
=+ —HIEFE - W EKA A IRRE
FHAKABRREFFAARBRAL
A% (ZZF — L4 : 27,000,000 %) ©
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28 CAPITAL, RESERVES AND DIVIDENDS (Continued)

(c) Share capital (Continued)
Notes: (Continued)

(ii)

Pursuant to the ordinary resolution passed at the Extraordinary General
Meeting of the Company held on 15 May 2013, bonus shares were made
to shareholders whose names appear on the register of members of the
Company on 24 May 2013, the record date, on the basis of two new shares
credited as fully paid for every five shares held, with an option to elect to
receive PCSs in lieu of all or part of their entitlements to the bonus shares.

The PCSs are unlisted and irredeemable but have conversion rights entitling
the holders of PCSs to convert into an equivalent number of shares as the
number of bonus shares which the holders of PCSs would otherwise be
entitled to receive under the bonus issue had the shareholder not elected
for the PCSs. Should the Company make any cash dividends or distributions
to its ordinary shareholders, the Company should also distribute the same
amount of cash dividends or distributions to the holders of the PCSs.

On 20 June 2013, an amount of HK$15,036,560 standing to the credit of
the share premium account was applied in paying up in full 150,365,600
ordinary shares of HK$0.10 each which were allotted and issued as fully
paid to the shareholders who were entitled to those bonus shares and
did not elect to receive the PCSs. In addition, the PCSs in the amount of
HK$25,092,080 were issued to shareholders who elected to receive the
PCSs, and the same amount was capitalised from the share premium
account as reserve arising from issuance of the PCSs.

Upon completion of the bonus issue, adjustments were made to the exercise
price and outstanding number of share options and awarded shares granted
pursuant to the Group’s Pre-IPO and Post-IPO Share Option Schemes and
Pre-IPO Share Award Scheme (see Notes 27(a), (b) and (c)).

Reserve arising from issuance of the PCSs was capitalised from the share
premium account for the purpose of issue of new shares upon conversion of
the PCSs. This reserve balance represents the aggregate amount of the PCSs
outstanding at the year end. During the year ended 31 December 2020,
no PCSs were converted into ordinary shares by the holders of PCSs (2019:
27,000,000 shares).
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28 A& - REEERKRE ®

(d) REEERAR
(i) BB EE
i EEREASHSE R EDE
REE  AABRNMERKR
ﬁﬁ DIk 2B B B AT AR SR EL AR
B AR AR R A 1) E fe 32 (n
B)BRRGEEER

BRIFREREASN D IKRERE
ERRARRBAINRAE
EBPAHNER TRAIAA
B A AR 17 i 18 B DA [ 4 25 AR
DRSS

(i) BEXEE
EXRFBIERRAARES
P 35 SR B B A B R 1T B AR
HE AR B P B 2(u)(ii) P BE DA B £
AR FRH & 5T B R B
WAL AHAREE-

(iii) ER#E
FE 34 b4 1 LIRS 51 S B
HARF A R T E -
B AR IR B BE20) BT AL A0 B
SR -

(iv) FEEERE
TEORERBEE —RERE-
EEBBRRBEIEEREST

—RGE
—RFEETAT DK - BREZ
FEAEREESRET AR
ERPERETE - —RFEBA
RESHREPPIRERA MK
HEFBBERIENEAR

K EB G

BIEFREQRE  REBEHP
EE AR CFEIEIEDE)
AR E10% KB T & BT (R
BREGHERER) BAK
ERGHE BEEZHEELER
EEHEFMERMNS0% A LE °
L%i&%ﬁmwﬁhiﬁ%
A% B RI#ETT ©

28 CAPITAL, RESERVES AND DIVIDENDS (continued)

(d) Nature and purpose of reserves

(@

(ii)

(iii)

(iv)

Share premium

The share premium account is governed by the Companies Law
of the Cayman Islands and may be applied by the Company
subject to the provisions, if any, of its memorandum and
articles of association in paying distributions or dividends to
equity shareholders.

No distribution or dividend may be paid to the equity
shareholders out of the share premium account unless
immediately following the date on which the distribution or
dividend is proposed to be paid, the Company will be able to
pay its debts as they fall due in the ordinary course of business.

Capital reserve

The capital reserve mainly comprises the portion of the grant
date fair value of awarded shares and unexercised share
options granted to employees of the Company that has been
recognised in accordance with the accounting policy adopted
for share-based payments in Note 2(uii).

Exchange reserve

The exchange reserve comprises all foreign exchange
differences arising from the translation of the financial
statements of foreign operations. The reserve is dealt with in
accordance with the accounting policy set out in Note 2(y).

PRC statutory reserves

PRC statutory reserves include general reserve, statutory surplus
reserve and statutory public welfare fund.

General reserve

The general reserve is non-distributable and the transfer to this
reserve is determined by the board of directors in accordance
with the relevant laws and regulations of the PRC. This reserve
can be used to offset accumulated losses and increase capital
upon approval from the relevant authorities.

Statutory surplus reserve

According to the PRC Company Law, the PRC subsidiaries
of the Group (excluding foreign investment enterprises) are
required to transfer 10% of their profit after taxation, as
determined under the PRC Accounting Regulations, to the
statutory surplus reserve until the reserve balance reaches 50%
of their registered capital. The transfer to this reserve must be
made before distribution of a dividend to shareholders.
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28 A& - HEERKRE #)
(d) REEXERAZH)

(iv)

(v)

(vi)

B EE R ()

JETE BB ()
FEEREBT A ARNEHEAES
EMER (ME) WA EB
BRRIRA FE AL ] A B AT
R 42 3 AE DDA ER B B AT Ak
MEESR SR  HEET
BREBIBLINEMEALH
25% ©

VIRE L EE
MEBHFHEHED TRL LR
IR E20) BN B AT R B IR ©

HitfE s
H b &t ts

(1) MEBRIEHEMALESR
RAR ([MBEE] W
MomsmE S WRE
BB EERENMEARR
B AR HE 2 R Z 58 ©
ZREHEEBENELR
HTAR T RFRA
TNBRBBE—RE=T
A B A AR B LA
BERTHBEEN BT
AR o

) SAFFERKRREEST
BB QB MR R T
5 ENRERZENE
ARAREFEZFMER

3) BMAKEHEENSETH
BARINBOEEME
BB R ZFH B A A
REFECHAERE -

(4) MAKKREMER AR
B EE T KB B
B RRERE RN
BRAA - BERAERR
A EREEERATR
Fortune Mega International
Limited #)1 & °
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28 CAPITAL, RESERVES AND DIVIDENDS (Continued)
(d) Nature and purpose of reserves (Continued)

(iv)

(v)

(vi)

PRC statutory reserves (Continued)
Statutory surplus reserve (Continued)

Statutory reserve fund can be used to make good previous
years' losses, if any, and may be converted into share capital
by the issue of new shares to shareholders in proportion to
their existing shareholders or by increasing the par value of the
shares currently held by them, provided that the balance after
such issue is not less than 25% of the registered capital.

Property revaluation reserve

Property revaluation reserve has been set up and is dealt with
in accordance with the accounting policy set out in Note 2()).

Other reserve

The other reserve represents:

(1) The difference between the consideration received and
the net book value of Joinbest Enterprises Limited (“JEL")
and its subsidiaries for the deemed disposal of partial
interests in JEL. The deemed disposal was resulted from
the issuance of 1 ordinary share of JEL at premium upon
conversion of convertible notes held by a third party on
18 June 2006.

(2) The differences between the consideration paid and the
net book value of certain subsidiaries for the acquisition
of additional interests in these subsidiaries from non-
controlling shareholders.

(3) The differences between the consideration received and
the net book value of certain subsidiaries for the disposal
of the partial interests in these subsidiaries by the Group.

(4) The deemed contributions from the ultimate shareholder
for the transfer of investment costs in JEL, Le Leman
International (Yuhang) Limited, Glory Wise Limited,
Fullshine Group Limited and Fortune Mega International
Limited at nil consideration pursuant to a reorganisation.
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28 IRA& - EBERKRE @
(d) REHERAR @

(vi) EAfEm(E)
(5) REHEARRFBAMDRBER
P L7 1T EA ARG
S ERBRFTEL R

© EEEN—EREAR (R
—E—FF+-BmAD
A-AREEEEA) R
HeH -

(e) METDIKREE

()

RZZE_TFF+-_A=+—H ' &
ARIAHD IR FAR A EREN
mEAE(BERSHSARERAN
DNRIABERAMARBAE) A
4,602,462,000%8 7 (=& — L& ¢
4,692,054,000/8 7T) ° & HAE 4
HH%E EFEZRNRBERESE
I BBAEWN (T —hF: 258
i) - & #£E61,171,000%8 T (=
T — N4 : 30,586,000 jT) (B £
28(b)) e RABENHEHBMEE
BHARERBEE -

EXER
AEEEREANTIEBRARE
AEBEFBELEXRBOEN KM
REMEZERBBRHES /AR
RO HmIA R SE MR HRH
M YHBHRAENERREN
PRAREARA

AEEEBERERRASMEELE
AEE NEABRSEEKFER
BE 7 SRV B = A R ] ¥ R AR 2 i K
RREER R T2 2 RIS T
I HAEEEREEEHEAREIE

—WITARES AREIZAEL R
(aEFREARREAEEER
SRR EEHEEARE - Bt
msE AEEBABEFERAESR
ThEMEERE HEEE 7
BiRES  BNES REMNIFER
‘s (FHR) ME MR G| R BB FER
UEReRREFERE °

28 CAPITAL, RESERVES AND DIVIDENDS (continued)

(d) Nature and purpose of reserves (Continued)

(e)

(f)

(vi) Other reserve (Continued)

(5) The amount arising from the reorganisation to rationalise
the group structure in preparation for the listing of the
Company'’s shares on the Stock Exchange.

(6) The waiver of repayment of amount due to a related
company beneficially owned by a shareholder of the
Company in December 2010.

Distributability of reserves

At 31 December 2020, the aggregate amount of the Company’s
reserves available for distribution to equity shareholders of the
Company, as calculated in accordance with the Companies Law of
the Cayman Islands and the Company’s memorandum and articles
of association, was HK$4,602,462,000 (2019: HK$4,692,054,000).
After the end of the reporting period the directors proposed a
final dividend of HK4 cents (2019: HK2 cents) per ordinary share,
amounting to HK$61,171,000 (2019: HK$30,586,000) (Note 28(b)).
This dividend has not been recognised as a liability at the end of the
reporting period.

Capital management

The Group’s primary objectives when managing capital are to
safeguard the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern in
order to fund its property development projects, provide returns for
shareholders and benefits for other stakeholders and to maintain an
optimal capital structure to reduce the cost of capital.

The Group actively and regularly reviews and manages its capital
structure to maintain a balance between the higher shareholder
returns that might be possible with higher levels of borrowings and
the advantages and security afforded by a sound capital position,
and makes adjustments to the capital structure in light of changes in
economic conditions.

Consistent with industry practice, the Group monitors its capital
structure on the basis of a gearing ratio, which is net debt divided
by total equity at the end of the reporting period. For this purpose,
the Group defines net debt as total bank and other borrowings,
lease liabilities, convertible bonds, bonds payable and amounts due
to non-controlling interests (interest-bearing) less restricted and
pledged deposits and cash and cash equivalents.
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28 CAPITAL, RESERVES AND DIVIDENDS (Continued)
(f) Capital management (Continued)

The Group's gearing ratio at 31 December 2020 was as follows:

REBEE Current liabilities
RITERREMEES Bank loans and other borrowing 5,966,708 3,947,660
HEaE Lease liabilities 21,971 31,604
MBS Bonds payable 248,552 500,355
6,237,231 4,479,619
FREBEE Non-current liabilities
RITERREMEE Bank loans and other borrowing 4,495,656 5,119,614
HEAE Lease liabilities 40,684 48,613
oo T ... >,168,227
BEHAHE Total borrowings 10,773,571 9,647,846
W R R B ERER Less: Restricted and pledged deposits (3.046,639) (2,612,642)
ReERREFEIEE Cash and cash equivalents (1,653,196) (2,115,129)
B FH Net debt 6,073,736 4,920,075
ERBE Total equity 10,154,242 9,840,173
aEtEx Gearing ratio 59.8% 50.0%
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29 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR
VALUES OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

Exposure to credit, liquidity, interest rate and currency risks arises in the
normal course of the Group’s business. The Group is also exposed to
equity price risk arising from movements in its own equity share price.

The Group's exposure to these risks and the financial risk management
policies and practices used by the Group to manage these risks are
described below.

(a) Credit risk

Credit risk refers to the risk that a counterparty will default on its
contractual obligations resulting in a financial loss to the Group.
The Group’s credit risk is primarily attributable to trade and other
receivables. The Group maintains a defined credit policy and the
exposures to these credit risks are monitored on an ongoing basis.
The Group's exposure to credit risk arising from cash and cash
equivalents is limited because the counterparties are banks and
financial institutions, for which the Group considers to have low
credit risk.

Trade debtors and other debtors

The Group measures loss allowances for trade debtors at an
amount equal to lifetime ECLs, which is calculated using a provision
matrix. As the Group’s historical credit loss experience does not
indicate significantly different loss patterns for different customer
segments, the loss allowance based on past due status is not further
distinguished between the Group’s different customer bases.
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29 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR
VALUES OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)
(a) Credit risk (Continued)
Trade debtors and other debtors (Continued)

The following table provides information about the Group’s exposure
to credit risk and ECLs for trade debtors:

29 FEREEREMIARD
REE®
() =AERK &)
FE UK 5 Bk % L 4 UK EROE (48

TREHREBAKBAHEENER
B\ r e U E B AR R TEHIE B

BV R :

—EB-EF

2020

FHERR FREAE EiREE
Expected Gross carrying Loss
loss rate amount allowance
T T
% $°000 $°000
1F AR Within 1 year 2.18% 103,570 2,262
Bid1F Over 1 year 100% 54,076 54,076
157,646 56,338

—T-hF

2019

TR BB 1 X REAE EER A
Expected Gross carrying Loss
loss rate amount allowance
T T
% $'000 $'000
1F AR Within 1 year 1.99% 85,655 1,702
BB F Over 1 year 100% 47,105 47,105
132,760 48,807

BHRERXTIREAEMFEHER
BREREN - ZFHERERENA
J2 bR M5 5% 38 1 B A R 0 B AR
S BB IR L R AN 5% I R R IR
BERFHANKERRINEIEZZMA
WER-

ME=ZFTRENERZEAZER
AR ENYERKREERER R
MEHKR ZEERSROESE
ARSI AEBEERGRHNER
T AR ZEERE) E B IR E R
19 K2 BEEER RO ER
—EZEFF+A=+—HBEZE
—NWFE+ZA=+—HBNEFTTE "
AEERE ZEERELENER
[2L B B 5 VR4 o O 4 3 e AR R T
AIERAR o

Expected loss rates are based on actual loss experience over the past 2
years. These rates are adjusted to reflect differences between economic
conditions during the period over which the historic data has been
collected, current conditions and the Group's view of economic conditions
over the expected lives of the receivables.

The loans to the third parties are fully secured by properties and equity
interests held by the third parties. The maximum exposure to credit risk
in respect of the loans at the end of the reporting period, without taking
into account the collateral, and the key terms of the loans are disclosed in
Note 19. The Group considers that the credit risk arising from the loans
is significantly mitigated by the properties and equity interests held as
collateral, with reference to the estimated market value of the properties
at 31 December 2020 and 2019.
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29 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR
VALUES OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

(a) Credit risk (Continued)

Trade debtors and other debtors (Continued)

For other debtors, regular review and follow-up actions are carried
out on long-aged other receivables, which enable management to
assess their recoverability and to minimise exposure to credit risk.
The maximum exposure to credit risk is represented by the carrying
amount of each financial asset in the consolidated statement of
financial position. The specific impairment losses have been made
for the certain other receivables to reflect the relevant ECL.

Except for the financial guarantees given by the Group as set out in
Note 31, the Group does not provide any other guarantees which
would expose the Group to credit risk. The maximum exposure to
credit risk in respect of these financial guarantees at the end of the
reporting period is disclosed in Note 31.

Movement in the loss allowance account in respect of trade debtors
and other debtors during the year is as follows:

i Rl =RE 0k 3 Balance at 1 January 201,494 177,298
FAEBRBEEE Impairment losses recognised during

18,527 28,462
IE R E%E Exchange difference 3,868 (4,266)

Rt A=+—B84&% Balance at 31 December 223,889 201,494
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9 iIBEAMEELESMIEAELD 29 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR
REE®E VALUES OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

(b) REBEZRMR (b) Liquidity risk

AT B9 8 B S A ﬁéﬁiaﬁ
BEERSEREH (BHEEHER
Him R RHAREFK) - F&éEHX S
RElEEGHIE - RE BB BUR
EIEH\E#T fﬁ%‘&iﬁ%ﬁum@ﬁﬁﬁﬁ
KERBETERRHE  BIRER
RHARCHEEAREE S REEE
HIRMAMGEREE LEMEE

TRFNAEBESRABNRESR
F'EEJ%%EIE’]TH%:M’J FEH - iR
BHRBERASRE (BEAEHF
T&(ﬁﬂ%@dﬁzi&iﬁﬁfﬁﬁéiﬁ
B HONEFEONE MK RAE
ERFERBHZY

Individual subsidiaries within the Group are responsible for their
own cash management, including the raising of loans to cover the
expected cash demands, subject to approval by the Company’s
board of directors. The Group’s policy is to regularly monitor current
and expected liquidity requirements and its compliance with lending
covenants, to ensure that it maintains sufficient reserves of cash and
adequate committed funding lines from major financial institutions
to meet its liquidity requirements in the short and longer term.

The following tables detail the remaining contractual maturities at
the end of the reporting period of the Group’s financial liabilities,
which are based on contractual undiscounted cash flows (including
interest payments computed using contractual rates or, if floating,
based on rates current at the end of the reporting period) and the
earliest date the Group can be required to pay:

—E_EE
2020
ENRBRRER
Contractual undiscounted cash outflow
—Fas BEA-F HEMEF
EEXREE ELRAWE BIREFE HBBRF ! HREE

Within  More than  More than

1year 1year but 2years but
oron less than  less than  More than Carrying
demand 2 years 5 years 5 years amount
Fr Fr T Fr T
$'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 f $'000

FITEFRREMEE  Bank loans and other

borrowing 6,204,419 2,609,022 650,620 2,227,861 11,691,922 10,462,364
EthHEARE Other lease liabilities 24,981 7,390 14,044 33,544 79,959 62,655
ERES Bonds payable 268,400 - - - 268,400 248,552

FENERT &f&“#%ﬁﬁ Creditors and accrued charges 1,000,040 = =
JEISFERRR AR Amounts due to

non-controlling

shareholders 1,143,252 - -

1,000,040 1,000,040

1,143,252 1,143,252

8,641,092 2,616,412 664,664 2,261,405 14,183,573 12,916,863
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29 BIREKREERSMIAZA 29 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR
REE® VALUES OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

(b) RBELREE (&) (b) Liquidity risk (Continued)

—ENE
2019
BRRERR SR
Contractual undiscounted cash outflow
—EXzk HA-F BEME
EEREE EIRAME BIRRF  HBBERF REA

Within ~ More than ~ More than

Tyear  Tyear but 2 years but
oron less than less than ~ More than Carrying
demand 2 years 5 years 5 years amount
T T T T T
$'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000

BIEFTREMEE Bank loans and other

borrowing 4288699 1974526 2,188,980 1,712,801 10,165,006 9,067,274
HuHERRE Other lease liabilities 35,258 13,223 18,275 33,229 99,985 80,217
EfEH Bonds payable 542,432 - - - 542,432 500,355

ENEEZ BT ER  Creditors and accrued charges 632,354 - -
JERSEERRAREFIE Amounts due to

non-controlling

shareholders 1,092,459 - - - 1,092,459 1,092,459

632,354 632,354

6,591,202 1,987,749 2,207,255 1,746,030 12,532,236 11,372,659
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29 BIEREENREBMIEAELD 29 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR

REE®@® VALUES OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)
() FER (c) Interest rate risk
I % [\ B 7% BB 5 T 45 A1) 3= & B) i 5 Interest rate risk is the risk that the fair value or future cash flows of
eI AMNAREBEEIKRKR S a financial instrument will fluctuate because of changes in market
=K B) ) R B o AN 5 B A F X R interest rates. The Group's interest rate risk arises primarily from
BErERREBSRBSEZFMEER - cash and cash equivalents, restricted and pledged deposits and
XBRGREERFEREZEMEE - borrowings issued at variable rates. The Group's interest rate profile
EEEERE 2 AEEFXERER as monitored by management is set out in (i) below.
() e
(i) FELHR (i) Interest rate profile
—g-%F
2020
B e
FHFE%
Effective Effective
weighted weighted
average average
interest rate % interest rate %
EEFEEE: Fixed rate borrowings:
HERE Lease liabilities 6.42% 62,655 6.53% 80,217
EfTES Bonds payable 9.00% 248,552 9.50% 500,355
BTEFREMEE  Bank loans and other borrowing 9.60% 1,239,235 11.89% 1,121,908
1,550,442 1,702,480
FHNEER Variable rate borrowings:
BTEFRREMEE  Bankloans and other borrowing 4.67% 9,223,129 5.29% 7,945,366
BERSE Total borrowings 10,773,571 9,647,846
AREBEH BekBELEE The Group does not anticipate significant impact to cash and
BB ARZREG &EEEREFER cash equivalents and the restricted and pledged deposits
TEXIEAFE RALTHE because the interest rates of bank deposits are not expected to
BRI RN R T2 HIE KIE change significantly.
BRARNEENFETERLEAM The interest rates and terms of repayment of bank loans and
EEF R N8R R 5E 24 other borrowing of the Group are disclosed in Note 24. The
FE o 7N & B 3 4 B B AT {a] ¥ Group does not carry out any hedging activities to manage its

BB IR H ) R R B o interest rate exposure.
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29 BiKREREERESMIARD
REE @
(o) FIEmEk(E)

(i) SBEDF
R-ZE_TF+_A=+—H"
ATt EHETTE
ETHI &R FF N 1001®
2 AEENBRBEEERR
REE % FH5 A _E il 7 R 2L 88
F+/ RB& AR R A N4
79,354,000 7T (ZF — N4 -
69,298,000/ 7C) °

ERFREDTRT  HRA
SENHREREERRFENZE
ERTAETAMELMNRER
ENERRME  HAEEHN
BRREE (RREEN) T
B RN EREBCHMEMAX
FBRANFEERE - DR
T NFARRERET -

(d) E¥ER
AEEETRAREEHHETE
AET BEABOIRSAARE
FE-ARAKRERTENRER
ET—RETBRAXNAREMEER
AT ETHBRTEE  BAK
B e AR B T IE RE # 5| 3%
B SNEEELRR o b SN 0 ARMEATTE B
mEBAINE MEKARE LR
RINEAZDBEBRFRMINEE
il 3R A K SR BIR R

29 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR
VALUES OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

(c) Interest rate risk (Continued)
(ii) Sensitivity analysis
At 31 December 2020, it is estimated that a general increase/
decrease of 100 basis points in interest rates, with all
other variables held constant, would decrease/increase the
Group’s loss after tax and retained profits by approximately
HK$79,354,000 (2019: HK$69,298,000) in response to the
general increase/decrease in interest rates.

The sensitivity analysis above indicates that in respect of the
exposure to cash flow interest rate risk arising from floating
rate non-derivative instruments held by the Group at the end
of the reporting period, the impact on the Group’s loss after
tax (and retained profits) is estimated as an annualised impact
on interest expense or income of such a change in interest
rates. The analysis is performed on the same basis for 2019.

(d) Currency risk

Almost all of the Group’s operating activities are carried out in
the PRC with most of the transactions denominated in RMB. The
Group is exposed to foreign currency risk arising from the exposure
of RMB against Hong Kong dollars as a result of its investment
in the Mainland China and the settlement of certain general and
administrative expenses and other borrowings in Hong Kong dollars
or Australia dollars. In addition, RMB is not freely convertible into
foreign currencies and the conversion of RMB into foreign currencies
is subject to rules and regulations of the foreign exchange control
promulgated by the PRC government.
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29 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR
VALUES OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

(d) Currency risk (Continued)

(0]

Exposure to currency risk

The following table details the Group's exposure at the end of
each reporting period to currency risk arising from recognised
assets or liabilities denominated in a currency other than the
functional currency of the entity to which they relate. For
presentation purpose, the amounts of the exposure are shown
in Hong Kong dollars, translated using the spot rate at the end
of each reporting period.

B RHEMEREEM Cash, restricted and pledged

EZ N deposits 50,396 1,363 7,813
HITERKLHEAMBE  Bank loans and other
borrowing (930,336) - -
NAEFH Corporate bonds (248,552) = =
EEREEREE Net exposure arising from
EERFRR recognised assets and
liabilities (1,128,492) 1,363 7,813

Be  RHMEREEM Cash, restricted and pledged

7% deposits 143,964 31,772 9,664
RITER L EMEE  Bank loans and other

borrowing (934,680) - -

nElESH Corporate bonds (500,355) - -

EEREERBEE Net exposure arising from

A R AR

recognised assets and
liabilities (1,291,071)

31,772 9,664
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29 I EREENREBIAELD 29 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR
REE®E VALUES OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

(d) E¥ERE %) (d) Currency risk (Continued)
(i) BREDH (i) Sensitivity analysis

TRETHRHEABEE B AR
5 B KR B 1) S BB B R
P B (% AT A H A R R B 8
#E RSB B 7N 5 [ BR B RS
BRENEEE - BERT &
EETHHEMEBNERZS
TeYETHEET 2 MBS
BERELESATE HAEHE
WA RFEFAAEIITEERN
I8 & 45 4 45,666,00078 7T (=
T — L4 : 45,820,000 7T) B
SN BERIEEEAARYE -

EV usb
BT AUD
BT HKD

The following table indicates the instantaneous change in the
Group’s loss before tax that would arise if foreign exchange
rates to which the Group has significant exposure at the end
of the reporting period had changed at that date, assuming
all other risk variables remained constant. In this respect, it is
assumed that the pegged rate between the Hong Kong dollar
and the United States dollar would be materially unaffected
by any changes in movement in value of the United States
dollar against other currencies, other than cash balances of
HK$45,666,000 (2019: HK$45,820,000) denominated in USD
held by a subsidiary of the Group, of which the functional
currency is RMB.

g 223 —E-NEF
2020 2019
HNEE R HERBLAT NG B
tH/(TH) BRI EH/(TR)
Increase/ Increase/
(decrease) (decrease)
in foreign Effect on in foreign Effect on
exchange loss before exchange loss before
rates tax rates tax
T T
$'000 $'000
5% 2,283 5% 2,291
(5%) (2,283) (5%) (2,291)
5% 68 5% 1,589
(5%) (68) (5%) (1,589)
5% 391 5% 483
(5%) (391) (5%) (483)

SNESRE DT HRIBAEE
RS B H X B2 ERBRF
BAERTEERFSAENET
RRTHEARERIFTHEER
FAEMNRTHAETEXZH
5%) BB ERNT BT E -
MR BIE R8N T 00 B 75 3
RBERAEEZ2EEME
AERERR

The foreign currency sensitivity analysis is calculated based
on the major net foreign currency exposure of the Group
as at the reporting date, assuming 5% change of HKD and
AUD held by PRC entities against RMB and AUD held by
non-PRC entities against HKD on the loss before tax and
excludes differences that would result from the translation of
the financial statements of foreign operations into the Group’s
presentation currency.
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29 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR
VALUES OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

(e) Equity price risk

The Group is exposed to equity price changes arising from equity
investments held for trading and non-trading purposes (see Note
17). Other than unquoted securities held for strategic purposes, all
of these investments are listed.

The Group’s listed investments are listed on the Stock Exchange
of Hong Kong and are included in the Hang Seng Index. Decisions
to buy or sell trading securities are based on daily monitoring of
the performance of individual securities compared to that of the
Index and other industry indicators, as well as the Group’s liquidity
needs. The portfolio is diversified in terms of industry distribution, in
accordance with the limits set by the Group.

All of the Group’s unquoted investments are held for long
term strategic purposes. Their performance is assessed against
performance of similar listed entities, based on the limited
information available to the Group, together with an assessment of
their relevance to the Group’s long term strategic plans.
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29 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR
VALUES OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

(e) Equity price risk (Continued)

At 31 December 2020, it is estimated that an increase/(decrease)
of 5% (2019: 5%) in the relevant stock market index (for listed
investments) or the price/earning ratios of comparable listed
companies (for unquoted investments) as applicable, with all other
variables held constant, would have increased/decreased the Group’s
loss after tax (and retained profits) as follows:

it gl 523
2020
HERBZ
BiERRE
B
Effect on

loss after
tax and
retained
profits
Fr
$'000

HEERAEREREE Change in the relevant

—E-NF
2019

HERFE
EERRE
BNKZE

Effect on
loss after
tax and
retained
profits
T
$'000

HEE : equity price risk variable:
# 0 Increase 5% 13,500 5% 8,333
Ve Decrease (5%) (13,500) (5%) (8,333)

BREITBER  REBSHHES
H B BRE 5 B A th AR R E R
BHRHAEY MRSFEPANE
i EARERREMEEEER
< B S HBRAERERRNES
BTEMSIBAKRERREER (X
REBN) NEEHERSE RN
REH AERKARERNKRE
MRARBE/REABRETSE
L EERREHNEREEBE
MEE  BFAHMEEERTE -
—E-NFNNNRBREEET

BAARBEUMNIERENSEE
EREBEBEAAREE

ANE BRSO SR AN S BR B &
MEERBEERAE BERZ=-Z
ZEERZFE-NFE+ZA=1—
BNAREBEIEEAEZE -

(f)

The sensitivity analysis indicates the instantaneous change in the
Group's loss after tax (and retained profits) that would arise assuming
that the changes in the stock market index or other relevant risk
variables had occurred at the end of the reporting period and had
been applied to re-measure those financial instruments held by the
Group which expose the Group to equity price risk at the end of the
reporting period. It is also assumed that the fair values of the Group’s
equity investments would change in accordance with the historical
correlation with the relevant stock market index or the relevant risk
variables, and that all other variables remain constant. The analysis is
performed on the same basis for 2019.

Fair value of financial assets and liabilities carried at
other than fair value

The carrying amounts of the Group’s financial assets and liabilities
carried at cost or amortised cost are not materially different from
their fair values at 31 December 2020 and 2019.
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29 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR
VALUES OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

(g) Fair value measurement

(0]

Fair value hierarchy

HKFRS 13, Fair value measurement, requires the fair value
of the Group’s financial instruments measured at the end of
the reporting period on a recurring basis, categorised into
the three-level fair value hierarchy as defined in HKFRS 13.
The level into which a fair value measurement is classified is
determined with reference to the observability and significance
of the inputs used in the valuation technique as follows:

—  Level 1 valuations: Fair value measured using only Level 1
inputs i.e. unadjusted quoted prices in active markets for
identical assets or liabilities at the measurement date

—  Level 2 valuations: Fair value measured using Level 2
inputs i.e. observable inputs which fail to meet Level
1, and not using significant unobservable inputs.
Unobservable inputs are inputs for which market data are
not available

—  Level 3 valuations: Fair value measured using significant
unobservable inputs

The Group has a team headed by the finance manager
performing valuations for the financial instruments, including
unlisted equity securities which are categorised into Level 3
of the fair value hierarchy. The team reports directly to the
chief financial officer and the audit committee. A valuation
report with analysis of changes in fair value measurement is
prepared by the team at each interim and annual reporting
date, and reviewed and approved by the chief financial officer.
Discussion of the valuation process and results with the chief
financial officer and the audit committee is held twice a year,
to coincide with the reporting dates.



262 FEEBEBERLAT _-T-TFH

mEMBRRME
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

(RS A I -

LABTTAIIR)

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)

29 BBEREEREMTALR

29 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR

fEE® VALUES OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)
(9) 2AEEE @) (9) Fair value measurement (Continued)
() AREESHR(E) (i) Fair value hierarchy (Continued)
“3-hE
TZH
e “+-f
MAREHEIEA HAAEE
Fair value Fair value measurements as Fairvalle Fair value measurements as
at31 at 31 December 2020 categorised into a3 at 31 December 2019 categorised into
December 140 £24 %38 December F18 EVE 34
2020 Level 1 Level 2 Level3 2019 Level 1 Level 2 Level 3
T T T T T T T T
§'000 $'000 §'000 $'000 $'000 $000 $'000 $1000
BEHDAEE  Recurring fair value
it measurements
gE: Assets:
~JEREZTHE - Recelvables from the third
parties 1,286,972 - - 1,286,972 1,166,943 - - 1,166,943
~JESEEEME - Unlisted equity securities
TikAES not held for trading 127,084 - - 127,084 100,701 - - 100,701
~RASHEE - Hybrid finandial investments 46,836 - - 4686 135190 - - 13519
~ALBRFRHEES - Units in private security
B investment funds - - - - 5931 - 5931 -
-R5E% - Trading securties 39,683 39,683 - - 44935 44,935 - -
-BHED - Wealth management
products 103,225 - 103,225 - 15,002 - 15,002 -
1,603,800 39,683 103225 1,460,892 1468792 44,935 003 1,402,834

(i)

HE_ZT-_ZTFR_FT—NF
+ZA=+—BLFE  F1
BRE2HM 2 B EER - 5
REFIMBE ANE H o &K
SEMNBRERARABLERRS
HEAEBENARBESRZ
MR o

F2MDABEEFTEREAN
RETERBARE
MhEBLFREESBEMUNDR
BEBREES RHERLETE
RETE -

BEMEMNARBEEALEHE
REEPMEE B REAA
AN A 5 IR B EE A A i AT
BH

(i)

During the year ended 31 December 2020 and 2019, there
were no transfers between Level 1 and Level 2, or transfers
into or out of Level 3. The Group’s policy is to recognise
transfers between levels of fair value hierarchy at the end of
the reporting period in which they occurred.

Valuation techniques and inputs used in Level 2 fair
value measurements

The fair value of units in private security investment funds is
determined by invested portfolio and the underlying listed
price.

The fair value of wealth management products is the
estimated amount that the Group would receive to sale wealth
management products at the end of the reporting period,
taking into account current interest rates.
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(RSB I - LABTTIIR)
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29 BHEREEREMITALR

AEE®

(9) AAEEHE®H)

(iii) EEFEIRAAEETENE
#
FEWE=FHRBHAREBET
FARAMKERRETHESRE
mE @ &FERFEHEEKRS
DNZR & B & B i 1B o BRLRF E 3
BEBEOMELSONEANE
K EEIBRESFTIEEEE
SEETRRARNIBE12% E
15% (ZZE—NF :12.5% &
14.6%) - KRG RS RER
BRTIHB A AMEAE - At
EEEMBERHBRHESBEDN

1=
& o

RACBEBENAABAEEA
AlRERRGFERESRER
WRE122% (ZF—NLF:
12.2%) € °

FLETRATANRABET
RIBA LR ETARMNTRE
E - B RERT 578 IR
MR HARBEAEER
RS RA TR B EE -

FREIRDABETED
EREBMT

29 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR
VALUES OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

(g) Fair value measurement (Continued)

(iii)

Information about Level 3 fair value measurement

The fair value of receivables from the third parties is determined
using future estimated cash flows to be recovered which takes
into account projects progress presumed or operation forecast
and discount rate from 12% to 15% (2019: 12.5% to 14.6%)
based on the average borrowing cost plus a risk premium
of the Group or weighted average cost of capital relating to
the specific business. The future estimated cash flows reflect
potential impacts of adjustments on the projects’ capacity
building areas, land use index and tax related compensation,
etc.

The fair value of hybrid financial investments is determined
using future estimated cash flows to be recovered and discount
rate by 12.2% (2019: 12.2%).

The fair value of unlisted equity instruments was determined
using the price/earning ratios of comparable listed companies
adjusted for lack of marketability discount, of which the fair
value measurement is negatively correlated to the discount for
lack of marketability.

The movement during the year in the balance of Level 3 fair
value measurements is as follows:

n—HA—H At 1 January 1,402,834 1,741,374
i Additions 42,684 143,637
B R EF Net gains/(losses) recognised in

Wz, (E#E) profit or loss 49,151 (418,014)
wE he Settlement/disposal (109,475) (37,536)
PE N Z Exchange difference 75,698 (26,627)
m+=ZA=+—H At 31 December 1,460,892 1,402,834
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(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)

30 EARENE 30 CAPITAL COMMITMENTS
R+ RA=+—BRBTERRAEAE Capital commitments outstanding at 31 December not provided for in the
ISR AR B B AREDT ¢ Group’s financial statements were as follows:

REIES) Contracted for 2,113,954 2,280,818
BEREERTH Authorised but not contracted for 1,282,273 1,408,362
3,396,227 3,689,180
BARAREFERASBEEERYENTE Capital commitments mainly related to development expenditure for the
EBRZMAEEEBKEKRAEEA - Group's properties under development and acquisition cost of the Group’s
projects.
31 HARARE 31 CONTINGENT LIABILITIES

MAEEYEE RERITIEEF Guarantees given to financial institutions
B (7] & B AR 1E M IR R for mortgage loan facilities granted to

purchasers of the Group’s properties 557,933 412,197
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32 EXEHAERS

(a) BRUBRRAEMEHRENRZ S
RSN REBFAEFT L T

BREM IS

FEAT BRI B R 2

BN —EaErE

A B A

JE U — 2 R &Y
FEFBA

JE U — & IR AR TS M A
Bl —maghx
ARA U A

e IFIR A A R A B R X

265

32 MATERIAL RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

the Group during the year are follows:

Interest expenses to shareholders
Interest income from a joint
venture
Compensation income from
a shareholder
Service income from a shareholder

Service income from a joint venture

Interest expenses to
non-controlling shareholders

(a) In addition to the transactions and balances disclosed elsewhere in
the financial statements, major related party transactions entered by

(i) 140,298 142,891
(ii) 6,868 8,225
(iii) 10,331 -
(iv) - 5,087
(iv) 1,826 3,341

- 1,977

P &E -

(ii)

(i)

(iv)

FE A5 AR SR FI)2. 5 32 DA & S8 F /2 1%
H14% (ZF—NF : 13%014%)
AR e

FEU — R & & 10 3 FI B A LA B RE F
REF8%HT% (ZFE—NE :65%
5(5.8%) 7 & °

ZHRRERAFHMEREEAR SR
e — B BCRE SR EFEA

FEW — B R RIERA R BN — &
BRERBRARYEE RS AR
WA o

Notes:

@)

(i)

(iii)

(iv)

Interest expenses to shareholders were charged at a fixed interest rate of
11% or 14% (2019: 13% or 14%) per annum.

Interest income from a joint venture was charged at fixed interest rates of 8%
or 7% (2019: 6.5% or 5.8%) per annum.

The amount represents income from a shareholder in respect of
compensation for termination of a cooperation for a property development
project.

Service income from a shareholder and service income from a joint venture
were property management consulting services income.
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32 EREBAIRS @)

(b) FZEEBABNEH BERES
SRR (R M o ) A &M
ETEaFEENESRETEELH
KFIB T (A FE 103 EE) ¢

(c)

32 MATERIAL RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

(Continued)

(b) Remuneration of key management personnel, including amounts

paid to the directors as disclosed in Note 9 and certain of the highest
paid employees and senior management as disclosed in Note 10, is
as follows:

EEEEREN Short-term employee benefits 27,089 28,400
RIKE RN Post-employment benefits 72 101
27,161 28,501

FEmEaElE TRA] (B
7(b)) °

EARNBEERBRITHA B FMH
BRENBEB T X 5BK ETRAE
TUAERENRER S A %%
REEHRRET ETRANE14AE
TR NG KRB RRAER

T o

t

X

MieE24EC EREMIERE M
SR EAER—RG %
AWK ETARAIZE 14
BERXGRBFEMER S > £
FUAERRENRERRESTS
BEEHERS]—f-

Al
o

B 5 22iii) BT 3% B2 8 - IF 428 A% A% R
HBEBMNBEB AR SER(ET
RADFAAZERENBEHRS - A
i RIFEC TR B 5 14A.90 /Y
BE  ZERHAREETCLEMAEAD
FUAENBFEEE R FARAELEXR
SR RBIE R E G R E LT K
RETH  TEAREBETREHE
EER -

ﬁdtws‘fm(e)ﬁfr%kﬁﬁimééﬁﬁﬁ
EFR R BBENBEHIRIMS
fz:ﬁﬁﬁﬁﬁﬁi%ﬁﬁ<<im%ﬁﬁu>%
MYAEETHWBEBRRS  ERE(E
R A £ 14A.76(1) R E © %
EHB IR HITERPBETZERS
THRBEMREXK -

B 54 HY 5 32(a) P K B2 S 4 7 R 508

SRR B (E B B Ay R 05
R PZAETHRAD FBLAER
FEESRHAIR o

(c)

Total remuneration is included in “staff costs” (see Note 7(b)).

The related party transactions in respect of the remuneration of
directors and chief executive of the Company constitute connected
transactions as defined in Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules. However,
these transactions are exempt from reporting, announcement and
independent shareholders’ approval requirements under Chapter
14A of the Listing Rules.

The transactions relating to the secured other borrowings as set out
in Note 24 and the service income from a joint venture as set out
above constitute connected transaction or continuing connected
transaction as defined in Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules. The
disclosures required by Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules are provided
in the section headed “Connected Transaction” of the Directors’
Report.

The related party transactions in respect of the amounts due to
non-controlling shareholders as set out in Note 22(iii) constitute
connected transactions as defined in Chapter 14A of the Listing
Rules. However, these transactions are exempt from the disclosure
requirements in Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules pursuant to
Rule 14A.90 of the Listing Rules as they are conducted on normal
commercial terms or better and not secured by the assets of the
Group.

In respect of the related party transactions relating to disposal
of subsidiaries to a joint venture as set out in Note 21(e), they
constitute connected transactions under Chapter 14A of the Listing
Rules but are fully exempt from all compliance requirements under
the said chapter pursuant to Rule 14A.76(1).

As to the related party transaction relating to the compensation for
termination of a cooperation for a property development project as
set out in Note 32(a), it is not subject to any disclosure requirement
under Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules.
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33 AREEMBMR R 33 COMPANY-LEVEL STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL

POSITION

REBEE Non-current assets
R B AR RIEE Investments in subsidiaries 210,748 220,022
HimE - BER&EE Other property, plant and equipment 4,142 994
214,890 221,016
REEE Current assets
o fE U R IE Other receivables 12,133,029 11,883,978
HEithemEE Other financial assets 39,683 44,935
BeMHEeZE[EHEE Cash and cash equivalents 168,893 250,319
12,341,605 12,179,232
REBEE Current liabilities
RITERREMES Bank loans and other borrowing 1,373,345 1,291,918
HEB®R& Lease liabilities 3,342 1,020
H e~ 5108 Other payables 6,175,866 5,773,628
FERES Bonds payable 248,552 500,355
__________________________________________________ 7,801,105 7,566,921
_RBEERE  Netcurrentassets 4540500 4,612,311
WEERRBERE Total assets less current liabilities 4,755,390 4,833,327
BEERE NET ASSETS 4,755,390 4,833,327
BRARFE CAPITAL AND RESERVES 28(a)
[N Share capital 141,273 141,273
G Reserves 4,614,117 4,692,054
EREE TOTAL EQUITY 4,755,390 4,833,327

34 FARKEWPREER

34 NON-ADJUSTING EVENTS AFTER THE
REPORTING PERIOD

RIMEBERE EFZEZZOHARIRE - Subsequent to the end of the reporting period, the directors proposed a

HE—TFHBERHE 280K E ©

final dividend. Further details are disclosed in Note 28(b).
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35

36

EEMAESARBE=Z=
Fri_AS i HLEE
ﬂ Eim?

@%Egﬁﬁﬁﬁﬂﬁﬁﬁ ARG
AREEEMETREE_ZT_ZF+=
A=+— Eiifﬁ*iﬂﬁmﬁ%%
BHRRLBRAOE TETRHENE
BUBRELENE1TRARBESA - %5
EREE T A EENEERRENER
K2R o

BREMBRELERFIRIER] - HHRELXZ L

Amendments to HKFRS 3, Reference to the Conceptual Framework

o

SHERIENCSRIER]  WF  BERKE—HEFZEH T E7HE

35 POSSIBLE IMPACT OF AMENDMENTS, NEW
STANDARDS AND INTERPRETATIONS ISSUED
BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE FOR THE YEAR ENDED
31 DECEMBER 2020

Up to the date of issue of these financial statements, the HKICPA has
issued a number of amendments and a new standard, HKFRS 17,
Insurance contracts, which are not yet effective for the year ended 31
December 2020 and which have not been adopted in these financial
statements. These developments include the following which may be
relevant to the Group.

RT3 BHAHz%&
MmN E R EXR

Effective for

accounting periods
beginning on or after

—=2--_#%—HF—H
1 January 2022

—2--_%—H—H

Amendments to HKAS 16, Property, Plant and Equipment:

Proceeds before Intended Use

BB B ERE37IEE] BRI EK —E

Amendments to HKAS 37, Onerous Contracts — Cost of Fulfilling a Contract

H-F

AEBELEFEZEERRBHYEER
BRI E - BB AR LERE  RAZRS
BARKAREHEEMBRRELEXN
-2

COVID 19BN E

—ZE - TFJIFBAICOVID-19&F B AR
E@%@Lﬁtﬁ REIITREEHEAE I
EUHAEENEERMERRBRTE
EHEHRMREBSNRE HEE -

AEE-ERVERFRAEREAEH
EBNFE  WEBEGREEE ZER
HEERERREYEERE RAEBERYE
FrafErT B2 ROBE S MR INE £ R &
MR - MIEREREE EBEMTEE - 8
EZTMEETEE - BENKREIERH
XBWREBEAFEEER=ZZEZZF T
FFEHRBRE -AEBIAERIMBEER
TEE  UREBEENEST K-

—NFR2-F - BFFH FE R EER 0 FE N
Annual Improvements to HKFRSs 2018-2020 Cycle

1 January 2022

REKZ A —E-—_%—F—H

1 January 2022

- ~—#—H—H
1 January 2022

The Group is in the process of making an assessment of what the impact
of these developments is expected to be in the period of initial application.
So far it has concluded that the adoption of them is unlikely to have a
significant impact on the consolidated financial statements.

36 IMPACT OF COVID-19 PANDEMIC

The COVID-19 pandemic since early 2020 has brought about additional
uncertainties in the Group’s operating environment and has impacted the
Group's operations and financial position, especially for education related
business located in Hong Kong.

The Group has been closely monitoring the impact of the developments
on the Group’s business and has put in place contingency measures.
These contingency measures include additional hygiene and epidemic
prevention services such as cleaning and disinfection when rendering
property management and related services. The property construction and
sales activities have been delayed but have gradually resumed to normal
operation. The education related business in Hong Kong is impacted
materially but started to resume in the second half of 2020. The Group
also drawn down additional banking facilities for possible funding needs.
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melsER CONSOLIDATED INCOME STATEMENT
BEt-A=1-HLEE
For the year ended 31 December
“E-NFE —E-N\E —T—+F
2019 2018 2017
Tr T Tr
$000 $000 $'000
WA Revenue 575,051 719,246 619,712 1,836,705 5,558,731
EEHEN Direct costs (313,922) (291,238) (279,768)  (1,266,053)  (4,548,121)
E5 Gross profit 261,129 428,008 339,944 570,652 1,010,610
BEMERHEAEE  Valuation (losses)/gains on investment
HEMREMENRG properties and investment properties
E(58) /s classified as held for sale (77,944) 197,409 292,344 172,934 436,025
Hi A Other revenue 139,945 153,819 710,087 156,322 191,122
Hiplzs / (B18)FE  Other net income/(loss) 48,742 (380,640) 256,948 7,480,450 735,933
HERZHAY Selling and marketing expenses (76,898) (51,619) (30,373) (114,014) (182,533)
GG E Administrative expenses (310,126) (421,149) (320,462) (1,018,344) (750,868)
Z5REMERFIER  Impairment loss on trade and other
BEER receivables (18,527) (28,462) (104,078) (369,086) -
LR RB KA Loss arising from the derecognition
HESREEEL of financial assets measured at
&R amortised cost = - (116,529) - -
REEBEEN (Loss)/profit from operations
(B#R) /B7 (33,679) (102,634) 1,027,881 6,878,914 1,440,289
BMEMK Finance costs (301,811) (323,353) (533,574) (655,530) (679,414)
R E AREE Share of losses of associates (2,122) (2,621) (76,317) (20,160) (6,037)
ElHaEtEER Share of losses of joint ventures (8,992) (15,781) (7,839) (754) (474)
BrBiA (F5R) /BF (Loss)/profit before taxation (346,604) (444,389) 410,151 6,202,470 754,364
g Income tax (20,932) (85,539) (282,352)  (1,592,912) 149,221
EE(58) /B (Loss)/profit for the year (367,536) (529,928) 127,799 4,609,558 903,585
BAT AL BEAS - Attributable to:
ADFEZBERAKA  Equity shareholders of the Company and
AREEFFEA holders of PCSs (283,258) (582,939) 102,610 4,642,246 866,428
FIERER Non-controlling interests (84,278) 53,011 25,189 (32,688) 37,157
FE(FR) /BF (Loss)/profit for the year (367,536) (529,928) 127,799 4,609,558 903,585
EREX(BE)/ Basic (loss)/earnings per share ($)
BH(r) (0.19) (0.38) 0.07 3.23 0.61
EREE (5R) Diluted (loss)/earnings per share ($)
2 (x) (0.19) (0.38) 0.02 2.61 0.42




270 HEEBEBERAT _-T-TFH

EFHERE
FIVE-YEAR FINANCIAL SUMMARY
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INCOME

BET-A=+-HLFE

For the year ended 31 December

“Z-NE  ZE-N\F ZZ—+F
2019 2018 2017
T i T
$'000 $'000 $'000
FE(5R) /BH (Loss)/profit for the year (367,536) (529,928) 127,799 4,609,558 903,585
FEHMZEKE (BRF  Other comprehensive income for the
REHSERER) year (after tax and reclassification
adjustments)
REmgEERHER Items that may be reclassified subsequently
E=mEE : to profit or loss:
HEMBRARFHREE  Exchange differences on translation of
OB EEREEN reclassified to profit or loss upon
EHEE disposal of subsidiaries 26 (6) (2,450) (263,781) (25,015)
BRE GBI Exchange differences on translation
BBREREELR of financial statements of foreign
EHEE subsidiaries 685,152 (236,178) (530,189) 1,064,518 (941,173)
[EEBANRIRASNE  Share of other comprehensive income
¥MHEMREKR of associates and joint ventures 34,047 (6,851) (48,071) 81,016 (23,022)
FEXEKRARH Total comprehensive income
for the year 351,689 (772,963) (452,911) 5,491,311 (85,625)
T ALRE Attributable to:
ADEEZRERKA  Equity shareholders of the Company and
ARREFFEA holders of PCSs 421,274 (815,551) (470,179) 5,442,801 (42,338)
SRR Non-controlling interests (69,585) 42,588 17,268 48,510 (43,287)
FERXEKNRAR Total comprehensive income
for the year 351,689 (772,963) (452,911) 5,491,311 (85,625)
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“F-NE

F
2019 2017
i T T T T T T
§'000 §'000 §000 §/000 $000 §000 §000 §/000 $000 §000

FRBEE Non-current assets
RENE Investment properties 7,238,615 6,297,551 5,704,379 4.837.8% 6,046,160
Ethi% BER  Other property, plantand

B

RE equipment 199,281 199,049 154,004 153,680 303,408
WEEEESEER  Interests in leasehold land held
WEELIER for own use under perating

leases - - - - 3391
‘ 7437,8% 6,496,600 5,858473 4991576 6,352,959
BYEE Intangible assets 3769 3769 3769 - -
Bk Goodwil 40,736 40,736 407% - -
Wﬁ%’&ﬂﬁ’ﬂ% Interest in associates 7012 8,739 11,558 1,385,817 87718
IRERENMEE  Interestin joint ventures 423328 43597 479,29 533,571 25822
EhemEE Other financial asses 1,488,143 1338322 1,487,235 151,300 246,818
EfENHA Other receivables 231,761 210,027 - 1441512 -
EEfBAE Deferred tax assets 85,540 75212 24,170 307,752 424,444
9,718,245 8597,002 8,105,231 8811537 7,337,761
HBEE Current assets
FEREHLADKA  Inventories and other
. contract costs 10,884,496 9,921,176 10,040,990 1,641,881 9,019,239
EhepaE Other financial asses 115,657 130470 341497 - 47979
BARAMERTA  Trade and other receivables 1,654,142 1,553,629 1,849,598 9,699,088 2623876
BfiE Prepaid tax 38,846 20891 B 51,703 133295
SBARBHEER  Restricted and pledged deposits 3,046,639 2,612,642 2,565,681 2,071,706 2,488,695
BERBEESEER  Cashand cash equivalents 1,653,196 2,115,129 5,488,739 4,509,697 3,713,086
B 17,392,976 16,353,937 20,309,676 18,064,075 18,026,170
AEBBELED  Investment properties clasified as
¥ held for sale 70,657 64,683 104539 106,274 663,104
17,463,633 16,418,620 20414215 18,170,349 18,689,274
HBeE Current liabilities
BAREMERFIE  Trade and other payables 4,004,074 3,646,717 411728 2,730,975 6,710,457
AFEE Contract liabiltes 726,231 58,577 155,479 - -
RIRAEMES Bank and other borrowings 5,966,708 3,947 660 3,322,635 2921807 3,013,730
HERE Lease liabilties 19N 31,604 - - -
qBhfES Convertble bonds - - 1,461,691 - -
fTESHTA Derivative finandial instruments - - - 242478 155,273
ERZE Note payable - - - 1,183,283 -
ERHA Tax payable 168,259 716,509 1,516,734 2213830 2,286,283
ERfE Bonds payable 28,552 500,355 783,150 1,171,920 -
Bk Provision - - 24,408 8923 -
785 s 138135 043556 818
hHEERR Net current assets 6,327,838 7,517,198 9,032,860 7,697,113 6,523,531

BEEFRHER  Total assets less current
liabilities 16,046,083 16,114,200 17,138,091 16,508,650 13,861,292
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SBEMBRRR @ CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL
POSITION (Continued)

ENE -/ “5tf
2019 2017
7 T T e T T
$000 $:000 $/000 $/000 $/000 $/000 $/000 §1000 $/000 $/000
Ep=t Non-current liabilities
BORAMBES  Bankand other borrowings 4,495,656 5,119,614 5403679 2663521 2,152,264
EAES Convertible bonds = - - 1,299,330 1,384,699
EfES Bonds payable - - - - 1,275,239
ERZE Note payable = - - - 1,097,035
HEAE Lease liabilities 40,684 48613 - - -
EEhaak Deferred tax liabilties 1,355,501 1,105,800 1,023,450 889,842 1,116,909
&R Provision - - 14,906 43,048 -
5,891,841 6,274,027 6,442,035 4,895,741 7,026,146
EESE NET ASSETS 10,154,242 9,840,173 10,696,056 11,612,909 6,835,146
RARGE CAPITAL AND RESERVES
i Share capital 141,273 141,273 138,558 138,344 118,378
Gk Reserves 9,933,656 9,542,968 10,443,721 11,312,202 5,780,518
KOFEERERAK  Total equity attributable to
ATRREEHE  equity shareholders of the
NEHERER Company and holders of
PCSs 10,074,929 9,684,241 10,582,279 11,450,546 5,898,896
FERER Non-controlling interests 79313 155,932 113777 162,363 936,250

EREE TOTAL EQUITY 10,154,242 9,840,173 10,696,056 11,612,909 6,835,146
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